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Small Business

Hon John Day BSc BDSc MLA
Minister for Planning; Culture and the Arts;
Science and Innovation

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your
information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Department of Commerce
for the year ended 30 June 2011. The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006.
This report also fulfils my obligations pursuant to section 26 of the Consumer Affairs Act 1971,
section 60(2) of the Credit (Administration) Act 1984, section 12A of the Debt Collectors
Licensing Act 1964, section 33 of the Electricity Act 1945, section 10A of the Employment
Agents Act 1976, section 13CA of the Gas Standards Act 1972, section 12(1) of the Retirement
Villages Act 1992, section 58 of the Travel Agents Act 1985 and section 59H(2) of the Water
Services Licensing Act 1995.
The Department of Commerce is also required, in accordance with section 157(2) of the
Real Estate and Business Agents Act 1978; section 133(2) of the Settlement Agents Act 1981;
section 45(2) of the Land Valuers Licensing Act 1978; and section 64(2) of the Motor Vehicle
Dealers Act 1973, to include the Final Reports of each Board in its Annual Report. The Final
Reports are provided at Addendum A: Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board,
Addendum B: Settlement Agents Supervisory Board, Addendum C: Land Valuers Licensing
Board and Addendum D: Motor Vehicle Industry Board respectively.

Brian Bradley
Accountable Authority
22 September 2011
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GUIDE TO SECTIONS
The Department of Commerce’s 2010-11 Annual Report presents information on statutory
compliance, financial, non-financial and operational performance. The Annual Report is
structured in five sections in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management
Act 2006.

Overview
This section provides a review of the year, highlighting the department’s broad strategic
directions and priorities, key issues and achievements. The section details the department’s
role, services, authority, Ministerial arrangements, organisational structure, legislation
administered and the outcome based management framework.

Agency Performance
This section reports on the department’s performance and includes a report against our
Resource Agreement, a report on divisional activities and information about our people.

Significant Issues and Trends
This section contains information on the significant issues and trends impacting on the
delivery of our services to the community of Western Australia.

Disclosures and Legal Compliance
This section contains the audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for
the year ending 30 June 2011. Details of required disclosures and legal compliance
obligations including financial and performance management, accountability, governance
and reports required under specific legislation are contained in this section.

Appendices
This section provides additional information on the department’s activities including
agreements, changes to written laws, prosecutions and the functions of boards,
commissions, committees, councils and tribunals.
The operations of the department are presented according to the services detailed in the
outcome based management framework.

Consumer Protection
The provision of consumer protection advice, information, education and business regulation
services to the Western Australian community.

Safety and Employment Protection
The provision of advice, information, education and regulation services to the Western
Australian community in the areas of occupational safety and health, energy safety and
labour relations.

Industry, Science and Innovation
Enhances the State’s prosperity by promoting industry, science and innovation. Services
include supporting the Technology and Industry Advisory Council with policy development
advice; supporting industry development through innovation and commercialisation; and
managing industry science and innovation programs and projects.
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Overview

This section provides a review of the year, highlighting the
department’s broad strategic directions and priorities,
key issues and achievements.
The section details the department’s role, services,
authority, Ministerial arrangements, organisational
structure, legislation administered and
the outcome based management framework.
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YEAR IN REVIEW
From the Director General
It is my pleasure to present you the department’s Annual Report for the year ending
30 June 2011. When I look back over the year, I find it has been one of great accomplishment
and transition for the department. The department has delivered on the Government’s key
policy commitments, met our regulatory obligations and supported our people through transition.
In doing so, we have created a business environment that is fairer, safer, more productive and
innovative – that’s our vision for Western Australia.

Influencing and shaping our commercial environment
In 2010-11, the department continued to invest substantial effort and resourcing into the State
Government’s priority reforms designed to deliver greater efficiency for businesses and industry
in Western Australia. The department carried a significant regulatory legislative agenda, with
15 pieces of legislation passed in Parliament during the year. The building industry will benefit
from an enhanced regulatory framework and efficient and effective building standards, with four
Bills progressed during the year. Retail trading hour legislation was enhanced to give
consumers more choices and opportunities to shop throughout the week.
The department implemented the State Government’s decision to reduce the overall number of
boards and committees. On 1 July 2010, the department transferred responsibility for the
regulation of credit providers, finance brokers and trade measurement to the Commonwealth.
In addition, the Land Valuers Licensing Board, the Motor Vehicle Industry Board, the Real
Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board and the Settlement Agents Supervisory Board
will be abolished on 1 July 2011 and the regulatory functions transferred to the Commissioner
for Consumer Protection.
Nationally, the department continued to participate in the Council of Australian Governments’
(COAG) seamless national economy reform agenda in the areas of national occupational health
and safety legislation, national occupational licensing, the Australian Consumer Law, trade
measurement, consumer credit, personal property securities, business names and several other
reforms.
The department facilitates strategic investment in an industrial, scientific and innovative capacity
and captures the benefits for the State. In the past 12 months the department continued to
support the State’s contribution towards the Australia and New Zealand bid to host the Square
Kilometre Array (SKA), an international project to develop the world's largest, most advanced
radio telescope. This included negotiation with the Australian Government to establish a coexistence framework to support a high level of radio quiet within the vicinity of the Murchison
Radio-astronomy Observatory and development of a strategic approach to guide future
negotiations surrounding the establishment of land tenure.
In response to changes in global market conditions, the State Government announced the
Western Australian Government Local Industry Participation Framework to address new
challenges and create opportunities for local suppliers. The framework ensures local industry
receives full, fair and reasonable opportunity to participate in major resource projects taking
place throughout the State.
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The department also has a role in driving an efficient and flexible Western Australian public
sector. In particular, the Labour Relations Division negotiated and registered 22 wages and
conditions agreements, within the State Government’s Public Sector Wages Policy, for the
State’s public service covering over 50,000 employees. Achieving greater co-ordination in policy
advice and program and service delivery is also a priority in the sector. During the year, the
department continued to partner with key agencies in the delivery of improved whole of
government outcomes in the field of public sector innovation and public sector safety, health
and injury management.

Empowering business and the community
The department strives to assist business, industry and individuals to exercise their rights, meet
their obligations and invest in their future. This was achieved through successful programs such
as ThinkSafe Small Business Assistance Program which promotes occupational safety and
health systems and policies to small businesses in high risk industries, not-for-profit
organisations and Indigenous groups. During the year, 750 small businesses, in both
metropolitan and regional areas, received a free and independent one-to-one safety and health
system consultation.
Supporting individuals and businesses in regional areas continued to be a priority with the
Consumer Protection Division undertaking education and compliance visits in the Shire of
Murray and the Wheatbelt. The WorkSafe Division also conducted a range of targeted
occupational safety and health intervention campaigns in the Great Southern, Mid West and
Goldfields regions. Increasing demand for services in the Kimberley region was supported
through the relocation of the department’s regional office to Broome. This is a renewed focus by
a number of the divisions including the Building Commission, Consumer Protection, Labour
Relations and WorkSafe to provide dedicated information, education and inspectorate services
in the region.

Enforcing the law
Sadly, each year Western Australians lose their lives as a result of workplace, electricity-related
or gas-related accidents. This is a sober reminder of the importance of our regulatory and
educative role to make the community safer and the establishment of safe systems both within
workplaces and at home. The department conducted a number of campaigns including
encouraging home-owners of properties built prior to 2000 to voluntarily fit two residual current
devices (RCD) to their premises to reduce the risk of harm to themselves, their family or
workers as a result of an electricity-related accident. During the year, the regulatory divisions of
Building Commission, Consumer Protection, EnergySafety, Labour Relations and WorkSafe
ensured the community was protected through enforcement of laws governing the marketplace
supported by routine and targeted inspection programs.

Strengthening organisational capacity
This year has been challenging for corporate and executive service areas to support the
significant work carried out by the operational divisions. As public servants our actions affect the
lives of the public and the confidence that the public has in Government. Behaving ethically is
critical. During the year, the department’s Code of Conduct was updated and articulates the
conduct and ethical behaviour expected of our employees. This was supported by the
accountable and ethical decision making training program which 98 per cent of employees
completed during the year.
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The department delivers a range of functions and programs on behalf of the Government and,
in doing so, continues to have a focus on sound financial management across its operations.
During the year, the department expended considerable effort to transition into the Department
of Finance’s Shared Services Centre. At the close of the year, the State Government
announced the decommissioning of the Shared Services Centre in 2011-12.

Outlook
As we commence the new financial year, we welcome the former Builders’ Registration Board,
Painters’ Registration Board, Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board and
Settlement Agents Supervisory Board employees to the department. Over the coming months,
we aim to stabilise and consolidate these recent changes. The department will continue to play
a significant role in delivering the State Government’s policy agenda particularly in the area of
local content and science and innovation. In addition, we will continue to monitor developments
at a national level and work with other State agencies and jurisdictions to deliver improvements
and major regulatory reforms in consumer protection, building standards, work safety, and
energy safety, which will benefit businesses and the community.
We will look at ways in which our people can innovate and better contribute ideas on the
department’s work and operations. Investing in new and innovative technologies and the
governance framework that supports it, will be of continued importance. The department will
also transition from the Department of Finance’s Shared Services Centre, with human resource
functions, procurement and finance functions expected to return to the department. Attracting
and retaining our people will continue to be a challenge particularly for the department’s
specialised regulatory divisions. Strategies to respond and address this will be important in the
coming year.

Acknowledgment
This year has seen a change to the department’s Corporate Executive, with the departure of the
Commissioner of WorkSafe Western Australia Nina Lyhne, who took up a position at the
Department of Transport. I would like to take the opportunity to thank Nina for her dedicated and
outstanding contribution to the department and work safety in Western Australia.
I would also like to acknowledge the efforts of our people including David Hillyard who was
awarded the Public Service Medal in the 2011 Queen’s Birthday Honour List; Penny Griffin who
received an Australia Day Team Achievement Medallion; and the Industry, Science and
Innovation Division’s Digital Economy Branch which was recognised in the national Australian
Telecommunications Users Group Excellence Awards.
Finally, I would like to acknowledge the contribution of each staff member to the outcomes we
have achieved and look forward to your continuing support. Your commitment and dedication in
delivering improved programs and services across Western Australia ensures the department
continues to meet the needs of the community and the Government. I would also like to thank
the department’s many stakeholders and partners for their contributions.

Brian Bradley
Director General
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Our highlights
This section provides the department’s highlights for the 2010-11 financial year.

Consumer Protection
Advance of the COAG Seamless National Economy Reform Agenda
The Consumer Protection Division has been actively involved in the implementation of the
COAG’s Seamless National Economy Reform Agenda. This year saw the successful
development of the Fair Trading Amendment Bill 2010, which amongst other things provided for
the implementation of the Australian Consumer Law in Western Australia on 1 January 2011.
Since its commencement the division has focused on educating consumers and traders on the
provisions of the new law.
In addition to this, other legislative changes necessary for the reforms included developing and
assisting the Minister for Commerce on the Trade Measurement Legislation (Amendment and
Expiry) Bill 2010; the Occupational Licensing National Law (WA) Bill 2010; the Personal
Property Securities (Commonwealth Laws) Bill 2011; and the Personal Property Securities
(Consequential Repeals and Amendments) Bill 2011.
The division has continued to advance policy development as well as prepare for the transition
of the registration of business names and registration of encumbered vehicles (REVS) to the
Commonwealth in 2012.
Retail trading hour changes
A number of significant reforms were implemented during the year through changes to the
Retail Trading Hours Act 1987 and the associated Regulations. This included amendments
allowing all general retail stores within the Perth metropolitan area to trade until 9pm on
weeknights; changing the Perth and Fremantle tourism precincts to ‘Special Trading Precincts’;
designating three new ‘Special Trading Precincts’ in the metropolitan area and introducing the
Retail Trading Hours Amendment Bill 2011 to increase the staff cap applied to small retail
shops. The Whitegoods and other Consumer Durables Issues Paper was released to facilitate
public consultation on a variety of options for allowing Sunday trading in whitegoods and other
consumer durable goods.
Building regulation reform package
The Building Commission Division progressed the regulation reform package resulting in four
new pieces of building legislation being passed by Parliament in June 2011. These were the
Building Act 2011 and the Building Services (Complaint Resolution and Administration)
Act 2011, Building Services (Registration) Act 2011 and the Building Services Levy Act 2011.
These replace old legislation (Builders’ Registration Act 1939, Painters’ Registration Act 1961
and sections of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1960) to ensure a
coherent, efficient and effective building standards and regulatory framework for Western
Australia.
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National Construction Code
Implementation of the National Construction Code occurred on 1 May 2011. This Code brings
together building and plumbing technical standards into a single code. This will provide
improved consistency between building and plumbing standards; improved framework for
regulation of plumbing on a national basis; a regulatory framework better able to respond to
future policy challenges; and better opportunities for innovation in the construction industry.
Bunbury pensioner in Australian Taxation Office scam
A Bunbury pensioner lost her life savings and took out a bank loan after becoming a victim of
an overseas scam, sending a total of $57,000 to conmen in India. The 80 year old woman
received a call from the scammers, claiming that she was the recipient of a grant of $7,000
from the Australian Taxation Office, but she needed to send them $200 by wire transfer to
access the grant. After the woman sent the initial amount, further requests for money came
and the amount of the grant increased over a five week period. The Consumer Protection
Division organised a media conference at the woman's home which was attended by acting
Commissioner, Gary Newcombe. Media coverage of her story and the department's warning
and advice was extensive, being carried by national television and radio stations, as well as
metropolitan and local press and online news internet sites.

Safety and Employment Protection
Public Sector Wages Policy
All public sector agreements negotiated across this reporting period have been successfully
delivered within the parameters of the Public Sector Wages Policy. A total of 22 agreements,
covering more than 50,000 public sector employees, were registered. All wage and conditions
outcomes were delivered between the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and Wage Price Index
forecast figures, and outcomes above CPI were supported by efficiencies and/or productivity
improvements.
ThinkSafe Small Business Assistance Program
The ThinkSafe Small Business Assistance Program promotes occupational safety and health
systems and policies to small businesses in high risk industries, not-for-profit organisations and
Indigenous groups. During the year, as part of the program, the WorkSafe Division delivered a
free and independent safety and health system consultation to 750 small businesses on a
one-to-one basis. In addition, nine safety and health system seminars, three group sessions
and services to three Indigenous communities were provided. The WorkSafe Division delivered
59 per cent of its services to businesses in the metropolitan area and 41 per cent to businesses
in the regions. Additional assistance on key occupational and health issues was provided to
101 small businesses that opted to be part of a program of follow-up visits.
Wages recovered
The department has recovered almost $900,000 of unpaid employee entitlements through its
first step, conciliation, investigation and prosecution functions, by the Labour Relations Division
after investigating complaints from individual employees alleging their employer had failed to
pay appropriate entitlements under State industrial laws, awards or agreements.
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Residual current device (RCD) campaign
The RCD campaign was officially launched by the Minister for Commerce, Hon Simon O'Brien
MLC, on 17 January 2011. The campaign, organised by the EnergySafety Division, comprised
of television, press, online and radio advertisements. The campaign objective was to encourage
home-owners of properties built prior to 2000 to voluntarily organise to have two RCDs fitted to
their premises. Results of the survey to gauge the effectiveness of the campaign were
encouraging, with 79 per cent of 560 homeowners interviewed agreeing that the campaign
would make them want to install an RCD.
Gas Appliance Rectification Programme
The Gas Appliance Rectification Programme is designed to facilitate the rectification and/or
removal of pre-1980 domestic natural gas appliances in support of the Western Australian
Government’s plan to promote a broader specification gas into the market and allow for more
competition in the supply of natural gas. A broader gas specification will have safety
ramifications for some pre-1980 domestic natural gas appliances still operational in homes
around the State. The first stage of the Programme involved calls from the public and the
provision of investigative services. This was fundamentally completed with only a small number
of consumers now remaining to register their pre-1980 gas appliances. The tender for stage
two, which is the supply of, installation, disposal and/or service of domestic gas appliances was
awarded to Alinta Assist. Almost 12,000 appliances were identified in the initial stage for
replacement and a further 6,000 for servicing. The work on the ‘change-out’ appliances,
commenced in May 2011 and is expected to continue through to December 2012. The timetable
for the ‘change-out’ of appliances is undertaken according to post codes and has been
published on the EnergySafety section of the department’s internet site.
WorkSafe compliance activities
During the year, the WorkSafe Division focused on occupational safety and health compliance
and proactive educational programs on nationally agreed priority industries and State priority
areas. In implementing the priority approach, the WorkSafe Division completed more than 9,400
investigations, issued more than 10,400 improvement notices and more than 600 prohibition
notices, and signed 66 prosecution notices.

Industry, Science and Innovation
International Association of Science Parks comes to Perth
After an international bidding process Western Australia won the right to host the 14th
International Association of Science Parks and Asian Science Park Association Joint
Conference on Science and Technology Parks. The conference, organised by the Industry,
Science and Innovation Division, was held from 24 to 26 November 2010. More than
160 delegates from 19 countries attended to discuss the theme 'The Asia Pacific Region's
Innovation Hot Spots - Opportunities for Sustainable Collaboration' and feedback indicated it
was successful. By hosting this event, Western Australia demonstrated that it is an active,
informed contributor to and participant in, the global science and technology park community
and interested in the opportunities such alliances generate.
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Square Kilometre Array (SKA) progress
In the past 12 months the Industry, Science and
Innovation Division continued to support the State’s
contribution towards the Australia and New Zealand
bid to host the SKA, an international project to
develop the world's largest, most advanced radio
telescope. This support included negotiations with
the Australian Government to establish a
co-existence framework that will support a high level
of radio quiet within the vicinity of the Murchison
Radio-astronomy Observatory, and the development
of a strategic approach to guide all future
negotiations surrounding the establishment of land
tenure, required to host the SKA in Western
Australia.
The year also marked the conclusion of the Premier’s Fellowship awarded by the State
Government to eminent astronomer Professor Lister Staveley-Smith. Professor Staveley-Smith
was involved in developing the science for the $150 million Australia SKA Pathfinder telescope.
During the Fellowship, he supported the activities of the International Centre for Radio
Astronomy Research and the Radio Astronomy Science and Engineering Centre of Excellence.
Subsea industry takes off in Perth
Today, the majority of the oil and gas developments on the North West Shelf have a subsea
component, and the State Government is working to ensure that Western Australia is a
centre of capability for this industry sector. The department has encouraged the
development of the subsea industry’s capability in Perth through:
 Supporting the establishment of a Perth branch of the Society for Underwater
Technology, a society for the promotion and application of subsea technology,
particularly in the oil and gas industry. The Society for Underwater Technology holds
regular technology and networking sessions, usually with around 100 attendees, and
provides a range of technical courses, including the popular Subsea Awareness Course.
 Supporting the establishment of Subsea Energy Australia, a business development
association for the subsea industry. Subsea Energy Australia now has 92 member
companies, and recently organised its first awards dinner, attended by over 300 people.
 Sponsoring the Australasian Oil and Gas exhibition, and
the establishment of the associated Subsea Conference.
The exhibition has now grown to be the largest oil and gas
exhibition in the southern hemisphere, and the Subsea
Conference is an important event in the global subsea
industry calendar.
 Facilitating, at the Australian Marine Complex, the
development of a subsea cluster, which includes
companies such as FMC Technologies and Matrix
Composites and Engineering, both of whom have recently
opened new facilities at the complex.
Projected capital expenditure on gas-related projects in
Western Australia exceeds $140 billion over the next decade,
and as these projects move into deeper water, the subsea
industry in Perth is thriving.
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Corporate
Code of Conduct
The Department of Commerce's revised Code of Conduct was
released and promoted to all employees during 2010-11.
The Code of Conduct outlines the standards of behaviour and
conduct expected of employees as representatives of the
department, to achieve both the Government's and department's
objectives. The Code of Conduct builds on the State Government's
Code of Ethics and is integral to the values outlined in the
department's Corporate Plan 2009-2012. The Code of Conduct
was also referenced in the accountability and ethical decision
making online training which employees completed during
the year.
Establishment of a Kimberley regional office
During the year, the Department of Commerce established an office in Broome providing a
contact point for the department’s services in the Kimberley. Officers from the Building
Commission Division, Consumer Protection Division, Labour Relations Division and WorkSafe
Division are now based in Broome and deliver services throughout the region. The department
shares accommodation with the Department of State Development.
Safety and injury management in Chief Executive Officer Performance Agreements
The Department of Commerce worked in partnership with the Public Sector Commission to
include safety and injury management initiatives in Chief Executive Officer Performance
Agreements. Strong leadership in occupational safety and health in the public sector sends a
message to employees that their safety, health and wellbeing is valued. During the year, the
department encouraged Chief Executive Officers to include safety and injury management
initiatives along with strategic business commitments in their Performance Agreements with
their Minister. At the close of the year, the department was working with the Public Sector
Commission to monitor the performance of safety and injury management commitments.
Transition to the Department of Finance’s Shared Services Centre
On 11 November 2010, the department transitioned into the whole of government shared
service centre. This was a significant organisational change project for the department as the
transactional and processing activities within the finance, human resource and procurement
functions of corporate services were transitioned. A joint partnering project with the Department
of Finance’s Shared Services Centre was established shortly afterwards to monitor, manage
and resolve outstanding issues and this achieved some limited successes. The State
Government has subsequently announced the decommissioning of the Department of Finance’s
Shared Services Centre.
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ABOUT THE DEPARTMENT
Enabling legislation
The Department of Commerce is established as a department under section 35 of the
Public Sector Management Act 1994.

Responsible Ministers
In 2010-11, the department was responsible to the Hon Simon O'Brien MLC, Minister for
Finance; Commerce; Small Business and the Hon John Day BSc BDSc MLA, Minister for
Planning; Culture and the Arts; Science and Innovation. Prior to 14 December 2010, the
department was responsible to the Hon William (Bill) Marmion MLA, Minister for Commerce;
Science and Innovation; Housing; Minister Assisting the Treasurer.

About us
The department maintains a vital role in facilitating a business environment that is productive,
innovative, fair and safe. It works to create a contemporary, diversified economy that provides
for the growth, safety and protection of the Western Australian community by promoting
innovation and science; enhancing capacity; and ensuring a world class regulatory environment.
The department employs more than 1,000 people to deliver its services to the community of
Western Australia across eight divisions:


Building Commission;



Consumer Protection;



Corporate Services;



EnergySafety;



Industry, Science and Innovation;



Labour Relations;



WorkSafe; and



Office of the Director General.

The department’s culture focuses on providing high quality services to customers and
stakeholders through standards, policies, practices and procedures.

Our vision, mission and values
The department’s vision, mission and values are identified in the Corporate Plan 2009-2012.

Vision
A business environment that is productive, innovative, fair and safe.
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Mission
To create a contemporary, diversified economy that provides for the growth, safety and
protection of the community by:


promoting innovation and science;



enhancing capacity; and



ensuring a world class regulatory environment.

Values
Integrity and
professionalism

We are honest, open, fair and equitable in word and action.
We practice consistent behaviours that create confidence and trust
in what we do and say.
We are respectful of the rights of individuals and the principles of
natural justice.
We strive for excellence and take pride in our work.

Value our people and
their contribution

We celebrate our achievements.
We respect and value each other.
We understand the right of every person to participate and
encourage the principles of equity and diversity.
We value team work through working positively together with unity
of purpose.
We empower, support and develop our people and engage them in
discovery and life-long learning.

Making a difference

We strive to make a positive difference by continually improving our
services and stakeholder relationships.
We recognise the strength that comes from working collaboratively
and in partnership with others.

Innovation

We seek better solutions and strive to improve outcomes and
performance.
We learn and improve by questioning, challenging and thinking
about the future.

Our strategic direction
Corporate Plan 2009-2012
The department operates within a challenging and dynamic environment with greater demands
placed on its resources. The Corporate Plan 2009-2012 provides a framework for the
department’s operations, future directions and clearly sets out the values that will guide how
employees work.
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The five strategic directions that guide the delivery of the department’s services are:
Direction 1: Influencing and shaping our commercial environment;
Direction 2: Empowering business and the community;
Direction 3: Developing a world class regulatory environment;
Direction 4: Enforcing the law; and
Direction 5: Strengthening organisational capacity.

2010-11 strategic planning
The Corporate Executive annually holds a strategic planning session to explore key strategic
issues facing the department and to inform divisions in their future planning. The 2010-11 key
strategic issues were detailed and monitored through an action plan. The Corporate Executive
also identified the following key principles that guided the department during the year:

acknowledging the importance of communicating in a meaningful and timely manner with
employees about the future;

building the capacity, capability and resilience of our employees in responding to a
changing environment ensures the department continues to deliver high quality services
to the community;

collaborating across divisions on common issues or projects to achieve positive outcomes
for the department and the community; and

building and utilising our relationships with stakeholders, both internal and external, to
promote the role of the department and achieve our vision.

Regulatory changes
On 1 July 2010, the Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC) commenced
regulation of consumer credit and finance broking under the National Consumer Credit
Protection Act 2009 (Cth). On this date, the Western Australian Credit (Commonwealth Powers)
Act 2010 was proclaimed, giving the Commonwealth Government power to regulate credit
under a new national regime. As such, the department was no longer responsible for
administering the licensing regimes under the Finance Brokers Control Act 1975 or the
Credit (Administration) Act 1984.
From 1 July 2010 the National Measurement Institute, took responsibility of trade measurement
nationally under the National Trade Measurement Act 1960 and the National Trade
Measurement Regulations 2009 (Cth). The Western Australian Trade Measurement Act 2006
and the Trade Measurement Administration Act 2006 was amended to facilitate the transfer to
the Commonwealth Government. As such, the department was no longer responsible for
administering the licensing regime under the Trade Measurement Act 2008 (Cth).
On 1 November 2010, following the passage of laws through Parliament in August 2010, the
Hairdressers Registration Board was abolished and the activities of the Board, including the
registration of hairdressers ceased. The industry, however, will continue to be regulated by,
amongst other laws, the Fair Trading Act 2010 and the Occupational Safety and Health
Act 1984.
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Our services
The department delivers services through divisions that focus on particular areas of its
responsibilities. Key functions of the department’s divisions are:
Building Commission








Consumer Protection









modernises and streamlines the building control system;
manages standards to improve community confidence in the
building industry;
provides information and services for industry and consumers on
building matters;
enables fair dispute management;
sets building and plumbing standards; and
develops industry policy and capacity.
provides information and advice to consumers and traders about
their rights and responsibilities;
helps consumers resolve disputes with traders;
monitors compliance with consumer protection legislation;
investigates complaints about unfair trading practices;
prosecutes unscrupulous traders;
regulates and licenses a range of business activities; and
develops, reviews and amends legislation that protects
consumers.

Corporate Services







provides financial and administrative services;
provides information technology support services;
delivers human resource management services;
co-ordinates risk and business continuity management; and
delivers corporate information services.

EnergySafety



administers electricity and gas technical and safety legislation,
and provides policy and legislative advice to government;
enforces safety and technical standards for electricity and gas
networks;
monitors reliability and quality of gas supplies and investigates
consumer related complaints;
sets and enforces safety and energy efficiency standards for
consumers' electrical and gas installations and appliances;
licenses electrical contractors, electrical workers and gas fitters
and carries out accident investigations; and
promotes electrical and gas safety in industry and the
community.






Industry, Science and
Innovation
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supports the Technology and Industry Advisory Council with
policy development advice;
supports industry development through innovation and
commercialisation;
promotes investment opportunities and industry participation in
strategically important industries and projects; and
manages industry, science and innovation programs and
projects.

Labour Relations









WorkSafe





Office of the Director
General











co-ordinates public sector labour relations;
facilitates implementation of Public Sector Wages Policy in
industrial agreement negotiations;
provides policy and legislative advice to government;
provides labour relations services to and on behalf of
government and public sector employers;
provides information and education services to private sector
employees and employers on their employment rights and
obligations;
promotes workplace flexibility and pay equity; and
investigates complaints from employees about breaches of State
awards, agreements and industrial laws.
administers occupational safety and health legislation and
provides policy and legislative advice to government;
provides education and information to employers and employees
to assist in preventing work-related injury and disease and
improving work safety and health performance; and
enforces occupational safety and health law and assists with the
resolution of issues in workplaces.
provides a strategic focus to assist the Director General and the
Corporate Executive to lead the department;
develops and co-ordinates strategic and whole of government
policy;
provides corporate development services including strategic
planning, performance evaluation and corporate reporting;
provides education and communication services including media
relations services, campaign and event co-ordination and print
and online information;
provides internal audit services and undertakes and assists in
investigations;
co-ordinates regional services;
provides regional infrastructure and customer services; and
co-ordinates ministerial services for the department.
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Our regional services
 Broome
 Karratha

 Geraldton  Kalgoorlie
 Perth
 Bunbury
 Albany
Figure 1: Department’s regional
offices

The department has offices located in Albany, Broome,
Bunbury, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie, and Karratha which
provide a range of services to regional Western
Australians (Figure 1).
There are 46 regionally based officers who deliver
services for the divisions of the department. Services to
regional areas and communities are supplemented by
division specific initiatives to meet identified needs or to
support core operational activities. These activities see
additional specialist employees operate in the regions as
required. The delivery of information and services to
regional customers also continues to occur through the
department’s internet site.
A service delivery arrangement exists between the
Department of Commerce, the Commonwealth Attorney
General’s Department and the Department of the Premier
and Cabinet to deliver agency services to Christmas
Island and Cocos (Keeling) Island. This service is funded
by, and performed on behalf of, the Commonwealth
Government under enabling legislation.

Our stakeholders
The department provides services to a wide range of stakeholders including:















the Minister for Commerce;
the Minister for Science and Innovation;
the community including regional areas of Western Australia;
departmental employees;
consumers;
traders;
business entities;
employees;
employers;
employee and employer organisations;
public sector organisations;
Commonwealth and State Government agencies;
academic institutions and researchers; and
a number of boards, commissions, committees, councils and tribunals.
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Our organisation
The department’s operating structure comprises of a Director General, who oversees the Office
of the Director General, and seven Executive Directors responsible for their relevant divisions.
The Director General and these seven senior officers form the department’s Corporate
Executive.
The Corporate Executive operates under a governance structure and meets fortnightly. This
ensures authority and accountability is shared between the Director General and each division.
While the Director General is ultimately accountable for all the department’s activities, each
division, through its relevant Executive Director, has significant autonomy in day-to-day decision
making, allocation of resources and determination of divisional priorities. Each division has an
Executive Management Committee chaired by the relevant Executive Director. The
department’s organisational structure is presented in Figure 2.

Our organisational structure
Director General
Brian Bradley
Office of the Director General
Corporate Communications
Corporate Development
Internal Audit
Policy and Executive Services
Regional Services

Building
Commission

Consumer
Protection

EnergySafety

Labour Relations

Industry, Science,
& Innovation

WorkSafe

Corporate Services

Peter Gow

Anne Driscoll

Ken Bowron

Bob Horstman

Julie de Jong

Lex McCulloch

Alan Jackson

Building Commission
Strategy
Building Codes and
Regulations
Industry Policy and
Advice
Plumbers’ Licensing
Board

Business Services

Business Services

Consumer
Information and
Analysis
Industry and
Consumer Services

Electricity
Gas

Compliance and
Education
Policy and Legal
Public Sector

Legal Unit
Legislation and
Policy
Strategic Policy and
Development

Innovative Industries
Policy, Science and
Program
Management

Business Services
Construction,
Regional and
Primary Industries
Health Hazards and
Plant Safety
Legal Services and
Special
investigations
Manufacturing,
Transport and
Service Industries

Finance and
Administration
Human Resources
Information Services
Risk and Continuity

Policy and Education

Figure 2: Organisational structure as at 30 June 2011
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Our Corporate Executive team
Brian Bradley PSM
Director General
Brian Bradley has over 40 years experience in the Western Australian
public sector. He has been involved principally in safety and health
since 1983. Brian worked for WorkSafe for more than 20 years and
was appointed as Commissioner of WorkSafe Western Australia in
October 1998. In 2002, Brian was appointed Director General of the
Department of Commerce (formerly the Department of Consumer and
Employment Protection) after acting in the position since June 2001.
He is the deputy chair of the Western Australian Commission for Occupational Safety and
Health, a member of the WorkCover Western Australia Authority’s Board and a member of the
Legal Aid Commission. He was the Western Australian member on the Australian Safety and
Compensation Council from 2005 to April 2009, and is the current Western Australian member
of Safe Work Australia. Brian was awarded the Public Service Medal in 2003 for his
contribution to safety and health in Western Australia.
Anne Driscoll
Executive Director, Consumer Protection Division
Commissioner for Consumer Protection and Prices Commissioner
Anne Driscoll was appointed the Executive Director for the Consumer
Protection Division in August 2008 and holds the statutory position of
Commissioner for Consumer Protection and Prices Commissioner.
Since graduating from the University of Western Australia with a
Bachelor of Arts majoring in Psychology and Commerce, Anne has
gained experience in numerous public sector roles.
Anne worked in the employment and training sector for the Commonwealth Government for
more than 20 years, involved in both direct service delivery and major funding grants. In 1999,
Anne joined the Consumer Protection Division’s executive management team as the Director
of Business Services, performing a diversity of functions from the licensing and regulation of
credit providers, mortgage brokers, debt collectors, charities, real estate and settlement
agents, to the registration of business names and the provision of consumer protection
services to regional Western Australia.
Peter Gow
Executive Director, Building Commission Division
Peter Gow was appointed as the Executive Director of the Building
Commission Division in July 2009. Peter has degrees in Engineering
and Arts from the University of Western Australia and has
post graduate qualifications in management from Deakin University.
He commenced his career as a structural engineer with the Public
Works Department in Western Australia and has extensive experience
in building and design, construction and project management.
From project work, Peter then specialised in construction and contracts and dispute resolution.
In 2003, Peter was appointed to head the Office of Policy and Planning in the Department of
Housing and Works where he was responsible for construction industry and housing policy,
corporate development and strategic planning and building codes and regulation. Since
July 2009, he has led the newly formed division to progress building regulation reform. Peter
was appointed to the national Built Environment Industry Innovation Council in 2008.
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Ken Bowron
Executive Director, EnergySafety Division
Director of Energy Safety
Ken Bowron is the Executive Director of the EnergySafety Division and
holds the statutory position of Director of Energy Safety, which is
responsible for all electricity and most gas-related technical and safety
regulation in the State. Ken has 36 years broad experience in the
Western Australian energy industry.
His recent experience includes his tenure in the EnergySafety Division and senior
management roles in generation, networks and the supply of energy services to customers in
metropolitan, rural and remote areas. He is an electrical engineer with post graduate business
qualifications. He has extensive strategic, regulatory, technical and managerial experience
ranging across planning, design, construction, operations and maintenance of power
generation and transmission and distribution systems.
Robert (Bob) Horstman
Executive Director, Labour Relations Division
Bob Horstman was appointed as the Executive Director of the Labour
Relations Division in June 2009, having initially been appointed as
Acting Executive Director in April 2008. He has worked in all three
directorates of the division in a variety of roles for 22 years. From 2001
to 2006, Bob was seconded from the department to the Minister’s office
responsible for State industrial relations as the Principal Labour
Relations Policy Advisor.
In this role he was responsible for providing advice on industrial relations, occupational safety
and health and workers’ compensation issues. He has taught, researched and published in the
fields of both industrial relations and human resources management in various tertiary
education institutions in Australia and the United Kingdom. Bob holds a Masters Degree in
Industrial Relations from Warwick University in the United Kingdom and has 10 years
experience in various industrial relations roles in private sector organisations in the
United Kingdom.
Lex McCulloch
February 2011 – current
Acting Executive Director, WorkSafe Division
Acting Commissioner of WorkSafe Western Australia
Lex McCulloch commenced as the Acting Executive Director of the
WorkSafe Division and Acting Commissioner of WorkSafe Western
Australia in February 2011. Lex has a Social Work Degree from Curtin
University and has been in the Western Australian public sector since
1978, when he joined the Department for Community Welfare in
Moora.
He has worked in a variety of locations across the State including Derby, Kalgoorlie, Port
Hedland and Perth. Lex’s various roles have provided him with a range of experience such as
leading restructuring processes and delivering on significant projects, all of which have been
aimed at improving the wellbeing of people in Western Australia. In the position of Youth
Justice Services Assistant Commissioner at the Department of Corrective Services, Lex was
responsible for refocussing and reinvigorating the division, with a priority on addressing the
over-representation of Aboriginal people in the youth justice system.
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Nina Lyhne
1 July 2010 - February 2011
Executive Director, WorkSafe Division
WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner
Nina Lyhne was appointed as the Executive Director of the WorkSafe
Division and the Commissioner of WorkSafe Western Australia in
April 2004. Previously she held the positions of Acting Executive
Director, WorkSafe and Executive Director of the Strategy Division. In
February 2011, Nina undertook an acting opportunity as the Managing
Director, Transport Services at the Department of Transport. She was
later permanently appointed to the role.
Julie de Jong
Executive Director, Industry, Science and Innovation Division
Julie de Jong is the newly appointed Executive Director of the Industry,
Science and Innovation Division, after being initially appointed as
Acting Executive Director in 2009. Prior to the establishment of the
Department of Commerce in 2009, Julie was the Director of the
Innovation Industries Directorate in the Department of Industry and
Resources. In this role she successfully led the Directorate through a
period of significant organisational change and developed a strategic
focus aligned with Government priorities for industry and innovation.
Previously, Julie worked in management roles within the Office of Aboriginal Economic
Development in a variety of locations around the State. She has a thorough understanding of
the concerns within regional communities for sustainable economic opportunities and the need
to maximise community benefits from economic strengths. Julie holds an Arts Degree in
History and Politics from the University of Western Australia.
Alan Jackson
Executive Director, Corporate Services Division
Alan Jackson commenced in his current position at the Department of
Commerce in October 2004. Previously, he had worked in the public,
private and tertiary education sectors. Alan’s career has included nine
years as a former management and organisational development
consultant working with large public and private sector organisations
throughout Australia. Prior to joining the department, he was the
Director, Corporate Services at the Department of Treasury and
Finance for four years.
Alan completed the Executive Fellows Program of the Australian and New Zealand School of
Government and holds Associate Fellow and Certified Professional membership status for the
Australian Institute of Management and the Australian Human Resource Institute. He has a
Masters degree in Commerce from Curtin University and in the past, has been a part time
lecturer at both Curtin University and Edith Cowan University over a number of years.
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Our people
The department is supported by a wealth of employees from diverse backgrounds, contributing
to a broad range of functions established to serve the Western Australian community. The
department’s employees are fundamentally governed by the Public Sector Management
Act 1994 and remunerated under the terms and conditions contained in the Public Service
General Agreement 2008 and the Public Service and Government Officers General Agreement
2011 (registered on 27 June 2011). Our employees contribution is valued through frequent
acknowledgement of their successes and responses to challenges they face in their
professional lives. Further information on our employees is provided in the Agency Performance
(Our people) section of this report.

Our awards
Consumer Protection Director receives Queen’s Birthday Honours
Consumer Protection Director David Hillyard was awarded
the Public Service Medal for outstanding public service in the
areas of consumer protection and fair trading in the 2011
Queen’s Birthday Honour List announced by the
Governor-General on 13 June 2011. The Public Service
Medal recognises outstanding service by employees of the
Australian Government as well as State, Territory and Local
Government employees.
David has been a regular spokesperson for consumer
protection on Perth radio stations including presenting on
6PR for over 25 years. He currently maintains a monthly
segment during Graham Mabury’s Nightline and also
regularly participates in the fortnightly Consumer Protection
slot on ABC 720 with Geoff Hutchison.

David Hillyard (left) with former Minister for
Commerce, Bill Marmion MLA (right)
receiving his 30 year certificate of service.

David began work as a Complaints Officer at the Bureau of Consumer Affairs 31 years ago and
is Consumer Protection’s Director of Industry and Consumer Services. The award recognises
his leadership and tenacity in resolving consumer issues while constructively engaging with
business.
Australia Day Team Achievement Medallion
Penny Griffin from the Industry, Science and
Innovation Division received an Australia Day Team
Achievement Medallion for her work on the intergovernmental taskforce that manages Australia and
New Zealand’s bid to host the SKA radio telescopic
project in Western Australia.
Australia Day Medallions are the highest level of
recognition for staff and collaborators within the
Federal Government. The other Western Australian
recipient was Peter Wheeler from the International
Centre for Radio Astronomy Research.

Penny Griffin (first row on the right) with other award
recipients at the National Convention Centre in
Canberra.
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Australian Telecommunications Users Group Excellence Award
The Digital Economy Branch of the Industry, Science and Innovation Division was recognised in
the national Australian Telecommunications Users Group Excellence Awards for their work on
implementing the Community Emergency Mobile Communications Project.
This project involved the extension of mobile phone
and wireless broadband coverage into several high
fire risk areas in the South West and was funded
through the Royalties for Regions program. The
success of this project has prompted a state-wide
expansion under the Regional Mobile
Communications Project, which is expected to
improve mobile communication across a number of
black spots and major transport routes and save the
State Government an estimated $12 million in the
cost of providing emergency services
communications.

26
Department of Commerce

Joachim Tam representing the department (second
from the left) with Senator, the Hon Stephen
Conroy, Minister for Broadband, Communications
and the Digital Economy (first from the left) and
Australian Telecommunications Users Group
representatives.

Legislation administered
The Department of Commerce administered 86 Acts of Parliament as at 30 June 2011, as listed
below. Reviews of legislation, regulations and codes of practice ensure the changing needs and
expectations of the community are met, and that the regulatory framework is relevant. A full
description of the scope and intent of these Acts is contained on the department’s internet site
at www.commerce.wa.gov.au.
Architects Act 2004
Associations Incorporation
Act 1987
Auction Sales Act 1973
Bills of Sale Act 1899
Builders’ Registration Act 1939
Building Services (Complaint
Resolution and Administration)
Act 2011
Building Services (Registration)
Act 2011
Building Services Levy Act 2011
Business Names Act 1962
Charitable Collections Act 1946
Chattel Securities Act 1987
Churches of Christ, Scientist,
Incorporation Act 1961
Coal Industry Tribunal of Western
Australia Act 1992
Commercial Tenancy (Retail
Shops) Agreements Act 1985
Companies (Co-operative)
Act 1943
Competition Policy Reform
(Taxing) Act 1996
Competition Policy Reform
(Western Australia) Act 1996
Conspiracy and Protection of
Property Act 1900
Construction Contracts Act 2004
Construction Industry Portable
Paid Long Service Leave
Act 1985
Consumer Affairs Act 1971
Co-operative and Provident
Societies Act 1903
Co-operatives Act 2009
Credit (Administration) Act 1984
Credit (Commonwealth Powers)
Act 2010
Credit (Commonwealth Powers)
(Transitional and Consequential
Provisions) Act 2010
Credit Act 1984
Debt Collectors Licensing
Act 1964

Decimal Currency Act 1965
Disposal of Uncollected Goods
Act 1970
Distress for Rent Abolition
Act 1936
Dividing Fences Act 1961
Door to Door Trading Act 1987
Electricity Act 1945
Employment Agents Act 1976
Employment Dispute Resolution
Act 2008
Energy Coordination Act 1994
(Part 2 and 3)
Energy Safety Act 2006
Energy Safety Levy Act 2006
Fair Trading Act 1987
Fair Trading Act 2010
Finance Brokers Control Act 1975
Fremantle Buffalo Club
(Incorporated) Act 1964
Gas Standards Act 1972
Gas Supply (Gas Quality
Specifications) Act 2009 (Part 5,
Division 2)
Growers Charge Act 1940
Hairdressers Registration Act 1946
Hire Purchase Act 1959
Home Building Contracts Act 1991
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Industry and Technology
Development Act 1998
Labour Relations Reform Act 2002
Land Valuers Licensing Act 1978
Law Reform (Common
Employment) Act 1951
Limited Partnership Act 1909
Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1960 (Parts VIII,
IX and XV)
Long Service Leave Act 1958
Metric Conversion Act 1972
Minimum Conditions of
Employment Act 1993
Motor Vehicle Dealers Act 1973
Motor Vehicle Repairers Act 2003

New Tax System Price
Exploitation Code (Taxing)
Act 1999
New Tax System Price
Exploitation Code (Western
Australia) Act 1999
Occupational Safety and Health
Act 1984
Painters’ Registration Act 1961
Petroleum Products Pricing
Act 1983
Petroleum Retailers Rights and
Liabilities Act 1982
Public and Bank Holidays
Act 1972
Real Estate and Business Agents
Act 1978
Residential Parks (Long-Stay
Tenants) Act 2006
Residential Tenancies Act 1987
Retail Trading Hours Act 1987
Retirement Villages Act 1992
Sale of Goods Act 1895
Sale of Goods (Vienna
Convention) Act 1986
Settlement Agents Act 1981
Street Collections (Regulation)
Act 1940
Sunday Entertainments Act 1979
Trade Measurement Act 2006
Trade Measurement
Administration Act 2006
Transfer of Incorporation (HBF
and HIF) Act 2009
Travel Agents Act 1985
Water Services Licensing
Act 1995 (Part 5A)
Western Australian Aged Sailors,
Soldiers and Airmen’s Relief Fund
Act 1932
Western Australian Products
Symbol Act 1972
Year 2000 Information Disclosure
Act 1999
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Boards, commissions, committees, councils and
tribunals
The boards, commissions, committees, councils and tribunals have a range of functions
including regulatory, advisory, licensing of participants in relevant industries, investigating
complaints about the conduct of industry participants and taking disciplinary action where
appropriate. These boards, commissions, committees, councils and tribunals are identified in
Table 1 according to the department’s three services. Appendix 4: Functions of boards,
commissions, committees, councils and tribunals provides details of their role and functions.
Table 1: Boards, commissions, committees, councils and tribunals
Consumer Protection










Builders’ Registration Board
Building Disputes Tribunal
Building Surveyors
Qualification Committee
Charitable Collections
Advisory Committee
Consumer Product Safety
Committee (1)

Safety and Employment
Protection





Commission for Occupational
Safety and Health
Electrical Licensing Board
Gas Licensing Committee

Industry, Science and
Innovation



Australian Marine Complex
Business Development
Committee



Australian Marine Complex
Overarching Committee



Western Australian
Technology and Industry
Advisory Council

Hairdressers Registration
Board of Western
Australia (2)
Home Buyers Assistance
and Advisory Committee (3)
Land Valuers Licensing
Board (3)



Motor Vehicle Industry
Board (3)



Painters’ Registration
Board




Plumbers’ Licensing Board
Real Estate and Business
Agents Supervisory
Board (3)



Retail Shops Advisory
Committee



Settlement Agents
Supervisory Board (3)

Notes:
(1)

This committee was abolished following the introduction of the Australian Consumer Law on 1 January 2011. The Australian
Consumer Law includes national product safety laws and sets out the responsibilities of both the Commonwealth and State
regulators.

(2)

The Hairdressers Registration Board of Western Australia was abolished on 30 November 2010.

(3)

These Boards and one associated committee were abolished on 30 June 2011. From 1 July 2011, the regulatory
responsibility transfers to the Commissioner for Consumer Protection.
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK
Outcome based management framework
Western Australia’s performance management framework monitors outcomes through the
delivery of services. This is referred to as outcome based management and it assists to monitor
the department’s progress towards achievement of specific outcomes. Treasurer’s instruction
904 prescribes the mandatory requirements of outcome based management for agencies.

Agency level outcomes and services
The department delivers services to achieve the agency level desired outcomes, which
ultimately contributes to meeting the Government’s goals. The agency level desired outcome is
the effect or impact on the community or target customers of Government services.
The department’s key effectiveness indicators provide information on the extent to which
outcomes have been achieved through the funding and delivery of agreed services, while key
efficiency indicators are presented for each service. Efficiency indicators relate services to the
level of resource inputs required to deliver them. The linkage between the department’s desired
outcomes and services to the community, and the Government goals, to which the department
makes its most significant contribution, is demonstrated in Figure 3.
GOVERNMENT’S GOALS

AGENCY LEVEL GOVERNMENT
DESIRED OUTCOME

SERVICES

Outcomes-Based Service
Delivery
Greater focus on achieving results
in key service delivery areas for
the benefit of all Western
Australians.

Outcome 1
A fair trading environment that
protects consumers and traders in
Western Australia.

Service 1: Consumer Protection
The provision of consumer protection
advice, information, education and
business regulation services to the
Western Australian community.

Social and Environmental
Responsibility
Ensuring that economic activity is
managed in a socially and
environmentally responsible
manner for the long-term benefit of
the State.

Outcome 2
A community in which workplaces
are operated in a safe and fair
manner.

Service 2: Safety and Employment
Protection
The provision of advice, information,
education and regulation services to the
Western Australian community in the
areas of: occupational safety and health;
energy safety; and labour relations.

Financial and Economic
Responsibility
Responsibly managing the State’s
finances through the efficient and
effective delivery of services,
encouraging economic activity and
reducing regulatory burdens on
the private sector.

Outcome 3
Enhancement of the State's
economic sustainability and
prosperity.

Service 3: Industry, Science and
Innovation
Enhances the State's prosperity by
promoting industry, science and
innovation. Services include:

 supporting the Technology and

Industry Advisory Council with policy
development advice;

 supporting industry development
through innovation and
commercialisation; and

 managing industry, science and

innovation programs and projects.

Figure 3: Relationship to the Government’s goals: 2010-11 outcome based management framework
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Changes to outcome based management framework
Treasurer’s instruction 904 requires disclosure of changes in agency level government desired
outcomes, services and key performance indicators. A review of the Industry, Science and
Innovation Division’s strategic directions occurred and the importance of the industry role was
highlighted. As a consequence of this change, amendments to the title, definition and efficiency
indicator of Service 3 occurred to more accurately reflect the division’s diverse activities and
services. In particular, the addition of the word ‘industry’ emphasises the division’s overarching
objective of facilitating the industry and economic development outcomes to the State. This
change to the outcomes based management framework was approved by the Under Treasurer
and applicable for the 2010-11 reporting period.

Shared responsibilities with other agencies
The Department of Commerce, as the lead agency, is responsible for co-ordinating the delivery
and reporting on whole of government and cross-agency initiatives. These initiatives have
shared accountability for the successful implementation of whole of government reform
initiatives. The shared responsibilities with other agencies, contained in Table 2, are reported
against the 2010-11 Resource Agreement established between the responsible Minister,
Director General and Treasurer. Further information on Resource Agreement reporting is
available in the Agency Performance (Resource Agreement) section of this report.
Table 2: Shared responsibilities with other agencies in 2010-11
Initiative

Standardisation and simplification of public sector pay structures and classification
systems

Related outcome
Contributing agencies

A reformed public sector pay structure and classification system.

Report against
target

Department of Commerce (Labour Relations Division); Department of Treasury
(formerly the Department of Treasury and Finance); and Public Sector Commission.

Target: A plan to achieve the standardisation and simplification of public sector pay
structures and classification systems.
Result: The department, through public sector bargaining, has rationalised a number of
agreements and sought to standardise pay outcomes for like employees across the
public sector.

Initiative
Related outcome
Contributing agencies
Report against Target:
target

Managing Fatigue in the Commercial Vehicle Sector
A community in which workplaces are operated in a safe and fair manner.
Department of Commerce (WorkSafe Division); and Western Australia Police.
One strategic co-ordinated intervention campaign in the North West targeting south
to north traffic.

Result: A reduced budget resulted in the cancellation of the campaign in the North West to
target south to north traffic. However, WorkSafe Division carried out a commercial
driver fatigue operation at Bullsbrook targeting inbound traffic from Port Hedland.
Following an invitation from the Western Australia Police, there were smaller
commercial driver fatigue operations near Boddington, Northam, Bedfordale and
Norseman.
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Initiative
Related outcome
Contributing agencies
Report against
target

A community in which workplaces are operated in a safe and fair manner.
Department of Commerce (WorkSafe Division); Small Business Development
Corporation; and WorkCover Western Australia Authority.

Target: 600 eligible small businesses complete the assistance program.
Result: There were 750 small businesses that accessed the ThinkSafe Small Business
Assistance Program. This was an increase of 10.6 per cent compared to the same
period last year.

Initiative
Related outcome
Contributing agencies

Report against
target

ThinkSafe Small Business Assistance Program

Square Kilometre Array Project (SKA)
Australia to win the right to host the SKA bid.
Department of Commerce (Industry, Science and Innovation Division);
Commonwealth Department of Innovation, Industry, Science and Research;
Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO);
Department of Regional Development and Lands; Department of Mines and
Petroleum; Department of State Development; State Solicitor’s Office; Office of
Native Title (Department of the Premier and Cabinet); Pastoral Lands Board; Public
Transport Authority; Shire of Murchison; Mid West Development Commission; and
Universities including the University of Western Australia and Curtin University.

Target: This project is a national project with significant interaction with the Commonwealth
Government (Department of Innovation, Industry, Science and Research and
CSIRO). Joint target results include:
 Work with Australian New Zealand SKA Co-ordination Committee and sub
working groups to develop strategies to win the host SKA bid.
 Progress legislative analysis and development of land tenure processes to
accommodate the proposed SKA antennae configuration across Australia and
New Zealand (State Solicitor’s Office, Office of Native Title, Department of
Regional Development and Lands).
 Work closely with Department of Mines and Petroleum, Public Transport Authority
and Department of State Development to ensure the SKA can co-exist with rail
and mining in the Mid West region.
 Work closely with Department of Regional Development and Lands, Shire of
Murchison and Pastoral Lands Board to ensure the SKA can co-exist with
pastoralists in the Mid West.
 Progress the establishment of the Murchison Radio-astronomy Observatory in the
Mid West to enable CSIRO to commence construction of the 36 antennae
Australian SKA Pathfinder project to prove our site to the international scientific
community.
 Ongoing interaction with Mid West key stakeholders in respect of economic
opportunities for local companies (Mid West Development Commission, Shire of
Murchison).
 Support international promotional and marketing activities to highlight our
capability to win the host SKA bid.
Result: The following deliverables have been achieved:
 A co-existence Memorandum of Understanding and management framework to
support radio quiet measures for the proposed SKA site in the Murchison have
been agreed with the Commonwealth.
 A draft Land Tenure Strategy has been produced in support of the SKA bid.
 A high quality book on the Murchison Radio Astronomy site has been produced.
 Co-ordination of the Western Australian component of Discover SKA that
stimulated in excess of 100 events over a three month period between April and
June 2011.
 Co-ordination of the State Government’s participation at the International SKA
Forum 2011 in Banff, Canada.
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Initiative

The Community Emergency Mobile Communications Project will significantly improve
mobile phone based communications in the Blackwood Valley area of the South
West. Two fixed mobile telecommunications base stations are under construction to
provide increased mobile and radio coverage thereby enhancing safety as the area is
classed as high risk in relation to bushfire.

Related outcome
Contributing agencies

Improved communication capacity especially in emergencies.

Report against
target

Department of Commerce (Industry, Science and Innovation Division); Department of
Regional Development and Lands; Department of Conservation and Environment;
Fire and Emergency Services Authority; and Western Australia Police.

Target: To be completed on time, to budget, to specification.
Result: Construction has been completed and the project is operational. Final completion
report from Telstra has been delayed to July 2011. The final payment will be provided
once the final report is received and accepted. A benefits report is to be provided to
the Department of Regional Development and Lands and an independent audit
report is to be completed.

The department recognises the benefits derived from working collaboratively with external
parties by negotiating co-agency agreements, Heads of Agreement, Memoranda of
Understanding, Instruments of Declaration and inter-governmental agreements and
arrangements with a range of organisations within the public and private sector. Additional
information on jointly delivered services with other organisations is provided at Appendix 1:
Agreements of this report.
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Agency Performance

This section reports on the department’s performance and
includes a report against our Resource Agreement, a report
on divisional activities and information about our people.

Resource Agreement

34
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37
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53
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RESOURCE AGREEMENT
In accordance with section 41 of the Financial Management Act 2006, the Department of
Commerce has a Resource Agreement between the responsible Minister, Director General and
Treasurer. The Resource Agreement articulates the Government’s desired outcomes, the
services to be delivered and the performance targets to be achieved for both financial and
non-financial performance. The 2010-11 Resource Agreement was prepared in the outcome
based management framework as set out in the 2010-11 Budget Papers and the targets were
set as part of the State Government’s 2010-11 Budget process. At the time of signing the
Resource Agreement the agency reported to the former Minister for Commerce; Science and
Innovation, the Hon Bill Marmion MLA. A summary of the department’s performance against
financial and non-financial targets, as contained in the 2010-11 Resource Agreement, is
reported in accordance with Treasurer’s instruction 808.

Financial targets
Table 3 provides a summary of the department’s financial performance for 2010-11.
Table 3: Summary of financial performance for 2010-11
Indicator

Target(1)
$’000

Actual(2)
$’000

Variation
$’000

Total cost of services (expense limit) (details from
Statement of Comprehensive Income)

$165,223(3)

$175,905

$10,682

Net cost of services (details from Statement of
Comprehensive Income)

$122,582(4)

$124,298

$1,716

$70,963

$68,894

($2,069)

$101

$3,842

$3,741(a)

Total equity (details from Statement of Financial
Position)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (details from
Statement of Cash Flows)
Indicator
Approved full time equivalent (FTE) staff level

Target(5)
1,028

Actual
882

Variation
146(b)

Notes:
(1)

The targets were derived from the 2010-11 Budget Papers (No. 2, Volume 3, Part 18).

(2)

As specified in the Financial Statements section of this report.

(3)

This figure included $55,259,000 for the Consumer Protection Service, $48,480,000 for the Safety and Employment
Protection Service and $61,484,000 for the Industry, Science and Innovation Service (formerly the Science, Innovation and
Business Service).

(4)

This figure included $29,667,000 for the Consumer Protection Service, $32,723,000 for the Safety and Employment
Protection Service and $60,192,000 for the Industry, Science and Innovation Service (formerly the Science, Innovation and
Business Service).

(5)

The target figure includes employees of the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board and the Settlement Agents
Supervisory Board.
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Explanations of variances provided in Table 3 are as follows:
(a)

The variance is due to unspent funding relating to COAG reforms and the Gas
Rectification Programme.

(b)

The variance is due to the FTEs for Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board
and Settlement Agents Supervisory Board being included in the ‘Target’ figures contained
in the 2010-11 Budget Papers but not being included in the ‘Actual’; the difficulty in
attracting and retaining employees in inspectorate areas; not filling of positions in the
anticipation those positions would transfer to the Commonwealth; and utilising externally
procured contractors for information technology capital works programs relating to COAG
reforms.

Key performance indicators
This section provides a summary of the department’s non-financial performance against targets
for key effectiveness indicators and key efficiency indicators as contained in the
2010-11 Resource Agreement. The Overview (About the department and Performance
management framework) section of this report provides further information on the changes to
the department and the outcome based management framework.

Key effectiveness indicators
Table 4 provides a summary of the department’s non-financial performance relating to key
effectiveness indicators for 2010-11.
Table 4: Results for the 2010-11 key effectiveness indicators
Indicator

Target(1)

Actual

Variation

Outcome 1: A fair trading environment that protects consumers and traders in Western Australia.
The extent to which traders comply with regulatory requirements

90%

95%

5%

The extent of consumer confidence in Western Australia’s trading
environment

75%

73%

(2%)

Outcome 2: A community in which workplaces are operated in a safe and fair manner.
The extent of compliance with safety and employment
protection regulatory requirements

72%

70%

(2%)

10.4:1

3.7:1(a)

Outcome 3: Enhancement of the State's economic sustainability and prosperity.
Index of funding leverage obtained for Western Australia from
science and innovation research grants

6.7:1

Notes:
(1)

The targets were derived from the 2010-11 Budget Papers (No. 2, Volume 3, Part 18).

Explanation of variance provided in Table 4 is as follows:
(a)

The variance is due to the success of a number of Centres of Excellence in attracting a
higher ratio of leverage funds than originally anticipated.

The Disclosures and Legal Compliance (Key Performance Indicators) section of this report
provides further information on the results and variances.
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Key efficiency indicators
The 2010-11 Resource Agreement was prepared in the outcome based management
framework as set out in the 2010-11 Budget Papers. Detailed information on the department’s
non-financial performance for the financial year ending 30 June 2011 is presented in the
Disclosures and Legal Compliance (Key Performance Indicators) section of this report. Table 5
provides a summary of the department’s non-financial performance relating to key efficiency
indicators for 2010-11.
Table 5: Results for the 2010-11 key efficiency indicators
Target(1)

Indicator
Service 1:

Actual

Variation

Consumer Protection

Average cost per client contact to provide information and
advice

$2.42

$2.63

$0.21

$420,412

$225,882

($194,530)(a)

$16.91

$13.93

($2.98)(b)

$732.73

$424.76

($307.97)(c)

$4.50

$6.15

$1.65(d)

Average cost per hour of policy advice

$183.33

$183.42

$0.09

Average cost per registration or licence

$80.83

$89.93

$9.10(e)

$945.63

$1,025.97

$80.34

$202,733

$218,808

$16,075

Average cost per policy project
Average cost per registration or licence
Average cost per inspection or investigation
Service 2:

Safety and Employment Protection

Average cost per client contact to provide information and
advice

Average cost per inspection or investigation
Service 3:

Industry, Science and Innovation

(2)

Average cost per science and innovation project managed
Notes:
(1)

The targets were derived from the 2010-11 Budget Papers (No. 2, Volume 3, Part 18).

(2)

The name of this service changed to the Industry, Science and Innovation Service from the Science, Innovation and
Business Service.

Explanation of variance provided in Table 5 is as follows:
(a) The variance is primarily due to a number of unanticipated projects completed for
consequential regulations.
(b) The variance is primarily due to the number of encumbrance (REVS) and business name
transactions which occurred as a result of the delay in the transfer of these functions to the
Commonwealth.
(c) The variance is due to the higher than expected number of inspections undertaken in the
product safety area and the introduction of the Australian Consumer Law, as well as
inspections regarding meeting retail trading hours and price scanning requirements.
(d) The variance is due to a change in the methodology for recording online visits from ‘visitor
sessions’ to ‘visits’.
(e) The variance is due to the decrease in registrations and licences, coupled with the
increase in allocated expenditure.
A summary of the department’s performance against whole of government and cross-agency
initiatives, as contained in the 2010-11 Resource Agreements is presented in Table 2 of the
Overview (Shared responsibilities with other agencies) section of this report.
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
This section continues to highlight the department’s major operational activities for 2010-11.

Consumer Protection
Consumer Protection Division
About the division
The Consumer Protection Division provides consumers and traders with access to a fair and
competitive marketplace by providing advice and assistance to the community.

Highlights
Occupational licensing boards’ reforms
The Consumer Protection Division successfully developed the Acts Amendment (Fair Trading)
Bill 2010, giving effect to the State Government’s commitment to reduce the overall number of
Government boards and committees. This provided for the abolition of the Land Valuers
Licensing Board, the Motor Vehicle Industry Board, the Real Estate and Business Agents’
Supervisory Board and the Settlement Agents Supervisory Board. The main provisions of the
Act were proclaimed to commence on 1 July 2011. The Act transfers the licensing and related
functions of these Boards to the Commissioner for Consumer Protection and control of the
related finances to the department’s Director General.
FuelWatch internet site improvements
Improvements to the FuelWatch internet site were released in
February 2011 which incorporated improved user functionality,
updated technology and enhanced security.
For the first time, in 2010-11, the total number of visits to the FuelWatch internet site exceeded
four million. This is an increase of over one million from the previous year. The number of
subscribers to FuelWatch’s daily email service rose to over 41,000, an increase of almost 3,000
on the previous year. The usage of the FuelWatch internet site tends to increase in periods of
rising fuel prices. Between November 2010 and June 2011, the average price of unleaded
petrol in the metropolitan area rose by over 20 cents per litre.
Regional education and compliance sweeps
The Consumer Protection Division conducted two major education and compliance visits in
regional Western Australia. In November 2010, a sweep of the Shire of Murray area was
undertaken and in April 2011 another in the Wheatbelt occurred. Consumer Protection officers
approached retailers, car dealers, real estate agents, local associations, charities and
co-operatives to engage, educate and assist traders. The Commissioner for Consumer
Protection spoke at community forums in Moora and Pinjarra, providing consumers and traders
with the opportunity to obtain information and ask questions about relevant issues that affected
them.
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Development of State legislation
The Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements Amendment Bill 2011 was introduced in
the Legislative Assembly to improve the tenancy rights of small businesses in Western
Australia, and reflects extensive consultation with stakeholders. The Bill complements other
Government legislation which seeks to create a Small Business Commissioner for Western
Australia.
The Residential Tenancies Amendment Bill 2011 was also introduced in the Legislative
Assembly introducing new provisions on the management of anti-social behaviour in public
housing, and a range of reforms to residential tenancy, including regulation of tenancy
databases, central lodgement of bonds, and standard core provisions for residential tenancy
agreements.

Bitumen Bandits warning to Perth residents
The Consumer Protection Division issued a warning to Perth residents after several
homeowners became victims of illegal itinerant traders known as the ‘Bitumen Bandits’. The
‘bandits’ tell residents they have material left over from another job and can seal driveways at
bargain rates, but the cost is usually more than the job is worth and the work sub-standard.
Being itinerant tradesmen, they are very difficult to track down if the consumer is not satisfied
with their work and wants to make a warranty claim. Channel 7’s Today Tonight program
tracked down these ‘bandits’ and the story ran nationally over two days, containing warnings
and advice from the Consumer Protection Division.
Implementation of the Co-operatives Act 2009
The Co-operatives Act 2009 came into operation on 1 September 2010, replacing the outdated
Companies (Co-operatives) Act 1943. The new legislation provides that all existing
co-operatives are required to undertake a transfer process, which includes a formation meeting
and the implementation of more up-to-date rules. New forms, procedures, educational materials
and compliance programs have been developed by the department to assist co-operatives in
completing the transfer processes and to provide for effective administration of the legislation.
This included the publication and distribution of the Co-operatives: Good Business Guide and
the establishment of a dedicated enquiry line.
Compliance in the motor vehicle dealing industry
The Consumer Protection Division audited the licensed motor vehicle dealing industry on the
requirement to ensure sales staff are licensed and to ensure those dealers with trust accounts
are meeting auditing standards. As a result the division successfully prosecuted seven
dealerships for employing unlicensed staff and a further four salespersons for selling vehicles
without a licence. The division also increased its focus on combating unlicensed dealing and
has achieved a significant increase in successful prosecutions. A total of seven unlicensed
dealers were successfully prosecuted and further three matters are currently before the courts.
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Retirement villages review
The Consumer Protection Division completed the statutory review of retirement villages
legislation, which was based on extensive consultation with industry, consumer and
Government stakeholders over a four year period. The Statutory Review of Retirement Villages
Legislation - Final Report (November 2010) was tabled in the Parliament on 18 November 2010,
making more than 100 recommendations for change, chiefly to improve informational and
contractual practices in the sector and thereby advance the wellbeing of retirement village
residents. The review also considered the Economics and Industry Standing Committee ReportKarrinyup Lakes Lifestyle Village, Report No. 10 in the 37th Parliament (June 2008).
Real estate scam investigation
In September 2010, the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board and the
Settlement Agents Supervisory Board were made aware of a scam whereby an absentee
landlord had one property sold and another prepared for settlement, both in Western Australia,
without his knowledge. The Commissioner for Consumer Protection reacted promptly, releasing
urgent e-Bulletins to the real estate and settlement industries and a media release to the public,
ensuring that industry awareness was increased and the possibility of similar scams being
carried out was reduced. A working party was formed with representatives from the Consumer
Protection Division, Landgate, the Boards, and the Western Australia Police’s Commercial
Crime Division to assess the factors allowing the fraudulent sale of property to occur and to
identify any additional measures for preventing such fraud in the future.
Customer service improvements
In order to increase the customer services offered, the Consumer Protection Division continues
to establish effective partnerships with stakeholders and Government agencies including the
National Measurement Institute and the Health and Disability Services Complaints Office. A
number of reciprocal information sessions have been held resulting in a broader level of contact
centre expertise and appropriate referrals for advice and complaints across jurisdictions.
Product safety changes
The Consumer Protection Division raised awareness of the dangers associated with pool
skimmer boxes and received support from local councils which agreed to conduct compliance
checks on skimmer boxes when undertaking inspections of pool and spa barriers. A new
publication was developed for inspectors to leave with home owners to alert them to the
associated dangers. The Consumer Protection Division also contributed to the development and
amendment of product safety standards to achieve a harmonised national set of product safety
standards. Ten new permanent bans were introduced in February 2011.
Royal showbag safety inspections
The Consumer Protection Division utilised new technology to ensure all toys inside showbags at
the 2010 Perth Royal Show were safe for children. Every year the Royal Agricultural Society of
WA invites product safety officers to inspect showbags which will be available for sale at the
event. About a thousand toys were screened by special scanning equipment designed to detect
high levels of lead and other dangerous metals. This is additional to visual inspections to
ensure toys do not have sharp edges or pose choking, strangulation or any other hazards to
children.
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Building Commission Division
About the division
The Building Commission Division works to ensure a fair and efficient building industry by
consolidating building policy, building standards and practitioner registration.

Highlights
‘6 Star’ energy efficiency
The Building Commission Division commenced implementation of the ‘6 Star’ energy efficiency
for new homes in Western Australia. From 1 May 2012, all new homes, home renovations,
alterations and additions will need to comply with a ‘6 Star’ Standard that is included in the
National Construction Code, which aligns Western Australia with national energy efficiency
measures.
Services to the Kimberley region
The Building Commission has located a plumbing compliance officer in the Kimberley to ensure
standards are met throughout the area through greater interaction with local plumbers and to a
focus on Aboriginal Communities. The officer is located in the department’s Broome office.
Officers of the Building Commission are also located at two other regional offices.

Safety and Employment Protection
EnergySafety Division
About the division
The EnergySafety Division is industry funded and carries out the technical and safety regulation
of electricity transmission, electricity distribution, electricity utilisation (consumers' installations
and appliances), gas distribution and gas utilisation (consumers' installations and appliances).

Highlights
Electricity and gas licensing national regulatory reform
The Interim Advisory Committees continued to provide advice on licensing policy during 2011.
Draft regulations and accompanying Consultation Regulation Impact Statements for each
occupational area will be released for public comment early in the second half of 2011. The
public will have six to eight weeks to make comments on the proposals. The draft Regulations
and the Regulation Impact Statements will be made available on the EnergySafety section of
the department’s internet site.
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Electricity distribution systems
Following its comprehensive audit in 2008, the EnergySafety Division continued its focus
throughout 2010-11 on improving the safety of wooden electricity distribution poles in the
Western Power and Horizon Power systems. The EnergySafety Division is working with both
organisations on programs to improve the accuracy and relevance of pole inspection and
testing methods aimed at producing data needed for effective and safe management of these
critical community assets. At the close of the financial year, Horizon Power was nearing
completion of a comprehensive test program to evaluate alternative testing and inspection
approaches. Western Power had embarked on a major pole testing program to impose test
forces on poles to measure their actual residual strength. Initial results are expected early
2011-12. The EnergySafety Division has been closely involved with both the program planning
and execution of the trials.
Gas Industry Trade Expo
On 16 March 2011, to coincide with the release of
AS/NZS 5601: Gas installations, the EnergySafety Division
held the first Gas Industry Trade Expo in Western Australia to
showcase the downstream side of the gas industry. The Expo
was a great success with 49 industry exhibitors and more than
800 visitors attending. The Expo provided an opportunity for
gas fitters and plumbers to see the latest advancements in
technology and meet gas suppliers, retailers, training
providers and regulators in one location. It proved to be an
ideal opportunity for industry and the EnergySafety Division to
work together and promote safety and training.
Appliance safety national regulatory reform
During the year, the EnergySafety Division contributed to the Electricity Regulatory Advisory
Council’s new Australia wide approval and certification scheme for electrical appliances and
equipment.
Electricity supply safety national regulatory reform
The EnergySafety Division continued as an active participant in the Energy Supply Industry
Safety Committee, developing a new standard for safety cases applicable to the electrical
power industry, improving the mobility of the energy supply industry workforce and reviewing
operational safety practices across jurisdictions. The result will harmonise electricity supply
safety management throughout Australia.
Bushfire investigations
The EnergySafety Division carried out major investigations into significant wild fires allegedly
caused by Western Power’s electricity distribution system. At the Government’s direction, the
EnergySafety Division, the Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia,
Western Australia Police and Western Power were developing jointly a protocol to guide
co-ordinated investigations of bushfires suspected to have been ignited by electricity.
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Labour Relations Division
About the division
The Labour Relations Division aims to promote and encourage flexible, fair and productive
employment practices in Western Australian workplaces that recognise the rights and
obligations of both employees and employers.

Highlights
Review of the industrial relations system
The Labour Relations Division has provided ongoing support to the State Government in the
review of the State industrial relations system, and has conducted extensive consultation with
key stakeholders prior to finalising the proposed changes to the State system in 2011-12.
Public Service and Government Officers General Agreement 2011
Registration of the Public Service and Government Officers General Agreement 2011 was a
milestone achievement for the Labour Relations Division and the culmination of significant work
by all stakeholders involved. This Agreement is an amalgamation of the Public Service General
Agreement and the Government Officers Salaries, Allowances and Conditions General
Agreement.
Rethinking teleworking policy clinic
Staff from 13 public sector agencies attended a successful policy clinic presented by the
department and the Public Sector Commission titled ‘Telework anyone? Rethinking teleworking
policy and practice’. The group suggested a range of strategies including developing a toolkit for
teleworking with case studies highlighting the benefits and pitfalls. The lively and interactive
policy clinic demonstrated an enthusiasm for expanding access to teleworking in the public
sector and demonstrated a commitment to creating greater flexibility within the public sector, as
outlined in the Forward Thinking: Workforce Challenges for the Public Sector and Skilling WA A workforce development plan for Western Australia publications.
District allowance
The Labour Relations Division has been extensively involved in the processes of determining
and calculating district allowance under the new methodology contained in the District
Allowance General Agreements of 2010. The Labour Relations Division has also co-ordinated
the collection of employee census data for more than 7,300 public sector employees based
throughout regional Western Australia.
Federal education contract
The department has successfully delivered education services on Federal Modern Award
transitional arrangements to private sector employers and employees on behalf of the Fair Work
Ombudsman through a newly negotiated one year service contract.

42
Department of Commerce

Arbitration of rail car driver dispute
In 2011, the Labour Relations Division represented the Public Transport Authority before the
Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission in APPL 149 of 2010, being arbitration for
an Enterprise Order. This matter attracted significant public and national interest. The arbitrated
decision delivered wage increases that matched Public Sector Wages Policy parameters.
Workforce participation and flexibility program
The department promotes flexible, fair and productive Western Australian workplaces through
the workforce participation and flexibility program which comprises a number of interlinked
strategies to improve workforce participation, alleviate skills shortages and attract and retain
employees over the long term. The program is targeted at small business and the public sector
and is a priority action in the Government’s Skilling WA - A workforce development plan for
Western Australia publication. A key initiative of the program is to promote pay equity audits and
the department’s pay equity audit tool. The Labour Relations Division has provided advice and
support to a number of employers who have successfully used the pay equity audit tool to
conduct pay equity audits.
Complaint investigation
The Labour Relations Division investigated an underpayment of wages complaint from the
employee of a retail outlet where the employee was allegedly engaged as a sub-contractor. As
a consequence of the department’s investigation the retailer agreed to pay the employee nearly
$50,000 in unpaid entitlements.

WorkSafe Division
About the division
The WorkSafe Division operates to promote safe and healthy workplaces in Western Australia
by enforcing occupational safety and health laws, providing education and information about
occupational safety and health matters to workers and employers, and aiming to achieve a
workplace safety culture through industry and community awareness programs.

Highlights
Work Safe Forums
The WorkSafe Division hosted the Perth Work Safe Forum in October 2010 at the Hyatt
Regency Perth. The forum was targeted at elected safety and health representatives and
attended by some 500 delegates. Work Safe Regional Forums were held in Geraldton and
Kalgoorlie in May 2011, attended by more than 160 delegates. The Forums provided an
excellent opportunity for networking, sharing ideas and updating safety and health knowledge.
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Education and information sessions
As part of a continuing educational program approach, the WorkSafe Division presented 34 free
lunchtime information sessions, ‘4thought sessions’, at various locations on a range of
occupational safety and health topics, to give participants information on workplace safety
issues and provide an opportunity to discuss solutions. More than 1,300 participants attended
these sessions. The division also conducted more than 35 information sessions at individual
workplaces to support workplace risk management processes, and provided more than
153 information sessions to safety and health representative training courses, industry
associations, schools and TAFEs, and other customers.
ThinkSafe Commercial Fishing Project
In January 2011, WorkSafe launched the ThinkSafe Commercial Fishing Project, which is an
educational initiative to provide information on occupational safety and health to fishing
operators, seafarers and small seafood businesses. The project provided a free and
independent safety assessment to 35 fishing vessels in the Mid West. Additional sessions to
raise awareness of the Code of Practice - Man overboard: prevention and response were
presented to members of commercial fishing industry associations in Fremantle and Cable
Beach and attended by 59 participants. The enthusiastic response and high level of demand
from industry has resulted in 48 fishing vessels being booked for a safety assessment in the
next financial year.
Customer help centre
During the year, the WorkSafe Division responded to 44,584 requests for occupational safety
and health information, received 1,964 notifications of injuries and disease, answered 3,515
emails to the Customer Help Centre, and efficiently issued more than 47,800 classes of high
risk work licences.
National campaigns
As part of a national intervention approach developed under the National Occupational Health
and Safety Strategy 2002-2012, the division participated in targeted occupational safety and
health education and enforcement drives in relation to the safe design, manufacture and supply
of imported plant, and worker safety on or near public roads.
State based campaigns
During the year, the WorkSafe Division completed key intervention campaigns concerning
manufacturing in the Maddington and Malaga industrial areas, covering manual task injuries,
induction training of new workers, mobile plant in construction, high risk work licence
compliance, asbestos licence compliance, and safe work method statement compliance in
construction. There were also many proactive team projects including those concerning the
cleaning industry, funeral directors, supermarkets, restaurants, sporting facilities, horse racing
stables, tree lopping, nurseries and garden centres, escalators and noise control. Newsletters
and risk management materials were distributed to workplaces to support these team projects.
Information on campaign outcomes was disseminated through media releases.
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Compliance sweep - Maddington
WorkSafe inspectors visited a total of 82 workplaces in the Maddington industrial area and
issued a total of 224 improvement notices. Guarding was the main area of concern but also of
concern were safety issues related to the requirement of machinery operators to hold high risk
work licences, registering and training to use hazardous substances, and keeping records in
relation to plant. The aim was to identify risks to the safety and health of workers and to provide
employers with information on how to comply with workplace safety laws, though inspectors
take enforcement action if they find breaches of the laws.
Work-related injury and disease rates
According to the most recent preliminary workers' compensation claims data, the downward
trend continues for lost time injuries and diseases in Western Australia with a 6.4 per cent
reduction in overall frequency rate, from 9.73 in 2008-09 to 9.11 in 2009-10 (preliminary). The
total rate of improvement for all injuries and diseases since the Occupational Safety and Health
Act 1984 came into effect 22 years ago in 1988-89 is 74.2 per cent.
Due to the volatility of work-related fatalities, averages over five years are used to provide clear
trend data. The most recent data shows the average traumatic work-related fatality incidence
rate for the five year period from 2006-07 to 2010-11 is 18.0. This is a 6.9 per cent increase
from 16.8 for the five year period of 2005-06 to 2009-10 indicating a reversal in the trend
upward.
Table 6 shows the number of traumatic work-related fatalities and incidence rates during the
last five years, demonstrating the volatility of this measure.
Table 6: Work-related fatalities between 2006-07 and 2010-11
Year
Number of work-related fatalities
Annual fatality incidence rate

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

25

27

21

9

21

23.0

24.0

18.0

7.7

17.1

Awards
The WorkSafe Plan is an assessment process that rates safety management
systems and directs attention to areas that can be improved. The WorkSafe
Plan is promoted by the WorkSafe Division to help workplaces introduce
occupational safety and health management systems that support the
practices required to establish and maintain safe systems of work.
In 2010-11, nine platinum, 10 gold and 12 silver awards were awarded.
The Work Safety Awards Western Australia recognises outstanding
occupational safety and health management, solutions and innovation in
Western Australian workplaces that reduce the risk of work-related injury and
disease. In 2010, the award winners were Park Engineers Pty Ltd,
Salmat Pty Ltd, Pia Carter (Department of Fisheries) and Danny Norton
(Sinclair Knight Merz).
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Regional activities
As part of a continuing regional focus, the WorkSafe Division delivered to key regional areas a
range of targeted occupational safety and health intervention campaigns in line with nationally
agreed priority industries and priority issues. These included targeted inspection of construction
sites in the Great Southern, Mid West and Goldfields regions, a campaign in the Mid West to
improve safety in agriculture and commercial fishing, manufacturing industry inspections in
Bunbury, inspections throughout the Kimberley region of the infrastructure maintenance and
service provisions provided to Indigenous communities, and a campaign in the fishing industry
concerning compliance with the Code of Practice - Man overboard: prevention and response.
The WorkSafe Division also carried out a commercial driver fatigue operation at Bullsbrook
targeting inbound traffic from Port Hedland, to check whether the required rest breaks had been
taken. Following invitations by the Western Australia Police, there were also smaller commercial
driver fatigue operations near Boddington and at Northam, Bedfordale and Norseman.
The WorkSafe Division’s regional educational activities included delivering a free and
independent shed safety assessment to individual wool growers and shearing contractors in
Moora, Dandaragan, Northampton and Geraldton in conjunction with the Western Australian
Shearing Industry Association. Fifty one shed owners, 12 shearing team members and one
wool broker participated. In addition, 35 businesses in the commercial fishing industry received
safety and health assistance in the Mid West as part of the ThinkSafe Commercial Fishing
Project.

Industry, Science and Innovation
Industry, Science and Innovation Division
About the division
The Industry, Science and Innovation Division enhances the State’s prosperity by promoting
industry, science and innovation.

Highlights
New approach to local industry participation
In November 2010, the State Government announced a review of its approach to support local
industry participation in Western Australia's resource projects. This review was conducted by
the Department of Commerce and the Department of State Development and entailed
consultation across a wide range of relevant interested parties. In May 2011, the Minister for
Commerce tabled a report in Parliament outlining the factors contributing to a more competitive
and complex local content market situation. The Government released the Western Australian
Government Local Industry Participation Framework in June 2011.
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Western Australian Institute of Medical Research Clinical Trials Facility
In April 2010, a new $9.4 million clinical trials facility was opened at the QE11 Medical Centre.
The aim of this dedicated 24-bed facility is to conduct early phase clinical trials to determine the
suitability of new drugs and treatments. During 2010-11 the facility signed up a total of 18 trials
from companies in the United States of America, South East Asia and Australia. In total, the
Western Australian Institute of Medical Research has generated around $1.4 million in revenue,
and now has 14 full time employees and more than 30 contract employees. The facility provides
critical infrastructure for the State’s local biotechnology, pharmaceutical and clinical research
sectors.
Centres of Excellence Program’s success
In 2010-11, five Centres of Excellence became independent of the State Government’s support.
The State’s investment of $7.6 million in these five Centres resulted in more than $78 million in
cash from the Commonwealth Government and from industry. The Centres contributed to the
State's future innovation system through attracting to Perth more than 700 international
researchers and delegates from 40 countries, 583 peer reviewed papers, and around 100 post
graduate students, including PhD candidates. The five Centres provided a significant economic
contribution to the State through research undertaken to enhance the resources and mineral
industries (including the establishment of exploration techniques that will enable exploration to a
depth of two kilometres), agriculture, and the State’s ecology. Commercial outcomes included
10 international patent applications, a royalty stream, a number of international collaborations,
and a successful ‘spin-off’ company with revenue of $2 million in the first year of operation.
Public recognition for the Community Emergency Mobile Communications Project
In March 2011, the Industry, Science and Innovation Division was acknowledged at the
Australian Telecommunications User Group’s national Excellence Awards for its innovative
initiative, the Community Emergency Mobile Communications Project. The project not only
enabled the improvement of mobile phone and wireless broadband services, it also improved
emergency services coverage and their cost of operations at Balingup and Quongup in the
South West and at Kukerin in the Wheatbelt region. The division was also recognised with a
Western Australian Information Technology and Telecommunications Award for its work on the
project. The project was made possible through $1.2 million in funding from the Royalties for
Regions program. The success of this project has resulted in the further investment of
$40 million by the State Government under the Royalties for Regions program to improve
mobile phone coverage throughout regional areas of the State, through the Regional Mobile
Communications Project.
Industry promotion
The Industry, Science and Innovation Division actively promotes the achievements of Western
Australian companies through co-ordination of awards programs including the Marine Industry
Awards and the Western Australian Industry and Export Awards. The Awards recognise
Western Australian companies, large and small, that have achieved success. In 2010 Western
Australian companies were at the forefront of Australian industry with three winners at the
National Australian Export Awards. Matrix Composites and Engineering won the Large
Advanced Manufacturer category, Epichem the Small Business Export Award category and
Navitas the Education and Training Export Award. In 2010-11 Chevron Australia agreed to
become a new sponsor of the Western Australian Industry and Export Awards Program.
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Science and innovation promotion
The department administers several awards programs that recognise excellence and promote
participation in science and innovation activities. These Award programs include the:


Western Australian Science Awards to promote and
acknowledge the success of Western Australian scientists
in research, education and communication.



Western Australian Innovator of the Year Awards to
support industry development and promote a culture of
innovation and entrepreneurship across Western
Australia’s public, private and education sectors.



BioGENEius Challenge which provides Western
Australia’s top high school students with the opportunity to
work on a biotechnology project alongside experienced
scientists.

Australian Marine Complex expansion
The Industry, Science and Innovation Division oversees the business development of the
Australian Marine Complex. The Australian Marine Complex is the southern hemisphere’s
premier integrated marine industrial facility that enables industry to deliver projects of an
international scale. In 2010-11 the complex continued to expand, attracting a number of world
class companies including Matrix Composites and Engineering - Australia’s leading
manufacturer of critical engineered products for the offshore, subsea, mining and defence
industries, Civmec Construction and Engineering, a leading provider of civil construction and
structural or mechanical process piping services, and FMC Technologies, a leading global
provider of technology solutions for the energy industry.

Corporate
Corporate Services Division
About the division
The Corporate Services Division supports the department’s outcomes by providing effective
governance and policies and procedures for a range of activities. Primarily this division is
responsible for financial and asset management, procurement, information technology, human
resources, corporate information, freedom of information (FOI), and facilities planning and
management. The division also co-ordinates the risk and business continuity management
planning and practices across the department.
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Highlights
Accountable and ethical decision making training
As part of the department’s misconduct resistance initiative and to support the revised Code of
Conduct, released in February 2011, all employees were required to undertake accountable and
ethical decision making training. The Code of Conduct and the accountable and ethical decision
making training addressed the six categories where public sector employees need to display the
most appropriate behaviour and need to comply with an accountability framework established
by legislation and Government. At the close of the financial year, 98 per cent of employees
completed the training and assessment. The training was highly successful in raising
awareness and increasing the understanding of a wide range of accountability issues.
National initiatives – Implications for information technology systems
This collective project has passed a number of significant milestones which will shape the
national licensing implementation and local jurisdictional work. The transition of credit providers
data was completed; data migration for trade measurement data remained in progress;
Complaints and Licensing System (CALS) status for trade measurement licences was
'modified'; product safety data archived; and national business names web services proof of
concept successfully completed. The department is the first jurisdiction to have successfully
communicated with the ASIC’s business names system. For national licensing, key areas of
work have been the development of the National Licensing Register requirements, data model,
data dictionary and national unique entity identifier definition.
Complaints and Licensing System (CALS)
The EnergySafety Division in August 2010 and the WorkSafe Division in January 2011 rolled
into CALS information technology system which centralised the department’s core licensing
activities into one enterprise system. There were a number of post-implementation issues and a
concerted effort was employed between March to June 2011 to rectify and minimise operational
impacts. CALS has been stabilised in the last few months where the critical issues have been
resolved and the operational service stabilised.
WorkSafe Information System Environment (WISE)
The WISE technical and Phase 1 WISE functional upgrade projects were successfully deployed
into production in May 2011. The emphasis for this project was to migrate the associated
applications from outdated hardware and unsupported software versions onto current industry
standard platforms and supplement business improvements with new application functionality.
The benefits derived from this project allowed for savings to be gained from reduced licensing
and support costs. Through the migration of hardware, software and the introduction of new
functionality it is believed that the life expectancy of the WISE application has been extended by
four to five years.
Divisional transitions
During the year, the Corporate Services Division continued the transition of the Building Industry
Development Group of the Building Commission Division into the department. This involved the
migration of data records, files and personnel into the departmental systems and adoption of
new processes and practices by employees at the Building Commission Division.
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Safety and injury management training for managers and supervisors
Currently 80 per cent of managers and supervisors within the department have attended the
occupational safety and health and injury management for managers and supervisors training
session, surpassing the target set in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-11: Code
of practice: Occupational safety and health in the Western Australian public sector of
50 per cent. This is a significant improvement from 56.68 per cent this time last year and three
per cent in 2008-09. Occupational safety and health training records are now monitored and
maintained on the mainframe human resource system.
Corporate information
Departmental employees share responsibility for the creation and management of electronic
records and are required to capture records of significant or corporate value directly into the
corporate record keeping system, at the point of entry or the point of creation. In the past year,
more than half a million electronic and digitised records were captured of which 51 per cent
have been emails.
During the year, the department took part, along with other State and Local Government
agencies, in a review into the administration of FOI in Western Australia. The review,
undertaken by Western Australia’s independent Information Commissioner over a period of
eight months, examined the effectiveness of the processes used by agencies to administer FOI.

Office of the Director General
About the division
The Office of the Director General provides strategic and executive support to the Director
General and the Corporate Executive. This includes governance; ministerial liaison; regional
services; internal audit; strategic policy co-ordination; corporate development initiatives;
strategic planning; corporate performance reporting; special investigations; corporate
communications; and public affairs.

Highlights
Maritime Labour Convention
During 2010-11, the Office of the Director General co-ordinated the State Government’s
response to the ratification by Australia of the Maritime Labour Convention. Prior to the State
supporting ratification, an assessment of the State legislation and work practices were reviewed
and considered to be consistent with the minimum standards contained in the Convention. The
Convention was developed by the International Labour Organisation, a United Nations agency,
and replaces 37 separate maritime conventions. The Convention creates a single up-to-date
instrument that is applicable to governments, shipowners and seafarers worldwide. It sets
minimum requirements for seafarers to work on ships and contains provisions on conditions of
employment, hours of work and rest, accommodation, food, recreational facilities, health
protection, medical care and welfare. Formal ratification of the Convention by the
Commonwealth Government is expected early in 2011-12.
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Introducing our new online Annual Report
For the first time in 2010, the department’s Annual Report was
fully accessible as an online version both for computer internet
browsers and portable touch devices with internet access. The
online Annual Report was developed using higher standards in
web development, design and accessibility and can be viewed on
the Apple iPad and similar touch-screen devices, in addition to
internet browsers. The online Annual Report is an innovative
direction for the department and further enables an increasing
range of devices to access the department’s online services.
Chinese delegation: Zhejiang Province
Western Australia actively maintains a Sister State relationship with the Zhejiang Province of the
People’s Republic of China. In December 2010, the department hosted a delegation of 16
Government officials from the Bureau of Worksafe Supervision and Administration in Zhejiang
Province. The department’s WorkSafe Division has held a Memorandum of Understanding with
the Bureau for 14 years. The relationship covered by the Memorandum of Understanding
supports dialogue between the two administrations on work safety legislation, prevention and
investigation of industrial accidents, workplace emergency rescue and the training of work
safety supervisors and managers. The relationship also involves organising and attending joint
seminars and conferences, and hosting visiting delegations to Western Australia. Since 1997,
five delegations from Zhejiang Worksafe have visited the State.
Public sector safety, health and injury management: Annual reporting award
The Institute of Public Administration Australia’s (Western Australia) W.S. Lonnie Awards
annually recognise excellence and improved accountability standards in annual reporting across
the Western Australian public sector. A special award, co-sponsored by the Department of
Commerce, Public Sector Commission, RiskCover and WorkCover Western Australia Authority,
recognises accountability and excellence in occupational safety, health and injury management
reporting.

Brian Bradley, Director General presents the
special award to Main Roads Western
Australia.

More than 130 public sector agency annual reports were
reviewed for compliance with the Public Sector
Commissioner’s Circular 2009-11: Code of practice:
Occupational safety and health in the Western Australian
public sector, with the award for excellence in
occupational safety, health and injury management
reporting being awarded to Main Roads Western Australia
in April 2011. The Broome Port Authority and Fire and
Emergency Services Authority were also highly
commended for their reporting.
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Connecting with customers
The Office of the Director General works in partnership to promote and produce online, media
and information products. During the year, the division:


revised the department’s online information services to integrate seamlessly the Plumbers
Licensing Board redevelopment, and the Building Commission site import;



delivered events including the 2010 Safe Work Australia Week breakfast launch and
program; the 2010-11 WorkSafe Forums in Perth, Kalgoorlie and Geraldton; the Safety
Achievers' Dinner; the 2010 Work Safety Awards WA; the inaugural 2011 Gas Industry
Trade Expo for the downstream gas industry; the RCD television, radio and press
campaign; and the Consumer Protection Awards;



communicated the value of innovation and science to industry, with information products
and initiatives supporting the Innovator of the Year competition; the Western Australian
Science Awards; the Industry and Export Awards; and designed and produced a
promotional book to support and enhance the SKA international bid; and



facilitated delivery of information to business and workers about their obligations under law
with more than 440 different types of communication products including branding,
publication design, production, dissemination, signage, advertising, online information and
promotional items.
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OUR PEOPLE
Department’s profile
The department employs a diverse range of talented people who work together to provide a
broad range of services to the Western Australian community. The department works to create
workplaces where business outcomes are achieved, diversity is encouraged, health and safety
is paramount, the wellbeing of employees is supported and the development of our people is
championed. The department employs 1,001 employees or 882 full time equivalents (FTEs).
Table 7 provides a summary of the department’s profile for 2010-11.
Table 7: Department of Commerce’s employment profile (FTEs) for 2010-11
Category

Female

Male

Total

Permanent full time

311

364

675

Permanent part time

67

8

75

Fixed term full time

68

46

114

Fixed term part time

15

3

18

461

421

882

Total FTEs

Administratively, the department regularly reviews human resource policies and processes to
keep up-to-date with current demographic and environmental influences affecting our workforce.

Attracting and retaining
The department aims to recruit, develop and retain high calibre, skilled and motivated people.
Improved employment options have been developed to ensure that the needs of our talented
employees are met while fulfilling our business needs. To attract and retain the best possible
people the department offers a range of employee benefits including flexible working
arrangements, work-life balance initiatives, a comprehensive health and wellness program,
learning and development opportunities, and study assistance.

Graduate recruitment
In partnership with the Department of Mines and Petroleum and the Department of State
Development, the department supported and operated a joint graduate program. The graduate
program is unique as it offers graduates the opportunity for placements in the three
departments. The placements are designed to provide exposure to each department’s diverse
operations, while also enabling the graduates to develop valuable skills and experience. The
graduates undergo a comprehensive induction process, are given a sponsor and a mentor and
are provided with comprehensive training. The program is part of the department’s strategy to
attract youth and develop future management and leadership capability. The department
participated in a number of University Career Fairs and Expos to promote the program. During
the year, three graduates were recruited under this program with a further four law and
accounting graduates recruited by the Consumer Protection Division.
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Valuing equity and diversity
The department acknowledges differences in the workforce and adapts work practices to create
an inclusive environment in which diverse skills, perspectives and backgrounds are valued. The
department aims to achieve an equitable and diverse workforce that is representative of the
community at all levels of employment, and which enables employees to combine work and
family responsibilities. An Equity and Diversity Plan 2010-2012 was developed in accordance
with the Equal Opportunity Act 1984.
Activities during the year that supported the Equity and Diversity Plan included:


promotion of equal employment opportunity and key diversity days;



delivery of three different women’s development programs with 31 participants;



a review of attraction and retention strategies for youth and ‘generation Y’;



a one day workshop on equal opportunity law, workplace culture and bullying for new
employees; and



encouraging employees to update their personal information to improve the accuracy of
workforce diversity data.

Learning and development
Employee learning and development
A variety of workshops were conducted through the internal training calendar. These included
written and interpersonal communications skills, creative thinking, career development, equal
employment opportunity, work-life balance and management training. A total of 19 workshops
were conducted with 291 participants.
With approximately half of our workforce aged 45 years or older, the department worked closely
with the Government Employees Superannuation Board to provide employees with
opportunities to increase their understanding of their superannuation entitlements and to
maximise their superannuation benefits. Nineteen superannuation information sessions were
conducted on eight different topics and these were attended by 191 employees. In addition,
72 employees attended an individual session.

Leadership development
The department promotes and supports participation of senior staff on a variety of leadership
development programs co-ordinated by the Public Sector Commission including Foundations of
Leadership, Pathways to Leadership, the Public Sector Management Program, as well as
management development workshops on a range of topics.
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Supervisor and management development program
As part of succession management and to enhance the management capability of employees,
two pilot programs were undertaken by employees in the Consumer Protection Division during
the year. A five-module supervisor development pilot program was completed by employees at
level three and level four. The program was evaluated and as a result will be offered to
supervisory staff throughout the department during 2011-12.
A Diploma of Management was commenced and employees at level five and level six have
attended the eight workshops required for the diploma. The participants are completing their
final assignments and will be awarded their qualification early in 2011-12. The program will be
evaluated for implementation across the department.

Department’s leadership team
The department continued to focus on maintaining a positive corporate culture through
presentations and workshops for the department’s leadership team. These sessions were
designed to enhance the team’s abilities to build and sustain effective workplace relationships
and to contribute to a more positive working environment for all employees.
During the year, two leadership team sessions were held. The first focused on emerging trends
in the Western Australia public sector including the Economic Audit Committee’s Putting the
Public First: Partnering with the Community and Business to Deliver Outcomes, Public Sector
Reforms and the impact of recommendations of the Value for Money Audit on the department.
The second session focused on innovation and provided the leadership team with an
understanding of the department’s role in facilitating innovation with, and in, industry;
information on other State public sector innovation programs; and the collaborative work
undertaken across State government agencies relating to innovation. This session laid the
foundations for developing the department’s innovation program which will be implemented in
the coming year.

Communicating with our employees
Employee committees
Effective workplace consultation relies on information sharing, access to facilities and training
for all participants, and a commitment from both management and employee representatives to
achieve workable and acceptable solutions to workplace issues. A joint consultative forum
between workplace union delegates and the Director General met every six weeks. The
department also has an Occupational Safety and Health Committee and details of their activities
are provided in the Disclosures and Legal Compliance (Government policy requirements)
section of this report.
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Internal communication
News on activities among the department’s divisions and employees is communicated through
Comm.News, an online news service. In addition, the internal HR Matters publication provides
advice, information and updates to management and employees on a wide range of issues and
topics including employee entitlements, changes to human resource processes and procedures,
occupational safety and health, the wellness program, learning and development, and equity
and diversity.

Employee services
Support for charities and community groups
The department continued to provide ongoing support to local charities and community groups
through a range of fundraising activities including casual dress days and morning teas. During
the past year, $3,090 was raised and donated to four charities: Lifeline Australia, RSPCA,
the Cancer Council and, in memory of a colleague, research into Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease.
In addition, individual employees also supported various community groups and charities such
as St Vincent De Paul by donating goods and food for their Annual Christmas Appeal.

Employee assistance
The department’s employee assistance program provides a range of personal and professional
support services for employees, managers and their families. This includes programs for the
whole organisation as well as for specific situations such as traumatic workplace incidents. The
employee assistance providers are a resource for managers and team leaders to effectively
address challenging employee issues, as well as supporting personal functioning through
solution-focused professional assistance, including short term counselling. During the year the
department commenced the process to appoint an additional eight grievance officers.

Workplace wellness
The department encourages healthy lifestyles and supports work-life balance to assist
employees in dealing effectively with the stresses of everyday work and life problems. The
department has a comprehensive and highly successful health and wellness program ‘Work
Safe, Work Well’. Healthy lifestyle choices are promoted through Comm.News and articles in
HR Matters.
Key activities conducted through the wellness program include healthy heart checks, lunchtime
talks, influenza vaccinations and massage. A variety of exercise classes are offered at lunch
time or after work, including zumba, yoga, pilates, boot camp and stretch and meditation.
New wellness program activities included teams in the lunch time corporate sports challenge,
an eight week men’s only health program and a ‘no leave, no life’ campaign encouraging
employees to take their annual leave. The highlight of the wellness calendar was the annual
‘10,000 step’ challenge which is a 10 week corporate program in which 176 employees in teams
of four, completed a ‘virtual walking journey’ around the world.
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Significant Issues and
Trends

This section contains information on the significant issues and
trends impacting on the delivery of our services to the
community of Western Australia.

Significant Issues and Trends

58
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES AND TRENDS
Consumer Protection


The introduction of the Australian Consumer Law and amendments to legislation
administered by the Consumer Protection Division is seeing considerable change occur to
the division's legislative and structural operations, particularly the adoption of the licensing
and regulatory functions of four Boards. Significant effort will be required to ensure
seamless services and information are provided to consumers and traders throughout this
period.



The Consumer Protection Division will have a strong focus on the housing and tenancy
sector through Bills to amend the Residential Tenancies Act 1987 and the Retirement
Villages Act 1992, the establishment of an integrated property industries directorate within
the division, and the creation of a Seniors' Housing Centre.



The Consumer Protection Division will implement State Government initiatives to increase
consumer choice and business flexibility through further reform of retail trading hours. The
department will also progress the State Government's amendments to retail shop tenancy
laws, which will benefit small business and provide better clarity for tenants and landlords.
The latter amendments will be complemented in the Small Business Portfolio, through laws
appointing a Commissioner for Small Business.



To consolidate the building regulation of the building industry, new laws will repeal the
Painters’ Registration Act 1961 and the Builders’ Registration Act 1939 and transfer the
functions of the Builders' Registration Board and the Painters' Registration Board to a new
Building Industry Board. The assets and employees of the former boards will be transferred
to the department's Building Commission Division. Implementation of the building services
levy will move the Building Commission Division towards full industry funding of its
operations.



A complete building regulation reform agenda with a new legislative framework will
streamline the building approval process and consolidate the framework for prescribing
design, construction and maintenance standards, approving building proposals and
certifying compliance with the relevant building standards and codes in the interests of
community safety and health.



A new consumer disputes process will be developed and implemented in association with
the State Administrative Tribunal. This will involve the Building Commission Division initially
dealing with, and attempting to conciliate, disputes. Where disputes cannot be resolved, the
State Administrative Tribunal will deal with them in a formal tribunal hearing.
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Safety and Employment Protection


The COAG reforms will have a significant impact on the EnergySafety Division in respect to
occupational licensing in the 2011-12 financial year. With electrical and gas licences being
chosen as part of the first group for the national licensing system it will require a national
database and an information technology system to cope with the change. In addition, the
uncertainties associated with integration of the existing systems from each jurisdiction with
the new system are likely to have a significant resource impact. The implementation of the
National Licensing system also may have an impact on the EnergySafety Division’s
licensing revenue due to a reduction in the number of new electrical and gas licence
applications. As the national regulatory reform project will have an effect on the current
Western Australian regulatory regime, the EnergySafety Division will be involved in National
Interim Advisory Committees to develop the regulations in respect to licensing and related
enforcement of regulatory requirements which may also have an impact on the level of
resources.



The Ministerial Council for Energy is working towards an enhanced safety framework for the
energy supply industry. The primary aim of work is to ensure improved public and industry
safety through regulatory and non-regulatory mechanisms. These mechanisms will
contribute to the efficient delivery of energy network services. The Ministerial Council agreed
to the development of an Intergovernmental Agreement for the jurisdictions to adopt a
common Energy Network Safety Scheme and to establish an Energy Supply Industry Safety
Committee to oversee the ongoing project and to provide advice to the Ministerial Council.
The EnergySafety Division will represent the State on the Energy Supply Industry Safety
Committee and will determine the impact on the current integrated approach to energy
industry regulation.



During recent years concerns have been raised about the safety of overhead lines in the
Western Power distribution system covering the South West of the State. The EnergySafety
Division continues to work with Western Power on its mitigation strategies to ensure that all
reasonable measures are employed to avoid such incidents in the future, since their effect
on the community can be severe.



Significant major project policy work will continue to be carried out in 2011-12, in addition to
the daily policy work including advice to Ministers, participating on Standards Australia
committees for key technical standards, preparing and issuing guideline information to
industry and the community, and general safety promotion.



Population growth and its geographical distribution has driven the demand for the housing
and construction industry. This, coupled with the significant growth in the mining industry,
has placed an enormous impact on electricians and gas fitters, which in turn has increased
the amount of licensing activity. There may be a marked increase in emphasis on Pilbara
and Kimberley centres, given the major resource projects, particularly for electricians.
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The Labour Relations Division continues to facilitate and monitor compliance with the
Western Australian Government's Public Sector Wages Policy (2009) through co-ordination
of all public sector negotiations and by assuming a regulatory role in the management of
these negotiations and arbitration where necessary. The implementation of the Policy has
required ongoing reallocation of resources within the division in order to ensure the
compliance of public sector agencies with the Policy’s content and process. This has been
compounded by the loss of industrial relations expertise across affected agencies, and the
variable dynamics of bargaining.



The State Government undertook a review of the State industrial relations system to ensure
the system meets the needs of its users which are unincorporated small business and public
sector. The Government released the review in December 2010. The department has
provided ongoing advice to the Government on changes to the State industrial relations
system, and has conducted consultation with key stakeholders before the Government
finalises its proposed changes to the State system in 2011-12.



The department continues to promote flexible, fair and productive Western Australian
workplaces through initiatives such as the pay equity audit tool which has been successfully
used to conduct pay equity audits in a number of agencies, with the advice and support of
the department. The department continues to promote pay equity audits as a key strategy to
address barriers to participation through training and education.



The department has successfully negotiated a one year contract with the Commonwealth
Fair Work Ombudsman to deliver education services on federal modern awards to Western
Australian private sector workplaces. This initiative enhances the department's existing
services provided to Western Australian small businesses.



The State economic recovery, tightening labour market and ageing workforce will present a
challenge for Western Australian employers in attracting and retaining employees, leading
increased activity in the industrial relations system.



Western Australia remains committed to national occupational health and safety targets
which aim for at least a 20 per cent reduction in fatalities and a 40 per cent reduction in
injuries between 2002 and 2012.



Western Australia is participating in the occupational health and safety reform agenda aimed
at harmonising occupational health and safety legislation across Australia. The Government
has agreed to the bulk of the model laws proposed for national harmonisation. However,
while it supports the principle of occupational health and safety harmonisation, the State
Government will retain its own settings in some areas. The department is contributing to this
initiative by working towards the commencement of the model work health and safety
provisions by January 2012 and then applying the new laws.
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Industry, Science and Innovation


The division conducted the State Government’s review of the Western Australian Building
Local Industry Policy to ensure it continues to meet the evolving needs of industry and the
broader community. In June 2011, the Minister for Commerce released the released the
Western Australian Government Local Industry Participation Framework. The Australian
Industry Participation National Framework Agreement is designed to achieve a uniform
approach across jurisdictions to Australian industry involvement in major capital projects,
both public and private. The agreement is currently being revised and updated, and the
Industry, Science and Innovation Division is participating in the review, together with the
Commonwealth, and other States and Territories. Both the national agreement and the
State Government’s approach are designed to maximise local industry participation in major
projects.



During the year the division made a submission to the Economic and Expenditure Review
Committee for funding to continue successful grant programs in 2011-12. Funding will now
continue for the Western Australian Research Fellowship Program, the Office of the Nobel
Laureates and the Gravity Discovery Centre. Funding was also approved for the Integrated
Marine Observing System and the Western Australian Marine Science Institute, involving a
major new marine research program in the Kimberley. A $10 million Research and
Innovation Fund will be established in 2011-12, to continue investment into innovation
initiatives, and research capability and capacity that supports the growth of key industry
sectors.



During the year the division supervised the allocation of a further $5 million in State funding
to support the Australian SKA Pathfinder and Murchison Wide-field Array projects being
established at the Murchison Radio-astronomy Observatory. This first instalment has
contributed towards the installation of a fibre optic cable between the Murchison Radioastronomy Observatory and Geraldton. A further $10.8 million is to be provided in 2011-12
to complete the fibre optic link and provide buried power and communications cabling for the
Australian SKA Pathfinder and Murchison Wide-field Array installations. The funding will
also enable the establishment of vehicle access tracks to support the construction of the two
installations. This will complete the State’s commitment to the Australian SKA Pathfinder
and Murchison Wide-field Array projects. The division will commence discussion in 2011-12
with the Australian Government regarding future support for the expanded SKA international
telescope, subject to confirmation of the facility being established in Western Australia.



During the year the Industry, Science and Innovation Division recommended to the Minister
that a review should be undertaken of the enabling legislation as required under the Industry
and Technology Development Act 1998. The review is being undertaken by an independent
counsel, who reports directly to the Minister, and the division has provided additional
background and information as required and requested. The report is expected to be
presented to the Minister in late 2011 and its recommendations will have the potential to
impact on the enabling legislation and strongly influence the division’s activities and work
programs.
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Increased participation across the digital economy will remain a priority for the division in
2011-12. A particular emphasis will be placed on increasing the online presence and activity
of Western Australian business and industry. The division will continue to co-ordinate across
the Western Australian Government to maximise the benefits from developments in digital
applications and infrastructure to the State. Oversight of the National Broadband Network
deployment in the State will be undertaken by the Government’s Broadband Working Group,
with administration support from the department. During 2011-12 the division will also
engage more broadly across Government on the potential to exploit digital technology to
enhance public services.

Corporate


In accordance with the recommendations of the Economic Audit Committee, the department
undertook a Value for Money Audit of its activities in 2009. The audit identified potential
savings and operational efficiencies, principally in the reduction of leasing and infrastructure
costs by co-locating the department's existing multiple sites into one location. The
department is working on implementation of the remaining recommendations of the audit.
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Disclosures and Legal
Compliance

This section contains the audited Financial Statements and
Key Performance Indicators for the year ending 30 June 2011.
Details of required disclosures and legal compliance obligations
including financial and performance management,
accountability, governance and reports required under specific
legislation are contained in this section.

Audit Opinion

64

Financial Statements

66

Key Performance Indicators

108

Ministerial directives

123

Other financial disclosures

123

Governance disclosure

124

Other legal requirements

127

Government policy requirements

144
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AUDIT OPINION
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Certification of Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Commerce have been prepared in
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts
and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending
30 June 2011 and the financial position as at 30 June 2011.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

David Goodwin

Brian Bradley

Chief Finance Officer

Accountable Authority

9 September 2011

9 September 2011
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Financial Statements
Department of Commerce

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2011
Note

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Finance costs
Accommodation expenses
Grants and subsidies
Revaluation decrements expense
Impairment Expense
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Sales
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other revenue
Total revenue

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

4
5
6
7
8
9
14
15
15
10

80,880
34,480
1,480
39
12,340
42,453
641
243
3,349
175,905

83,043
25,400
1,606
17
12,629
47,842
497
175
243
171,452

11

35,739
75
6,431
9,362
51,607

36,058
800
4,915
41,773

51,607

41,773

124,298

129,679

112,996
1,089
916
115,001

123,301
1,427
124,728

12
13

Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES

Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Resources received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government

16

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Total other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

29

(9,297)

(4,951)

1,184
1,184

(1,328)
(1,328)

(8,113)

(6,279)

Refer to the schedule of Income and Expenses by Service
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Department of Commerce

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2011
Note

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

30
17
18
19
20

4,838
18,686
16,613
3,349
45
43,531

9,179
10,803
14,023
1,267
135
35,407

17
18
19
21
22

1,749
7,433
8,642
48,924
7,194
73,942

1,449
7,304
12,831
49,370
5,152
76,106

117,473

111,513

24
27
26
28

15,113
6,317
17,927
216
39,573

5,282
2,596
14,898
849
23,625

24
27
25
26

828
3,026
771
4,381
9,006

860
2,689
771
5,888
10,208

TOTAL LIABILITIES

48,579

33,833

NET ASSETS

68,894

77,680

75,022
3,807
(9,935)
68,894

75,695
2,623
(638)
77,680

117,473

111,513

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Unearned revenues
Provisions
Other current liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Payables
Unearned revenues
Borrowings
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumlated surplus/(deficit)
TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITY

29

Refer to the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'.
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note

Balance at 1 July 2009
Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period
Asset revaluation reserve adjustment
Restated balance at 1 July 2009

29

Reserves

Accumulated
surplus/
(deficit)

Total equity

$'000

$'000

$'000

61,965

3,951

4,313

70,229

61,965

3,951

4,313

70,229

(1,328)

(4,951)

(6,279)

(4,951)

1,611
11,351
1,036
(268)
7,451

Contributed
equity

$'000

Total comprehensive income for the year
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Transfer of asset from administered to controlled
Other contributions by owners
Distribution to owners
Total

1,611
11,351
1,036
(268)
13,730

(1,328)

Balance at 30 June 2010

75,695

2,623

(638)

77,680

Balance at 1 July 2010

75,695

2,623

(638)

77,680

1,184

(9,297)

(8,113)

1,184
3,807

(9,297)
(9,935)

425
(1,098)
(8,786)
68,894

Total comprehensive income for the year
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Distribution to owners
Total
Balance at 30 June 2011

425
(1,098)
(673)
75,022

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. (note 29)
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Capital appropriations
Holding account drawdowns
Royalties for Regions Fund
Cash transferred from other State Government agency
Net cash provided by State Government

111,754
425
3,349
916
(1,098)
115,346

122,059
1,611
1,267
2,011
126,948

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
Finance costs
Accommodation
Grants and subsidies
GST payments on purchases
Other payments

(79,358)
(23,448)
(39)
(12,340)
(42,453)
(4,799)
(3,349)

(81,569)
(24,672)
(17)
(12,629)
(47,842)
(9,011)
(336)

37,907
75
6,431
589
3,381
9,362
(108,041)

41,996
800
1,084
6,576
4,915
(120,705)

(3,463)
(3,463)

685
(5,874)
(5,189)

Receipts
User charges and fees
Sales
Commonwealth grants and contributions
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash (used in) operating activities

30

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Net cash (used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of borrowings
Net cash (used in) financing activities

-

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE
PERIOD

30

3,842

854

21,431

20,577

25,273

21,431

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Consumer Protection
2011
$'000
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expenses
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Finance costs
Accommodation expenses
Grants and subsidies
Revaluation decrement
Impairment Expense
Loss on disposal non current asset
Other expenses
Total cost of services

2010
$'000

Safety & Employment
Protection
2011
$'000

Industry Science &
Innovation

Total

2010
$'000

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

36,391
13,514
666
4,802
16
289
110
1,507
57,295

37,004
11,276
716
5,627
262
222
78
149
55,334

32,714
15,446
599
5,741
1,371
259
98
1,354
57,582

33,279
10,142
644
5,061
440
199
70
135
49,970

11,775
5,520
215
39
1,797
41,067
93
35
487
61,028

12,760
3,889
246
17
1,941
47,140
76
27
52
66,148

80,880
34,480
1,480
39
12,340
42,454
641
243
3,348
175,905

83,043
25,307
1,606
17
12,629
47,842
497
175
336
171,452

18,256
38

18,953
-

15,263
32

15,000
-

2,220
5

2,105
-

35,739
75

36,058
-

Income
User Charges and Fees
Sales
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other revenue
Total income other than income from
State Government

3,582
4,782

800
2,583

1,807
3,998

2,045

1,042
582

287

6,431
9,362

800
4,915

26,658

22,336

21,100

17,045

3,849

2,392

51,607

41,773

NET COST OF SERVICES

30,637

32,998

36,482

32,925

57,179

63,756

124,298

129,679

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Resources received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government

27,851
546
16
28,413

31,376
636
32,012

33,165
519
110
33,794

31,306
572
31,878

51,979
25
790
52,794

60,619
219
60,838

112,995
1,090
916
115,001

123,301
1,427
124,728

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

(2,224)

(2,688)

(1,047)

(4,385)

(2,918)

(986)

(9,297)

(4,951)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service
as at 30 June 2011
Safety &
Employment
Protection

Consumer
Protection

Industry Science &
Innovation

General - Not
Attributed

Total

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets

1,077
1,077

514
514

14,631
14,631

9,110
9,110

8,498
29,910
38,408

7,544
29,518
37,062

19,325
44,032
63,357

18,239
46,588
64,827

43,531
73,942
117,473

35,407
76,106
111,513

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

1,004
1,315
2,319

789
1,857
2,646

1,072
2,294
3,366

1,288
1,288

771
771

771
771

37,497
4,626
42,123

22,836
6,292
29,128

39,573
9,006
48,579

23,625
10,208
33,833

(1,242)

(2,132)

11,265

7,822

37,637

36,291

21,234

35,699

68,894

77,680

NET ASSETS

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
The assets and liabilities classified as 'General Not Attributed' are applied across multiple services and therefore it is not possible to attribute
to any individual service.
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates
for the year ended 30 June 2011
2011
Estimate
$'000
DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 111 Net amount appropriated to deliver services
Section 25 transfer of service appropriation (a)
- From Commerce to DMP
- From DTF to Commerce
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
Total appropriations provided to deliver services

112,272
-

2011
Actual
$'000
112,272
-

Variance
$'000
-

2011
Actual
$'000
112,272
-

2010
Actual
$'000
121,293
(1,196)
2,504

Variance
$'000
(9,021)
1,196
(2,504)

724
112,996

724
112,996

-

724
112,996

700
123,301

24
(10,305)

425
425

425
425

-

425
425

1,611
1,611

(1,186)
(1,186)

5
5

5
5

-

5
5

113,426

113,426

-

113,426

124,912

(11,486)

Details of Expenses by Service
Consumer Protection
Add adjustment for Consumer Protection transfer from DTF
Total Consumer Protection

55,259
55,259

57,295
57,295

2,036
2,036

57,295
57,295

52,830
2,504
55,334

4,465
(2,504)
1,961

Safety & Employment Protection
Total Safety and Employment Protection

48,480
48,480

57,583
57,583

9,103
9,103

57,583
57,583

49,970
49,970

7,613
7,613

Industry Science & Innovation
Total Industry Science & Innovation

61,484
61,484

61,028
61,028

61,028
61,028

66,148
66,148

(5,120)
(5,120)

165,223
(42,641)
122,582
(9,586)
112,996

175,905
(51,607)
124,298
(11,302)
112,996

175,905
(51,607)
124,298
(11,302)
112,996

171,452
(39,094)
132,358
(9,057)
123,301

4,453
(12,513)
(8,060)
(2,245)
(10,305)

CAPITAL
Item 164 Capital Contribution
Total capital appropriations
ADMINISTERED TRANSACTIONS
Amount provided for Administered Grants, Subsidies and
Other Transfer Payments
Total administered transactions
GRAND TOTAL

Total Cost of Services
Less total income
Net Cost of Services
Adjustments (b)
Total appropriations provided to deliver services

(456)
(456)
10,682
(8,966)
1,716
(1,716)
-

-

5
5

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Capital appropriations

4,074
4,074

3,463
3,463

(611)
(611)

3,463
3,463

5,376
5,376

(1,913)
(1,913)

Details of Income Estimates
Income disclosed as Administered Income
Total income estimates

9,799
9,799

7,094
7,094

(2,705)
(2,705)

7,094
7,094

11,258
11,258

(4,164)
(4,164)

(a) On the 1st of January 2009 the Science, Innovation and Technology Division was transferred from the Department of Mines and Petroleum
(formerly the Department of Industry and Resources) to the Department of Commerce (formerly the Department of Consumer and Employment
Protection). The Building Commission Implementation group was transferred from the Department of Treasury and Finance to the Department of
Commerce from 1 July 2010.
(b) Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.
Note 34. Explanatory statement provides details of any significant variations between estimate and actual results for 2011 and between the actual
results for 2010 and 2011.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ending 30 June 2011
1.

Australian Accounting Standards

General
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).
The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative
dates.
Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. No Australian Accounting Standards that
have been issued or amended but not operative have been early adopted by the Department for the annual reporting
period ended 30 June 2011.
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

(a)

General Statement

The financial statements constitute general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with
the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the
Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.
The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation
of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.
Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
(b)

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention,
modified by the revaluation of land and buildings which have been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($'000).
Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies discloses judgements that have been made in the
process of applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts
recognised in the financial statements.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty discloses key assumptions made concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
(c)

Reporting Entity

The reporting entity comprises the Department of Commerce.
Mission
The Department of Commerce is an agency of the Government of Western Australia and seeks to create a
contemporary, diversified economy that provides for the growth, safety and protection of the community by:
promoting innovation and science, enhancing capacity, and ensuring a world class regulatory environment.
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Services
The Department provides the following services:
Service 1: Consumer Protection
The provision of consumer protection advice, information, education and business regulation services to the Western
Australian community.
Service 2: Safety & Employment Protection
The provision of advice, information, education and regulation services to the Western Australian community in the
areas of occupational safety and health, energy safety, and labour relations.
Service 3: Industry Science & Innovation (previously Science, Innovation and Business)
Enhances the State’s prosperity by promoting industry, science and innovation. Services include supporting the
Western Australian Technology and Industry Advisory Council (TIAC) with policy development advice; supporting
industry development through innovation and commercialisation; and managing industry, science and innovation
programs and projects.
The Department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government that are not controlled
by, nor integral to the function of the Department. These administered balances and transactions are not recognised
in the principal financial statements of the Department but schedules are prepared using the same basis as the
financial statements and are presented at note 42 ‘Disclosure of Administered Income and Expenses’ and note 43
‘Administered Assets and Liabilities’.
(d)

Contributed Equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires transfers
in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be
designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such
transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by
owners by TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited
directly to Contributed Equity.
The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and nonreciprocal. See note 29 ‘Equity’.
(e)

Income

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major
business activities as follows:
Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains
control of the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds
are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held
at Treasury. See note 16 ‘Income from State Government’ for further detail.
Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under
the control of the Department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2010-2011 Budget
Statements, the Department retained $45,732 million in 2011 ($36.532 million in 2010) from the following:


proceeds from fees and charges;



sale of goods;



Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; and



Other departmental revenue.
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Provision of services
Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of
the transaction.
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the
contributions, which is usually when cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services
would be purchased if not donated.
Gains
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
(f)

Borrowing Costs

All borrowing costs are expensed.
All loans payable are initially recognised at cost being the fair value of the net proceeds received. Subsequent
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
(g)

Property, plant and equipment

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Items of land are capitalised irrespective of value. All other property, plant and equipment are recognised as assets
when their cost or fair value exceeds $5,000. The cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful
lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are
significant in total).
Initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.
For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the
date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the Department uses the revaluation model for the measurement of
land and buildings and the cost model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at
fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property,
plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current
market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by
reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.
Where market-based evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of
existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for
existing use building assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is dependent
on using the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are
restated proportionally.
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Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by the Western Australian Land Information
Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not
differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use
basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the
evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.
Refer to note 21 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on revaluations.
Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that
asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.
Asset Revaluation Surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets
as described in note 21 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method, using rates that
are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Buildings

40 years

Property Infrastructure

5-15 years

Computer hardware

3 years

Computer software

(a)

3 years

Furniture and fittings

10 years

Office equipment

5 years

Motor vehicles

5 years

Plant & Machinery

10 years

(a)

Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

(h)

Intangible Assets

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets over $5,000 and internally developed intangible assets costing $100,000 or more are
capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these
thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost
or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated
useful life) on the straight-line basis using rates that are reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by the
department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.
Intangible assets held by the Department are amortised on a straight-line basis using rates that are reviewed
annually.
The expected useful lives for intangible software assets are:
Internally developed systems
8 years
All other intangible software assets
3 years
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Computer Software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is
not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is
expensed in the year of acquisition.
Systems Development
For system developments, research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred on an individual
project are carried forward when their future recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured and where the
total capitalised costs are likely to exceed $100,000. Other development expenditures are expensed as incurred.
Web site costs
Web site costs are expensed when they are incurred unless the cost exceeds $100,000. In this instance they are
capitalised and amortised over their useful life.
(i)

Impairment of Assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested, when appropriate, for any indication of impairment at
the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down
to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless
an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated,
where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of
assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption
or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of
whether there is any indication of impairment.
See note 23 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
See note 2(p) ‘Receivables’ and note 18 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.
(j)

Non-Current Assets (or Disposal Groups) Classified as Held for Sale

The Department does not hold any non-current assets classified as held for sale.
(k)

Leases

The Department does not have any finance leases.
The Department holds operating leases for head office and a number of branch office accommodation. Lease
payments are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived
from the leased properties.
(l)

Financial Instruments

In addition to cash the Department has two categories of financial instruments:


Loans and receivables; and



Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
Financial Assets


Cash and cash equivalents



Restricted cash and cash equivalents



Receivables



Amounts receivable for services
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Financial Liabilities

Payables

W.A.Landcorp Borrowings
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction
cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.
(m)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent)
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
(n)

Accrued Salaries

Accrued salaries (refer note 24 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial
year, as the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year.
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Department considers the carrying
amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to the net fair value.
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 17 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists of amounts
paid annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow
in each eleventh year when 27 paydays occur instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.
(o)

Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of
services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable) that is
accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items such as leave entitlements and asset
replacement.
See also note 16 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 19 ’Amounts receivable for services’.
(p)

Receivables

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e.
impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as
uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts)
is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying
amount is equivalent to fair value, as it is due for settlement within 30 days. See note 18 ‘Receivables’.
(q)

Payables

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments
as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally
settled within 30 days. See note 24 ‘Payables’.
(r)

Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is
probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period. See note 26 ‘Provisions’.
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(i)

Provisions - Employee Benefits
Annual Leave and Long Service Leave
Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period.
Annual leave
The liability for annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised
and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
Annual leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of
employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market
yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an
unconditional right to the defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Long service leave
The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
Long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of
employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market
yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Department has
an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite
years of service.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in accordance with legislative requirements
administers public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia.
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme
closed to new members since 1995.
The Department has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits due to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme,
are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the
Department to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the GSS is a defined contribution scheme as these
contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the concurrently funded GSS obligations.

80
Department of Commerce

Department of Commerce
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ending 30 June 2011
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension or
the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees
commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).
Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB
on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee
(Administration) Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of
the WSS and GESBS.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS, and is recouped from the
Treasurer for the employer’s share.
See also note 2(s) ‘Superannuation Expense’.
(ii)

Provisions - Other
Employment On-Costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.
Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the
Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in Employment on-costs provision.
(See note 10 ‘Other expenses’ and note 26 ‘Provisions’).

(s)

Superannuation Expense

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers public sector superannuation arrangements
in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members
since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new
members since 1995.
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer contributions paid
to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), and the GESB Super
Scheme (GESBS). The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the
Consolidated Account by the GESB.
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purpose of employees and whole of government reporting. However, it
is a defined contribution plan for departmental purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions)
made by the Department to GESB extinguishes the Department’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.
(t)

Resources Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Cost

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as income at fair
value. Where the resource received represents a service that the Department would otherwise pay for, a
corresponding expense is recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.
Assets or services are received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from
State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(u)

Comparative Figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current
financial year.
(v)

Loans converted to grants

The Department’s range of assistance to industry includes loans, which are incrementally convertible to grants at
prescribed intervals upon the recipients meeting performance milestones. The loans are recognised as loans
receivable and an offsetting provision is made for the conversion of the loans to grants at the time of assistance.
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3.

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2010 that impacted on the Department.
2009-5

Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project
[AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 118, 136 & 139]

Under amendments to AASB 117, the classification of land elements of all existing leases has
been reassessed to determine whether they are in the nature of operating or finance leases.
As leases of land & buildings recognised in the financial statements have not been found to
significantly expose the department to the risks/rewards attributable to control of land, no
changes to accounting estimates have been included in the Financial Statements and Notes
to the Financial Statements.
Under amendments to AASB 107, only expenditures that result in a recognised asset are
eligible for classification as investing activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. All investing
cashflows reported in the Department’s Statement of Cash Flows relate to increases in
recognised assets.
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the Department has not
applied early any following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Department.
Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
1 Jan 2013

AASB 2009-11

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132,
136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12].
The amendment to AASB 7 requires modification to the disclosure of
categories of financial assets. The Department does not expect any
financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The disclosure of
categories of financial assets in the notes will change.

AASB 2009-12

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110,
112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039
& 1052]
This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes. There is no
financial impact resulting from the application of this revised Standard.

1 Jan 2011

AASB 1053

Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework
consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general
purpose financial statements.
The Standard does not have any financial impact on the Department.
However it may affect disclosures in the financial statements of the
Department if the reduced disclosure requirements apply. Department of
Treasury and Finance has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the new Standard for agencies.

1 July 2013
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AASB 2010-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
Reduced Disclosure Requirements
This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting
Standards, including Interpretations, to introduce reduced disclosure
requirements into these pronouncements for application by certain types
of entities.
The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the
Department However this Standard may reduce some note disclosures in
financial statements of the Department. DTF has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the amendments to these Standards
for agencies.

1 July 2013

AASB 2011-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the TransTasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure Requirements
[AASB 101 & AASB 1054]
This Amending Standard removes disclosure requirements from other
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting
Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. DTF has not yet determined
the application or the potential impact of the amendments to these
Standards for agencies.

1 July 2011

AASB 2010-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101,
107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and
Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042] (October 2010)
This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes as well as
minor presentation changes to the Notes to the Financial Statements.
There is no financial impact resulting from the application of this revised
Standard.

1 Jan 2011

AASB 2010-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on
Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7]
This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards,
introducing additional presentation and disclosure requirements for
Financial Assets.
The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the
Department. DTF has not yet determined the application or the potential
impact of the amendments to these Standards for agencies.

1 July 2011

AASB 9

Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting
treatments.
The Standard was reissued on 6 Dec 2010 and the Department is
currently determining the impact of the Standard. DTF has not yet
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard for
agencies.

1 Jan 2013
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AASB 2010-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121,
127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5,
10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Amending Standard makes consequential adjustments to other
Standards as a result of issuing AASB 9 Financial Instruments in
December 2010. DTF has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard for agencies.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 1054

Australian Additional Disclosures
This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman
Convergence Project, removes disclosure requirements from other
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting
Standards.

1 July 2011

AASB 2011-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the
Trans-Tasman Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121,
128, 132 & 134 and Interpretations 2, 112 & 113]
This Amending Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054 Australian
Additional Disclosures, removes disclosure requirements from other
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting
Standards.

1 July 2011

Changes in Accounting Estimates
There were no changes in accounting estimates for the financial year.
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2011
$'000
4. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a)
Superannuation - defined contribution plans
Superannuation - defined benefit plans
Long service leave

(b)

2010
$'000

65,684
7,028

72,170
6,648

1,465

1,504

4,709
1,994
80,880

478
2,243
83,043

(e) (d)

(c)

Annual leave (c)
Other related expenses

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions paid).
(e) Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme and Gold State (pre-transfer benefit).
(d An equivalent notional income is also recognised (see Note 16 'Income from State Government'). Commencing in 2008(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component.
Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at Note 10 'Other expenses'. The
employment on-costs liability is included at Note 26 'Provisions'.

5. Supplies and services
Communications
Consultants and contractors
Consumables
Materials
Insurance
Motor vehicles
Maintenance
Travel
Other

6. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Computer Hardware
Furniture and Fittings
Office Equipment
Buildings
Plant & Machinery
Total Depreciation
Amortisation
Intangible assets
Total amortisation
Total depreciation and amortisation

7. Finance costs
Interest paid
Finance costs expensed

8. Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals
Repairs and maintenance
Cleaning

2,318
19,925
4,684
1,339
510
1,803
512
1,125
2,264
34,480

2,230
11,541
5,392
904
324
1,763
581
926
1,739
25,400

434
873
52
100
1
1,460

622
760
75
102
1
1,560

20
20

46
46

1,480

1,606

39
39

17
17

11,947
124
269
12,340

12,058
247
324
12,629
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2011
$'000
9. Grants and subsidies
Farmsafe WA
Asbestos Diseases Society
Chamber of Commerce & Industry WA
Unions WA
Unions & Associations
Employment Law Centre
Science and Innovation
Department of Regional Development and Lands
Other Miscellaneous

10. Other expenses
Other exepnses (a)
Total other expenses

2010
$'000

70
100
196
41,067
1,020
42,453

70
100
17
7
10
236
46,540
601
261
47,842

3,349
3,349

243
243

(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated
with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 26 'Provisions'. Superannuation
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment
on-costs.

11. User charges and fees & Sales
User charges and fees

35,814

36,058

The user charges and fees arise from the department's services in the following areas:
Real Estate, Settlement Agents Boards & Rental Accommodation Account
12,239
Business Names
755
Register of Encumbered Vehicles
1,261
Trading Standards
31
Worksafe
5,292
Energy Safety
10,245
Motor Vehicle Repairers
1,302
Plumbers
4,369
Resources Safety
Other
246
35,739
Total User Charges and Fees

12,045
730
1,366
507
7,360
9,255
806
3,957
32
36,058

Sales
Sales - general
Sales - publications
Total Sales

12. Commonwealth grants and contributions
Commonwealth funding was received during the year

37
38
75

6,431
6,431

-

800
800

Funding of $5,401,271 under the National Partnership Program was provided for COAG Reforms of which
$3,020,858 was spent in 2010-11. Funding of $272,727 was provided for the implementation Fair Work System of
which $61,986 was spent in 2010-11. Funding of $757,335 was provided for the Remote Indigenous Public
Internet Access project and all this was spent in 2010-11.
13. Other revenue
Miscellaneous revenue for various recoups, contributions, interest, refunds etc.

86
Department of Commerce

9,362
9,362

4,915
4,915

Department of Commerce
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011
2011
$'000

14. Revaluation decrements
Revaluation decrements

15. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Costs of Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Land
Buildings

641
641

-

232
11
243

720
140
860

-

685
685

Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Land

(243)

Net gain/(loss)
Intangibles - Software (recognition of impairment )

2010
$'000

-

(175)
497

See also Note 21 'Property, plant and equipment'.
See also Note 22 'Intangible assets'.

16. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriations

(a)

Resources received free of charge (b)
Department of Treasury & Finance
State Solicitor's Office
Western Australian Land Information Authority
Total resources received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund (c)
Regional Community Servcies Account
Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account

112,996
112,996

123,301
123,301

300
776
13
1,089

271
1,133
23
1,427

716
200
916

115,001

-

124,728

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash
component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for
the year and any agreed increases in leave liability during the year.
(b) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the Department recognises
revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably
measured and which would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as
assets or expenses, as applicable. Where the contributions of assets or services are in the nature of
contributions by owners, the Department makes an adjustment direct to equity.
(c) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching 'Royalties for regions Fund'. The recurrent funds are committed to
projects and programs in WA regional areas.
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

573
245
541

445
405
370

14
38
38
10
10,824
2,989
15,272

84
29
29
10
8,741
690
10,803

17. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current
Consumer Credit Act (WA) (a)
Departmental Receipts in Suspense (a)
Safetyline Institute (a)
Indian Ocean Territories - Commonwealth Government (a)
Motor Vehicle Repairers (MVR) Industry Education and Research Account (a)
Motor Vehicle Repairers (MVR) Industry Compensation Account (a)
Co-operatives Companies Liquidation
Energy Safety Restricted Cash (a)
Gas Producers Contribution Account
Royalties for Regions Fund (a)
Regional Community Servcies Account
Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account

Commonwealth funding

Non-Current
Accrued salaries suspense account (b)

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

199
624
823

-

2,591
2,591

-

1,749
1,749

1,449
1,449

20,435

12,252

(a) Refer to Note 40 'Special Purpose Accounts and Restricted Cash Accounts' for explanation of nature of
restriction.
(b) Amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial
year that occurs every 11 years.

18. Receivables
Current
Trade debtors (a)
Allowance for impairment of receivables
GST receivables
Accrued Income
Prepayments
Sub total current

11,519
(11)
1,418
3,348
51
16,325

12,707
(11)
367
720
13,783

Loans and advances
Total current

288
16,613

240
14,023

7,433
7,433

7,304
7,304

24,046

21,327

Non Current
Loans and advances
Total non current

(b)

Total receivables

(a) Includes recoup of costs incurred, $10.1m, for administering the Rental Accommodation Account in
accordance with the Residential Tenancies Act 1987 subject to approval from the Treasurer.
(b) The carrying amount of loans receivable approximates their net fair value.
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2011
$'000
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables.
Balance at start of year
Doubtful debts expense - Statement Of Comprehensive Income
Amounts written off during the year
Amount recovered during the year
Balance at the end of the year

-

2010
$'000

11

-

11

11

11

The department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.

19. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
Current
Non-Current
Total amounts receivable for services

3,349
8,642
11,991

1,267
12,831
14,098

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. See Note 2(o) 'Amounts Receivable for Services
(Holding Account)'. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

20. Other assets
Current
Miscellaneous assets such as credit card and travel clearing accounts etc.
21. Property, plant and equipment
Land (a)
At fair value
Buildings (a)
At fair value

45
45

135
135

19,537

18,303

3,120

3,911

Plant & Machinery
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Fixed Asset under Construction
Construction costs
Computer hardware
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Furniture and fittings
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Vehicles
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Office equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Total
At cost/fair value
Accumulated depreciation
Total Property, plant and equipment

8
(2)
6

8
(1)
7

20,246

20,007

4,760
(3,974)
786

4,375
(3,533)
842

9,784
(4,691)
5,093

10,235
(4,083)
6,152

-

80
(80)
-

742
(606)
136

956
(808)
148

58,197
(9,273)
48,924

57,875
(8,505)
49,370
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2010 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2011 and recognised at 30
June 2011. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values, where
appropriate (land $ 19,536,540, buildings $3,120,320). See note 2(g) 'Property, plant and equipment'.
Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of
the reporting period are set out below.
Land
Carrying amount at start of year
Disposal
Revaluation
Carrying amount at end of year
Buildings
Carrying amount at start of year
Disposal
Revaluation
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year
Plant & Machinery
Carrying amount at start of year
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year
Fixed Assets under Construction
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Transfer from administered to controlled
Carrying amount at end of year

18,303
1,234
19,537

3,911

20,401
(720)
(1,378)
18,303

(691)
(100)
3,120

4,103
(140)
50
(102)
3,911

7
(1)
6

8
(1)
7

20,007
239
20,246

9,699
27
10,281
20,007

Computer hardware
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

842
378
(434)
786

1,200
264
(622)
842

Furniture and fittings
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

6,152
46
(232)
(873)
5,093

3,638
3,274
(760)
6,152

Office equipment
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

148
51
(11)
(52)
136

187
36
(75)
148
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

49,370
714
(243)
543
(1,460)
48,924

39,236
3,601
10,281
(860)
(1,328)
(1,560)
49,370

4,903
(872)
4,031

1,146
(1,143)
3

3,163
3,163

5,646
(497)
5,149

Total
At cost/fair value
Accumulated amortisation
Impairment
Total Intangible assets

8,066
(872)
7,194

6,792
(1,143)
(497)
5,152

Reconciliations
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Transfer - completed software
Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of year

3
79
3,969
(20)
4,031

49
(46)
3

5,149
2,670
(3,969)
(687)
3,163

3,346
2,300
(497)
5,149

5,152
2,749
(687)
(20)
7,194

3,395
2,300
(497)
(46)
5,152

Total - Property, plant and equipment
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Transfer from administered to controlled
Disposals
Revaluation
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

22. Intangible assets
Computer software
At cost
Accumulated amortisation
Software development in progress
At cost
Impairment

Software development in progress
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Transfer - completed software
Reclassification
Impairment
Carrying amount at end of year
Total - Intangibles assets
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Transfer - completed software
Reclassification
Impairment
Amortisation
Carrying amount at end of year

23. Impairment of assets
As required under the department's policies, software under development projects are reviewed annually. The
Compliance Management Program Board identified some projects that would no longer achieve the intended
outcomes. In 2009-10 a decision was made to cancel these projects and as such an impairment was
recognised. An impairment expense of $ NIL (2010: $497,000) was recognised in the current financial year in
respect of cancelled software under development projects.
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2011
$'000
24. Payables
Current
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Accrued salaries

(a)

Non-current (b)
Trust Account - Consumer Credit Act (WA)
Trust Account - Departmental Receipts in Suspense
Co-operatives - Companies Liquidation account

2010
$'000

1,551
12,291

2,058
2,076

1,271
15,113

1,148
5,282

573
245
10
828

445
404
11
860

Refer to Note 35 'Financial Instruments' and Note 2(r) Payables'.
(a) Amount owing for 2011, 5 working days $ 1,270,584.82, as last pay falls on 23 June 2011. Amount owing for
2010 was $1,147,868.19. Accrued salaries are settled within a few working days of the financial year end. The
carrying amount of accrued salaries is equivalent to the net fair value.

(b) Refer to Note 40 'Special Purpose Accounts and Restricted Cash Accounts' for explanation.
25. Borrowings
Non-current
WA Land Corp (Enterprise Units Development Agreement)
Total

771
771

771
771

26. Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a)
Long service leave (b)

6,647

6,065

10,215

7,879

1,065

954

17,927

14,898

4,364

5,862

17

26

4,381

5,888

Other provisions
Employment on-costs

(c)

Total current provisions
Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs

(c)

Total non-current provisions

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for
at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will
occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the reporting period
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4,240
2,407
6,647

3,572
2,493
6,065
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the
liabilities will occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the reporting period

4,028
10,551
14,579

5,379
8,362
13,741

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs
including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.
The associated expense, is disclosed in note 10 'Other expenses'.
Movements in Other Provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.
Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year
Additional provisions recognised
Carrying amount at end of year

980
102
1,082

1,028
(48)
980

6,317
6,317

2,596
2,596

3,026
3,026

2,689
2,689

27. Unearned revenues
Current
Unearned revenue (a)

Non-Current
Unearned revenue (a)

(a) Unearned revenues is revenue received in advance for Plumbers licences & compliance certificates, and
multiple year licences for Energy Safety and Motor Vehicle Repairers. This revenue will be recognised in the 201112 and subsequent years.

28. Other liabilities
Current
Miscellaneous liabilities such as stale & returned cheques, refunds etc.

216
216

849
849

29. Equity
The Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity represents the
residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of
equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.
Contributed equity
Balance at the start of the year

75,695

61,965

425

1,611

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation (b)
Other contributions by owners
Transfer of assets from Administered to Controlled (d)
Transfer of net assets from other agencies: (a) (c)
Department of Treasury and Finance
Total contributions by owners

-

11,351

425

1,036
13,998
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

Distributions to owners
Transfer of net assets to other agencies: (a) (c)
Department of Treasury and Finance
Department of Mines and Petroleum
Total distributions to owners

(1,098)
(1,098)

(200)
(68)
(268)

Balance at the end of the year

75,022

75,695

(a) Under AASB 1004 'Contributions', transfers of net assets as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements are to be accounted for as contributions by owners and distributions to owners.
(b) Under the Treasurer's Instruction TI 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities'
Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation
1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities'.
(c) Under TI 955, non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets between State government agencies
have been designated as contributions by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038, where the
transferee agency accounts for a non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfer of net assets as a contribution by
owners and the transferor agency accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owners.
(d) Refer to Note 21 - fixed assets under construction.
Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus:
Balance at the start of the year
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Land
Buildings
Balance at the end of the year
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at the start of the year
Change in accounting policy
Result for the period
Balance at the end of the year

2,623
1,234
(50)
3,807

3,951
(1,378)
50
2,623

(638)
(9,297)
(9,935)

4,313
(4,951)
(638)

30. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in
the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
4,838
9,179
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 17)
20,435
12,252
25,273
21,431
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
Net cost of services
(124,298)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 6)
Resources received free of charge (note 16)
Revaluation decrements (note 14)
Reclassification of intangible assets
Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (note 15)
Impairment expense (note 23)
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a)
Other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (a)
Current unearned revenue
Current provisions
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(129,679)

1,480
1,090
641
687
243
-

1,606
1,427
-

(1,890)
90

5,744
(81)

9,831
3,721
3,029

(1,777)
(683)
1,375

175
497
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Other current liabilities
Non-current payables
Non-current unearned revenue
Non-current provisions

2011
$'000
(633)
(32)
337
(1,507)

2010
$'000
689
377
877
99

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b)

(829)

(1,351)

(108,041)

(120,705)

Net cash (used in) operating activities

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable
in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of
the reconciling items.
(b) This is the net GST paid/received ie. Cash transactions.

31. Commitments
Lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the
financial statement are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
13,593
12,027
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
34,675
32,871
Later than 5 years
618
48,268
45,516
Representing:
Non-cancellable operating leases
48,268
45,516
Non cancellable operating lease commitments
The Department has a number of property leases for its operations both within the metropolitan area and country
regions. The leases have various terms and conditions and expiry dates including rent reviews. Also included is
the fleet motor vehicle lease costs.
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
13,593
12,027
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
34,675
32,871
Later than 5 years
618
48,268
45,516
The property leases are non-cancellable leases with various terms, with rent payable monthly in advance.
Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreements require that the minimum lease payments shall be
increased by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. An option exists to renew the leases at the end of the various
terms for additional terms.

32. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Contingent Liabilities
As part of the ongoing regulatory function the Department continually has a number of ongoing legal cases
pending process and resolution, which may or may not ultimately lead to a contingent liability. It is not practicable
to determine the financial impact.
Contingent Assets
The Department does not have any contingent assets in addition to those included in the financial statements.

33. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
The Department is not aware of any events occurring after the reporting date that materially affect these financial
statements.
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34. Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial
statement titled 'Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates' are shown below.
Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $5 million.

Total appropriations provided to deliver services
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2011
Although there was no significant variance in the total appropriation, there were significant offsetting variances in the
following service expenditure:

Total appropriation provided to deliver services for the year
Total income

2011
Estimate
$000
112,996
42,641

2011
Actual
$000
112,996
51,607

Variance
$000
8,966

Total appropriation provided to deliver services for the year
No significant variance in appropriation to deliver services.
Total income
The variation is mainly due to additional monies being received for the gas rectification program, Royaltities for
Regions funding and funding from the Commonwealth for COAG Reforms.

Total appropriation provided to deliver services for the year
Total income

2011
Actual
$000
112,996
51,607

2010
Actual
$000
123,301
41,773

Variance
$000
(10,305)
9,834

Total appropriation provided to deliver services for the year
The variation is mainly due to the repositioning of some of the science and innovation grants program and royalties
for regions funding to the outyears and also savings due to government initiatives such as the value for money audit
and the voluntary severance program.
Total income
The variation is mainly due to additional monies being received for the gas rectification program, Royaltities for
Regions funding and funding from the Commonwealth for COAG Reforms.

Service expenditure
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2011

Consumer Protection
Safety & Employment Protection
Industry Science & Innovation

2011
Estimate
$000
55,259
48,480
61,484

2011
Actual
$000
57,295
57,583
61,028

Variance
$000
2,036
9,103
(456)

The variation is mainly related to the Safety & Employment Protection service expenditure related to the gas
rectification program.
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Significant variances between actual results for 2010 and 2011

Consumer Protection
Safety & Employment Protection
Industry Science & Innovation

2011
Actual
$000
57,295
57,583
61,028

2010
Actual
$000
55,334
49,970
66,148

Variance
$000
1,961
7,613
(5,120)

The variation is mainly related to the Safety & Employment Protection service expenditure related to the gas
rectification program and also a reduction in the grants program in the Industry Science and Innovation service.

Capital contribution
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2011 and actuals for 2010 and 2011
No significant variance in Capital Contribution.

Total administered transactions
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2011 and actuals for 2010 and 2011
No significant variances in total administered transactions.

Administered Income
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2011 and actuals for 2010 and 2011
2011
2011
Estimate
Actual
$000
$000
9,799
7,094

Variance
$000
(2,705)

The variation is mainly due to the impact of the COAG Reforms resulting in the transfer of functions to the
Commonwealth in the areas of finance brokers and credit providers and less than anticipated revenue for business
names registrations.
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2011 and actuals for 2010 and 2011
2011
2010
Actual
Actual
$000
$000
7,094
11,258

Variance
$000
(4,164)

The variation is mainly due to the impact of the COAG Reforms resulting in the transfer of functions to the
Commonwealth in the areas of finance brokers and credit providers and less than anticipated revenue for business
names registrations.
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35. Financial instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash
equivalents, borrowings, loans and receivables and payables. All of the Department’s cash is held in the public
bank account (non-interest bearing) apart from restricted cash held in a special purpose account. The
Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk management program
focuses on managing the risks identified below.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Department.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as
shown in the table at Note 35(c) 'Financial instruments disclosures' and note 18 'Receivables'.
Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is mainly comprised of receivables that are in the
nature of loans to third parties. For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with
recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products,
services and loans are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk other than a receivable of $19 million from a company,
receivable in 2014.
Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable
data in client credit ratings. For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to Note 35(c).
Liquidity risk
The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. Liquidity risk
arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Department has
appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast
cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
Market risk
The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks (for
example, equity securities or commodity prices changes). The Department's exposure to market risk for
changes in interest rates relates primarily to the long term debt obligations. The Department's borrowings are
through Landcorp and have variable rates. Other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis table at
Note 35(c), the Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash are non-interest bearing.
(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial
assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows
2011
$000
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Loans and Receivables (a)
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

6,587
20,435

9,263
12,252

22,628

20,960

16,712

6,913

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures
Credit Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposure
The following tables disclose the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposures and ageing
analysis of financial assets. The Department's maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is
the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are
past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior
management of the Department.
The Department holds collateral as security relating to some of the financial assets it holds.
The Department does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have
otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired.
Interest rate exposure and ageing analysis of financial assets
Interest Rate Exposure

Financial Assets
2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (a)
Loans and advances
Amounts receivable for services

2010
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (a)
Loans and advances
Amounts receivable for services

Carrying Non-interest
Amount
bearing
$000
$000
6,587
20,435
14,907
7,721
11,991
61,641

6,587
20,435
14,907
7,721
11,991
61,641

9,263
12,252
13,416
7,544
14,098
56,573

9,263
12,252
13,416
7,544
14,098
56,573

Past due but not impaired
Up to 3
months
$000

3-12
months
$000

1-2 years
$000

328

10,228

67

328

10,228

67

1,974
1,974

127
127

113
113

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
Liquidity Risk
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts
are representative of the undiscounted amounts at the end of the reporting period. The table includes interest and
principle cash flows. An adjustment has been made where material.
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial liabilities
Maturity
dates

Interest Rate Exposure

Financial Liabilities
2011
Payables
Borrowings

2010
Payables
Borrowings

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest
Rate
%

Carrying
Variable Non-interest More than 5
Amount interest rate
bearing
years
$000
$000
$000
$000

5.32%

15,941
771
16,712

771
771

15,941
15,941

771
771

4.29%

6,142
771
6,913

771
771

6,142
6,142

771
771

The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities.

99
Annual Report 2010-11

Department of Commerce
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department's financial assets and
liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest
rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
-100 basis points

Financial Liabilities
2011
Borrowings
Total increase/(decrease)
2010
Borrowings
Total increase/(decrease)

Carrying
Amount
$000

+100 basis points

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

Profit
$000

Equity
$000

771

(8)
(8)

(8)
(8)

8
8

8
8

771

(8)
(8)

(8)
(8)

8
8

8
8

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at
cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless
otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

36. Remuneration of Senior Officers
The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other
benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:
2010
$
2011
20,001 - 30,000
1
70,001 - 80,000
100,001 - 110,000
110,001 - 120,000
2
120,001 - 130,000
1
130,001 - 140,000
3
1
140,001 - 150,000
1
150,001 - 160,000
1
3
160,001 - 170,000
2
2
170,001 - 180,000
2
180,001 - 190,000
2
190,001 - 200,000
1
200,001 - 210,000
1
210,001 - 220,000
2
280,001 - 290,000
290,001 - 300,000
1
330,001 - 340,000
1
The total remuneration of senior officers is:

2,486

2,226

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior
officers.
No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

37. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators
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38. Related bodies
The Department has no related bodies.

39. Affiliated bodies
Western Australian Technology and Industry Advisory Council (TIAC)

The Technology and Industry Advisory Council (TIAC), which was established by the Technology Development
Amendment Act 1987 and continued under the Industry Technology Development Act 1988, was totally funded by
the Department. The TIAC was transferred from the Department of Mines and Petroleum on 1 January 2009.
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40. Special Purpose Accounts and Restricted Cash Accounts
Summary Details
Special Purpose Accounts section 16(1)(c) of FMA (Controlled)
Consumer Credit Act (WA)
Departmental Receipts in Suspense
Restricted Cash Accounts
Safetyline Institute
Indian Ocean Territories - Commonwealth Government
Motor Vehicle Repairer's (MVR) Industry Education & Research Acct
Motor Vehicle Repairer's (MVR) Industry Compensation Account
Co-operatives Companies Liquidation
Energy Safety Restricted Cash
Gas Producers Contribution Account
Royalties for Regions
Commonwealth funding

Western Australian Industry and Technology Development Account

Special Purpose Accounts section 16(1)(b) of FMA (Administered)
Rental Accommodation Account
Regional Headworks Development Scheme

Detailed Breakdown
Special Purpose Accounts
Consumer Credit Act (WA) (a)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

573
245
818

445
405
850

541
14
38
38
10
10,824
2,989
823
2,591
17,868

370
84
29
29
10
8,741
690
9,953

300

227,715
1,391
229,106

-

189,960
5,007
194,967

445
134
(6)
573

445
0
0
445

405
(160)
245

28
405
(28)
405

Restricted Cash Accounts
Safetyline Institute (c)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year

370
226
(55)
541

210
179
(19)
370

Indian Ocean Territories (d)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts - Commonwealth
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year

84
310
(380)
14

84
306
(306)
84

Departmental Receipts in Suspense (b)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

0

949
341
(1,290)
0

40. Special Purpose Accounts and Restricted Cash Accounts (continued)
Restricted Cash Accounts
MVR Industry Operating Account (e)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year
MVR Industry Education & Research Account (e)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year
MVR Industry Compensation Account (e)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year
Co-operatives Companies Liquidation (f)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year
Energy Safety Restricted Cash (g)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year
Gas Producers Contribution Account (h)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year

0

29
9
38

10
988
(969)
29

29
9

10
19

-

-

38

29

10
-

10
-

10

10

8,741
12,509
(10,426)
10,824

6,932
12,809
(11,000)
8,741

690
6,787
(4,488)
2,989

800
(110)
690

Royalties for Regions (i)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year

0
916
(93)
823

-

Commonwealth funding (j)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year

0
6,431
(3,840)
2,591

-
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

0
27,264
(26,964)
300

0
20,325
(20,325)
0

40. Special Purpose Accounts and Restricted Cash Accounts (continued)
Restricted Cash Accounts
Western Australian Industry and Technology Development Account (k)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year

(a) Holds funds pending distribution in accordance with the Consumer Credit (WA) Act 1996 or court direction.
(b) Holds funds pending identification of the purpose for which the monies were received.
(c) The fund was created under the State Trading Concerns Act 1916 and controls income received in respect of the
provisions of copyright materials and a relevant trade mark advertising opportunities or similar arrangements.
(d) The Department of Commerce has a service delivery agreement with the Commonwealth Government to undertake to
provide its normal service to the Christmas and Cocos Islands.
(e) Holds funds used for the Motor Vehicle Repairers Industry in accordance with the Motor Vehicle Repairers Act 2003.
(f) Holds unclaimed funds pending redistribution in accordance with the Companies (Co-operative) Act 1943 Section
290(1).
(g) Holds funds used for the operation of the Energy Safety division of the Department of Commerce in accordance with the
Energy Safety Act 2006.
(h) Holds funds used for the gas rectification program in accordance with section 23 of the Gas Supply (Gas Quality
Specifications) Act 2009.
(i) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to
projects and programs in WA regional areas.
(j) Holds funds provided by the Commonwealth that are committed to various projects.
(k) Records funds received and expenditure charged in accordance with the Industry and Technology Act 1998 (ITDA). The
Western Australian Industry and Technology Development account was transferred from the Department of Mines and
Petroleum on 1 January 2009.
Administered
Rental Accommodation Account (l)
Balance at start of the year

189,960

163,010

Receipts:
Bonds received
Interest received
Other
Total receipts

113,145
11,782
62
124,989

100,380
7,753
603
108,736

Payments:
Bonds disbursed
Administration costs
Grants
Other
Total Payments

(82,540)
(1,681)
(2,684)
(329)
(87,234)

(76,954)
(2,772)
(2,060)
(81,786)

Balance at the end of the year

227,715

189,960

5,007
(3,616)
1,391

5,007
5,007

Regional Headworks Development Scheme (m)
Balance at the start of the year
Receipts:
Payments:
Balance at the end of the year

(l) Holds rental security bonds and the interest income in accordance with clause 3(1) of schedule 1 of the Residential
Tenancies Act.
(m) Holds funds appropriated for the purpose of providing assistance under the Regional Headworks Development
Scheme (RHDS). The RHDS was transferred from the Department of Mines and Petroleum on 1 January 2009.
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2011
$'000

2010
$'000

41. Supplementary financial information
Write-Offs
During the financial year $ 23,387.92 (2010 - $664,667) of debts due to the State was written off. The debtors
written off were mainly in the areas of Business Names comprising of numerous individual debts of such small
amounts that would not be economical to pursue and an irrecoverable loan in 2010. The amounts were written off
under the authority of:
The Accountable Authority
Executive Council
Losses through Theft, Defaults and Other Causes
Losses of public moneys and, public and other property through theft or default
Amounts recovered

23
23

-

3
(3)

23
642
665

-

8
(8)

Gifts of Public Property
The Department received no gifts of public property.
Acts of Grace
Act of grace payments made.

5

-
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Department of Commerce

Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service
for the year ended 30 June 2011
42. Disclosure of Administered Income and Expenses
Consumer Protection
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

Safety & Employment
Protection
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expenses
Supplies and services
Grants and subsidies
Receipts paid into Consolidated accou
Total administered expenses

6,365
6,365

9,644
9,644

131
131

116
116

Income
For transfer:
Regulatory fees
Commonwealth grants and contributio
Other
Total administered income

6,365
6,365

9,644
9,644

131
131

116
116

Industry Science &
Innovation
2011
$'000

2011
$'000

Total

2010
$'000

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

44

215
1,179
865
2,259

-

-

21
23
6,496
6,540

215
1,179
865
9,760
12,019

(20)
618
598

776
663
1,439

-

-

6,496
(20)
618
7,094

9,760
776
663
11,199

-

21
23

2010
$'000

General - Not
Attributed

Payments of fees and charges to the Consolidated Account
The Department of Commerce is responsible for the collection of certain fees and fines. These are not classified as controlled revenue and expenses and are
credited to the Consolidated Account.
Collections made during the year:

Business Names Registrations
Other Registration Fees
Credit Providers
Employment Agents
Finance Brokers
Land Valuers
Motor Vehicle Dealers
Travel Agents
Plumbers
Petroleum Pricing
Product Safety
Resources Safety
Other
Total
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2011
$'000
4,295
143
36
236
1
312
845
187
3
2
2
434
6,496

2010
$'000
5,406
139
852
250
999
81
816
244
9
3
6
955
9,760

Department of Commerce
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011
2011
$'000

2010
$'000

43. Administered Assets and Liabilities
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Total administered current assets

5,769
311
6,080

1,897
418
2,315

Non Current Assets
Loans and Advances
Total administered non current assets

11,654
11,654

11,592
11,592

Total Administered Assets

17,734

13,907

7
4
11

192
192

Non Current Liabilities
Loans and Advances
Total administered non current liabilities

329
329

400
400

Total Administered Liabilities

340

592

Current Liabilities
Payables
Accrued Expenses
Loans and Advances
Total administered current liabilities

-

The administered assets, liabilities, expenses and income are those which the Government requires the
Department to administer on its behalf.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Certification of Key Performance Indicators
for the year ended 30 June 2011

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant
and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Commerce’s performance, and
fairly represent the performance of the Department of Commerce for the financial year ended
30 June 2011.

Brian Bradley
Accountable Authority
8 September 2011
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Key Performance Indicators
The linkage of the Department of Commerce’s desired outcome and services to the community
and the Government’s goals is demonstrated in Figure 4.
GOVERNMENT’S GOALS

AGENCY LEVEL GOVERNMENT
DESIRED OUTCOME

SERVICES

Outcomes-Based Service
Delivery
Greater focus on achieving
results in key service delivery
areas for the benefit of all
Western Australians.

Outcome 1
A fair trading environment that
protects consumers and traders in
Western Australia.

Service 1: Consumer Protection
The provision of consumer protection
advice, information, education and
business regulation services to the Western
Australian community.

Social and Environmental
Responsibility
Ensuring that economic activity
is managed in a socially and
environmentally responsible
manner for the long-term benefit
of the State.

Outcome 2
A community in which workplaces
are operated in a safe and fair
manner.

Service 2: Safety and Employment
Protection
The provision of advice, information,
education and regulation services to the
Western Australian community in the areas
of: occupational safety and health; energy
safety; and labour relations.

Financial and Economic
Responsibility
Responsibly managing the
State’s finances through the
efficient and effective delivery of
services, encouraging economic
activity and reducing regulatory
burdens on the private sector.

Outcome 3
Enhancement of the State's
economic sustainability and
prosperity.

Service 3: Industry, Science and
Innovation
Enhances the State’s prosperity by
promoting industry, science and innovation.
Services include:
 supporting the Technology and
Industry Advisory Council with policy
development advice;
 supporting industry development
through innovation and
commercialisation; and
 managing industry, science and
innovation programs and projects.

Figure 4: Relationship to the Government’s Goals for 2010-11

Information on the changes to the department and the outcome based management framework
can be found in the Overview (Performance management framework) section of this report.

Treasurer’s Instructions
Treasurer’s Instruction 904 - Key Performance Indicators requires a disclosure of comparison of
actual results against budget targets for the key performance indicators, together with
explanations of any material variations between actual results and budget targets. The targets
used in this report are derived from the ‘2010-11 Budget Target’ figures from the department’s
2010-11 Budget Statements.
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Key effectiveness indicators
The department has adopted four key performance indicators of effectiveness to measure the
extent to which the department achieves its three outcomes. Each of the operational divisions of
the department has underpinning measures that contribute to the results reported for these
effectiveness indicators.

Outcome one
A fair trading environment that protects consumers and traders in Western
Australia.
Key effectiveness indicator one
The extent to which traders comply with regulatory requirements
Result
Table 8: Key effectiveness indicator one
2006-07
Actual(1)

2007-08
Actual(1)

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual(2)

Number inspections

17,231

10,918 18,403 20,578

30,784

Number compliant

16,637

10,141 17,825 19,584

29,236

97%

93%

97%

95%

90%

95%

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

(2)

The number of elements for 2010-11 consists of 547 inspections undertaken by the Plumbers’ Licensing Board of the
Building Commission Division and 30,237 inspections undertaken by the Consumer Protection Division. The number
compliant consists of 365 and 28,871 respectively.

The department’s effectiveness in relation to the extent to which consumers are protected and
businesses operate fairly is assessed in terms of the proportion of traders that comply with
regulatory requirements. The extent to which breaches of a significant nature were identified is
the basis for monitoring and reporting compliance. The extent of compliance is ascertained by
assessing businesses against criteria established by the department, in particular priority areas
regarding compliance with consumer protection legislation. During the course of inspections,
inspectors verify traders’ compliance against a list of regulatory requirements. Only those areas
for which the Consumer Protection Division and the Building Commission Division are directly
responsible are used to ascertain the extent of compliance within the community. The
methodology for this indicator was reviewed and additional categories of proactive inspections
have now been included in this indicator. During 2010-11, 30,784 consumer protection routine
and proactive inspections were undertaken to provide the result reported. Of these inspections,
95 per cent of traders were found to be compliant with the regulatory requirements.
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Key effectiveness indicator two
The extent of consumer confidence in Western Australia’s trading environment
Result
Table 9: Key effectiveness indicator two
2006-07
Actual(1)

2007-08
Actual(1)

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

The extent to which
consumers believe
businesses generally act
fairly towards consumers.

77%

78%

77%

75%

75%

The extent to which
consumers believe they are
well informed about their
rights and responsibilities.

71%

66%

64%

60%

71%

74%

72%

71%

68%

Underpinning Measures

2010-11
Target

75%

2010-11
Actual

73%

Note:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

The extent of consumer confidence is measured by the extent to which consumers believe
businesses generally act fairly to them and the extent to which they believe they are well
informed about their rights and responsibilities. Results reported were determined by an
independent survey, which has been conducted for the last 13 years. A total of 401 surveys
were completed (a response rate of 9 per cent) achieving a maximum standard error ratio of
+/-4.9 per cent at the 95 per cent confidence level. A total of 4,521 calls were made to achieve
401 completed surveys. All respondents were aged 18 years or over and interviews were
conducted in both the Perth metropolitan area and regional Western Australia.
Three quarters (75 per cent) of total respondents believed that businesses act fairly towards
consumers in 2010-11 and this result is consistent with past years’ results.
In 2010-11 the proportion of respondents who were either ‘reasonably’ or ‘well’ aware of their
rights and responsibilities as a consumer was 71 per cent, which is a significant increase in
awareness of the rights and responsibilities of consumer compared with 60 per cent in 2009-10.
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Outcome two
A community in which workplaces are operated in a safe and fair manner.
Key effectiveness indicator three
The extent of compliance with safety and employment protection regulatory
requirements
Result
Table 10: Key effectiveness indicator three
Underpinning Measures
No. elements
The extent to which
employers comply with
the requirements of labour No.
compliant
relations laws.

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

Actual

Actual

Actual

Actual

2010-11

2010-11

Target

Actual

928

1,180

885

902

670

690

898

624

679

526

The extent to which
workplaces meet
occupational safety and
health criteria in priority
areas (to indicate that
workplaces are operated
in a safe and healthy
manner).

No.
elements/
No. Priority
Inspection
Reports

48,598(2)

45,361(2)

11,904(3)

15,285

15,167

No.
compliant

39,913(2)

37,416(2)

9,141(3)

10,683

10,583

The extent to which
electricity and gas
suppliers comply with
approved inspection
practices.

No. elements

N/A

248

11(4)(5)

83(6)

88(7)

No.
compliant

N/A

238

4(4)(5)

44(6)

70(7)

Total assessments contributing
to result

49,526

46,789

12,800

16,270

15,925

Total occasions of compliance
found

40,603

38,552

9,769

11,406

11,179

82%

82%

76%

70%

72%

70%

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report

(2)

In 2006-07 and 2007-08 the system of recording was compliance against elements of Priority Inspection Reports
(PIRs).

(3)

From 15 August 2008 the system of recording changed to compliance against PIRs and as a consequence reduced the
actual numbers and increased the recorded rate of non-compliance. In addition, the results for 2008-09 did not cover
the full year and only covered the period 15 August 2008 to 30 June 2009.

(4)

During 2008-09 the audit criteria changed to key areas of concerns, as opposed to previous audits which related to
general and a larger number of elements.

(5)

During 2008-09 resources were allocated to assist gas network operators to develop acceptable inspection plans,
which impacted the number of gas audits undertaken. Audits of electricity suppliers were ongoing at the end of 2008-09
and therefore the results represent audits conducted for gas suppliers only.

(6)

During 2009-10 there were 34 electricity and 49 gas elements and the number of compliant consisted of three
electricity and 41 gas.

(7)

The number of elements for 2010-11 consists of gas inspections only.
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This effectiveness indicator has three underpinning measures (Table 10). The first being, the
department’s effectiveness regarding the extent to which employers comply with the
requirements of the labour relations legislation. This is assessed in terms of the degree to which
workplaces meet set criteria for priority areas. The five key elements assessed include payment
of appropriate ordinary time rates; providing employees with annual leave and sick leave
entitlements; recording start and finishing times; recording total hours worked; and recording
employment under correct status. During 2010-11 the department finalised a total of 363
investigations into complaints by individual employees alleging that their employer had failed to
pay appropriate entitlements under State industrial laws, awards and agreements. As part of its
investigative process, the department reviewed the time and wage records for 170 employment
matters out of the sample of 363 and Industrial Inspectors assessed the employers for five key
elements, resulting in a total of 670 elements being checked and of these 526 or 78 per cent
were found to be compliant.
The second, measures the department’s effectiveness in ensuring workplaces operate in a safe
and healthy manner. This is assessed in terms of the extent to which workplaces meet
occupational safety and health criteria in priority areas. During the course of investigations
Inspectors complete Priority Inspection Reports (PIRs). These PIRs contain a checklist of
elements that constitute the minimum requirements for Inspectors to assess when the
workplace being visited falls within one of the priority areas. All investigations for PIRs were
conducted using a standard format introduced during 2000-01. The checklist of elements, used
as the assessment tool, is not a full compliance check, but represents the key elements
established for the relevant priority area.
For the third underpinning measure, the EnergySafety Division conducts regular compliance
audits on various elements of approved inspection plans to ensure that electricity and gas
network operators and Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) suppliers comply with their inspection
obligations. Electricity and gas network operators and LPG suppliers are required to conduct
targeted inspections of electrical installing and gasfitting work in accordance with an inspection
plan, to ensure that the work by licensed industry operatives has been completed to the
required standard and the installations are safe. During 2010-11 no audits were conducted of
electricity network operator inspection systems as three of the network operators made and
implemented change to improve compliance. This enabled the EnergySafety Division to conduct
audits of other areas of electricity network operators’ activities.
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Outcome three
Enhancement of the State's economic sustainability and prosperity.
Key effectiveness indicator four
Index of funding leverage obtained for Western Australia from science and innovation
research grants
Result
Table 11: Key effectiveness indicator four

Index of funding leverage
obtained for Western
Australia from science
and innovation research
grants

2006-07
Actual(1)

2007-08
Actual(1)

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

7.3:1

8.3:1

7.4:1

6.8:1

2010-11
Target
6.7:1

2010-11
Actual
10.4:1

Note:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

The department contributes to the enhancement of the State’s economic sustainability and
prosperity by leveraging additional research funding to assist industry to become more
competitive. This key effectiveness indicator reports the ratio of dollars provided by the
Commonwealth and other sources (such as industry, universities, etc.) against every dollar
provided by the State in the form of grants to Centres of Excellence. The indicator relates to
concluded grants for Centres of Excellence established since 2000. Target figures are calculated
from the Centres’ individual estimates and actual results can sometimes be higher. While the
results for 2010-11 are higher than originally forecast, this is a consequence of a number of
Centres’ success in attracting a higher ratio of leverage funds than was originally anticipated. It is
not seen as an indicator of significant change and not indicative of expected future trends.

Key efficiency indicators
Efficiency performance indicators have been formulated for each of the department’s service
areas: Consumer Protection, Safety and Employment Protection and Industry, Science and
Innovation. Each of these service areas is supported by a number of programs, which in turn
are comprised of various underpinning activities carried out within the department.
Each indicator shows the average cost per program. The indicators are calculated based on the
department’s cost allocation model to reflect the full cost, including overheads, of conducting the
department’s activities. The amount of the department’s expenditure attributed to the provision
of each program is determined by the amount of staff time allocated to undertaking projects and
tasks associated with that program. The total cost of the program is then divided by the quantity
of activities achieved. Efficiency indicators exclude grants paid to external parties.
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Service 1: Consumer Protection
The provision of consumer protection advice, information, education and
business regulation services to the Western Australian community.
Key efficiency indicator one
Average cost per client contact to provide information and advice
Descriptor
The Consumer Protection Division and the Building Commission Division respond to enquiries
from members of the public and provides them with customised information or education.
Responses are usually on a one-to-one basis and of a short duration. The response can be a
result of telephone, front counter, email or letter enquiry or a request for an encumbrance
check, a Register of Encumbered Vehicles (REVS) certificate issued, or an enquiry for
FuelWatch price information.
The divisions deliver non customised and mass produced services that provide members of the
public with information and raise awareness within the community. Many of these activities are
automated and include online visitors to the department’s internet sites and the delivery of mass
produced services including publication distribution and visitor attendance at shows, expos or
seminars. A key element of the department’s role is to provide advice and assistance to the
community. The divisions provide customers with advice or assistance in relation to specific
matters, typically on a one-to-one basis.
Result
Table 12: Key efficiency indicator one
Indicator
Average cost per client contact to provide
information and advice

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

$2.57

$2.69

2010-11
Target
$2.42

2010-11
Actual
$2.63

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

Table 12 illustrates the average cost per client contact to provide information and advice. In
2010-11 the Consumer Protection Service divisions provided 5,847,835 information and advice
services which is greater than 5,457,111 in 2009-10 and comparable to the estimated
5,642,826. The 2010-11 result ($2.63) was comparable to the target ($2.42) published in the
2010-11 Budget Statements.
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Key efficiency indicator two
Average cost per policy project
Descriptor
Major policy projects are aimed at enhancing the regulatory environment and are usually of
significant duration, complexity and often involve public consultation. Major policy projects
include: Cabinet submissions to print a new Bill; a new mandatory code; amendments to an
existing Act or mandatory code to implement a Government policy change which requires
consultation with parties external to the agency; or new Government policy that requires
extensive consultation with parties external to the agency.
Other policy projects which are of notable duration, moderate complexity and aimed at
enhancing the regulatory environment or developing a new policy position are also included.
These policy projects produce: new or amended subsidiary legislation (such as a Regulation or
Order); voluntary code, guidance note or equivalent; briefing notes or policy submissions to a
Minister or other external bodies; Cabinet submissions; or new or significant amendments to
Government policy.
Result
Table 13: Key efficiency indicator two
Indicator

2008-09
Actual(1)

Average cost per policy project

$209,387

2009-10
Actual(1)
$306,760

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual

$420,412

$225,882

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

Table 13 illustrates the average cost per policy project. In 2010-11 the Consumer Protection
Service divisions undertook 57 policy projects, which was significantly greater than the
anticipated 29, and the 36 completed in 2009-10. This can be attributed largely to 15 projects
completed on 28 June 2011 all of which were consequential regulations (to take effect from
1 July 2011) flowing from:


the "repeal" of the Fair Trading Act 1987, Door to Door Trading Act 1987 and
Consumer Affairs Act 1971 on 1 January 2011;



the abolition of the Land Valuers Licensing Board, Motor Vehicle Industry Board, Real
Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board and Settlement Agents Supervisory Board
on 1 July 2011; and



the creation of the Consumer Advisory Committee, Motor Vehicle Industry Advisory
Committee and Property Industry Advisory Committee on 1 July 2011.

Although most of the regulations were not essential to give effect to changes in the law (and
were therefore unanticipated) Parliamentary Counsel recommended their implementation as
part of a structured process of keeping subsidiary legislation as up to date as possible and to
provide certainty as to the structure and procedures of the new committees. As a consequence
of the greater than expected number of policy projects completed, the 2010-11 result
($225,882) varies significantly from the target ($420,412) published in the 2010-11 Budget
Statements.
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Key efficiency indicator three
Average cost per registration or licence
Descriptor
As required under the laws administered by the department, the Consumer Protection Service
divisions maintain public registers which record specific information and other necessary details
regarding REVS, business names, incorporated associations, tenancy bonds, co-operative
companies, limited partnerships and fuel price changes from retailers. These divisions
administer and process applications, which authorise individuals, employers or traders for
certain occupations or purposes. Generally, the process of administering the occupational
licence involves the customer being provided with a licence, being issued with a renewed
licence, or having their licence cancelled or details updated.
Result
Table 14: Key efficiency indicator three
Indicator
Average cost per registration or licence

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

$13.78

$14.54

2010-11
Target
$16.91

2010-11
Actual
$13.93

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

Table 14 illustrates the average cost per registration or licence. During 2010-11, 958,184
registrations and licences were issued by the Consumer Protection Service divisions, which is
comparable to 928,914 for 2009-10. The 2010-11 result ($13.93) is lower than the target
($16.91) published in the 2010-11 Budget Statements, due to the greater than expected number
of registrations or licences (803,053). This was mainly due to the number of encumbrance
(REVS) and Business Name transactions which occurred as a result of the delay in the transfer
of both of these functions to the Commonwealth. In addition, Terminal Gate notifications did not
cease at the beginning of the 2010-11 year as expected, and Fuel price notifications are
dependant on the number of price changes retailers make during the course of the year, as
prices have fluctuated significantly over the past twelve months an increased number of
notifications occurred. There was an increase in tenancy bond transactions was a result of an
active rental market and an increased number of agents closing their existing trust accounts and
lodging tenancy bonds with the Bond Administrator.
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Key efficiency indicator four
Average cost per inspection or investigation
Descriptor
Undertaking inspections and audits is an important role of the department. These inspections
and audits compare a current state or situation to acceptable standards, measures or practices.
Compliance inspections and audit reports assess an employers or traders level of compliance
with a set standard and usually involve a one-to-one transaction, such as an inspector
undertaking an assessment regarding a trader or employer meeting specified criteria.
A key element of the department’s regulatory enforcement regime is investigations and
compliance conciliation activities. Departmental employees determine if a breach of the law has
occurred or is occurring, and facilitate settlement of a dispute.
Prosecutions, legal actions and proceedings are undertaken in response to the department’s
determination that a breach of the law has occurred. Actions include: prosecutions seeking the
imposition of penalties; court action seeking injunctions; the development and progression of
matters for adjudication; and the implementation of outcomes such as sanctions.
Result
Table 15: Key efficiency indicator four
Indicator
Average cost per inspection or investigation

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

$541

$337.43

2010-11
Target
$732.73

2010-11
Actual
$424.76

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

Table 15 illustrates the average cost per inspection or investigation. In 2010-11, the Consumer
Protection Service divisions conducted 37,424 inspections or investigations as compared to
46,901 in 2009-10. The 2010-11 result was significantly higher than anticipated (21,258) and
this was due the higher than expected numbers of inspections undertaken in the area of product
safety leading up to the Christmas period and the introduction of the Australian Consumer Law,
as well as inspections regarding meeting retail trading hours and price scanning requirements
undertaken by the Consumer Protection Division. The 2010-11 result ($424.76) therefore varies
significantly from the target ($732.73) published in the 2010-11 Budget Statements.
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Service 2: Safety and Employment Protection
The provision of advice, information, education and regulation services to the
Western Australian community in the areas of occupational safety and health,
labour relations, and energy safety.
Key efficiency indicator five
Average cost per client contact to provide information or advice
Descriptor
The safety and employment divisions (EnergySafety Division, Labour Relations Division and
WorkSafe Division) respond to enquiries from industry and members of the public and provide
them with customised information or education. Responses vary from routine to complex
technical enquiries. Responses to enquiries can be a result of telephone, in person or front
counter, email or letter.
Information delivered may be non-customised and mass produced and provide members of the
public with information and raise awareness within the community. Education is delivered
through a variety of mediums including presentations, road shows, expos and seminars. This
indicator also reflects the Labour Relations Division’s responsibilities in providing tailored advice
and assistance to public sector agencies in relation to industrial disputes, policies and industrial
agreements.
Result
Table 16: Key efficiency indicator five
Indicator
Average cost per client contact to provide
information and advice

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

$5.14

$4.81

2010-11
Target
$4.50

2010-11
Actual
$6.15

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

Table 16 illustrates the average cost per client contact to provide information and advice by the
safety and employment protection divisions. In 2010-11 the divisions provided 2,467,604
information and education services compared to 3,148,213 in 2009-10. The 2010-11 result
($6.15) varies from the target ($4.50) published in the 2010-11 Budget Statements due to the
lower than anticipated amount (3,268,016) of information and advice services. This was due to
the department changing its method of recording online visits from ‘visitor sessions’ to ‘visits’ to
more accurately reflect online visits at the end of the 2009-10 financial year, which led to a
significant decrease in the number of contacts during 2010-11 as compared to past years and
the target.
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Key efficiency indicator six
Average cost per hour of policy advice
Descriptor
This indicator reflects the development and amendment of labour relations policy, legislation
and regulations; preparing submissions on behalf of the Minister and Government to State and
federal industrial tribunals, Senate Inquiries, etc in relation to the regulatory framework;
providing policy advice to the Minister on labour relations and labour market trends; and policy
support to the Minister.
Result
Table 17: Key efficiency indicator six
Indicator
Average cost per hour of policy advice

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

$107

$260.39

2010-11
Target
$183.33

2010-11
Actual
$183.42

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

Table 17 illustrates the average cost per hour of policy advice provided by the Labour Relations
Division. In 2010-11 the Labour Relations Division undertook 10,637 hours of policy advice, as
compared to 12,356 in 2009-10. This was significantly less than the anticipated 15,700 hours.
Despite the lower than expected hours of policy the 2010-11 result ($183.42) is comparable to
the target ($183.33) published in the 2010-11 Budget Statements.

Key efficiency indicator seven
Average cost per inspection or investigation
Descriptor
Undertaking inspections, investigations and audits is an important role for the safety and
employment protection divisions. Inspections, investigations and audits compare a current state
or situation to acceptable standards, measures or practices to check compliance. These are
conducted on a regular basis or can be a result of a complaint, and can involve a site visit or be
complex in nature.
A key element of the safety and employment divisions’ regulatory enforcement regime is to
determine if a breach of the law has occurred or is occurring, and facilitate a settlement of a
dispute. Compliance conciliations undertaken by the Labour Relations Division are to resolve
issues between employees and employers, such as underpayment, without referral to formal
redress procedures. Prosecutions, legal actions and proceedings are undertaken in response to
the safety and employment protection divisions’ determination that a breach of the law has
occurred. Actions include prosecutions seeking the imposition of penalties or court action
seeking injunctions.
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Result
Table 18: Key efficiency indicator seven
Indicator
Average cost per inspection or investigation

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

$854

$898.74

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual

$945.63

$1,025.97

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

Table 18 illustrates the average cost per inspection or investigation. In 2010-11, the safety and
employment protection divisions conducted 27,696 inspections or investigations, which is
comparable to 28,720 in 2009-10 and the expected number of inspections or investigations of
26,325. The 2010-11 result ($1,025.97) is comparable to the target ($945.63) published in the
2010-11 Budget Statements.

Key efficiency indicator eight
Average cost per registration or licence
Descriptor
The EnergySafety Division and WorkSafe Division administer and process applications, which
authorise individuals or employers for certain occupations or purposes. Generally, the
processing of the application for a licence results in the customer being provided with a licence
(frequently with conditions attached), being issued with a renewed licence, or having their
licence refused or cancelled or details updated.
Result
Table 19: Key efficiency indicator eight
Indicator
Average cost per registration or licence

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

$66.51

$75.82

2010-11
Target
$80.83

2010-11
Actual
$89.93

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

Table 19 shows the average cost per registration or licence issued to the community for the
safety divisions. During 2010-11, 68,034 registrations or licences were issued which is
comparable to the 70,866 in 2009-10 and the 69,750 anticipated. However the 2010-11 result
($89.93) varies from the target ($80.83) published in the 2010-11 Budget Statements due the
decrease in the number of registrations or licences, coupled with the increase in allocated
expenditure.
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Service 3: Industry, Science and Innovation
Enhances the State’s prosperity by promoting industry, science and
innovation. Services include:
 supporting the Technology and Industry Advisory Council with policy
development advice;
 supporting industry development through innovation and
commercialisation; and
 managing industry, science and innovation programs and projects.
Key efficiency indicator nine
Average cost per industry, science and innovation project managed
Descriptor
This key efficiency indicator illustrates the average cost per industry, science and innovation
project managed. This includes projects in: Innovative WA programs; Centres of Excellence;
science initiatives; specific purpose funding; policy; marine and defence; broadband;
Technology Parks, industry participation; and other.
Result
Table 20: Key efficiency indicator nine
Indicator
Average cost per industry, science and innovation
project managed

2008-09
Actual(1)

2009-10
Actual(1)

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual

$210,642

$174,251

$202,733

$218,808

Notes:
(1)

Past results are shown as published in the department’s 2009-10 Annual Report.

Table 20 shows the average cost per industry, science and innovation project managed. During
2010-11, 85 projects were managed, which is significantly less than the 109 projects managed
in 2009-10, but comparable to the target of 84. The 2010-11 result ($218,808) is comparable to
the target ($202,733) published in the 2010-11 Budget Statements.
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
Treasurer’s instruction 903(12) requires the department to disclose information on any
Ministerial directives relevant to the setting and achievement of desired outcomes or operational
objectives, investment activities and financing activities. There was one directive issued by the
responsible Minister during 2010-11.
On the 27 January 2011, pursuant to section 98(2) of the Industrial Relations Act 1979 (the Act),
the Minister for Commerce, the Hon Simon O’Brien MLC, being the Minster responsible for the
administration of the Act, directed each Industrial Inspector appointed under and subject to the
Public Sector Management Act 1994:


to carry out such duties and exercise such powers as may lawfully be required to secure
the observance of the provisions of the Act, Regulations made under the Act and awards,
orders and agreements in force under the Act, in accordance with policies and procedures
as determined by the Chief Executive Officer of the department principally assisting with the
administration of the Act, and



to carry out investigations and make reports in relation to the observance of the provisions
of the Act, Regulations, awards, orders and agreements, in accordance with the policies
and procedures as determined by the Chief Executive Officer of the department principally
assisting with the administration of the Act.

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES
Capital works projects
The capital works program provides essential infrastructure support for the department to
implement a range of projects that assist in the delivery of services. Table 21 identifies the
capital works projects that remain ongoing at the end of the financial year and Table 22 the
projects completed or discontinued during the year.
Table 21: Capital works projects ongoing
Estimated
total cost

Project title
Asset replacement (a)
Business systems development and enhancements
COAG information technology initiatives
Marine Industry Technology Park
Service improvement
Southern Precinct
System stabilisation

(2) (c)

(b)

(1)

Estimated
cost to
complete

Planned
year of
completion

$6,573,554

$5,087,162

2013-14

$6,300,000

$651,486

2012-13

$3,093,640

$3,093,640

2012-13

$599,000

$543,115

2011-12

$536,000

$327,096

2011-12

$1,866,000

$684,932

2013-14

$8,161,581

$3,933,534

2013-14

Note:
(1)

This project includes the WISE enhancements project reported in the 2009-10 Annual Report.

(2)

This project includes the Association systems project reported in the 2009-10 Annual Report.
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Explanations of variances provided in Table 21 from that reported in the 2009-10 Annual Report
are as follows:
(a)

The total estimated cost varies as a result of an increase in the budget allocation for
forward years as part of the 2011-12 Budget process.

(b)

The total estimated cost varies as a result of the realignment of projects to the Department
of Treasury reporting.

(c)

The total estimated cost varies as a result of the re-allocation of COAG information
technology initiative funding relating to System stabilisation to align with Department of
Treasury reporting and the project re-allocation of the Associations system to the System
stabilisation project.

Table 22: Capital works completed or discontinued during 2010-11
Project title

Cost

Corporate licensing build
Bentley Technology Park – Stage 1 implementation

(1)

Year completed

$2,726,719

2010-11

$5,771,000

2010-11

Note:
(1)

This capital works project has been discontinued. The cost reported is estimated total cost.

Pricing policies for services
Statutory fees are charged to the public for various licensing and other services provided by the
Department of Commerce and are reviewed annually in accordance with government policy.
The fee changes for 2010-11 were published in the Government Gazette on 25 June 2010 and
came into effect on 1 July 2010. The fees are available on the department’s internet site.

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES
Disclosure of contracts by senior officers
In accordance with the Treasurer’s instruction 903 (14(iii)), senior officers of the department are
required to disclose particulars, other than normal contracts of employment of service, of any
interest in any existing or proposed contract which a senior officer; or a firm of which a senior
officer is a member; or an entity in which a senior officer has a substantial financial interest, has
made with the agency or any subsidiary body, related body or affiliated body of the agency.
For 2010-11, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior officers, or firms
of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have substantial
interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the department and senior
officers.
In accordance with the Treasurer’s instruction 903 (14(ii)), senior officers of the department are
required to disclose the particulars of any shares in any subsidiary body of the agency held as a
nominee or held beneficially. In 2010-11, no senior officers held shares in any subsidiary body
of the agency held as a nominee or held beneficially.
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Governance framework
The department’s Corporate Charter is regularly reviewed and sets out the governance
principles under which we operate including:


accountability and decision making;



the role and operation of Corporate Executive;



strategic planning and reporting;



financial and human resource management; and



Ministerial communication and correspondence.

The department has developed a culture of providing high quality services to customers and
stakeholders through standards, policies, practices and procedures. Industry funding is sought
where necessary to supplement the department’s resource base and to integrate corporate
functions, systems and services.

Internal audit
The department’s internal audit function assists management to effectively discharge its
responsibilities by providing independent analysis, appraisals, advice and recommendations
concerning departmental functions, activities and systems. Internal audit provides these
appraisals and advice to the Director General, Executive Directors, directors and managers to
promote and achieve sound management and control over activities of the department and to
promote efficient and effective operations. These include:


comprehensive audits of the department’s management information systems, controls
systems and activities;



feedback on the adequacy of system controls, user requirements and project management
of the development of new information technology systems;



assessments of compliance with legislative requirements and regulations, departmental
and government policies;



assessments of controls over accounting and financial records and to ensure public
property, money, and resources are properly safeguarded;



management orientated appraisals of the department’s operations and activities;



special investigations into allegations of breaches of legislation, policies and the
department’s Code of Conduct or alleged misconduct; and



monitoring and following-up the implementation of previous audit recommendations.

An annual risk based audit plan which was endorsed by the department’s Audit Committee was
developed to review departmental functions and operations. The majority of internal audit work
in 2010-11 was undertaken by permanent in-house audit employees.
In 2010-11, the internal audit team provided advice on controls, processes and data quality prior
to the department transitioning into the Department of Finance’s Shared Services Centre on
11 November 2010. The team has also undertaken reviews of procurement and expenditure
controls in the shared services environment to provide an assessment of the adequacy of
system controls as well as identifying any weaknesses and making recommendations where the
department needs to compensate for or address these.
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Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 (FOI Act) enables the public to participate more
effectively in governing the State and to make Western Australia more accountable to the
public. It gives people a right of access to documents held by a government agency. The spirit
and intent of the FOI Act is to provide access to applicants promptly and at the lowest possible
cost. The department provides statistics to the Office of the Information Commissioner annually,
on the amount of FOI applications dealt with by the department.
In accordance with the requirements of Section 94 of the FOI Act, the department has prepared
an Information Statement to provide the public with details about its operations which will assist
potential FOI applicants. The Information Statement describes:


the department’s structure and functions;



the ways in which our functions affect members of the public;



any arrangements that exist to enable members of the public to participate in the
formulation of policy and the performance of our functions;



the types of documents that are usually held;



how the public can access documents held by the department; and



procedures for FOI access application and amendment of personal information.

The Information Statement, together with departmental FOI contact details, a checklist for
applicants, and information about FOI, internal and external review processes are available on
the department’s internet site.

Risk and business continuity management
In accordance with the Australian and New Zealand Standard for risk management
(AS/NZS 4360:2004), the department continues to implement the policy, process and
procedures outlined in its risk management framework. This ensures operational areas identify
and assess key risks and develop and implement risk treatment plans, where necessary.
Progress within the area of risk management has been such that resources have been assigned
to the area. This will ensure that the benefits gained to date are consolidated and that risk
management processes continue to be considered as a component of existing governance
instruments, including project management methodologies and the procurement of contracted
services.
The department has a comprehensive suite of business continuity plans to ensure functionality
is restored to its vital business services should a critical incident or disaster occur. These
continuity plans are supported by recovery procedures for critical information technology
systems and applications.
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
Advertising
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the department incurred
expenditure in advertising, direct mail, market research, media advertising and polling.
Total expenditure for 2010-11 was $826,678.37. Expenditure was incurred in the areas
outlined in Table 23.
Table 23: Expenditure 2010-11 reported in accordance with the Electoral Act 1907
Expenditure category and organisations
Advertising agencies
Adcorp Australia Limited
Brando Marketing Pty Ltd
Comada Pty Ltd
Cooch Creative Pty Ltd
Marketforce Express
Mitchell and Partners Australia Pty Ltd

Total cost
$780,790.41
$45,698.43
$280.00
$5,062.00
$81,819.25
$71.96
$647,858.77

Market research organisations

NIL

Polling organisations

NIL

Direct mail organisations

NIL

Media advertising organisations
Department of the Premier and Cabinet
Itomic Pty Ltd
Job Media Pty Ltd
Linkletters
Messages On Hold Australia Pty Ltd
National Australia Bank Limited
Optimum Media Decisions
Rare Creativethinking
Shop A Docket Pty Limited
The West Australian

$45,887.96
$1,914.26
$363.64
$360.00
$1,000.00
$829.97
$115.74
$5,938.09
$14,729.90
$13,636.36
$7,000.00
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Compliance with public sector standards and
ethical codes
In accordance with section 31(1) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994, I confirm:
1.

In the administration of the Department of Commerce, I have complied with the Public
Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector
Code of Ethics and the department’s Code of Conduct.

2.

I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and conducted an
appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made above (in
number one) is correct.

3.

The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes
for the reporting period are:

Table 24: Compliance with Public Sector Standards for 2010-11
Applications for breach of standard and outcomes

Number

Number lodged

5

Number of breaches found (including details of multiple breaches per application)

0

Number still under review

3

Brian Bradley
Accountable Authority
22 September 2011

Table 25 provides details on activities undertaken by the department relating to ensuring
compliance with Public Sector Standards and ethical codes in 2010-11. This information has
also been provided to the Office of the Public Sector Standards Commissioner for inclusion in
the Commissioner’s Annual Compliance Report. Human resources policies and ethical codes in
relation to these standards and codes are available to all employees through the department’s
intranet site.
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Table 25: Activities relating to monitoring compliance with Public Sector Standards and ethical
codes for 2010-11

Significant action taken to monitor and ensure compliance
Public Sector Standards


Provided information to new employees as part of the induction program.



Published articles in the internal HR Matters newsletter to remind line managers and
employees of compliance requirements in accordance with Public Sector Standards.



Assessed compliance with Standards through internal audits and reviews of breach claims.

Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics


Monitored compliance with the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics through
the Director General and Executive Director performance agreements.



Provided information to new employees as part of the induction program.

Code of Conduct


Provided information to new employees as part of the induction program.



Promoted the revised Code of Conduct to employees.



Ensured employees affirmed their commitment to the department’s Code of Conduct as
part of the performance review and development system.



Affirmed employees’ understanding of department’s Code of Conduct and related policies
through participation in the accountable and ethical decision making training.
Ninety-eight per cent of employees completed the training and assessment during the
year.

Disability access and inclusion
The Department of Commerce is committed to improving access and equity for all its customer
groups and ensuring that people who have a disability are included, and participate in shaping
the range of services and initiatives of the department. The Disability Services Act 1993
requires that public authorities develop and implement a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan to
achieve the six access and inclusion outcomes specified by the Disability Services Commission
and report on these achievements.
The department’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2007-2011 details the department’s
overarching strategies and tasks supporting the Disability Services Commission’s desired
outcomes and is compliant with legislative requirements.
Table 26 provides a summary of how the department improved access to its services, buildings
and information for people with a disability in accordance with the Disability Access and
Inclusion Plan’s annual implementation plan.
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Table 26: Disability access and inclusion outcomes for 2010-11

Outcome 1
People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the
services of, and any events organised by, the relevant public authority.
Provided a mechanism for agents and contractors engaged by the department to indicate
their compliance with legislation and the department’s plan by the ongoing use of
enhanced departmental quotation/purchasing forms. The forms also assist in capturing
details for annual reporting to the Disability Services Commission.
Outcome 2
People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the
buildings and other facilities of the relevant public authority.


Ensured that designs for any fit outs complied with accessibility requirements.
Continued to ensure new leases or renewal of existing leases take into account the
needs of people with disabilities. In the selection of premises for the department’s new
Broome office, consideration was given to accessibility requirements including access to
the first floor premises via an elevator.

Undertook an internal disability access (building and amenities) audit of the Albany
regional office in June 2011. The audit identified some access issues for rectification
which will be addressed during 2011-12.

Promoted the importance of considering access issues when selecting a venue for
departmental events and meetings including identifying and making available a list of
venues fitted with hearing enhancement equipment.
Outcome 3
People with disabilities receive information from the relevant public authority in a format
that will enable them to access the information as readily as other people are able to
access it.



Continued promotion of the National Relay Service number and the availability of
information and services in alternative formats in new publications.
Outcome 4
People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of the
relevant public authority.


Continued to ensure that employees were aware of, and understood the needs of people
with disabilities to provide advice and services accordingly. Resources continued to be
available to support employees in delivering services to people with disabilities.

Informed employees of the department’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2007-2011
as part of accountable and ethical decision making training. Ninety-eight per cent of
employees completed the training and assessment during the year.
Outcome 5
People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints
to the relevant public authority.




Continued to ensure people with disabilities, using the department’s services or
accessing premises, can provide feedback through the department’s customer service
feedback forms or through a specific feedback form regarding the plan. The forms are
available in hard copy and online. The department’s processes allow for a representative
of the complainant to complete the form on their behalf, and to identify whether the
complainant requires information in alternative formats or has specific requirements.
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Outcome 6
People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any
public consultation by the relevant public authority.


Continued to seek comment, as appropriate, from people with disabilities and/or
appropriate representative groups as part of consultative strategies.

International Labour Organisation Convention 81 –
Labour inspections
Australia is a member nation of the International Labour Organisation. The International Labour
Organisation is the peak international organisation responsible for setting international labour
standards through the development and monitoring of International Conventions and
Recommendations. The Australian Government ratified International Labour Organisation
Convention 81 - Labour inspections on 24 June 1975. Article 21 of Convention 81 requires
certain information to be published in annual reports for each of the central inspection
authorities.
In Western Australia, the Department of Commerce is the ‘central authority’ responsible for
conducting labour inspections for workplace safety, and wages and conditions of employment.
The reporting in this section relates to the inspection services delivered by the Labour Relations
Division and the WorkSafe Division for 2010-11.
Article 21 of Convention 81 requires the department to report on a number of matters namely:
(a)

Laws and regulations relevant to the work of the inspection service
Legislation administered by the department is provided in the Overview section of this
report. Changes to written laws during 2010-11, relevant to the work of the inspection
service, are provided in Appendix 2: Changes to written laws (Table 37). The Significant
Issues and Trends section of this report also provides information on issues and trends
impacting the department and the inspection environment.

(b)

Staff of the labour inspection service
The department currently employs 15 industrial inspectors in the Labour Relations
Division. The WorkSafe Division has a FTE complement of 103 inspectorate positions.

(c)

Statistics of workplaces liable to inspection and the number of workers employed
There were a total of 213,446 businesses liable for inspection by Western Australia’s
workplace inspectors according to the Australian Bureau of Statistics - Counts of
Australian Businesses, including Entries and Exits (June 2007 to June 2009) 8165.0.
These businesses employed an estimated 1,227,182 employees according to the
Australian Bureau of Statistics’ Labour Force Australia, Detailed (June 2011)
6291.0.55.001 (table 2).

(d)

Statistics of inspections visits
During 2010-11, the Labour Relations Division undertook 170 inspection visits and the
WorkSafe Division undertook more than 10,400 workplace visits.
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(e)

Statistics of violations and penalties imposed
Information on the number of violations and penalties imposed is provided in
Appendix 3: Prosecutions section of this report. Details of prosecutions for the Labour
Relations Division are published in Table 51 and prosecutions for the WorkSafe Division
are published in Table 52. During the year, the WorkSafe Division issued more than
10,400 improvement notices and over 600 prohibition notices. The Labour Relations
Division found that out of the 170 employers inspected, 144 separate breaches of awards,
agreements or legislation were identified and three prosecutions were undertaken and two
penalties imposed.

(f)

Statistics of industrial accidents and occupational diseases
The lost time injury and disease (LTI/D) frequency rate is the principal measure of safety
performance in Western Australia, and is also used to monitor performance against
national targets. The frequency rate is calculated using the formula: Number of LTI/D
divided by number of hours worked multiplied by 1,000,000. A lost time work-related injury
or disease is counted where there is at least one complete day or shift off work.
Information on work-related injury or disease frequency rates for Western Australia is
provided in the Agency Performance (Operational Highlights) section of this report.
Information on disease groups that are being monitored at a national level are contained in
Occupational Disease Indicators published by Safe Work Australia. A copy can be
accessed on the Safe Work Australia internet site.

Specific agency reporting
Construction Contracts Act 2004
The Construction Contracts Act 2004 provides for a rapid independent adjudication to resolve
payment disputes associated with construction contracts, whether they are written or oral. A
decision is made on the information available and can be enforced as it was an order of the
court. This process does not inhibit parties from seeking other legal remedies but this process
cannot be used if the dispute is the subject of an order, judgement or other finding dealing with
the matter.

Credit (Administration) Act 1984
The Credit (Administration) Act 1984 (the CA Act) set out a licensing regime for individuals
providing credit regulated in Western Australia by the Credit Act 1984 or Consumer Credit
(Western Australia) Code (the Code). The Commissioner for Consumer Protection
(the Commissioner) was the responsible licensing authority under this Act.
On 1 July 2010 responsibility for regulation of credit was transferred to the Commonwealth
Government, specifically the ASIC. From 1 July 2010 the department’s responsibilities in
relation to credit regulation ceased other than to conclude one matter on foot before the Courts.
Three other matters were concluded by being transferred to ASIC from 1 July 2010. From
1 July 2010, credit providers were licensed by ASIC.
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Section 60(2) of the CA Act requires the Commissioner to report on a number of matters
namely:
(a)

the number, nature and outcome of –
(i)

investigations and inquiries undertaken by, or at the direction of, the Commissioner
for the purposes of this Act;
The CA Act provided for the Commissioner to make investigations or inquiries into
the conduct of a licensed credit provider and to enforce the requirements of the
Code, which apply to all persons providing consumer credit to residents of Western
Australia, not just persons licensed as credit providers under the Act. Additionally,
the Code provided that the department may assist a debtor in negotiating a change
to the terms of a credit contract on the basis of hardship.

Table 27: Credit (Administration) Act 1984: Investigation summary for 2010-11

Investigations of
licensing matters
related directly to
the Act

Investigations of
conduct matters
generally relating
to the Code

Conciliations
generally
concerning the
negotiation of a
change to a credit
contract under
the Code

Total

Ongoing matters as
at 1 July 2010

2

2

0

4

Matters commenced

0

0

0

0

Matters concluded

1

2

0

3

Ongoing matters as
at 30 June 2011

1

0

0

1

Each of the three matters concluded in 2010-11 were referred to ASIC under the
terms of transferring responsibility for credit regulation to the Commonwealth.
(ii)

matters that have been brought before the State Administrative Tribunal under this
Act;
No proceedings were commenced in the State Administrative Tribunal during this
financial year.

(b)

the number and nature of matters referred to in paragraph (a) that are outstanding;
The one ongoing matter relates to criminal proceedings being taken for the offence of
carrying on business as an unlicensed credit provider.

(c)

any trends or special problems that may have emerged;
No trends or special problems to report.
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(d)

forecasts of the workload of the Commissioner in performing functions under this Act in
the year after the year to which the report relates; and
Only one matter is outstanding as referred to in Section (b).

(e)

any proposals for improving the performance of the Commissioner’s functions under this
Act.
No proposals to report.

Debt Collectors Licensing Act 1964
The Debt Collectors Licensing Act 1964 (the DCL Act) sets out a licensing regime for debt
collectors and prescribes procedures for the handling of trust account money. The
Commissioner for Consumer Protection (the Commissioner) is the responsible licensing
authority under the DCL Act.
As at 30 June 2011, there are 75 licensed debt collectors operating in Western Australia. Over
the course of the year, four licences expired or were surrendered and eight new licences were
granted and 59 were renewed. Four investigations were commenced this financial year with one
resulting in the service of a prosecution notice on an individual for exercising the function of a
debt collector without being the holder of a licence under the DCL Act. The matter is currently
awaiting trial in the Perth Magistrates Court.
Where a complaint is received about the conduct of a debt collector that cannot be treated as a
breach of the DCL Act, it may be dealt with as a potential breach of other legislation including
the Fair Trading Act 1987 and, as of 1 January 2011, the Australian Consumer Law (WA). On
occasions when a serious breach of these Acts is established, the Commissioner is empowered
to make an allegation to the State Administrative Tribunal that a licensee is not a fit and proper
person to hold a licence under the DCL Act; however no issues of this nature have arisen during
the past financial year.
Section 12A of the DCL Act requires the Commissioner to report on a number of matters
namely:
(a)

the number, nature and outcome of –
(i)

investigations and inquiries undertaken by, or at the direction of, the Commissioner
for the purposes of this Act;

Table 28: Debt Collectors Licensing Act 1964: Investigation summary for 2010-11
Licensing
Conciliations
issues relating
Conduct
generally concerning
directly to the
issues
confirmation of
DCL Act
whether debt owed
Number ongoing as at
0
0
1
1 July 2010

Total

1

Number commenced

4

0

10

14

Number concluded

3

0

11

14

Number ongoing as at
30 June 2011

1

0

0

1
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Of the three compliance matters concluded in 2010-11, the following outcomes were
recorded:
 two resulted in no action being taken including complaints lapsed or withdrawn;
and
 one resulted in enforcement action being taken against an individual for
unlicensed debt collection activities.
(ii)

matters that have been brought before the State Administrative Tribunal under this
Act;
No proceedings were commenced in the State Administrative Tribunal during this
financial year.

(b)

the number and nature of matters referred to in paragraph (a) that are outstanding;
One compliance investigation is ongoing at 30 June 2011 which relates to potential
unlicensed debt collection activities by an individual.

(c)

any trends or special problems that may have emerged;
Proactive compliance audits have identified that there are still a number of elementary
compliance issues that have arisen from the failure of some debt collectors to maintain
licensing standards. There are also potential issues arising from the expiration of fidelity
bonds following the cessation of trading by a debt collector and the refusal by some
insurers to lodge the original fidelity bond with the Commissioner in accordance with
legislative requirements. The department is imposing a stricter proactive compliance and
education regime to ensure these basic breaches are rectified.

(d)

forecasts of the workload of the Commissioner in performing functions under this Act in
the year after the year to which the report relates; and
The Commissioner will continue to handle the licensing of debt collectors and related
compliance and proactive matters.

(e)

any proposals for improving the performance of the Commissioner’s functions under this
Act.
The department supports the ongoing COAG national consumer credit reform discussions
being held to explore options for the future of debt collector licensing in Australia.

Electricity Act 1945
Section 33 of the Electricity Act 1945 requires the Director of Energy Safety (the Director) to
report on a number of matters, namely:
(a)

in relation to the discipline of electrical licensees, the number, nature, and outcome, of
the (i)

investigations and inquiries undertaken under this Act by, or at the direction of, the
Director and referred to the Electrical Licensing Board; and
There were five matters.
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(ii)

matters undertaken by the Director that have been brought before the State
Administrative Tribunal under this Act by the Director;
There were no matters.

(b)

the number and nature of matters referred to in paragraph (a) that are outstanding;
There were two matters outstanding.

(c)

any trends or special problems that may have emerged;
There were no trends or special problems that require reporting.

(d)

forecasts of the workload of the Director in performing functions under this Act in the year
after the year to which the report relates; and
The Director’s forecast workload is articulated in the EnergySafety Division’s Business
Plan approved by the Minister for Commerce and endorsed by Parliament. The plan is
available on the EnergySafety Division’s section of the department’s internet site.

(e)

any proposals for improving the performance of the Director’s functions under this Act.
Proposals affecting the Director’s functions include the development of the National
Occupational Licensing System; improvements to the department’s CALS information
technology system; and development of a new computerised compliance management
system.

Employment Agents Act 1976
The department administers a range of functions under the Employment Agents Act 1976 (the
EA Act) including the granting and renewal of licences, compliance activities and a range of
education and advisory services. The Consumer Protection Division undertakes the conciliation
of disputes involving employment agents and consumers. As at 30 June 2011, there were 607
licensed employment agents operating in Western Australia. Over the course of the year, 58
licences expired and an additional 29 were surrendered, 111 licences were renewed and 79
new licences were granted.
Section 10A of the EA Act requires the Commissioner for Consumer Protection (the
Commissioner) to report on a number of matters namely:
(a)

the number, nature and outcome of –
(i)

investigations and inquiries undertaken by, or at the direction of, the Commissioner
for the purposes of this Act;
During 2010-11, the department completed six investigations related to employment
agent licence holders or unlicensed activities.
Four of these investigations related to the possible unlicensed trading of employment
agents which subsequent investigation established that no licence was required by
each business.
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One of the investigations resulted in the successful prosecution of a corporation
which was carrying out the functions of an employment agent without a licence. The
company was fined $500 and the Director $100 for this unlicensed trading and
incurred court costs totaling $253. The remaining investigation was conducted in
relation to the character of a licence applicant and it was deemed that the person
was not of fit and proper character to hold an employment agents licence.
Three other investigations concluded related to the conduct issues of existing
licensees with one resulting in the successful prosecution of an employment agent
for breaching his obligations under the EA Act. The employment agent was fined a
total of $800 for four charges together with court costs of $253. The remaining
investigations were successfully resolved with one agent receiving an administrative
warning.
Table 29: Employment Agents Act 1976: Investigations and inquiries in 2010-11
Employment agent
licence holder or
unlicensed activity

Conduct issues

Conciliations

Total

Number ongoing as
at 1 July 2010

1

1

0

2

Number
commenced

6

2

4

12

Number concluded

6

3

2

11

Number ongoing as
at 30 June 2011

1

0

2

3

The department continued its successful proactive compliance program that was first
implemented in 2005-06. In 2010-11, the proactive program continued to focus on
newly licensed employment agents to ensure continued compliance with the EA Act.
In 2010-11, 66 licensed employment agents were visited. This resulted in 59 found
fully compliant with the EA Act with seven having minor administrative issues, which
have all since been rectified. The areas of non-compliance were of an administrative
nature, and whilst a legislative requirement, they were not considered to be serious
or represent systematic breaches of the EA Act.
(ii)

matters that have been brought before the State Administrative Tribunal under this
Act;
There were no matters brought before the State Administrative Tribunal.

(b) the number and nature of matters referred to in paragraph (a) that are outstanding;
As at 30 June 2011, there was one ongoing investigation relating to possible unlicensed
trading of a person carrying on the functions of an employment agent.
(c)

any trends or special problems that may have emerged;
In previous years, investigations have resulted from allegations that advertised positions
did not exist and were being used to induce people to use a particular employment agent.
No issues of this nature have arisen during 2010-11.
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(d)

forecasts of the workload of the Commissioner in performing functions under this Act in
the year after the year to which the report relates; and
The Commissioner will continue to manage the licensing and compliance matters referred
to above and it is anticipated that the number of licensed entities may increase in 2011-12
due to increasing numbers of people travelling. Employment agents will continue to be
monitored for any compliance issues related to potential breaches of the newly introduced
Australian Consumer Law.

(e)

any proposals for improving the performance of the Commissioner’s functions under this
Act.
The Consumer Protection Division will continue with its proactive program. The email
notification database implemented in 2006-07 has continued to improve the dissemination
of information relating to licensing and compliance matters. In 2011-12 it is recommended
that this system be used routinely to ensure licensees are aware of developments and
areas of concern both from a licensing and compliance perspective.

Gas Standards Act 1972
Section 13CA of the Gas Standards Act 1972 requires the Director of Energy Safety
(the Director) to report on a number of matters, namely:
(a)

in relation to the discipline of holders of gasfitting permits and authorisations, the number,
nature, and outcome, of the (i)

investigations and inquiries undertaken under this Act by, or at the direction of, the
Director; and
One gas fitter who previously held a gasfitting permit was refused a renewal due to
disciplinary matters. One gas fitter previously deemed “not a fit a proper person”
was refused a permit. This person may apply to the State Administrative Tribunal
to have that decision reversed.

(ii)

matters undertaken by the Director and referred to the State Administrative
Tribunal under this Act by the Director;
There were no matters.

(b)

the number and nature of matters referred to in paragraph (a) that are outstanding;
There were no matters outstanding.

(c)

any trends or special problems that may have emerged;
There were no trends or special problems that require reporting.

(d)

forecasts of the workload of the Director in performing functions under this Act in the year
after the year to which the report relates relating to licensing discipline matters; and
There has been a marked increase in the number of Infringements Notices (gas) being
issued as a result of improved reporting structures in place.
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(e)

any proposals for improving the performance of the Director’s functions under this Act.
There are no proposals for improving performance to report.

Retirement Villages Act 1992
The Retirement Villages Act 1992 (the RV Act) was established to regulate retirement villages
and the rights of residents in such villages. The Commissioner for Consumer Protection is
responsible for several functions under this Act, including compliance activities and the
conciliation of disputes between residents and retirement village owners. After extensive
consultation with industry, consumers and Government stakeholders over a four year period,
the statutory review of the RV Act and its operations was completed and a final report of the
review was tabled in Parliament on 18 November 2010. The report made more than
120 recommendations for change. Key recommendations included:

establishment of a seniors housing information service;

the introduction of a power to remove non-performing managers and appoint an
administrator when residents’ wellbeing and financial security are at risk;

mandatory reserve funds to enable retirement villages to be maintained in a reasonable
condition; and

provisions to enable residents to appeal at the State Administrative Tribunal against
excessive or unwarranted increases.
This financial year, the department conciliated or investigated 36 complaints regarding
retirement villages. These reflected a diverse range of matters including issues about fees,
rates and charges; strata titles; dispute resolution processes; the meaning of contract terms;
misrepresentation; disclosure and provision of information; construction of facilities and
maintenance; marketing; sale of units; and budget expenditures. The department also provided
assistance in the administration process where villages became insolvent.
In June 2008, a report from an Economics and Industry Standing Committee Inquiry into
matters related to disputes between management and residents at the Karrinyup Lakes Lifestyle
Village was tabled in the Legislative Assembly and the department’s response was
subsequently tabled in December 2008. Since that time the Consumer Protection Division has
finalised a range of disputes surrounding the Karrinyup Lakes Lifestyle Village including
undertaking a number of legal proceedings. The division regularly liaised with the Residents’
Committee during 2010-11 including fortnightly meetings with residents.
The department has continued a proactive compliance program which commenced in 2008 to
ensure retirement village operators comply with the requirements set out in the RV Act. The aim
of this program is to provide assistance to retirement villages where issues of non-compliance
are identified. This financial year the Consumer Protection Division visited 21 retirement
villages, with no major issues identified.

Travel Agents Act 1985
The department administers a range of functions under the Travel Agents Act 1985 (the TA Act)
including the granting and renewal of licences, compliance activities and a range of education
and advisory services. The department also undertakes the conciliation of disputes involving
travel agents and consumers.
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As at 30 June 2011, there were 364 licensed travel agents operating in Western Australia. Over
the course of the year, 37 licences were surrendered, 114 licences were renewed and 17 new
licences were granted.
Section 58 of the TA Act requires the Commissioner for Consumer Protection (the
Commissioner) to report on a number of matters namely:
(a)

the number, nature and outcome of –
(i)

investigations and inquiries undertaken by, or at the direction of, the Commissioner
for the purposes of this Act;
During 2010-11, the department completed 11 investigations related to travel agents.
Four of these investigations related to alleged unlicensed trading by businesses
carrying the functions of a travel agent. In two instances, these allegations were
determined to be erroneous. In the third instance, an agent had been suspended
from the Travel Compensation Fund however was reinstated following departmental
intervention and was able to reclaim the licence. The final of these four
investigations, which involved potential unlicensed activity and significant consumer
detriment, concluded following the expiration of the statute of limitations period. The
remaining seven investigations concluded within 2010-11 related to the advertising of
fares and administrative issues, six of these were investigated and found to be
without basis and in one instance, a travel agency was educated with regard to the
method of advertising terms and conditions.

Table 30: Travel Agents Act 1985: Investigations and inquiries in 2010-11
Travel agents
and tour
operator
services

Airlines, tour
coach, cruise
ships, ferry or
train services

Holder of
travel agent
licence or
unlicensed
activity

Conciliations

Total

Number ongoing
as at 1 July 2010

2

11

10

14

Number
commenced

4

13

122

130

Number
concluded

5

24

128

139

Number ongoing
as at
30 June 2011

1

004

5

Allegations of unlicensed activity are examined by the Consumer Protection Division
prior to formal investigation, which assists to clarify or obtain licensing compliance in
many cases. This process significantly reduced the number of formal investigations
required.
The proactive compliance program continues to provide information to travel agents
about compliance with the TA Act resulting in improved practices throughout the
industry. In 2010-11, 153 travel agents were visited including those with newly
granted licences. Of those visited, 131 were fully compliant with the TA Act, 22 were
non-compliant.
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The areas of non-compliance were administrative matters under the legislation and
were not considered to be serious or systemic breaches of the TA Act. In most
instances compliance with the legislation was achieved quickly and related to issues
such as:
 business name certificate not on display;
 travel agent licence certificate not on display;
 ‘Licensed Travel Agent’ sticker not displayed;
 nominated manager not in attendance;
 failure to notify of a new manager within 14 days; and
 failure to notify a change of licence particulars within 14 days.
(ii)

matters that have been brought before the State Administrative Tribunal under this
Act;
There were no matters brought before the State Administrative Tribunal.

(b)

the number and nature of matters referred to in paragraph (a) that are outstanding;
As at 30 June 2011, there was one compliance investigation outstanding concerning the
possible unlicensed trading of a person carrying on the functions of a travel agent.

(c)

any trends or special problems that may have emerged;
The definition of what constitutes ‘Travel Agent’ activities has recently been clarified by the
department and will lead to further consultation with industry to ensure legislative
compliance and may also lead to a significant increase in the need for sporting groups,
schools and other community organisations to seek exemptions as prescribed within the
TA Act.

(d)

forecasts of the workload of the Commissioner in performing functions under this Act in
the year after the year to which the report relates; and
The Consumer Protection Division will continue to focus its proactive program on newly
licensed agents, providing detailed information to agents regarding their legislative
requirements. The Ministerial Council of Consumer Affairs recently acknowledged the
necessity for reform of travel industry regulation within Australia following a national review
of the regulatory framework that licenses travel agents across Australia. The department
will be liaising with other state and territory licensing authorities towards the possible
establishment of a new regulatory framework that will enhance consumer protection,
business compliance and financial capacity, and competition and innovation.

(e)

any proposals for improving the performance of the Commissioner’s functions under this
Act.
The department will continue to examine and review legal requirements concerning the
licensing of all entities carrying out the functions of a travel agent which may alter the
manner in which the department assesses the need to hold a licence under the TA Act.
The department will continue its proactive program, both in the metropolitan area and
throughout regional Western Australia. Invaluable assistance with the program continues
to be provided by the Consumer Protection Division’s regional employees and this function
will be utilised further in 2011-12.
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Water Services Licensing Act 1995
Part 5A of the Water Services Licensing Act 1995 (the WSL Act) establishes the Plumbers’
Licensing Board (the Board) to regulate the plumbing trade that serves the Western Australian
community. The Board forms part of the Building Commission Division.
At the end of the year, there were 5,277 plumbers licensed by the Board to carry out water
supply, sanitary and drainage plumbing work for residential, commercial and industrial purposes
and for other sectors of the economy. This specialised workforce comprised 2,601 licensed
plumbing contractors, 2,657 licensed tradespersons, who work under the general direction and
control of the licensed plumbing contractors, and 119 restricted plumbing permit holders who
replace certain hot water units.
Section 59H(2) of the WSL Act requires the department’s Annual Report to include details of:
(a)

the number, nature, and outcome, of –
(i)

investigations and inquiries undertaken by, or at the direction of, the Board into
licensing under this Act;

Table 31: Water Services Licensing Act 1995: Compliance investigations and complaints
in 2010-11
Alleged
unsatisfactory
workmanship

Alleged
unlicensed
plumbing

Other regulation
breaches

Total

Ongoing matters as at
1 July 2010

23

6

11

40

Matters commenced

65

25 26

116

Matters concluded

74

26 26

126

Ongoing matters as at
30 June 2011

14

5

11

30

Investigations undertaken by the Board in cases of unsatisfactory workmanship or
breaches of relevant regulations resulted in infringements or rectification notices
issued to the respective licensed plumbing contractor. In cases of unlicensed
plumbing, the Board’s investigations to protect the interest of consumers and the
integrity of the trade brought several prosecutions before the Magistrates Court.
Details of action taken can be found in Appendix 3: Prosecutions, Table 45.
(ii)

matters that have been brought before the State Administrative Tribunal under this
Act;
There were no cases brought before the State Administrative Tribunal in 2010-11.

(b)

the number and nature of matters referred to in paragraph (a) that are outstanding;
There were 30 matters outstanding as referred in (a).

(c)

any trends or special problems that may have emerged;
There are no trends or special problems to report.
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(d)

forecasts of the workload of the Board in the year after the year to which the report relates;
It is anticipated that the workload will continue to rise steadily, in line with the overall
economy of Western Australia.

(e)

any proposals for improving the operation of the Board.
There are no proposals to report.

Recordkeeping Plan
The Department of Commerce’s Recordkeeping Plan codifies record keeping practices and
ensures compliance with the regulatory obligations. The management of the department’s
corporate documents and information is conducted within the framework of the State Records
Act 2000, and the Principles and Standards 2002 (incorporating Standard 2, Principle 6)
produced by the State Records Commission in accordance with Section 61 of this Act.
It is a requirement under this Standard that the department’s Recordkeeping Plan be reviewed
and updated every five years. The Plan was approved by the State Records Commission in
2009 and is due for review in 2014.
An addition to the Recordkeeping Plan this year has been the completion of the Records
Disaster Management Plan. The primary focus of this plan is on managing the restoration and
recovery of the corporate information business functions during, and immediately after, a critical
incident; and the protection and recovery of paper-based records and physical media managed
by the department. The Records Disaster Management Plan is a component of the Business
Continuity Plan for the Corporate Services Division, and forms part of the wider critical incident
management response for the department.
Each division has an approved Retention and Disposal Schedule. This is a requirement of the
Record Keeping Plan and determines the life cycle and retention period for all files and records
captured and stored within the departmental wide electronic document and records
management system.

Compliance
In accordance with State Records Commission Standard 2, Principle 6 the department’s
induction programs address employee roles and responsibilities in regard to their compliance
with the organisation’s record keeping plan. This mandatory program has been strengthened by
the introduction of an online training course to complement the department’s Code of Conduct.
Two of the six categories, ‘Record keeping and use of information’ and ‘Communication and
official information’ reinforce the need to comply with the accountability framework established
by legislation and by Government. The efficiency and effectiveness of the record keeping
training is regularly reviewed and monitored to ensure it meets the needs of the department and
that employees are aware and follow their record keeping obligations as public officers.
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GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS
Corruption prevention
Awareness raising
The department took significant steps during the year towards meeting its responsibilities to
promote and encourage a culture built on ethical decision making and corruption resistance.
Two projects, updating the department’s Code of Conduct and ensuring all employees
participated in training on accountable and ethical decision making, worked together to raise
awareness of behaviour that is expected of employees and understanding of the conduct issues
that can arise in the workplace.
The Code of Conduct has been developed in two parts: Part 1 outlines what standards of
behaviour are expected of departmental employees and Part 2 provides guidance on what to do
should a breach occur. Part 1 has been produced as a booklet and has been distributed to all
employees. The Code is available on the department’s internet site. Part 2 has been produced
as an online reference tool in the event that employees need more information about their rights
and obligations.
Guidelines for receiving or providing gifts, benefits or hospitality are under development
including a new gift register and online registration form which will be introduced in 2011-12.
The department investigated and completed a number of matters referred from the Corruption
and Crime Commission.

Identifying controls to prevent fraud and corruption
The department’s risk management plan outlines the key risk management strategies, plans
and procedures that are in place and includes the identification and regular review of corruption
and misconduct risks. The department’s internal audit function further supports the plan by
considering risk and controls to prevent fraud and corrupt behaviour.
During the year audits were undertaken on:


storage and control issues for customer credit card details;



the management of gifts, benefits and hospitality received by the department;



the approval and issue o f occupational licences for real estate agents, settlement agents,
electrical workers, electrical contractors and asbestos removalists;



controls over EFTPOS refunds;



controls over procurement, payments and corporate credit card transactions after roll-in to
the Department of Finance’s Shared Services Centre; and



consideration of the impact of the Commonwe alth’s Privacy Act 1988 provisions, spam
requirements and anti-money laundering laws on the development of a new system for the
management of residential tenancy bonds.

A number of departmental employees also attended Corruption and Crime Commission
workshops on misconduct resistance and corruption prevention strategies during the year.
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Customer feedback
The department is committed to understanding and striving to exceed our customer service
standards and encouraging customer feedback to improve our services. Customers can provide
feedback in a number of ways including the internet, by telephone, by informing our counter
service employees, or by written communication to the department. The feedback recorded is
used to understand our customer expectations, determine the extent to which we can deliver,
address systemic shortfalls which will improve our service delivery, streamline our processes
and acknowledge the good efforts of our employees.
The department’s Customer Service Charter reflects our operations
and delivery services to customers. The Charter specifies how
employees are expected to conduct themselves and details the
standards we endeavor to meet. The Charter is available on the
department’s internet site. The department has a Customer Service
Policy as required by the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular
2009-27: Complaints management. The department’s performance
in relation to customer feedback is monitored by the Corporate
Executive.
A review of the customer feedback database was commenced with changes to be implemented
in 2011-12 that will enhance the collection of feedback and identification of trends. In 2010-11
the department received 305 pieces of feedback on services in both metropolitan and regional
offices of these, 57 per cent were compliments, 35 per cent were complaints and eight per cent
were suggestions. Some of the compliments received included:


“very helpful and informative people. A pleasure to deal with. Well done”;



“excellent performance of a job well carried out”;



The customer was “amazed” that he received such a prompt response with ‘fantastic’
detail to his email enquiry. The customer congratulated both officers and the department
for having an excellent level of customer service; and



“The publications list, website links and availability on the WorkSafe site is outstanding.
Providing Guidance Notes and Codes of Practice across the spectrum of industries in WA
is very helpful to OSH professionals. Thank you for this excellent service”.

The department responds to complaints in a systematic way and within agreed timeframes, with
the aim of resolving the issue. Some of the complaints received included:


A customer queried “what had happened to the FuelWatch site, for the daily price of petrol
in my area - has it been discontinued? It was so helpful. Please advise”. Outcome: The
department provided a response to the customer which explained that the FuelWatch
internet site was being enhanced with a new look and additional functionality that will
benefit the public as well as the fuel companies.



A customer required information on setting up an Incorporated Association and found that
the forms on the internet site are in a format incompatible with screen readers. Outcome:
The customer was provided the information in a format suitable for a screen reader.

As a resu lt of customer feedback, employee development and trainin g needs an d service,
system and internet content improvements were identified.
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Occupational safety, health and injury management
In accordance with the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-11: Code of practice:
Occupational safety and health in the Western Australian public sector (the Circular), the
department complies with the requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984, the
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 and the Code of practice:
Occupational safety and health in the Western Australian public sector.

Our commitment to our employees
The department recognises the value of its employees and is committed to preventing injury
and illness by providing a safe and healthy work environment. The department recognises the
success of occupational safety, health and injury management activities and relies on the active
participation and co-operation of both management and employee. The department’s
occupational safety and health commitment is designed to raise awareness of safety and health
obligations and to promote safer work practices.
In the event that a workplace injury occurs, the department has an established injury
management system, which details the steps taken to assist injured employees to return to work
as soon as medically appropriate. The system ensures that injury management intervention
occurs promptly and effectively, so that injured employees can remain at work or return to work
at the earliest appropriate time. The department’s injury management system is compliant with
the requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 and the
Code of Practice (Injury Management) 2005.
Both the department’s occupational safety and health and injury management systems are
available to employees on the department’s intranet site. Information is communicated as part
of occupational safety and health training for employees, managers and supervisors; specific
articles on topics as part of HR Matters; and through the Occupational Safety and Health
Committee (the Committee).

Consultation mechanisms
Both management and employees are committed to improved and effective consultation in the
workplace. Consultation provides employees with an opportunity to participate fully in decisions
which impact on their working lives. The establishment of an appropriate forum to consult has
resulted in better decision making with shared decisions leading to more effective
implementation. The Committee comprises of safety and health representatives and
management representatives and is focused on the continuous improvement of occupational
safety and health performance.
The Committee met every six weeks to discuss matters
relating to workplace matters that affect the health and
welfare of employees. The department's executive, safety
and health representatives and employees are committed
to the goal of a workplace that is free of work-related
injuries and disease and to achieve a standard of
excellence in occupational safety and health
management.
The department’s Occupational Safety and
Health Committee.
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During the year, the Committee discussed and resolved issues raised by employees, reviewed
accident and incident forms to ensure that hazards were addressed to eliminate or reduce
potential issues, and discussed injury trends and identified preventative measures that promote
a safe working environment. The contribution of Committee Chair and WorkSafe Division Safety
and Health Representative, Jacqui Willis (pictured front row, right), who passed away in
September 2011, was acknowledged by the Committee.

Our performance
The department’s performance against targets contained in the Circular is demonstrated in
Table 32.
Table 32: Occupational safety, health and injury management performance
Measure
Number of fatalities

Actual Results
2009-10

(1)

Results against Target

2010-11

Target

Result

0

0

0 (zero)

Lost time injury and/or
disease incidence rate

0.21

(2)

0 or 10%
reduction

The target was not achieved as
there was a greater than 10
per cent increase on the previous
year. This was attributable to the
increase in the number of lost time
claims and the reduction in the
FTE level for 2010-11.

Lost time injury and/or
disease severity rate

50.00

20.00

0 or 10%
reduction

The target was achieved with a
60 per cent reduction.

Percentage of injured
workers returned to work
within 28 weeks

100%

100%

Actual
percentage
result

Target achieved.

Percentage of managers
trained in occupational
safety, health and injury
management
responsibilities

56.68%

80%

Greater than
or equal to
50%

Target achieved.

0.56

Target achieved.

Notes:
(1)

The results are sourced from the department’s Annual Report 2009-10.

(2)

The number of lost time claims increased from two in 2009-10 to five in 2010-11, while the number of FTEs decreased from
949 in 2009-10 to 882 in 2010-11.

An annual self evaluation of the department’s occupational safety and health management
system was conducted in June 2011. The findings of this audit provided both positive findings
and areas for improvement. The self evaluation found that the department provides a generally
safe working environment. The main positive findings identified were:


80 per cent of managers and supervisors had attended the occupational safety, health and
injury management for managers and supervisors training session, surpassing the target
of 50 per cent. All occupational safety and health training records were maintained on the
department’s information management system;



all physical injuries are generally reported, recorded and investigated;



workplace inspections were undertaken once every three months, using the update
Workplace Inspection Checklist;
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the Occupational Safety and Health Toolkit on the intranet had been enhanced to allow
easier and greater access to all relevant and necessary occupational safety, health and
injury management information; and



the recording of all incidents where first aid treatment was administered.

There were some areas for further improvement including:


the need for more regular reviews of the occupational safety and health policies and
guidelines and reporting against the Occupational Safety and Health Management Plan;



the need for an occupational health, safety and injury management procedure for labour
hire personnel;



the need to create a generic job safety analysis database to be available on the intranet;
and



the need to document a process for capturing all new employees for safety induction
training.

Additional safety and injury management activities undertaken during 2010-11 included:


a training report was developed detailing the effectiveness of both implemented strategic
training programs; and



the department’s workers’ compensation claims were transitioned to the Department of
Finance’s Shared Services Centre in December 2010. As part of the transition, a claims
review was held involving the Human Resources Directorate, the workers’ compensation
team from Department of Finance’s Shared Services Centre and RiskCover.

Whole of government Public Sector Safety and Injury
Management Initiative
The Public Sector Safety and Injury Management Initiative provides a whole of government
approach to workplace safety and injury management. The initiative supports a commitment by
all Australian jurisdictions to the achievement of the National Occupational Health and Safety
Strategy 2002-2012 in particular Priority Five, which is to strengthen the capacity of government
to influence occupational health and safety outcomes.
The initiative is an example of how the public sector can work together to develop a culture that
advocates and supports a workplace free of work-related injuries and diseases. The initiative is
designed to promote the Western Australian public sector as a leader in safety, health and
injury management by fostering a co-ordinated approach across public sector agencies. The
Department of Commerce is the lead agency responsible for the initiative. A steering committee
was established to foster senior management commitment and provide guidance to public
sector agencies. The Steering Committee has senior officers from the Department of
Commerce, the Public Sector Commission, RiskCover, WorkCover WA and a UnionsWA
nominee.
The key activity of the initiative includes identifying and developing strategic initiatives to assist
agencies to improve safety and injury management performance and thereby reduce workers’
compensation costs. The initiative also promotes best practice safety, health and injury
management across the public sector through the Code of Practice: Occupational Safety and
Health in the Western Australian Public Sector and the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular
2009-11: Code of practice: Occupational safety and health in the Western Australian public
sector.
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In 2010-11, in support of the initiative, the department:


hosted the National Public Sector Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management
forum in Perth and represented Western Australia at meetings held;



reviewed more than 130 public sector agencies for annual reporting compliance with the
Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-11: Code of practice: Occupational safety and
health in the Western Australian public sector;



engaged with Chief Executive Officers on their agency’s compliance with the occupational
safety, health and injury management annual reporting requirements including development
of a fact sheet to improve reporting;



acknowledged excellence in annual reporting through a special Occupational Safety, Health
and Injury Management Award at the Institute of Public Administration Australia Western
Australia’s W.S. Lonnie Awards. The winner was Main Roads Western Australia;



partnered with the Public Sector Commission to include and monitor occupational safety,
health and injury management initiatives in Chief Executive Officer Performance
Agreements and provided information and briefings to agencies; and



organised three Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management Networking sessions
for public sector practitioners.

Reconciliation Action Plan
The Department of Commerce is committed to maintaining positive relationships with Aboriginal
communities through the strategies outlined in the department’s Reconciliation Action Plan.
These strategies address Reconciliation Australia’s key focus areas: Relationships, Respect
and Opportunities through the development of initiatives for the education of employees and
customers, and liaison with Aboriginal support groups.
Table 33 provides a summary of the key activities undertaken during 2010-11 in support of the
department’s Reconciliation Action Plan.
Table 33: Reconciliation Action Plan outcomes for 2010-11

Area of Focus:

Relationships



Consulted with the Department of Indigenous Affairs and Reconciliation Australia on the
development of a Reconciliation Action Plan for the period 2011-2013.



Undertook an advertising campaign in the Mid West relating to consumer protection and
labour relations for Aboriginal consumers and employees which resulted in a number of
enquiries on pay and conditions referred to the department’s Geraldton regional office.



Delivered labour relations seminars to high schools with a high number of Aboriginal
students in the Kalgoorlie, Laverton and Leonora areas. The seminars focused on
employment rights and the ‘Your First Job’ program. Labour Relations Division officers
also visited Wilagutharra and Bundiyarra Aboriginal Corporations to discuss employee
rights and employer obligations for the communities.



Maintained accessibility, through the department’s internet site, with pages providing
general consumer advice to Aboriginal consumers.



Reviewed, in consultation with Aboriginal stakeholders, the ‘Getting a Place’ publication
which provides advice on renting property. The revised version is due for release
in 2011-12.
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Liaised with Aboriginal community groups to increase awareness of consumer issues
and consumer services. This was undertaken by the department’s two Indigenous
Community Education Officers.



Continued delivery of the successful ThinkSafe Small Business Assistance Program
which provides culturally appropriate safety and health support for remote Aboriginal
communities.

Area of Focus:

Respect



Performed ‘Welcome to Country Ceremonies’ at five
significant departmental events.



Participated in ‘Reconciliation Action Week’, including a
presentation for departmental employees on the subject of
reconciliation by Professor Simon Forrest, Director of the
Centre for Aboriginal Studies at Curtin University.



Undertook successful civil and criminal prosecution against a
trader offering unregulated credit to Aboriginal consumers in
Laverton. Over $100,000 was recovered, which will be
distributed to affected consumers in early 2011-12.

Area of Focus:

Opportunities



Appointed a Compliance Officer from the Building Commission Division to the Kimberley
region with a substantial focus on Aboriginal communities.



Introduced a process for placing advertised positions on the Indigenous Jobs Australia
internet site and continued education on reconciliation and substantive equality for all
new employees through the department’s induction program.



Supported Indigenous employees through participation of an Indigenous Community
Education Officer in the Australian Indigenous Leadership Centre’s Leadership Plus
program.

Substantive equality
In accordance with the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 and the Public Sector Commissioner’s
Circular 2009-23: Implementation of the Policy Framework for Substantive Equality, the
department is committed to ensuring substantive equality is reflected appropriately in divisional
operations, strategies and policies. Substantive equality seeks to eliminate systemic direct and
indirect discrimination in the delivery of public sector services to ethnic and Aboriginal
communities, and to promote understanding and sensitivity to the needs of these client groups.
The department’s Substantive Equality Committee is responsible for monitoring both the
Reconciliation Action Plan and the Policy Framework for Substantive Equality to assess client
needs. The Committee has placed emphasis on enhancing service delivery to Aboriginal and
other culturally diverse client groups by the provision of specific information and education
resources to ensure equal outcomes. Substantive equality strategies for Aboriginal communities
are reported in the Disclosures and Legal Compliance (Reconciliation Action Plan) section of
this report. Progress against the policy framework continues through the review of current
policies and projects and maintaining effective communication networks with relevant Aboriginal
community organisations.
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Achievements for other Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CaLD) groups during 2010-11
included:


provision of migrant services to CaLD groups as part of the labour relations migrant
program. In 2010-11, 60 seminars were provided to 1,969 participants, informing migrant
students about State industrial laws and ‘Your rights at work’;



ongoing involvement of the Labour Relations Division in CaLD group committee meetings,
which provide a forum for consultation with the major migrant community groups;



provision of 50 labour relations seminars to 1,232 participants from the security industry
arranged through registered training organisations. The industry employs many workers
from African communities;



holding a labour relations education campaign in Mirrabooka, targeting employers from
CaLD backgrounds within the retail and restaurant industries; and



developing fact sheets on shopping rights under the Australian Consumer Law in
30 languages in conjunction with other Australian consumer agencies.

The department is also represented on a number of cross Government networks and
committees including the:


Implementation Committee on Settlement Issues for African Humanitarian Entrants (Office
of Multicultural Interests);



National Indigenous Consumer Strategy Implementation Reference Group; and



WA CaLD Across Government Network.

Enhancing public sector innovation
The State Government is committed to fostering and raising the profile of innovation in the
State. Greater innovation between public sector agencies is crucial to achieving the State's
economic development objective and the future delivery of the diverse range of outcomes for
which the public sector is responsible.
During the year, the Department of Commerce and the Department of Agriculture and Food
collaborated to establish a whole of government initiative on public sector innovation. In
August 2010, a workshop was hosted to share ways in which innovation is being, and can be
better, fostered across the sector. As a result the WA Public Sector Innovation Workshop
Report was developed and circulated to all Directors General and Chief Executive Officers in
the public service. A Senior Executive Service Promoting Innovation forum was held in
November 2010, where Chief Executive Officers considered the report's recommendations and
discussed how to better collaborate across the public sector. Other initiatives include the
establishment of the WA Public Sector Innovation Working Group.
The Working Group is co-ordinating development of an overarching Innovation Action Plan; an
innovation workshop to be held in November 2011; an Innovation Gateway (or portal);
Innovation Champions – a group of cross-agency members; and developing a series of
innovation seminars and workshops for agencies.
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Appendices

This section provides additional information on the
department’s activities including agreements, changes to
written laws, prosecutions and the functions of boards,
commissions, committees, councils
and tribunals.
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APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Agreements
The Department of Commerce recognises the benefits derived from working collaboratively with
external parties by negotiating co-agency agreements, Heads of Agreement, Memoranda of
Understanding, Instruments of Declaration and inter-governmental arrangements with a range
of organisations, within the public and private sector.

Agreements
Agreements provide a structured and formal arrangement for information sharing and are
designed to improve the flow of information between parties, where the two have a common
interest or legislative responsibility. In most cases the scope of agreements is limited to selected
areas of mutual interest, so there are limited powers of request and exchange. At all times the
information exchanged is in accordance with a legislative power, and always with regard to
other governing legislation, such as the Commonwealth Privacy Act 1988.

Co-agency agreements
Co-agency agreements in place during 2010-11:
 Australian Maritime Safety Authority
 Department of Transport, Marine Safety
 Department of Transport, (monitoring fatigue in the omnibus industry)
 Department of Transport, Office of Rail Safety

Heads of Agreement
Heads of Agreement in place during 2010-11:
 WorkCover WA

Memoranda of Understanding
Memoranda of Understanding in place during 2010-11:
 Associazione Parchi Scientifici E Tecnologici Italiani, Italy and Technology Park, Bentley
 .au Domain Administration Limited
 Australian Competition and Consumer Commission
 Australian Government agencies responsible for enforcement of occupational safety and
health legislation
 ASIC
 ASIC regarding co-operation, access to and use of information, referral of matters, and
co-operation in education activities following the transfer of regulation of consumer credit
under Western Australian credit legislation from the Western Australian Department of
Commerce, Consumer Protection Division to the ASIC, and other matters to support the
National Credit Law
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Biotechnology Institute for sanofi-agentis BioGENEius Challenge of Western Australia
Bureau of WorkSafe Supervision and Administration Zhejiang Provincial Government
City of Kalgoorlie Boulder and the Plumbers’ Licensing Board
Commonwealth of Australia and the State of Western Australia regarding the SKA
Project
Commonwealth of Australia and the State of Western Australia on radio quiet matters
relating to the Murchison Radio-astronomy Observatory and SKA Project
CSIRO and the State of Western Australia regarding the SKA and Australian SKA
Pathfinder Projects (Collaborative Agreement)
Confidentiality Undertaking with the ASIC regarding credit provider and finance broker
licensee and complaint information provided prior to the transition of credit regulation to
the Commonwealth
Confidentiality Undertaking with the Attorney-General’s Department of the Australian
Government regarding the provision of sample personal property securities (PPS) data
to facilitate the transition of the Western Australian PPS register to the Commonwealth
Consumers’ Association of WA (Inc)
Daedeok Innopolis, Korea and Technology Park Bentley, Western Australia
Department for Child Protection regarding referrals of suspected breaches of children in
employment laws; notification of potential child protection issues arising from
investigations; and joint responses to circumstances where the nature of a child’s
employment may jeopardise their wellbeing
Department of Education Services, Office of the Training Accreditation Council
Department of Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts regarding the monthly
provision of complaint information around the Home Insulation Program
Department of Fisheries regarding the exchange of information relating to investigations
Department of Immigration and Citizenship
Department of Indigenous Affairs and the Commonwealth of Australia’s Registrar of
Indigenous Corporations for the corporate governance training program: Managing in
Two Worlds
Department of Mines and Petroleum, Resources Safety Division
Department of Mines and Petroleum and Department of State Development regarding a
Graduate Program Partnership Agreement
Department of State Development on local content
Department of Transport regarding the Department of Commerce’s access to the
Transport Executive and Licensing Information System and vice versa the Department of
Transport’s access to CALS
Department of Regional Development and Lands for Community Emergency Mobile
Communications Project
Economic Regulation Authority
Energy Ombudsman
Hangzhou National Hi-Tech Industry Development Zone and Technology Park Bentley
of Western Australia
Health and Disability Services Complaint Office
Healthways and the Department of Commerce regarding the exchange of information on
incorporated associations
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National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme
National Offshore Petroleum Safety Authority
Office of Energy
State Administration of Work Safety, People’s Republic of China
State Library for National Partnership for Remote Indigenous Public Internet Access
Water Corporation and the Plumbers’ Licensing Board
Western Australian Agriculture Authority regarding Western Australia’s ‘Buy West,
Eat Best’ food marketing program
Western Australia Police regarding the application of Occupational Safety and Health
Act 1984 to police officers
Western Australia Police and Building Industry and Special Projects Inspectorate

Instruments of Declaration
Construction work at mine sites falls under the jurisdiction of the Mines Safety and Inspection
Act 1994 (the MSI Act) and the Mining Act 1978. Section 4(3) of the Occupational Safety and
Health Act 1984 (the OSH Act), provides that the Minister administering the OSH Act and the
Minister administering the MSI Act and Mining Act 1978 may declare, in an 'instrument of
declaration', that the OSH Act or provisions of it apply to, or in relation to, a workplace normally
falling under the jurisdiction of the MSI Act or the Mining Act 1978.
Instruments of Declarations in place during 2010-11:
 BHP Billiton railway
 BHP Transport Marine Slipway on Special Lease 3116/3690, Burgess Point, BHP Iron
Ore Nelson Point
 Boodarie Power Station, Port Hedland
 Brockman 4 (This Instrument was revoked during 2010-11)
 Duketon Gold Project mine site
 Griffin Coal Company Pty Limited - Premier Mine
 Hope Downs 4 project
 Jimblebar Mines Construction Project
 Karara Mining Project
 Marandoo Mines Phase 2 project
 Newman Power Station
 Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd railway
 Pilbara Iron Pty Ltd railway
 Sino Iron mine site
 Spinifex Ridge Molybdenum (Moly Mines Australia Pty Ltd) mine site
 Wesfarmers Coal Limited - Premier Mine
 Yandi mine site
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Inter-governmental arrangements
Inter-governmental agreements articulate the commitment of jurisdictions to implement
decisions.
Agreement in place during 2010-11:
 Inter-governmental agreement for the operation of the Australian Building Codes Board
Inter-governmental arrangements for service delivery clearly articulate accountability and
funding for the delivery of services by the department to a government authority.
Arrangements in place during 2010-11:
 Commonwealth of Australia and State of Western Australia regarding the delivery of
services to the Christmas Island and Cocos (Keeling) Islands
 Federal Fair Work Ombudsman to deliver education services to private sector employers
and employees on transitional arrangements for Federal Modern Awards
 Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board regarding the delivery of regulatory
services to the Board
 Settlement Agents Supervisory Board regarding the delivery of regulatory services to the
Board.
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Appendix 2: Changes to written laws
Changes in written law initiated by the department during 2010-11 are outlined according to the
responsible division in Table 34 to 37.

Consumer Protection
Consumer Protection Division
Table 34: Amendments to written laws for the Consumer Protection Division in 2010-11
Written law / Title

Gazette number

Gazettal or
effective date

Acts Amendment (Fair Trading) Act 2010 (1)

246 of 2010

1 January 2011

Associations Incorporation Amendments – (Transfer of
Incorporation) Act 2010

27 of 2011

26 February 2011

Associations Incorporation Amendment Regulations 2011

27 of 2011

26 February 2011

Bills of Sale (Fees) Amendment Regulations 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Consumer Protection Notice 21 Of 2011 - Child Restraint
Systems For Use In Motor Vehicles

85 of 2011

24 May 2011

Cooperatives Act 2009

157 of 2010

1 September 2010

Cooperatives Regulations 2010

155 of 2010

1 September 2010

Credit (Commonwealth Powers) Act 2010

131 of 2010

1 July 2010
(proclaimed)

Credit (Commonwealth Powers) (Transitional and
Consequential provisions) Act 2010

130 of 2010

1 July 2010
(Proclaimed)

Debt Collectors Licensing Amendment Regulations 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Employment Agents Amendment Regulations 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Fair Trading (Fitness Industry Code Of Practice)
Regulations 2010

233 of 2010

10 December 2010

Fair Trading Act 2010 (2)

246 of 2010

1 January 2011

Hairdressers Registration (Amendment And Expiry)
Act 2010

196 of 2010

26 October 2010
(Proclaimed)

Land Valuers Licensing Amendment Regulations

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Land Valuers Licensing (Remuneration) Notice 2010

183 of 2010

28 September 2010

Limited Partnerships (Repeal And Amendment)
Rules 2010

3 of 2011

7 January 2011

Motor Vehicles Dealers (Licensing) Amendment
Regulations 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Order Prohibiting Supply of Art, Craft and Stationery Sets

219 of 2010

23 November 2010

Order Prohibiting Supply of Imitation Cigarettes

219 of 2010

23 November 2010

(1) This Act was proclaimed with part of the Act to commence on 1 January 2011.
(2) This Act applies the Australian Consumer Law as a law of Western Australia.
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Written law / Title

Gazette number

Gazettal or
effective date

Order Prohibiting Supply of Inflatable Toys, Novelties of
Furniture

219 of 2010

23 November 2010

Order Prohibiting Supply of Miniature Motorbikes: Mini
Bikes, Pocket Bikes, Monkey Bikes

219 of 2010

23 November 2010

Order Prohibiting Supply of No Holes Tongue Stud

219 of 2010

23 November 2010

Order Prohibiting Supply of Yo-Yo Water Balls

219 of 2010

23 November 2010

Real Estate and Business Agents (General) Amendment
Regulations (No. 2) 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Revocations - Automotive Air-Conditioning Recharge Kits

210 of 2010

9 November 2010

Revocations - Chemistry Sets

210 of 2010

9 November 2010

Revocations - Children's Toy Umbrellas

210 of 2010

9 November 2010

Revocations - Children's Umbrellas: Spring Loaded

210 of 2010

9 November 2010

Revocations - Domestic Service Lifts

210 of 2010

9 November 2010

Revocations - Exercise Equipment For Home Use

210 of 2010

9 November 2010

Revocations - Mad Dog Lighters

210 of 2010

9 November 2010

Revocations - Underwater Breathing Apparatus (including
Diveman)

210 of 2010

9 November 2010

Residential Tenancies Amendment Regulations 2011

85 of 2011

24 May 2011

Retail Trading Hours Amendment Act 2010

192 of 2010

22 October 2010
(proclaimed)

Retail Trading Hours Amendment Regulations 2010

190 of 2010

15 October 2010

Retail Trading Hours Amendment Regulations 2011

59 of 2011

8 April 2011

Retail Trading Hours Amendment (Armadale Special
Trading Precinct) Act 2010

193 of 2010

1 November 2010

Retail Trading Hours Amendment (Joondalup Special
Trading Precinct) Act 2010

193 of 2010

5 September 2010

Retail Trading Hours Amendment (Midland Special
Trading Precinct) Act 2010

193 of 2010

1 November 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Bunbury) Variation Order 2010

234 of 2010

10 December 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Busselton) Variation Order 2010

222 of 2010

26 November 2010

Retail Trading Hours (City Of Albany) Variation
Order 2011

64 of 2011

15 April 2011

Retail Trading Hours (City Of Geraldton-Greenough)
Order 2010

225 of 2010

30 November 2010

Retail Trading Hours (City Of Geraldton-Greenough)
Variation Order 2011

52 of 2011

1 April 2011

Retail Trading Hours (City Of Mandurah) Variation
Order 2010

225 of 2010

30 November 2010

Retail Trading Hours (City Of Mandurah) Variation
Order 2011

67 of 2011

21 April 2011
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Written law / Title

Gazette number

Gazettal or
effective date

Retail Trading Hours (Collie) Variation Order 2010

234 of 2010

10 December 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Metropolitan Area) Variation
Order 2010

219 of 2010

23 November 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Motor Vehicle Shops) Variation
Order 2011

10 of 2011

25 January 2011

Retail Trading Hours (Regional) Variation Order 2010

222 of 2010

26 November 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Rockingham Holiday Resort)
Order 2010

192 of 2010

22 October 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Shire Of Collie) Variation
Order 2011

64 of 2011

15 April 2011

Retail Trading Hours (Shire Of Katanning) Order 2010

219 of 2010

23 November 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Shire Of Katanning) Variation
Order 2011

64 of 2011

5 April 2011

Retail Trading Hours (Shire Of Manjimup) Order 2010

229 of 2010

3 December 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Shire Of Manjimup) Variation
Order 2011

66 of 2011

9 April 2011

Retail Trading Hours (Shire Of Northam) Variation
Order 2011

52 of 2011

1 April 2011

Retail Trading Hours (Shire Of Plantagenet) Variation
Order 2010

167 of 2010

31 August 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Special Trading Precincts)
Order 2010

144 of 2010

30 July 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Special Trading Precincts)
Order (No. 2) 2010

192 of 2010

22 October 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Special Trading Precincts) Variation
Order 2010

219 of 2010

23 November 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Special Trading Precincts and
Holiday Resorts) Regulations 2010

145 of 2010

30 July 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Special Trading Precincts and
Holiday Resorts) Regulations (No. 2) 2010

193 of 2010

22 October 2010

Retail Trading Hours (Wanneroo Holiday Resort)
Order 2010

192 of 2010

22 October 2010

Settlement Agents Amendment Regulations 2010

112 or 2010

1 July 2010

Trade Measurement Legislation (Amendment and Expiry)
Act 2010

N/A

8 December 2010
(Royal Assent)

Travel Agents Amendment Regulations 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010
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Building Commission Division
Table 35: Amendments to written laws for the Building Commission Division in 2010-11
Written law / Title

Gazette number

Gazettal or
effective date

Builders’ Registration Amendment Regulations 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Builders’ Registration Amendment Regulations
(No. 2) 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Builders’ Registration Amendment Regulations 2011

102 of 2011

22 June 2011

Builders’ Registration Amendment Regulations
(No. 2) 2011

102 of 2011

22 June 2011

Building Services Levy Act 2011

17 of 2011

25 May 2011
(Royal Assent)

Building Services (Complaint Resolution and
Administration) Act 2011

16 of 2011

25 May 2011
(Royal Assent)

Building Services (Registration) Act 2011

19 of 2011

22 June 2011
(Royal Assent)

Painters’ Registration Board Amendment Regulations
(No. 2) 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Painters’ Registration Board Amendment Rules 2010

141 of 2010

23 July 2010

Painters’ Registration Board Amendment Rules
(No. 2) 2010

141 of 2010

23 July 2010

Painters’ Registration Board Amendment Rules 2011

102 of 2011

22 June 2011

Water Services Licensing (Plumbers Licensing and
Plumbing Standards) Amendment Regulations 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Safety and Employment Protection
EnergySafety Division
Table 36: Amendments to written laws for the EnergySafety Division in 2010-11
Written law / Title

Gazette number

Gazettal or
effective date

Electricity Amendment Regulations 2010

250 of 2010

31 December 2010

Electricity Amendment Regulations (No. 3) 2010

76 of 2011

10 May 2011

Electricity (Licensing) Amendment Regulations 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Electricity (Licensing) Amendment Regulations 2011

76 of 2011

10 May 2011

Electricity (Licensing) Amendment Regulations
(No. 2) 2011

82 of 2011

17 May 2011

Electricity (Licensing) Amendment Regulations
(No. 3) 2011

102 of 2011

22 June 2011

Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas
Installations) Amendment Regulations 2010

222 of 2010

26 November 2010
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Written law / Title

Gazette number

Gazettal or
effective date

Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas
Installations) Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas
Installations) Amendment Regulations (No. 3) 2010

8 of 2011

18 January 2011

Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas
Installations) Amendment Regulations 2011

102 of 2011

22 June 2011

Gas Standards (Gas Supply and System Safety)
Amendment Regulations 2010

190 of 2010

15 October 2010

Gas Standards (Gas Supply and System Safety)
Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2010

250 of 2010

31 December 2010

Labour Relations Division
There were no changes to written laws in 2010-11 for the Labour Relations Division.

WorkSafe Division
Table 37: Amendments to written laws for the WorkSafe Division in 2010-11
Written law / Title

Gazette number

Gazettal or
effective date

Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations
(No. 2) 2010

134 of 2010

9 July 2010

Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations
(No. 3) 2010

112 of 2010

1 July 2010

Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations
(No. 4) 2010

202 of 2010

2 November 2010

Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations
(No. 5) 2010

174 of 2010

14 September 2010

Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations
(No. 6) 2010

234 of 2010

10 December 2010

Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations
(No. 7) 2010

3 of 2011

7 January 2011

Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations
(No. 3) 2011

102 of 2011

22 June 2011

Industry, Science and Innovation
Industry, Science and Innovation Division
There were no changes to written laws in 2010-11 for the Industry, Science and Innovation
Division.
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Appendix 3: Prosecutions
Consumer Protection
Consumer Protection Division
Table 38 – 43 provides details of action undertaken in 2010-11 by the Consumer Protection
Division. For the purposes of Table 38 - 43, the Commissioner is the Commissioner for
Consumer Protection.

Civil applications – Court of Appeal
Table 38: Court of Appeal proceedings for the Consumer Protection Division in 2010-11
Name/ defendant/ parties
Bluesky Healthcare Pty Ltd,
George Michael Papos, Damien
Ryan v Commissioner

Nature
Appeal against Supreme Court
single judge decision reversing
Magistrate’s acquittal and
convicting respondents on a
prosecution under the Door to
Door Trading Act 1987.

Outcome
Appeal allowed, costs pending
(in previous year).
Costs agreed at $27,000
(comprising costs of the trial
and subsequent appeals).

Civil applications – Supreme Court
Table 39: Supreme Court proceedings for the Consumer Protection Division in 2010-11
Name/ defendant/ parties

Nature

Commissioner v Alwyn Robert
Healy

Application to commit for
contempt; breaches of
undertaking.

Alwyn Robert Healy v
Commissioner

Appeal against conviction for two
offences under the Fair Trading
Act 1987.
Application for declarations and
injunctions under the Fair Trading
Act 1987 for false and misleading
conduct.
Application for permanent
injunctions under the Fair Trading
Act 1987, to restrain respondents
from:
-Carrying on business under an
unregistered business name in
contravention of the Business
Names Act 1962; and
-Making misleading
representations in respect of
employment in contravention of
the Fair Trading Act 1987.

Commissioner v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Commissioner v Bon Levi, Colin
Burton, and Leigh Currie
(trading as ‘Bikini Girls
Massage’)
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Outcome
Convicted of six counts of
contempt. Sentenced to 20
days imprisonment suspended
for 12 months.
Indemnity costs awarded. Costs
to be taxed.
Appeal dismissed. Appellant to
pay costs of $6,717.
Matter pending.

Respondents permanently
restrained from making
misleading representations in
respect of employment and
carrying on business under an
unregistered business name.
Respondents ordered to
remove ‘Bikini Girls Massage’
signage at Applecross, and to
take down website.

Name/ defendant/ parties

Nature

Commissioner v Fay Armstrong

Application for injunction under
the Fair Trading Act 2010,
alleging contraventions of the Fair
Trading Act 1987 and the
Australian Consumer Law (WA).
Application for injunction under
the Fair Trading Act 1987 for
respondents to retransfer real
property to the Fremantle RSL
Club Wyola, or damages in the
alternative to Fremantle RSL Club
Wyola.
Application for permanent
injunctions under the Fair Trading
Act 1987, alleging contraventions
of the Credit (Administration)
Act 1984 and alleged
unconscionable conduct
contravening the Fair Trading
Act 1987.
Application under the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), to
wind-up the association pursuant
to the Associations Incorporation
Act 1987.
Appeal against conviction in
Magistrates court.
Appeal against conviction for
making false or misleading
representations under the Fair
Trading Act 1987.

Commissioner v Philip Edwyn
Douglas and Linda Jane Lyons

Commissioner v Salvatore
Tomarchio

In the Matter of Beagle Bay
Community Incorporated (an
Application by the
Commissioner)
Best Flights Pty Ltd v
Commissioner
Norman Phillip Carey v
Commissioner

Outcome
Respondent entered into
enforceable undertaking.
Proceedings discontinued.
Matter pending.

By consent, defendant to pay
the Commissioner $149,642 to
be held in trust for redistribution
to the Indigenous community;
Defendant permanently
restrained from carrying on a
business of providing credit
without a licence.
Order that Beagle Bay
Community Incorporated be
wound up; Liquidator
appointed.
Appeal discontinued by
appellant.
Matter pending.

Civil applications – District Court
Table 40: District Court proceedings for the Consumer Protection Division in 2010-11
Name/ defendant/ parties

Nature

Outcome

Fair Trading Act 1987
Alwyn Robert Healy v
Commissioner

Appeal against civil judgements.

Appeal dismissed.

Civil applications – Magistrates Court
Table 41: Magistrates Court proceedings for the Consumer Protection Division in 2010-11
Name/ defendant/ parties

Nature

Outcome

Consumer Affairs Act 1971
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy

Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,213.
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Name/ defendant/ parties
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
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Nature

Outcome

Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$1,706.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$4,237.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$1,661.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$4,424.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,098.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,213.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$3,017.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,866.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$1,309.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,052.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,716.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$1,208.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$3,570.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,258.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,917.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$1,766.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$3,620.

Name/ defendant/ parties
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Alwyn Robert
Healy

Nature

Outcome

Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,314.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$1,706.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,816.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$3,218.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$5,278.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$1,125.
Costs $166.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$1,706.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,967.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$4,464.
Representative Plaintiff action under By consent, damages
section 18 for breach of contract.
$2,349.

Consumer Affairs Act 1971 and Residential Tenancies Act 1987
Ramesh Thakur & Neena Thakur v
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner)
Ramesh Thakur & Neena Thakur v
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner)
Ramesh Thakur & Neena Thakur v
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner)
Ramesh Thakur & Neena Thakur v
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner)

Representative defensive action on
behalf of tenants under section 9 of
the Residential Tenancies Act 1987
and section 18 of the Consumer
Affairs Act 1971.
Representative defensive action on
behalf of tenants under section 9 of
the Residential Tenancies Act 1987
and section 18 of the Consumer
Affairs Act 1971.
Representative defensive action on
behalf of tenants under section 9 of
the Residential Tenancies Act 1987
and section 18 of the Consumer
Affairs Act 1971.
Representative defensive action on
behalf of tenants under section 9 of
the Residential Tenancies Act 1987
and section 18 of the Consumer
Affairs Act 1971.

Proceedings discontinued
by claimants.

Proceedings discontinued
by claimants.

Proceedings discontinued
by claimants.

Proceedings discontinued
by claimants.
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Name/ defendant/ parties

Nature

Outcome

Ramesh Thakur & Neena Thakur v
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner)

Representative defensive action on
behalf of tenants under section 9 of
the Residential Tenancies Act 1987
and section 18 of the Consumer
Affairs Act 1971.
Representative defensive action on
behalf of tenants under section 9 of
the Residential Tenancies Act 1987
and section 18 of the Consumer
Affairs Act 1971.
Representative defensive action on
behalf of tenants under section 9 of
the Residential Tenancies Act 1987
and section 18 of the Consumer
Affairs Act 1971.

Proceedings discontinued
by claimants.

Representative defensive action
under section 58 for breach of
contract.

Settled.

Representative defensive action on
behalf of tenants under section 9 of
the Residential Tenancies Act
1987.
Representative plaintiff action on
behalf of tenants under section 9 of
the Residential Tenancies Act 1987
for damages to personal property.

Settled.

Ramesh Thakur & Neena Thakur v
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner)
Ramesh Thakur & Neena Thakur v
Name withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner)

Fair Trading Act 2010
Rohanna Pty Ltd v Barry Chirgwin

Proceedings discontinued
by claimants.

Proceedings discontinued
by claimants.

Residential Tenancies Act 1987
Valerie Sharman v Names withheld
(as represented by the
Commissioner)
Names withheld (as represented by
the Commissioner) v Valerie
Sharman

Settled.

Civil applications – State Administrative Tribunal
Table 42: State Administrative Tribunal outcomes for the Consumer Protection Division in
2010-11
Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Nature

Outcome

Costs

Fair Trading Act 1987 and Retirement Villages Code
Commissioner v
Moss Glades Pty
Ltd, Eion Samuel
Martin, and
Leonard Whyman

Sections 44, 45
and 46
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Application under for
orders requiring
observance of the
Retirement Villages Code
(the Code), prohibiting
the Directors from
conniving in a breach of
the Code by the
company, orders for
rectification of drainage
problems, and for leave
to prosecute for multiple
contraventions of the
Code.

Application
$18,703
granted; ordered
to observe
Code; ordered to
rectify certain
structural
defects; ordered
to introduce
dispute
resolution
procedure.

Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Nature

Outcome

Costs

Disciplinary proceedings.

Matter pending.

Disciplinary proceedings.

Matter pending.

Disciplinary proceedings.

Fine $1,000

$1,000

Application under section
56(1)(b) for specific
performance of a service
contract. Commissioner
intervened on a
jurisdictional point.

Jurisdictional
point prevailed
and
Commissioner
withdrew as
intervener.

Nil

Finance Brokers Control Act 1975
Commissioner v
Catherine Anne
Thompson
Commissioner v
Mark Booty
Commissioner v
Richard Lowenhoff

Sections
82(2)(c)(iii) and
82
Sections 82(b)
and 83
Section 83

Retirement Villages Act 1992
Hewitt & Anor, v
Dalesun Holdings
Pty Ltd

Section 56(1)(b)

Prosecutions – Magistrates Court
Table 43: Prosecution outcomes (including appeals against prosecution) for the Consumer
Protection Division in 2010-11
Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Nature

Fine

Costs

Business Names Act 1962
Commissioner v
Bon Levi

Section 5

Commissioner v
Bon Levi

Section 5A

Commissioner v
Bon Levi
Commissioner v
Colin Burton

Section 17
Section 5

Fourteen counts of carrying
on business under an
unregistered business name.
Fourteen counts of carrying
on business without leave of
the District Court.
Providing a false statement.

$1,400

$5,000 ( 1)

$700

(1)

$400

(1)

Carrying on business under
an unregistered business
name.

$100

Two counts of failing to give
information when required
under the Act.

$400

Carrying on a business of
providing credit while
unlicensed.

Matter pending.

Consumer Affairs Act 1971
Commissioner v
Megan Emma
Healy

Section
21(1)(a)

$253

Credit (Administration) Act 1984
Stefan Richard
Reksmiss v
Salvatore
Tomarchio

Section 6(1)

(1) Denotes a “global” order for the counts described.
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Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Nature

Fine

Costs

Door to Door Trading Act 1987
Commissioner v
Westbay
Corporation Pty Ltd

Sections
7(1)(f);
7(1)(g)(i);
7(1)(g)(ii) and
8(1)

Commissioner v
Julian Kaplan

Sections
7(1)(f);
7(1)(g)(i);
7(1)(g)(ii);
8(1) and
20(2)

Failing to give prescribed
cooling off period; failing to
give prescribed notice about
rights to rescind; failing to
give prescribed form for
rescinding the contract; and
accepting money within the
cooling off period.
Failing to give prescribed
statement about cooling off
period; failing to give
prescribed notice about rights
to rescind; failing to give
prescribed form for
rescinding; and accepting
money within the cooling off
period.

$4,000

$220

$1,000

$220

Carrying on business under a
name other than specified in
the licence; carrying on
business at a place other
than specified in the licence;
failing to have records open
for inspection and failing to
produce licence/authority
when required.
Carrying on business as an
employment agent without a
licence.

$800

$253

Two counts of misleading
representation concerning the
price of services.
Sixteen counts of misleading
conduct in relation to
employment.
Eleven counts of misleading
conduct in respect of
employment.
Six counts of making false or
misleading representations
concerning land.

$6,000

$7,667

$9,600

Nil

$6,000

Nil

Employment Agents Act 1976
Commissioner v
Rogelio Molina

Sections
12(4)(a);
12(4)(b);
46(1) and
47(1)(e)

Commissioner v
Work Ready
Australia Pty Ltd

Section 12(1)

$100 against a
$253
person (name
withheld).
$500 against
Work Ready
Australia Pty Ltd.

Fair Trading Act 1987
Commissioner v
Best Flights Pty Ltd

Section
12(1)(g)

Commissioner v
Bon Levi

Section 14

Commissioner v
Colin Burton

Section 14

Commissioner v
Westpoint Realty
Pty Ltd

Section
12(2)(b)
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Convicted on
five counts, one
count
withdrawn.
Sentencing
pending.

Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Nature

Commissioner v
Lanepoint
Enterprises Pty Ltd
Commissioner v
Norm Phillip Carey

Section
12(2)(b)
Sections
12(2)(b) and
81(1)

Six counts of making false or
misleading representations
concerning land.
Six counts of making false or
misleading representations
concerning land.

Commissioner v
Sean Colville Niven

Sections
12(2)(b) and
81(1)

Six counts of making false or
misleading representations
concerning land.

Commissioner v
Graeme John
Rundle

Sections
12(2)(b) and
81(1)

Six counts of making false or
misleading representations
concerning land.

Commissioner v
(Name withheld)

Section
12(2)(b)

Commissioner v
(Name withheld)

Section
12(2)(b)

Commissioner v
Thomas Haynes

Section
12(2)(b)

Commissioner v
Jisoo Holdings Pty
Ltd
Commissioner v
Sami Zaher

Section
12(1)(l)

Four counts of making false
or misleading representations
concerning land (as agent of
Westpoint Realty Pty Ltd).
One count of making false or
misleading representation
concerning land (as agent of
Westpoint Realty Pty Ltd).
One count of making false or
misleading representation
concerning land (as agent of
Westpoint Realty Pty Ltd).
Two counts of false or
misleading representations.

Sections
12(1)(l) and
81(1)

Fine

Costs

All counts
withdrawn.

Nil

Convicted on
five counts, one
count
withdrawn.
Appeal of
convictions
pending.
Acquitted on
five counts.
One count
withdrawn.
Acquitted on
five counts, one
count
withdrawn.
$2,000
Spent
conviction.

Nil

Nil

Nil

$750
Spent
conviction.

Nil

$1,000

$1,180

$1,000

$532

Two counts of false or
misleading representations.

$1,000

Nil

Failing to lodge security bond.

$2,000

$344

Residential Tenancies Act 1987
Commissioner v
Siobhan Erin
McLaughlin

Section
29(4)(b)

Motor Vehicle Industry Board
The prosecutions relating to the Motor Vehicle Industry Board are published in Addendum D:
Motor Vehicle Industry Board – Final Report for the year ending 30 June 2011.
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Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board
The prosecutions relating to the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board are
published in Addendum A: Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board – Final Report
for the year ending 30 June 2011.

Settlement Agents Supervisory Board
The prosecutions relating to the Settlement Agents Supervisory Board are published in
Addendum B: Settlement Agents Supervisory Board – Final Report for the year ending
30 June 2011.

Building Commission Division
Table 44 provides the prosecution action finalised in 2010-11 on behalf of the Plumbers’
Licensing Board (the Board) by the Consumer Protection Division and the State Solicitor’s
Office.

Civil applications – State Administrative Tribunal
Table 44: State Administrative Tribunal outcomes for the Consumer Protection Division in
2010-11
Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Nature

Outcome

Costs

Water Services Licensing (Plumbers’ Licensing and Plumbing Standards) Regulations 2000
Raoul Agapis v
Plumbers’
Licensing Board

Regulation
100(2)

Review of decision to
refuse plumbing
contractor’s licence.

Matter pending.

Prosecutions – Magistrates Court
Table 45: Prosecution outcomes for the Plumbers’ Licensing Board in the Magistrates’ Court in
2010-11
Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

Fine

Costs

Water Services Licensing (Plumbers’ Licensing and Plumbing Standards) Regulations 2000
Plumbers’ Licensing Regulation 72(1)
Board v Andrew
Gerrard Power

Seven counts of failing to
comply with a rectification
notice.

Plumbers’ Licensing Regulation 9(1)
Board v Craig
Clifford Lincoln

Unlicensed plumbing
work.

Plumbers’ Licensing Regulation 9(1)
Board v John
Bristow

Unlicensed plumbing
work.
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Convicted.
Sentencing
pending.
$700

$1,500

-

$385
(and $352
compensation
order to
consumer)
$346

Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

Plumbers’ Licensing Regulations 41
Board v Matthew
and 46
Michael Brown

Plumbers’ Licensing Regulation 72(4)
Board v Michael
Christopher Treble
Plumbers’ Licensing Regulation 9(1)
Board v Robert
Hanssen
Plumbers’ Licensing Regulation 9(1)
Board v Stewart
Morrison

Fine

Costs

Failing to lodge a notice
of intention to carry out
major plumbing work by
no later than 24 hours
before commencing that
work and knowingly
giving false or misleading
information on a notice.
Two counts of requesting
payment for work done
pursuant to a rectification
notice.
Unlicensed plumbing
work.

$500
(Regulation
41 offence)
$1,500
(Regulation
46 offence)

$352

$1,000

$346

$800

$346.50

Unlicensed plumbing
work.

$300

$253

Safety and Employment Protection
EnergySafety Division
Table 46: Prosecution outcomes for the EnergySafety Division in 2010-11
Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

Fine

Costs

Electricity Act 1945
Electricity
Networks
Corporation t/as
Western Power
(Perth)
Electricity
Networks
Corporation t/as
Western Power
(Perth)

Regulation
25(1)(A)

Failed to ensure all service
apparatus was in a safe and
fit condition for supplying
electricity.

$30,000.00

$649.70

Regulation
25(1)(A)

Failed to ensure all service
apparatus was in a safe and
fit condition for supplying
electricity.

$25,000.00

$649.70

$2,000.00

$649.70

Electricity (Licensing) Regulations 1991
Jonathon Beal
(Riverton)

Regulation 50(A)
Regulation 62

Caused or permitted unsafe
wiring to be connected to the
electricity supply.
Failed to report an unsafe
installation which he had
caused.
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Name/ defendant/
parties
Herbert Clifford
(Somerville)

Cockburn
Electrical
Company
(Bibra Lake)

Legislation

Offence

Regulation 52(3)
(2 breaches)

Submitted Notices of
Completion to the network
operator for electrical
installing work that was
defective and therefore not
complete.
Carried out substandard
electrical work.
Employed and authorised a
person to carry out electrical
installing work while they
were not authorised by an
electrical licence or permit.
Submitted a Notice of
Completion to the network
operator for electrical
installing work that was
defective and therefore not
complete.
Failed to carry out adequate
checking and testing on
completion of electrical work,
which resulted in the MEN
(Multiple Earthed Neutral)
connection not being fitted at
the house sub-board. This
rendered the installation
unsafe and dangerous.
Failed to immediately report
an electric shock to the
relevant network operator.

$11,574.00

$74.70

$3,600.00

$575.00

$7,000.00

$879.70

$4,000.00

$649.70

Carried out, or caused or
permitted to be carried out,
electrical work contrary to
Wiring Rules, WA Electrical
Requirements or specific
standards.
Submitted a Notice of
Completion to the network
operator for the electrical
installing work when the work
was defective and therefore
not complete.
Carried out electrical
installing work without being
authorised by a licence or
permit.
Held himself out as carrying
on business as an electrical
contractor without being
authorised by an electrical
contractor’s licence.

$4,000.00

$119.20

$5,000.00

$649.70

$1,500.00

$676.70

Regulation 49(1)
(3 breaches)
Regulation 53(2)
(3 breaches)

Dunnings
Electrical Service
(Byford)

Regulation 52(3)

David Dunnings
(Byford)

Regulation 49(1)

Beresford
Electrical
Services
(Webberton)
David Dilley
(Broomehill)

Regulation 63

Eircom Electrical
& Data
(Hannans)

Regulation 52(3)

Richard Fowler
(Boulder)

Regulation 19(1)

Regulation 49(1)
(2 breaches)

Regulation 33(1)
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Fine

Costs

Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

Antonio
Genovese
(Boulder)
Nathan
Haagensen
(Geraldton)
Ivco Electrics
Pty Ltd
(Marangaroo)

Regulation 50(1)

Failed to ensure the effective
supervision of an apprentice.

$1,500.00

$2,500.00

Regulation 50(1)

Failed to provide adequate
supervision of an apprentice.

$4,000.00

$649.70

Regulation 52(3)

$2,000.00

$300.00

Ringo Lim &
Ringo Electrical
Services
(Thornlie)

Regulation 49(1)

Submitted a Notice of
Completion for electrical
installing work that was
defective and therefore not
complete.
Failed to connect a MEN
connection at the main
switchboard and failed to
adequately test the
installation after the electrical
work had been completed.
Submitted a Notice of
Completion to the network
operator for electrical
installing work that was
defective and therefore not
complete.
Failed to adequately check
and test an electrical
installation that would have
identified a ‘Live’
unterminated cable protruding
from the garage wall.
Submitted a Notice of
Completion to the network
operator for the electrical
installing work that was
defective and therefore not
complete.
Failed to provide adequate
supervision for a second year
apprentice, which resulted in
the apprentice receiving an
electric shock.
Failed to earth the new metal
“Din Kit” in the main
switchboard, which rendered
the installation unsafe and
dangerous.
Carrying on a business as an
electrical contractor without
an electrical contractor’s
licence.

$8,000.00

$649.70

$2,000.00

$2,000.00

$500.00

$1,500.00

$5000.00

$649.70

$500.00

$649.70

Regulation 52(3)

Paul Maindok
(Kalbarri)

Regulation 49(1)

Regulation 52(3)

Gordon Martin
(Girrawheen)

Regulation 50(1)

Steven McMullen
(Hillarys)

Regulation 49(1)

Ryszard
Olszewski
(Sorrento)

Regulation 33(1)

Fine

Costs
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Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

Gilders Electrical
(Bayswater)

Regulation 52(3)

Shane Willis
Electrical
(Broome)

Regulation 52(1)
(2 breaches)

Submitted a Notice of
Completion to the Network
Operator for the electrical
installing work that was
defective and therefore not
complete.
Failed to submit a Notice of
Completion to the relevant
Network Operator within the
required timeframe.
Failed to submit a Preliminary
Notice to the relevant
Network Operator within the
required time frame.
Failed to earth the metallic
main switchboard enclosure,
which rendered the
installation unsafe and
dangerous.
Carried out electrical work
whilst not authorised by
licence or permit.

Regulation 51(1)
(2 breaches)
Ivan Tanevski
(Marangaroo)

Regulation 49(1)

David Winton
Turner
(Wanneroo)

Regulation 19(1)

Fine

Costs

$2,000.00

$649.70

$4,000.00

$649.70

$4,000.00

$649.70

$3,000.00

$649.70

Failed to ensure that the
repair and operation of their
network (prescribed activity)
was carried out in such a way
to provide for the safety of
persons, including employees
of and contractors.

$8,000.00

$649.70

Carried out gasfitting work
while not holding a certificate
of competency, permit or
authorisation allowing him to
do so.
Carried out gasfitting work
while not holding a certificate
of competency, permit or
authorisation allowing him to
do so.

$7,000.00

$649.70

$5,000.00

$3,071.00

Carried out gasfitting work
while not holding a certificate
of competency, permit or
authorisation allowing him to
do so.

$5,000.00

$649.70

Electricity (Supply Standards and System Safety) Regulations 2001
Electricity
Networks
Corporation t/as
Western Power
(Perth)

Regulation 10(1)

Gas Standards Act 1972
Jesse Gregory
(Gidgegannup)

Section 13A(2)

Phillip Jamieson
(Kingsley)

Section 13A(2)

Daniel James
Williams
(Eaton)

Section 13A(2)
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Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

Fine

Costs

Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas Installations) Regulations 1999
Aaron Pascoe
(Canning Vale)

Regulations 18;
32; and 30

Failing to ensure that the
installation complied with the
requirements of Australian
Standard – Gas Installations
AS 5601 2004.
Failed to ensure the gasfitting
work was rectified within seven
days and failing to provide a
Notice of Rectification within
the required time.

$5,040.00

$649.70

EnergySafety Division investigations
Electricity-related serious accidents and fatalities
The number of electricity-related serious accidents and fatalities reported to the EnergySafety
Division during 2010-11 is provided in Table 47.
Table 47: Number of reported electricity-related serious accidents and fatalities
Reports

Number

Electric shocks
Serious electrical accidents

1,053
(1)

12

Fatalities (included in serious electrical accidents)

4

Note:
(1)

Electrical shock incidents resulting in the person requiring assessment and/or treatment at a medical facility.

The data provided in Table 48 relates to accidents based on date of accident. This data may not
include all accidents due to time delay in reporting such accidents.
Table 48: Serious electricity-related accidents notified per million population (not including wilful
incidents)
Year

Number per
million (1)

Five Year
Average

2006-07

9

16

2007-08

10

15

2008-09

9

13

2009-10

6

10

2010-11

5

8

Note:
(1)
Some of the numbers of serious electricity-related accidents notified per million population differ from the figures given in
previous annual reports. These corrections resulted from a comprehensive review of statistics of serious
electricity-related accidents notified.
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The electrical accident rate for the reporting period was five accidents per one million
population. This represents a significant decrease from the previous reporting periods. There
has also been a significant increase in the number of fatalities. The number of serious electrical
accidents includes four fatalities in which electricity was found to be the cause. Details are as
follows:


A 22 year old male received a fatal shock when a damaged power cord on an outlet board
energised the wet floor of a caravan. The caravan was not earthed and all conductive
surfaces became live.



An 18 year old female was walking home from a party and walked into a fallen public lighting
switchwire. The conductor was live and the resulting injuries were fatal.



A 78 year old male had installed a bare copper wire 100mm from the ground around the
edge of a patio and yard at the rear of the house in order to stop his dogs from playing and
digging up the grass. The copper wire was connected to the mains power via a number of
extension leads. The incident occurred when one of the dogs touched the wire and was
electrocuted. While investigating the victim fell and came into contact with the fallen wire
sustaining fatal injuries.



A 46 year old male received a fatal shock while conducting repair work on a plaster ceiling.
The victim came into contact with an exposed live conductor, a bare earthing conductor and
an earthed copper water pipe.

Gas-related incidents and fatalities
The number of gas-related serious accidents and fatalities reported to the EnergySafety
Division during 2010-11 is provided in Table 49.
Table 49: Number of reported gas-related serious accidents and fatalities
Reports

Number

Incidents

52

Accidents (persons injured)

13

Fatalities

0

Table 50: Gas-related accidents notified per million population (not including wilful incidents)
Year

Number per
million (1)

Five Year
Average

2006-07

9

9

2007-08

7

8

2008-09

5

8

2009-10

7

7

2010-11

6

7

Note:
(1)

Some of the numbers of gas-related accidents notified per million population differ from the figures given in previous annual
reports. These corrections resulted from a comprehensive review of statistics of gas-related accidents notified.

The gas accident rate for the reporting period was six accidents per one million population, a
decrease over the previous reporting period. There were no fatalities reported for gas during the
year which is a decrease from last year.
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Infringement Notices
The EnergySafety Division has continued to issue Infringement Notices as a system to provide
an efficient and cost compliant regime for selected breaches. The system covers both gas and
electricity and deals with non-compliance aspects of electrical and gas installations. There were
122 gas-related and 32 electricity-related Infringement Notices issued by the EnergySafety
Division between the period 1 July 2010 and 30 June 2011.

Labour Relations Division
Table 51: Prosecution outcomes for the Labour Relations Division in 2010-11
Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

Fine

Costs

Industrial Relations Act 1979
Cliff White as trustee
for The Kreative
Family Trust trading
as Dominos Pizza
Morley and
Ellenbrook

Section 83(1)

Failure to pay Minimum
Conditions of
Employment Act 1993
entitlements.

$600.00 Fine
Order to repay
$2,033.33
underpaid
entitlements and
interest

$99.00

Lisa Tran

Section 102

Obstruction

$500.00

$446.70

Phillip Saunders as
trustee for the
Saunders Family
Trust trading as AWA
Electrical

Section 83(1)

Failure to pay State
Award entitlements.

Private settlement
at Pre-Trial
Conference

-

WorkSafe Division
The WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner (the Commissioner) enforces the Occupational
Safety and Health Act 1984 (OSH Act) and the Occupational Safety and Health
Regulations 1996 (the Regulations) by prosecuting persons who commit the offences under the
OSH Act and Regulations. The WorkSafe Division co-ordinates and supports this function.
In 2010-11, prosecution notices were signed for 66 new prosecutions. There were
32 convictions recorded during the financial year (Note: A prosecution is counted as a
conviction if at least one charge is successful). Table 52 provides details of convictions
recorded during 2010-11 for breaches of the OSH Act and Regulations. Eight prosecutions were
withdrawn at Court by the prosecution and two prosecutions were dismissed. During this
financial period, five appeals commenced before the Supreme Court with decision pending.
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Table 52: Prosecution outcomes for the WorkSafe Division in 2010-11
Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

Fine

Costs

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Beds Plus Pty Ltd
(ACN 009 179 088)

Section 19(1);
19A(2); and
23F

Blancoa Pty Ltd

Section 19(1);
19A(2); and
3A(3)(b)

Blueleaf
Corporation Pty Ltd
t/as Whittakers
Timber Products

Section 19(1);
19A(2); and
3A(3)(b)

Craig Ford

Section
20(1)(b)

Flexi Staff Pty Ltd
(ACN 009 440 288)

Section 19(1);
19A(2); and
23F

178
Department of Commerce

Where under a labour hire
arrangement work was carried
out for remuneration by a worker
for the Accused who was a client
of a labour hire agent, in the
course of the Accused's trade or
business, the Accused failed to,
so far as practicable, provide and
maintain a working environment
in which the worker was not
exposed to hazards, and by that
failure caused serious harm.
Failed, so far as was practicable,
to provide and maintain a working
environment in which its
employees were not exposed to
hazards and by that failure
caused serious harm to an
employee.
Failed so far as was practicable,
to provide and maintain a
working environment in which its
employees were not exposed to
hazards and by that failure
caused serious harm to an
employee.
Failed to take reasonable care
to avoid adversely affecting the
safety of himself and other
people, through his act of failing
to properly set up and operate a
slewing crane so that it did not
hit or come into contact with the
concrete panels or braces in the
vicinity of the crane.
Where under a labour hire
arrangement work was carried
out for remuneration by a
worker, for a client of the
Accused who was a labour hire
agent, in the course of the
clients trade or business, the
Accused failed to, so far as
practicable, provide and
maintain a working environment
in which the worker was not
exposed to hazards, and by that
failure caused serious harm.

$80,000.00

$1604.70

$30,000.00

$1,750.70

$45,000.00

$1,970.70

$2,000.00

$649.70

$40,000.00

$1,604.70

Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

G&G Mining
Fabrication Pty Ltd
(ACN 100 230 304)

Section 19(1);
19A(2); 23F;
and 3A(3)(b)

Hay Australia Pty
Ltd (ACN 008 221
645)

Section 19(1);
19A(3); and
3A(2)(b)

Hitachi Plant
Technologies, Ltd
(ACN 124 967 853)

Section 48(4);
54; and
3A(1)(b)(ii)(I)

Industrial Progress
Corporation Pty Ltd

Section 19(1);
and 19A(2)

Jenara Pty Ltd

Section 19(1);
19A(2); 23F;
and 3A(3)(b)(i)

Where under a labour hire
arrangement work was carried
out for remuneration by a worker
for the Accused who was a client
of a labour hire agent, in the
course of the Accused's trade or
business in relation to matters
over which the Accused had the
capacity to exercise control, the
Accused failed to, so far as was
practicable, provide and maintain
a working environment in which a
worker was not exposed to
hazards and by that failure
caused serious harm of worker.
Failed so far as was practicable,
to provide and maintain a
working environment in which its
employees were not exposed to
hazards.
Being a person to whom
improvement notice 22900108
was issued on 5 March 2009,
and not having applied for a
review of the improvement
notice pursuant to sections 51
and 51A of the OSH Act, did not
comply with the improvement
notice within the time specified
therein.
Failed to far as was practicable,
to provide and maintain a
working environment in which its
employees were not exposed to
hazards and by that
contravention caused serious
harm to its employee.
Where under a labour hire
arrangement work was carried
out for remuneration by a
worker, for the Accused who
was a client of a labour hire
agent, in the course of the
Accused's trade or business, in
relation to matters over which
the Accused had the capacity to
exercise control, the Accused
failed to, so far as was
practicable, provide and
maintain a working environment
in which the worker was not
exposed to hazards, and by that
failure caused the death of the
worker.

Fine

Costs

$60,000.00

$2,500.00

$10,000.00

$1,600.00

$2,000.00

$958.70

$35,000.00

$1,057.70

$50,000.00

$1,684.00
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Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Offence

Matnic Enterprises
Pty Ltd (ACN 120
816 033)

Section 19(1);
19A(2); and
3A(3)(b)(i)

Primejade Holdings
Pty Ltd (ACN 062
160 552)

Section 19(1);
19A(2); and
23D

Ria Contracting Pty
Ltd (ACN 114 728
111)

Section 19(1);
and 19A(3)

Ronald William Roy

Section
20(1)(b); and
20(A)3

Russell Andrew
Barnes

Section
20(1)(b); and
20A(3)

Softwood Logging
Services Pty Ltd
(ACN 119206003)

Section 19(1);
and 19A(2)

"The State of
Western Australia"
- Responsible
Agency
Department of
Education

Section 19(1);
19A(3);
21(2)(b)(ii);
21A(2); and
3A(3)(b)(i)

The Accused being an employer
did not so far as practicable,
provide and maintain a working
environment in which its
employees were not exposed to
hazards and by that failure
caused its employee serious
harm.
Being a principal who in the
course of trade or business
engaged a contractor to carry
out work for it, failed to provide
and maintain, so far as
practicable, a working
environment in which the
contractor was not exposed to
hazards, being matters over
which the principal had the
capacity to exercise control, and
by that failure caused serious
harm to the contractor.
Failed, so far as was
practicable, to provide and
maintain a working environment
in which its employees were not
exposed to hazards.
Failed to take reasonable care
to avoid adversely affecting the
safety of other persons, through
his act or omission at work.
Failed to take reasonable care
to avoid adversely affecting the
safety or health of any other
person through any act or
omissions at work.
Failed, so far as was
practicable, to provide and
maintain a working environment
in which its employees were not
exposed to hazards by the use
of plant, namely a mobile
chipper; contrary to section
19(2) of the OSH Act, and by
that contravention caused
serious harm to an employee.
Charge 1 (In regards to the
Teacher ) - The Accused being
an employer did not so far as
practicable, provide and maintain
a working environment in which
its employees were not exposed
to hazards.
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Fine

Costs

$15,000.00

$1,628.00

$25,000.00

$1,420.70

$25,000.00

$5,910.18

$6,000.00

$649.70

$2,000.00

$760.70

$15,000.00

$567.20

$50,000.00

$6,702.00

Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Topgold
Enterprises Pty Ltd
(ACN 082 884 964)

Section 19(1),
19A(2), 23F &
3A(3)(b)

Transpacific
Industries Pty Ltd
(ACN 010 745 383)

Section 19(1);
19A(3); and
3A(2)(b)

Offence

Fine

Charge 2 (In regards to the
injured Student 3) - The Accused
being an employer, did not so far
as was practicable, ensure that
the safety or health of a person,
not being an employee of the
Accused, was not adversely
affected wholly or in part as a
result of work that was being
undertaken by the Accused or
any employee of the Accused, or
any hazard that arose from or
was increased by the work of the
Accused or the system of work
that was being operated by the
Accused and by that
contravention caused serious
harm to a person not being its
employee.
Where under a labour hire
$50,000.00
arrangement work was carried
out for remuneration by a worker,
for a client of the Accused, in the
course of the clients trade or
business, in relation to matters
over which the Accused had the
capacity to exercise control, the
Accused failed to, so far as
practicable, provide and maintain
a working environment in which
its employee, was not exposed to
hazards, and by that failure
caused the serious harm of
employee.
Failed, so far as practicable, to
$40,000.00
provide and maintain a working
environment in which its
employees were not exposed to
hazards.

Costs

$2,500.00

$3,395.32

Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996
Boutique Building
Company Pty Ltd
(ACN 124 188 209)

Regulation
3.55(2); and
1.16

Being a person who at
workplace was the main
contractor or a person having
control of the workplace, did not
ensure that either: edge
protection that complied with
Regulation 3.55(5) of the
Occupational Safety and Health
Regulations 1996 made under
the OSH Act was provided and
kept in place whenever there
was a risk that a person could
fall three metres or more from
an edge at the workplace other

$5,000.00

$653.70
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Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Bradley Robert
Festa

Regulation
4.54(4);
4.54(12); and
1.16

Che Christopher
Barden

Regulation
3.55(1);
3.55(5); and
1.16

Coda Contracting
Pty Ltd
(ACN 103 678 039)

Regulation
3.123(1)

Diploma
Construction (WA)
Pty Ltd
(ACN 113 950 100)

Regulation
3.88J(1)(b)
and 1.16

Industrial
Galvanisers
Corporation Pty Ltd

Regulation
3.55(2)(b) and
1.16
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Offence
than an edge referred to in
Regulation 3.55(1); or a fall
injury prevention system was
provided and in operation
whenever there was a risk that a
person could fall three metres or
more from an edge at the
workplace other than an edge
referred to in Regulation 3.55(1).
Failed to ensure that a hoist at
the workplace was operated in
accordance with Regulation
4.54(4) of the Occupational
Safety and Health Regulations
1996 made under the OSH Act.
Failed to provide edge protection
compliant with Regulation 3.55(5)
of the Occupational Safety and
Health Regulations 1996
whenever there was a risk that a
person could fall two or more
metres from the edge of a fixed
stair, landing or suspended slab
at the workplace.
Being a person who was an
employer at a workplace where
demolition work other than class
1, class 2 or class 3 demolition
work was being done, failed to
ensure that the work was done in
accordance with AS 2601.
The Accused was a person, who,
at a construction site where tilt-up
work was proposed to be done,
was a person having control of
that workplace did not ensure that
each person involved in the work
had completed an approved
course for persons involved in tiltup work concerning the aspect of
the tilt-up work in which that
person was involved.
Failed to ensure that a fall injury
prevention system was provided
and was in operation whenever
there was a risk that a person
could fall three or more metres
from an edge at the workplace,
other than an edge referred to in
Regulation 3.55(1).

Fine

Costs

$2,500.00

$679.00

$1,500.00

$1,402.70

$2,500.00

$649.00

$5,000.00

$2,178.00

$17,000.00

$1,057.70

Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Liam Joel McClure

Regulation
4.54(4);
4,54(12); and
1.16

Permacast Pty Ltd
(ACN 121 513 255)

Regulation
3.88J(1)(b)
and 1.16

Transpacific
Cleanaway Pty Ltd
(ACN 000 164 938)

Regulation
4.37(1)(f) and
4.29

T.S. & D.E.
Cowcher Farms Pty
Ltd (ACN 008 935
055)

Regulation
3.134(1) and
3.131(1)(a)

Western Metal
Roofing Pty Ltd
(ACN 111 708 420)

Regulation
3.55(2) and
1.16

Offence
Failed to ensure that a hoist at
the workplace was operated in
accordance with Regulation
4.54(4) of the Occupational
Safety and Health Regulations
1996 made under the OSH Act.
Failed to ensure that each person
involved in the work had
completed an approved course
for persons involved in tilt-up
work concerning the aspect of the
tilt-up work in which the person
was involved.
Failed to ensure that every
dangerous part of a fixed
powered plant, namely the Multi
Purpose Baler, was as far as
practicable securely fenced or
guarded in accordance with
Regulation 4.29.
Charge 1- Failed to ensure that
a record conforming to the
requirements of Regulation
3.134(2) of the Occupational
Safety and Health Regulations
1996, and being in respect of
the work time, breaks from
driving, and non-work time of
each commercial vehicle driver
who is required to drive a
commercial vehicle that forms
the whole or part of the
workplace was established and
kept current.
Charge 3- Failed to ensure that
a commercial vehicle driver who
was required to drive a
commercial vehicle (without a
relief driver) that formed the
whole or part of the workplace
did so in accordance with
Regulation 3.132 of the
Occupational Safety and Health
Regulations 1996.
Being a person who at a
workplace was an employer or a
person having control of the
workplace, did not ensure that
either: edge protection that
complied with Regulation
3.55(5) of the Occupational
Safety and Health Regulations
1996 made under the OSH Act
was provided and kept in place

Fine

Costs

$2,500.00

$679.00

$2,000.00

$649.70

$10,000.00

$2,891.32

Charge 1 $3,000
Charge 3 $5,000

Parties to
bear own
costs

$5,000.00

$653.70
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Name/ defendant/
parties

Legislation

Wytona Pty Ltd

Regulation
3.131(1)(a);
3.132(2)(a);
and 1.16

Wytona Pty Ltd

Regulation
3.131(1)(a);
3.132(2)(a);
3.131(1)(b);
and 1.16

Offence
whenever there was a risk that a
person could fall three metres or
more from an edge at the
workplace other than an edge
referred to in Regulation 3.55(1);
or a fall injury prevention system
was provided and in operation
whenever there was a risk that a
person could fall three metres or
more from an edge at the
workplace other than an edge
referred to in Regulation 3.55(1).
Charge 1 - Failed to ensure that
a commercial vehicle driver who
was required to drive a
commercial vehicle, that formed
whole or part of the workplace,
(without a relief driver) drove
that vehicle in accordance with
Regulation 3.132 (2) (a) of the
Occupational Safety and Health
Regulations 1996 made under
the OSH Act.
Charge 2 - Failed to ensure that
a commercial vehicle driver who
was required to drive a
commercial vehicle, that formed
whole or part of the workplace,
(without a relief driver) drove
that vehicle in accordance with
Regulation 3.132 (2) (a) of the
Occupational Safety and Health
Regulations 1996 made under
the OSH Act.
Charge 1 - 4 – Failed to ensure
that a commercial vehicle driver
who was required to drive a
commercial vehicle, that formed
whole or part of the workplace,
(without a relief driver) drove
that vehicle in accordance with
Regulation 3.132(2)(a) of the
Occupational Safety and Health
Regulations 1996 made under
the OSH Act
Charge 5 and 6 - Failed to
ensure that a commercial
vehicle driver who was required
to drive a commercial vehicle
that formed the whole or part of
the workplace was certified by a
medical practitioner as fit to
drive the vehicle.

(1) Denotes a global fine was issued to Wytona Pty Ltd for all eight charges.
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Fine

Costs

(1)

$60,000.00

(1)

$2,500.00

$3035.54

Reviews of notices issued by WorkSafe inspectors
The WorkSafe Division co-ordinates and supports the Commissioner in reviewing notices
issued by WorkSafe inspectors under the OSH Act, and in considering applications for
exemptions under the Regulations.
WorkSafe inspectors issue improvement notices to persons who may be contravening the
OSH Act and Regulations. An improvement notice tells the recipient they may be committing an
offence, identifies the offence, and sets a time by which the contravention must be stopped.
WorkSafe inspectors can also issue prohibition notices to persons who may be involved in an
activity that involves a risk of imminent and serious harm or injury to a person. A prohibition
notice tells the recipient that they must immediately stop the activity.
A request for a review of an improvement notice can be lodged with the Commissioner before
the deadline for compliance specified in the notice. A request for a review of a prohibition notice
can be lodged with the Commissioner within seven days of the issue of the notice (or such
further time as may be allowed by the Commissioner).
Improvement notices are suspended while they are being reviewed by the Commissioner, but
prohibition notices remain in force. After considering a request for a review of a notice, the
Commissioner can affirm, modify or cancel the notice. An applicant who is not satisfied with the
decision of the Commissioner may refer the matter to the Occupational Safety and Health
Tribunal for further review (Section 51A of the OSH Act). The decision of the Tribunal may be
further appealed.
During 2010-11, 957 requests were processed for the Commissioner to review a notice in
accordance with section 51 of the OSH Act. Review outcomes are detailed in Tables 53 and 54.
Table 53: Review of improvement notices for the WorkSafe Division in 2010-11
Outcome
Affirmed
Affirmed with time extended

Number
7
787

Affirmed, modified and time extended

3

Affirmed with modification to wording

0

Notice cancelled by Commissioner
Review request withdrawn

28
1

Compliance effected on time and while under review

38

Received too late for review

80

Occupational Safety and Health Tribunal cancelled

1

Occupational Safety and Health Tribunal withdrawn by client

1

Occupational Safety and Health Tribunal dismissed

1

Total processed from 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011

947
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Table 54: Review of prohibition notices for the WorkSafe Division in 2010-11
Outcome

Number

Affirmed

6

Notice cancelled by Commissioner

4

Total processed from 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011

10

Table 55: Review of improvement notices for the WorkSafe Division 2006-07 to 2010-11
Year

Improvement
notices issued

Improvement
notices reviewed

Percentage
(%)

2006-07

10,365

1,033

10.0

2007-08

9,726

973

10.0

2008-09

9,852

917

9.3

2009-10

10,648

970

9.1

2010-11

10,419

947

9.1

Table 56: Review of prohibition notices for the WorkSafe Division 2006-07 to 2010-11
Year

Prohibition
notices issued

Prohibition
notices reviewed

Percentage
(%)

2006-07

638

4

0.6

2007-08

675

11

1.6

2008-09

722

1

0.1

2009-10

705

10

1.4

2010-11

602

10

1.6

Exemption from Regulations
The Commissioner may exempt a person from having to comply with the Regulations. The
Commissioner received 42 applications for an exemption and granted 22 exemptions. None of
these decisions of the Commissioner were appealed.
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Appendix 4: Functions of boards, commissions,
committees, councils and tribunals
Consumer Protection boards
Consumer Protection boards have a range of functions including licensing of participants in
relevant industries, investigating complaints about the conduct of industry participants and
taking disciplinary action where appropriate. Table 57 is a brief summary of the functions of
each regulatory board.
Table 57: Functions of Consumer Protection regulatory boards in 2010-11
Name

Builders’ Registration Board

Legislation

Builders’ Registration Act 1939

Principal functions Registration of builders in the Board’s area of jurisdiction.
Other

Maintain a register of registered builders; determine training and examination
requirements; carry out building information and educational activities; take
proceedings for offences against the Builders’ Registration Act 1939 and the
Home Building Contracts Act 1991.

Source of funding

Self funded (registration
fees, building licence levies,
complaint application fees)

Annual Report

Management of
funds

Yes

Investigations

Yes

Employment of
employees

Employed by the Board

Number of entities
regulated

6,570 builders (as at
30 June 2011)

Name

Hairdressers Registration Board of Western Australia

Status

This Board was abolished on 30 November 2010.

Legislation

Hairdressers Registration Act 1946; Hairdressers Registration Regulations 1965

Yes
www.builders.wa.gov.au

Principal functions Register hairdressers within the legislative jurisdiction in Western Australia.
Other

Hold examinations; make recommendation to the health authorities regarding
hygiene and sanitation standards; and take proceedings for offences against the
Hairdressers Registration Act 1946.

Source of funding

Self funded from statutory
fees

Annual Report

Yes
www.hrb.org.au

Management of
funds

Yes

Investigations

Yes

Employment of
employees

Employed by the Board

Number of entities
regulated

6,988 registered
hairdressers
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Name

Land Valuers Licensing Board

Status

This Board was abolished on 30 June 2011.

Legislation

Land Valuers Licensing Act 1978

Principal functions Licensing and regulation of land valuers.
Other

Advice to the Minister; making allegations to the State Administrative Tribunal
that there is proper cause for disciplinary action against licensed land valuers;
establishing codes of conduct; and fixing maximum fees.

Source of funding

Department of Commerce,
Consumer Protection
Division (Consolidated
Fund)

Annual Report

Management of
funds

No. Managed as part of the
divisional budget.

Investigations

Yes

Employment of
employees

The Board does not engage
employees. Employees of
the department support this
Board.

Number of entities
regulated

770 valuers

Name

Motor Vehicle Industry Board

Status

This Board was abolished on 30 June 2011.

Legislation

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act 1973; Motor Vehicle Repairers Act 2003

Yes, included as
Addendum C of this report.
www.commerce.wa.gov.au

Principal functions Licensing of motor vehicle dealers, their yard managers and salespersons; and
licensing of motor vehicle repair businesses and certification of repair
tradespersons.
Other

Advice to the Minister; making allegations to the State Administrative Tribunal
that there is proper cause for disciplinary action against licensed motor vehicle
dealers and their staff; and approving training courses for the motor vehicle sales
and repair industry.

Source of funding

Department of Commerce,
Consumer Protection
Division (Consolidated
Fund)

Annual Report

Management of
funds

No. Managed as part of the
divisional budget.

Investigations

Yes

Employment of
employees

The Board does not engage
employees. Employees of
the department support this
Board.

Number of entities
regulated

774 dealers; 2 car market
operators; 109 exemption
holders; 1,105 yard
managers;
1,930 salespersons;
3,663 repair businesses;
and 9,877 certified
repairers
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Yes, included as
Addendum D of this report.
www.commerce.wa.gov.au

Name

Painters’ Registration Board

Legislation

Painters’ Registration Act 1961

Principal functions Registration of painters in the Board’s area of jurisdiction.
Other

Maintain a register of painters; prescribe the course of training and examination
for painters; ensure adequate supervision of painting; receive complaints against
painters in relation to work that is not carried out in a proper and workmanlike
manner; and take proceedings for offences against the Painters’ Registration
Act 1961.

Source of funding

Self funded (Registration
fees, application fees and
penalties)

Annual Report

Management of
funds

Yes

Investigations

Yes

Employment of
employees

Employed by the Board

Number of entities
regulated

2,956 painters (as at
15 June 2011)

Name

Plumbers’ Licensing Board

Legislation

Water Services Licensing Act 1995, Part 5A

Yes
www.painters.wa.gov.au

Principal functions Licensing of plumbing contractors, tradespersons and certain permit holders.
Other

Advises Minister on the administration of the Act and Regulations; sets statewide industry standards for licensing, compliance and legislation; and monitors
plumbing trade education and training and provides technical advisory services
in support of plumbing workmanship standards to safeguard consumers’
interests.

Source of funding

Self funded (Fees from a
triennial licensing regime
and a compliance and
inspection framework).

Annual Report

No, reported in the
department’s annual report.

Management of
funds

Yes

Investigations

Yes

Employment of
employees

The Board does not engage
employees. Employees of
the department support this
Board.

Number of entities
regulated

2,601 licensed plumbing
contractors; 2,657
tradespersons; and 119
restricted plumbing permit
holders.
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Name

Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board

Status

This Board was abolished on 30 June 2011.

Legislation

Real Estate and Business Agents Act 1978

Principal functions Licensing and registration of real estate and business agents, developers and
sales representatives.
Other

Advise the Minister on administration of the Act, Regulations and Code of
Conduct; makes recommendations and submits proposals regarding the Act,
Regulations and the Code of Conduct; conducts compliance activities; promotes
education and provides advisory services; conciliation; oversees agents’ trust
accounts; and administers the Fidelity Guarantee Account and the Home Buyers
Assistance Account.

Source of funding

Self funded (licence and
registration fees and
interest on trust accounts
and investments)

Annual Report

Management of
funds

Yes

Investigations

Yes

Employment of
employees

Employed by Board. A
service delivery agreement
exists with the department.

Number of entities
regulated

3,490 agents and 8,660
sales representatives

Name

Settlement Agents Supervisory Board

Status

This Board was abolished on 30 June 2011.

Legislation

Settlement Agents Act 1981

Yes, included as
Addendum A of this report.
www.reba.wa.gov.au

Principal functions Licensing and registration of settlement agents.
Other

Advise Minister on administration of Act and Regulations and Code of Conduct;
makes recommendations and submits proposals regarding the Act, Regulations
and Code of Conduct; conducts compliance activities; promotes education and
provides advisory services; conciliation; oversees agents’ trust accounts and
administers the Fidelity Guarantee Account.

Source of funding

Self funded (licence and
registration fees and
interest on trust accounts
and investments)

Annual Report

Management of
funds

Yes

Investigations

Yes

Employment of
employees

Employed by the Board. A
service delivery agreement
exists with the department.

Number of entities
regulated

696 agents
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Yes, included as
Addendum B of this report.
www.sasb.wa.gov.au

Consumer Protection committees and tribunals
Table 58 is a brief summary of the functions of each committee and tribunal.
Table 58: Functions of the Consumer Protection committees and tribunals in 2010-11
Name

Building Disputes Tribunal (1)

Legislation

Builders’ Registration Act 1939

Principal functions To hear and settle contractual and workmanship disputes between owners and
builders.
Name

Building Surveyors Qualification Committee (1)

Legislation

Local Government (Building Surveyors) Regulations 2008

Principal functions To review the qualifications of building surveyor practitioners in Western
Australia.
Name

Charitable Collections Advisory Committee (2)

Legislation

Charitable Collections Act 1946

Principal functions To advise the Minister in relation to applications for licences, to conduct inquiries
and make recommendations to the Minister in respect of the revocation of
licences.
Name

Consumer Product Safety Committee (2)

Status

This Committee was abolished on 1 January 2011.

Legislation

Consumer Affairs Act 1971

Principal functions To make recommendations to the Commissioner for Consumer Protection that
prohibits or restricts the supply of goods.
Name

Home Buyers Assistance and Advisory Committee (2)

Status

This Committee was abolished on 30 June 2011.

Legislation

Real Estate and Business Agents Act 1978

Principal functions To consider applications for financial assistance from first home buyers and
make recommendations to the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory
Board.
Name

Retail Shops Advisory Committee (2)

Legislation

Retail Trading Hours Act 1987

Principal functions To investigate and make recommendations to the Minister relating to the
operation and administration of the Act, to make recommendations to the
Commissioner for Consumer Protection on the issue of permits to remain open
or to provide goods or services that are not prescribed.
Note:
(1)

The Building Commission Division provided administrative support to these committees and tribunals in 2010-11.

(2)

The Consumer Protection Division provided administrative support to these committees in 2010-11.
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Safety and Employment Protection boards
The Safety and Employment Protection boards have a range of functions including advisory,
licensing of participants in relevant industries, investigating complaints about the conduct of
industry participants and taking disciplinary action where appropriate. Table 59 provides a brief
summary of the functions of each board.
Table 59: Functions of Safety and Employment Protection regulatory boards in 2010-11
Name

Electrical Licensing Board

Legislation

Electricity (Licensing) Regulations 1991

Principal functions Licensing of electrical contractors and workers.
Other

General advice to the Minister and Director of Energy Safety on the training and
licensing of electrical contractors and workers.

Source of funding

Department of Commerce,
EnergySafety Division
budget (licence fees)

Annual Report

No

Management of
funds

No. Managed as part of the
divisional budget.

Investigations

Only for the determination
of competence of
applicants for, and holders
of, licences and permits
issued pursuant to
Electricity (Licensing)
Regulations 1991. Licence
work compliance
investigations are
conducted by the
EnergySafety Division.

Employment of
employees

The Board does not engage
employees. Employees of
the department support this
Board.

Number of entities
regulated

39,837 electrical operatives

Safety and Employment Protection commissions and
committees
Table 60 provides a brief summary of the functions of each commission and committee.
Table 60: Functions of the Safety and Employment Protection commission and committees in
2010-11
Name

Gas Licensing Committee

Legislation

Gas Standards Act 1972

Principal functions To make recommendations to the Director of Energy Safety on competence of
applicants for, and holders of, gas fitting permits and authorisations. To make
recommendations on retraining and other restrictions and warnings.
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Name

Commission for Occupational Safety and Health

Legislation

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

Principal functions The Commission for Occupational Safety and Health (the Commission) was
established in April 1985 (as the Occupational Health, Safety and Welfare
Commission) under section 6 of this Act. The tripartite Commission’s functions
include:

Other



to inquire into and report to the Minister upon any matters referred to it by
the Minister;



to make recommendations to the Minister with respect to this Act;



to develop and review the occupational safety and health legislation and
associated standards and make recommendations to the Minister;



to examine, review and make recommendations to the Minister in relation to
existing and proposed registration or licensing schemes relating to
occupational safety and health; and



to provide advice to and co-operate with government departments, public
authorities, unions, employer organisations and other interested parties.

Commission advisory committees and working parties operational during the
year were:



Construction Industry Safety Advisory Committee;



Risk Advisory Committee;



Legislation Advisory Committee; and



Working Hours Review Working Party.

Further information is provided in the Commission’s annual report.
Department of Commerce,
WorkSafe Division budget

Annual Report

Management of
funds

No. Managed as part of the
divisional budget.

Investigations

No

Employment of
employees

The Commission does not
engage employees.
Employees of the
department support the
Commission.

Number of entities
regulated

All Western Australian
workplaces except those
under the Mines Safety and
Inspection Act 1994 or
Commonwealth legislation.

Source of funding

Yes
www.commerce.wa.gov.au
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Industry, Science and Innovation committees and councils
Table 61 provides a brief summary of the functions of each committee or council.
Table 61: Functions of the Industry, Science and Innovation committees and councils in 2010-11
Name

Australian Marine Complex Business Development Committee

Principal functions Advice on Australian Marine Complex expansion opportunity.
Name

Australian Marine Complex Overarching Committee

Principal functions Assist in co-ordinating interagency management.
Name

Western Australian Technology and Industry Advisory Council

Principal functions The Council, under Section 21 of the Industry and Technology Development
Act 1998, is required to:



provide advice to the Minister, at the initiative of the Council or at the request
of the Minister, on any matter relating to the objects of the Act; and



carry out, collaborate in or procure research, studies or investigations on any
matter relating to the objects of the Act, including the:
(i) role of industry, science and technology in the policies of government;
(ii) social and economic impact of industrial and technological change;
(iii) employment and training needs and opportunities relating to industrial,
scientific and technological activities in the State;
(iv) adequacy of, priorities among and co-ordination of, scientific, industrial
and technological activities in the State;
(v) methods of stimulating desirable industrial and technological advances
in the State;
(vi) application of industrial, scientific and technological advances to the
services of the Government; and
(vii) promotion of public awareness and understanding of development in
industry, science and technology.

Other

Under section 26(1) of the Industry and Technology Development Act 1998, the
Council must, in each year, prepare and give to the Minister a report on its
operations and proceedings for the previous financial year.
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Appendix 5: Annual Report feedback
The Department of Commerce welcomes your feedback on the
2010-11 Annual Report.
1.

Overall how effective do you think the Annual Report was in communicating our
activities?


2.

Very effective





Average



Poor

Please rate the following elements of the Annual Report (using a number from the
rating scale below):
Information/content
Layout of information
Ease of finding information
Readability
Ease of comprehension

3.

Effective

Excellent
1
1
1
1
1

Good
2
2
2
2
2

Average
3
3
3
3
3

Poor
4
4
4
4
4

Satisfactory



Very Poor
5
5
5
5
5

Overall, how do you rate this Annual Report?



Excellent



Good



4.

In your opinion, how could our next Annual Report be improved?

5.

General comments:

6.

For what purpose did you read or refer to the 2010-11 Annual Report?







Poor

Background information on the Department of Commerce
Information on the Department of Commerce’s performance in 2010-11
Information on the future direction of the Department of Commerce
Information on the employees and management of the Department of Commerce
Other (please specify)

Thank you for participating in the survey.
Please return completed form to:
Office of the Director General, Department of Commerce
Locked Bag 14 CLOISTERS SQUARE WA 6850 or fax (08) 9282 0407
This form is also available on the department’s internet site at www.commerce.wa.gov.au.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Highlights for 2010-11
Board and other proceedings
During the reporting period of 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011 the Board:

convened for 20 Board meetings;

considered 13 Fidelity Guarantee Account claims;

conducted 57 interviews for licensing applications;

commenced 10 disciplinary proceedings against agents or sales representatives in the
State Administrative Tribunal (the SAT); and

appeared before the SAT on 29 occasions.


Achievements
In 2010–11, the Board achieved the following outcomes:

322 new licence applications processed;

1278 applications for new sales representative registrations processed;

855 applications for triennial certificate renewals processed;

1362 applications for sales representative renewals processed;

176 conciliations commenced;

165 conciliations completed;

417 new general compliance investigations commenced;

335 new qualified audit investigations commenced;

337 new qualified audit investigations completed;

54 new trust fund investigations commenced;

2150 Home Buyer’s Assistance Account grants approved totalling $4,170,458;

603 proactive compliance visits of real estate agencies conducted, of which 57 were in
regional Western Australia;

received 6157 enquiries to the Real Estate and Settlement Advice Line, of which 91.1 per
cent were answered in 40 seconds;

245 mandatory CPD seminars were conducted and funded by the Board and 83 distance
learning packages were sent to remote participants;

two elective CPD regional seminars were conducted by the Registrar;

27 claims lodged against the Fidelity Guarantee Account; and

9 claims completed against the Fidelity Guarantee Account.

Reporting Officer
7 September 2011
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE
Enabling Legislation
The Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board was an independent statutory
authority established under the Real Estate and Business Agents Act 1978 (the Act) to regulate
the real estate and business broking industries in Western Australia.
The Board administered the Act, the Real Estate and Business Agents (General) Regulations
1979 (the Regulations) and the Code of Conduct for Agents and Sales Representatives (the
Code of Conduct).

Responsible Minister
The Hon Simon O’Brien MLC took over responsibility as the Minister for Commerce on
14 December 2010. Throughout the reporting period until 13 December 2010 the responsible
minister was the Hon Bill Marmion BE MBA MLA.

Mission
The Board’s overriding goal was for the people of Western Australia have confidence in the real
estate and business broking industries.

Organisational structure
Board structure
The Board was fully funded by industry in the form of:
 licensing revenue;
 interest earned on money held in agents’ trust accounts; and
 interest earned on retained funds.
This money was used to fund the statutory functions of the Board to the real estate and
business broking industries and the community of Western Australia. The statutory functions
were provided by means of the following services:
Licensing: Quality control of people seeking to enter the real estate and business broking
industries and those already registered or licensed in those industries.
Compliance: Ensuring that licensed real estate and business agents, their sales
representatives and all employees complied with the relevant legislation and financial reporting
requirements and that those who undertook unlicensed activity were stopped from doing so.
Education and Awareness: Built confidence in the industry, encourage awareness of real
estate and business broking ‘best practice’ through activities such as proactive compliance
visits, the CPD program, seminars, publications, e-Bulletins, newsletters and through the
Board’s internet site.
Fidelity Guarantee Account: The assessment of claims for reimbursement from consumers
who have suffered financial loss or loss of property by conduct of a licensee that holds a current
triennial certificate due to the criminal or fraudulent conduct of that agency or its employees
during the course of business of that agency.
Home Buyers Assistance Account: Worked to ensure that people who lodge a claim against
the Account satisfied the necessary requirements and received funding in a timely manner.
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Our people
The Board Director, Board Solicitor, Legal Practitioner, Board Executive Officer, Articled Clerk,
and Board Support Officer were employed in a joint funding arrangement with the Settlement
Agents Supervisory Board. The Registrar, Deputy Registrar, Research and Policy Officer, and
Board Secretary were employed directly by the Board.

Role of senior staff
Director
The Director was the Chief Employee and Chief Financial Officer of the Board and was
responsible for providing advice and assistance to the Board in its day-to-day operations. The
Director ensured that the Board’s policies and strategies for regulating the real estate and
business broking industries were implemented and monitored.
The Director oversaw the financial and human resources and legal services, assisted with
planning and strategic issues, and negotiating, monitoring, and reporting on contracts with
external providers, including the Service Delivery Agreement with the Department of
Commerce. The Director also assisted the Board to comply with legislation relevant to its
statutory obligations.
Board Solicitor
The Board Solicitor had responsibility for managing legal and policy services for the Board. This
included providing advice to the Board, and its officers and inspectors, on the interpretation and
application of legislation administered by the Board. The Board Solicitor also provided advice on
matters relevant to the Board, such as the conduct of proceedings before the Board, the State
Administrative Tribunal (the SAT), and the courts.
Registrar
The Registrar assisted in overseeing the operations of the Board and provided guidance and
leadership to employees. The Registrar also assisted the Director on policy, legislative and
operational issues.
It was the Registrar’s duty to contribute as a member of a number of Board sub-committees to
assist in the management, development, implementation and evaluation of Board objectives
and policies and manage Board projects as directed.
The Registrar was also responsible for undertaking the statutory functions and determining how
investigations were managed and finalised. The Registrar liaised with and represented the
Board in dealings with the media as required as well as representing the Board at conferences,
seminars, relevant committees, and working parties. It was the duty of the Registrar to promote
the Board and advance its objectives.
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Service Delivery Agreement
The Board contracted the Department of Commerce (the Department) to provide services under
a Service Delivery Agreement (SDA). These services assisted the Board to carry out its
functions. The SDA set out the services and performance measures between the Board and the
Department, in accordance with government output based management requirements.

Organisational chart
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Members of the Board
The composition of the Board was set out in section 7 of the Act. There were five members of
the Board appointed by the Governor of Western Australia:

one person who was not a licensed agent who was also appointed Chair;

one person experienced in commercial practice and not a licensed agent;

one person who was a legal practitioner and not a licensed agent;

one licensed real estate agent who was nominated by the Real Estate Institute of Western
Australia; and

one licensed agent who was elected by licensed agents.
Mr Mark Cuomo (Chairman)
Mr Mark Cuomo is a legal practitioner practising as a barrister. Mr Cuomo was
Chair of the Board from January 2005. He is also the Chair of the Building
Disputes Tribunal and the Painter's Registration Board. Until March 2010 Mr
Cuomo was also the Chair of the Builder's Registration Board.
Mr Paul Gabrielson (Commercial Practice Member)
Mr Paul Gabrielson is an Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants, a registered tax agent and is a principal in a public accounting
practice. He was appointed to the Board in December 2009.
Deputy: Ms Michelle Jenkins
Mr Glenn Cridland (Legal Practitioner Member)
Mr Glenn Cridland is a legal practitioner practising as a barrister. Mr Cridland
was the Registrar of Fisheries and prior to that appointment the Chief Legal
Adviser to the United Nations Peace Keeping Force in East Timor. He was
appointed to the Board in December 2009.
Deputy: Dr John Hockley
Mrs Renate Brown (REIWA Nominated Member)
Mrs Renate Brown was the member nominated for appointment by the Real
Estate Institute of WA. Mrs Brown has operated her own real estate agency
since 1990, and combined this experience with 15 years as industry trainer for
various franchises and REIWA. She had been a deputy member of the Board
since 2003.
Deputy: Ms Jennie Bryant
Mr William Goddard (Elective Member)
Mr William (Bill) Goddard was the member elected for appointment by licensed
agents. Mr Goddard is also a Certified Practising Business Broker and member
of the Business Brokers Association (WA). He was president of the
Association from 2003 to 2010 and is the honorary treasurer. In 2004 he was
awarded Fellowship of the Real Estate Institute of Australia and in 2009 he won
REIWA’s Kevin Sullivan Award.
Deputy: Mr Oscar D'Souza
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Other key legislation impacting on the Board
The Board complied with the following statutes in performing its functions:
Auditor General Act 2006;
Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913
Disability Services Act 1993;
Electoral Act 1907;
Equal Opportunity Act 1984;
Fair Trading Act 20107;
Financial Management Act 2006;
Freedom of Information Act 1992;
Legal Profession Act 2008;
Magistrates Court Act 2004;
Mutual Recognition (Western Australia) Act 2010;
Mutual Recognition Act 2010 (Cwlth);
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984;
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003;
Public Sector Management Act 1994;
State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004;
State Records Act 2000;
State Supply Commission Act 1991;
Strata Titles Act 1985;
Supreme Court Act 1935; and
Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK
Outcome Based Management framework
The primary service of the Board was to regulate the real estate and business broking
industries. This was achieved through the discharge of its statutory functions: licensing,
compliance, education and awareness, and the administration of the Fidelity Guarantee
Account and the Home Buyers Assistance Account. The effective regulation of the industry
enabled the Board to achieve its desired outcome that people had confidence in the industry.
This ultimately contributed to meeting the Government’s goal of achieving results for the benefit
of all Western Australians.
Government goal
Outcomes Based Service
Delivery
Greater focus on
achieving results in key
service delivery areas for
the benefit of all Western
Australians.

Board’s desired outcome
The people of Western
Australia have
confidence in the real
estate and business
broking industries.

Service
Regulation of the real
estate and business
broking industries
through the discharge
of the Board’s
statutory functions.

Changes to Outcome Based Management framework
The Board’s Outcome Based Management framework did not change during 2010–11.

Shared responsibilities with other agencies
The Board did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2010–11.
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Agency performance
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS
Service one: Licensing
Strategic objectives
For the 2010–11 reporting period the Board objectives were to:

assist people seeking to obtain a licence, obtain or renew a triennial certificate or certificate
of registration, and to process such applications in accordance with the Act;

assess the fitness1 of people entering the industry, and of those remaining in the industry;
and

audit the computer databases of the Department to ensure the information recorded is
accurate.

Performance
In 2010—11, the Board achieved the following outcomes:

322 applications for new real estate and business agent licences processed;

855 applications for real estate and business agent triennial certificate renewal processed;

97.52 per cent of new real estate and business agent licence applicants advised of the
outcome of their application within eight days of the Board’s decision;

1278 new applications for a sales representative’s certificate of registration processed;

1362 renewal applications for a sales representative’s certificate of registration processed;

107 advisory and 12 breach non-compliance closure letters were issued by the Registrar to
agents or sales representatives and others;

100 per cent of agents renewal applications referred to the Board for decision within seven
days; and

99.71 per cent of sales representative’s renewal applications referred to the Board for
decision within seven days.

Overview
All real estate and business agents require a licence as well as a current triennial certificate in
order to carry on business in the industry in Western Australia. The licence issued by the Board
is continuous while the triennial certificate is to be renewed every three years.
The Board assessed licence applications to ensure that only suitably qualified people entered
the industry as agents. To create high standards of practice and behaviour, uniform minimum
standards of competency applied.
In 2010–11, the Board received 324 applications for real estate and business licences. This
figure represents a decrease of 49 over that reported for 2009–10. The Board dealt with 1360
applications from people seeking registration as sales representatives.
This represented an increase of 13 above that in 2009–10. During the reporting period the
Board conducted 57 recorded licensing interviews.

1

The Act stipulates that to be granted and hold an agent licence (section 27(1)(b) of the Act) or certificate of registration (section
47(1)(b) of the Act) the successful applicant must be “a person of good character and repute and a fit and proper person”. The
Board was required by the Act to take into account a number of factors when considering the suitability of an applicant. The factors
may vary depending if the person is an agent or sales representative.
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Fees- Real estate and business agents
The fees charged by the Board in 2010–11 in accordance with the Real Estate and Business
Agents (General) Regulations 1979 for real estate and business agent licensing applications
and real estate and/or business sales representative registration applications were as follows:
License New Applications:
Individual $882
Firm or Partnership/Body Corporate $1,088
Note: These fees are inclusive of a once off Fidelity Guarantee Account payment of $150
Triennial Renewal Applications: $430
Sales Representative New Applications: $217
Note: This fee is inclusive of a once off Fidelity Guarantee Account payment of $45
Sales Representative Renewal Applications: $141
The Board conducted its annual review of the fees in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006. This review was in line with the State Government’s policy that any
increases in fees are to be on a cost recovery basis. The Board’s recommendation that the fees
be increased by the agreed Consumer Price Index of 3 per cent was approved by the Minister
for Commerce.

Holding fee
Agents who wish to continue to remain a licensee without holding a triennial certificate must do
so by paying a holding fee of $202 within the specified time frame. This puts the licence on hold
for a period of three years. At 30 June 2011, licences of 575 agents were on hold. Of these 205
were placed on hold during the reporting period.

Licensing kit
The Board produced a licensing kit that provided current information for new licence holders. It
included information on setting up trust accounts, auditing processes, the CPD program, the
Home Buyers Assistance Account and a licensee’s obligation to notify the Board when there are
changes in their personal or their agency’s details.
It provided information for licensed agents in other states and territories of Australia who have
obtained a Western Australian licence under the Mutual Recognition (Western Australia) Act
2010 and the Mutual Recognition Act 2010 (Cwlth). Board publications were included for
reference. The licensing kit was provided in hard copy to new licensed agents and sales
representatives and could also be downloaded from the Board’s internet site at
www.reba.wa.gov.au. It was transferred to the Department of Commerce internet site at
www.commerce.wa.gov.au as of 1 July 2011.
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Service two: Compliance
Strategic objectives
In 2010—11, the Board strived to meet the following objectives:

that real estate agents, business agents and sales representatives complied with the
requirements of the Act, the Regulations and the Code of Conduct;

that in appropriate cases, the Board commenced proceedings before the State
Administrative Tribunal (the SAT), directed the Registrar to bring prosecutions in the
Magistrates Court against agents, sales representatives and other persons where there is
evidence of an offence against the Act and the Code of Conduct or other legislation
including the Criminal Code;

that complaints were investigated promptly and dealt with by the Board in a timely manner;

that prompt, accurate advice was given to industry members and the public; and

that audit reports were received on time and all qualified reports were investigated.

Performance
In 2010–11, the Board achieved the following outcomes:
General compliance

417 investigations commenced;

435 investigations completed;

107 advisory and 12 breach non-compliance closure letters were issued by the Registrar to
agents or sales representatives and others;

98.95 per cent of complaints acknowledged within seven calendar days; and

82.86 per cent of investigations commenced within 14 days.
Financial compliance

335 qualified audit investigations commenced;

337 qualified audit investigations completed;

97.91 per cent of investigations into qualified audit reports commencing within 14 days of
lodgement;

54 trust account investigations commenced;

78 trust account investigations completed; and

98.15 per cent of trust account investigations commencing within 14 days.
Conciliation

176 conciliations commenced;

165 conciliations completed;

98.86 per cent of conciliations acknowledged within seven days;

96.02 per cent of conciliations commenced within 14 days; and

98.79 per cent of conciliations completed within three months.

General compliance
The Board, its inspectors and Registrar had powers of investigation, which it exercised to
determine whether agents and sales representatives and others were complying with the
requirements of the Act, the Regulations, the Code of Conduct and any conditions of their
licence and/or certificate.
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These powers of investigation were also used to determine whether any other cause existed to
render an agent unfit to hold a licence and a triennial certificate, and sales representatives unfit
to hold a certificate of registration.
When the Board received a complaint or the matter was otherwise brought to its attention, the
Registrar determined whether it required investigation. If the preliminary assessment identified
sufficient cause for concern, then the Registrar issued a direction for a formal investigation to
proceed.
Where the Registrar directed a formal investigation into a complaint, an inspector would seek
further information from the agent or sales representative or other person concerned, and any
other relevant person. At the conclusion of an investigation the Registrar may have taken one or
more of a range of actions.
Where an investigation or inquiry revealed evidence of non-compliance with the Act and/or
Code of Conduct, the result would not always be an application to the State Administrative
Tribunal (SAT) for disciplinary proceedings or prosecution in the Magistrates Court.
Depending on the circumstances, the Board or Registrar may have decided to issue an advisory
letter or breach for non-compliance, or otherwise close the matter. Alternatively, the Registrar
could recommend that the Board commence proceedings against the agent and/or sales
representative or other person.
Factors such as, the nature of the conduct, the person acknowledging the breach or noncompliance, actions taken to prevent future occurrence, age of the matter, and the strength of
the evidence available were taken into consideration. In this reporting period, 10 proceedings
were commenced in the SAT, and seven were completed. No proceedings in the Magistrates
Court were commenced.
The total number of new investigations commenced into the conduct of agents increased from
398 in 2009–10 to 417 in this reporting period.

Financial compliance
The Act sets out how trust account records are to be maintained by agents who hold a current
triennial certificate.
Agents are required to appoint an auditor of their trust accounts at the time of applying for their
licence. The Act requires the auditor to submit to the Board, by 31 March each year, an audit
report of the agent’s trust accounts. The Board treated all qualified audit reports as a priority
issue.
Apart from qualified audit reports being received from auditors, there are three main ways that
non-compliance with the trust account provisions were provided to the Board, they were:
• through a complaint;
• during an investigation; and
• financial institutions notifying the Board when a trust account became overdrawn.
During 2010—11, the Board commenced 335 investigations into qualified audit reports
compared to 319 from the previous reporting period. In addition, 54 trust account investigations
were commenced in 2010—11 in comparison to 66 recorded in the previous reporting period.
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Conciliation
The Act has provision for assistance to be given to parties in a transaction to resolve a dispute.
The assistance takes the form of a conciliation process.
Conciliators will arrange informal discussions between the parties to help in the conduct of
those discussions, and if possible, assist the parties to reach an agreement.
The conciliation service has proven to be an effective method of resolving minor complaints. In
the cases conciliated in 2010–11, 40 cases resulted in the parties reaching agreement. In three
cases referred to conciliation, no action was required other than clarifying the facts for the
parties. In 27 cases the parties were unable to resolve the issue.
Of cases referred to conciliation, one was outside of the jurisdiction of the Board where the
parties would have had to seek assistance elsewhere.
There were eight cases where complaints were not justified.
The average time taken to complete a conciliation matter was 36.26 days.
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Service three: Education and awareness
Strategic objectives
The Board met the following education and awareness objectives in 2010–11:

conducted proactive visits to agencies;

provided industry seminars to assist agents and sales representatives to comply with the
Act and the Code of Conduct;

provided a counter information service to members of the public and industry;

provided a telephone information service to members of the public and industry;

supported and funded education programs for the professional development of agents and
sales representatives;

developed educational material, including brochures and guides, for distribution to industry
and members of the public;

published the quarterly newsletter, REBA News, for distribution to licensees, sales
representatives, and auditors;

published frequent e-Bulletins; and

provided up to date information on the Board’s internet site and made further improvements
for industry and members of the public.

Performance
In 2010–11, the Board achieved the following outcomes:

conducted 603 proactive compliance visits to agencies, which included 57 visits to agencies
outside of the metropolitan area;

five issues of REBA News were published and distributed, including one special edition
regarding the Boards abolition; and

15 e-Bulletins were distributed to approximately 9000 licensees, sales representatives, and
auditors.

Compulsory Professional Development
The Board’s Compulsory Professional Development (CPD) initiative continued in the second
half of 2010 for all individual licensed real estate and business agents and registered sales
representatives, including those restricted to property management only, and the strong
compliance rates showed that the real estate industry was fully embracing the program. In these
six months, a total of 130 mandatory sessions were conducted in metropolitan and regional
areas on behalf of the Board by the Real Estate Institute of Western Australia (REIWA), West
Coast Property Training (WCPT) and Kaplan Professional. This was an increase of 62 sessions
compared to the same period in 2009.
Improved reporting facilities and procedures within the Real Estate Branch resulted in tighter
monitoring of CPD compliance across the industry and this resulted in increased rates of
compliance. A mailout by the Board in late 2010 to all non-compliant individual licensed agents
and sales representatives saw a spike in enrolments and attendances to sessions, and
contributed to the improved compliance in that year.
In the reporting period there were 84 elective course providers offering a total of 1062 activities
from which participants could choose to complete their CPD requirements. The Board resolved
to extend the contracts awarded to REIWA, WCPT and Kaplan Professional to deliver the
mandatory component of CPD in 2011. The contracts to develop the mandatory activity material
and produce the distance learning packages for 2011 were again awarded to WCPT. In the first
six months of 2011, a total of 115 mandatory sessions were held by REIWA, WCPT and Kaplan
Professional.
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Information services
Under the Service Delivery Agreement (SDA) the Board obtained advice line services through
the Department of Commerce. In 2010–11, the Real Estate and Settlement Advice Line
answered 6517 telephone enquiries from the public seeking information. Of the telephone
enquiries received, 91.1 per cent were answered within 40 seconds.

Proactive compliance
The Board conducted a Proactive Compliance program that is unique in Australia. The purpose
of the program was to promote and improve the level of voluntary compliance and ethical
standards in real estate and business broking industries. The Board’s Proactive Compliance
Officers visited agencies to provide advice and examine the level of adherence to legislative
requirements. Participation by agents was voluntary. During 2010–11, the Board conducted 603
proactive visits to agencies. Of those visits, 57 were carried out in regional areas and 137 were
new agents. Mandurah and surrounding suburbs were considered Perth metropolitan.
Proactive compliance visits were carried out in accordance with a standard process, which
includes looking at:

trust account reconciliation;

correspondence and documents including trust account receipts to ensure they conformed
with the Act, the Regulations, and the Code of Conduct;

potential conflict of interest;

appointment to act;

CPD compliance;

sale files; and

property management files.
Where non-compliance in any area was identified, practical advice and guidance was given on
how the agency may correct the problem and comply with the requirements of the Act, the
Regulations, and the Code of Conduct. The visit was stopped for very serious breaches. The
majority of feedback obtained from agents who have participated in the program, indicated that
the proactive compliance visits were helpful and informative.
This program, along with Compulsory Professional Development, was well received by the
industry, and is likely to have assisted in reducing the number of complaints lodged during the
reporting period.

Education funding
The Board provided financial support to promote its education objectives. The Board used a
prescribed proportion of the interest earned from real estate and business agents trust accounts
for this purpose. Funding was used to support the delivery of necessary and appropriate training
courses to assist in the professional development of industry participants; namely, registered
real estate and business agents, and sales representatives.
As of 1 January 2010 the education funding was awarded to the three training providers of the
Compulsory Professional Development (CPD) program. The three successful tenders for CPD
were submitted by REIWA, West Coast Property Training, and KAPLAN Professional.
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REBA News
The Board produced a quarterly newsletter REBA News, to provide information to industry
members and relevant stakeholders. The newsletter provided updates on industry practice
issues, case studies from the Board’s disciplinary proceedings, legislative amendments and any
other relevant, topical issues such as the Compulsory Professional Development (CPD)
program and CPD course dates. REBA News was mailed to all licensees, sales representatives
and auditors.
A special edition of the REBA News concerning the transfer of responsibility from the Board to
the Department was published and distributed in both electronic and physical formats.
The newsletter was issued to approximately 13,000 industry members each quarter.

REBA e-Bulletin
The e-Bulletins were a convenient way for the industry to receive the latest information on
issues relevant to the real estate industry in Western Australia.
The e-Bulletins were distributed once a month and more frequently if required.
The e-Bulletins provided the Board with the opportunity to notify industry of any urgent
information such as the Board’s abolition and scam updates.
In 2010–11 15 issues were published and sent to approximately 9000 agents and
representatives.

Publications
REBA produced publications targeted at both consumers and industry members with the aim of
providing important information on a broad range of topics concerning the real estate and
business broking industries in WA. These publications were:

A guide to auditing real estate and business agents trust accounts;

A guide to investigations and disciplinary proceedings;

A guide to the Compulsory Professional Development program;

Buying a home through an agent;

Buying vacant land;

Complaint handling guidelines for the settlement and real estate industries;

Home buyers assistance account;

Information for complainants – Real estate and business broking industries;

Licensing of real estate and business agents – Registration of real estate and business
sales representatives;

Obligations of property developers;

Real estate auctions;

Real estate fees – negotiating with an agent;

Real estate trust accounting – A reference manual;

Sale by offer and acceptance;

Timber pest inspections and reports – A guide for home buyers; and

You and your property manager.
The Board, in conjunction with the Department of Commerce, also produced the publication
Managing residential property. This guide is aimed at property managers looking for a ‘best
practice’ approach.
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The Board continually updated and improved these publications and in the last financial year
has seen numerous fact sheets and booklets reviewed including; Obligations of property
developers, Real estate fees, Timber pest inspections, You and your property manager, A guide
to auditing real estate and business agents’ trust accounts, and Managing residential property.

Website
The Board’s website – www.reba.wa.gov.au – was an integral tool in assisting the Board to
conduct and promote education and provide advisory services to industry participants and the
public. It allowed industry participants to access important information regarding a range of
topics including licensing and registration requirements, compliance, the CPD program and how
to lodge a complaint.
Visitors to the internet site could view electronic versions of industry publications, lists of current
licence and registration holders and past editions of REBA News and the REBA e-Bulletins.
It also provided valuable information for first home buyers, people wishing to sell a property,
tenants, landlords, auditors and members of the public wanting to know more about the real
estate and business broking industries in Western Australia.
The majority of the relevant content on the website was transferred to the Department of
Commerce’s website at www.commerce.wa.gov.au/consumerprotection .
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Service four: Fidelity Guarantee Account
Strategic objectives
The purpose of the Fidelity Guarantee Account (FGA) is to provide financial reimbursement to
people who suffer pecuniary loss or loss of property through the criminal or fraudulent actions of
a licensee (during a period when holding a current triennial certificate), in the course of
business. This also includes the actions of such licensee’s employees.

Performance
2010–11 saw the following outcomes:
 27 claims lodged against the Fidelity Account;
 9 Fidelity Account claims completed;
 96.15 per cent of claims acknowledged within eight days; and
 96.3 per cent of claim assessments commenced within 14 days.

Overview
The FGA is financed through contributions from agents, interest on agents' trust accounts, and
interest generated on the FGA. The FGA is kept at Treasury, forming part of the trust fund
constituted under section 16 of the Financial Management Act 2006. Money standing to the
credit of the FGA is invested with Treasury, and income derived from this is credited to the FGA.
The criteria for making a claim are:
 the applicant has suffered financial loss or loss of property;
 the loss was due to the defalcation (which includes criminal or fraudulent conduct) of a
licensee or their employee;
 the licensee holds a current triennial certificate; and
 the loss occurred in the course of the business of the licensee.
Morgan Realty Pty Ltd
A number of claims have been received in relation to real estate transactions conducted by
Morgan Realty Pty Ltd. To 30 June 2011 the Board received 12 claims totalling $4,267,800.

Fidelity Guarantee Account claims lodged
Financial year

2006–07

2007–08

2008-09

2009–10

2010–11

Number of claims

134

160

101

22

27
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Service five: Home Buyers Assistance Account
Strategic objectives
The Home Buyers Assistance Account was established to assist first home buyers financially
toward meeting the incidental expenses incurred when purchasing an established or partially
built home through a licensed real estate agent.
In 2010–11, the Board met these objectives by ensuring first home buyers were made aware of
the Home Buyers Assistance Account, and by providing a grant of up to $2,000 to off-set
expenses such as registration fees, solicitor and/or conveyancing fees, valuation fees,
inspection fees, establishment fees, mortgage insurance premiums and lending institution fees
associated with lodging the application.

Performance
2010–11 saw the following outcomes:
• $4,170,458 paid out of the account;
• 2358 applications received;
• 2150 grants approved; and
• 100 per cent of cheques issued within eight days of approval.

Number of applications and grants
The table below provides a comparison of the number of Home Buyers Assistant Account
applications and approvals processed by the Board from 2010-11 and previous financial years.
Financial year

2006–07

2007–08

2008-09

2009–10

2010–11

No of applications

1,812

4,381

5,895

4,995

2,358

No of approvals

1,543

4,165

4,949

5,244

2,150

Total amount paid

$3,048,698

$8,180,158

$9,711,402

$10,112,329

$4,170,458
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ACTUAL RESULTS VERSUS BUDGET
TARGETS
Financial targets
2010–11 Target1
$23,086,047

2010–11 Actual
$14,426,196

Variation2
$8,659,851

Net cost of services

($3,876,131)

$6,089,784

$9,965,915

Approved full time
equivalent staff level

8.8

8.6

(0.2)

Total cost of services
(expense limit)

Summary of Key Performance Indicators

1

2010–11
Target

2010–11
Actual

Variation3

Board’s desired outcome:
The people of Western Australia
have confidence in the real estate
and business broking industries.
Key effectiveness indicator:
The extent to which real estate and
business agents comply with the
requirements of the Real Estate
and Business Agents Act 1978 in
relation to the management of their
trust accounts.

86 per cent

86.99 per cent

0.99 per
cent

Service:
Regulation of the real estate and
business broking industries
through the discharge of the
Board’s statutory functions.
Key efficiency indicator:
The average cost per licensed
agent, of regulating the real
estate and business broking
industries.

$3,970.84

$3,938.02

$32.82

As specified in the budget statements for the year in question

2

Explanations for the variations between target and actual results are presented in the ‘Explanatory statement’ in the section ‘Notes
to financial statements’.
3
Explanations for the variations between target and actual results are presented in the ‘Detailed information in support of Key
Performance Indicators’.
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Significant issues
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CURRENT AND EMERGING ISSUES AND
LEGISLATION CHANGES
Consumer Protection replaces the Board
On 25 November 2010, legislation was passed by the Western Australian State Parliament to
transfer responsibility for regulation of the real estate and business broking industry from the
Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board (the Board) to the Department and the
Commissioner for Consumer Protection. The operations of the Board wound up on 30 June
2011 with transfer of its responsibilities occurring from 1 July 2011.
This change was part of the State Government’s commitment to reducing the number of
statutory Boards and committees in WA. Abolition of the Board, along with three other statutory
licensing Boards, allows for a more streamlined operating structure with a single regulator
across a number of property-related occupational areas and better integration with generalist
laws such as the Australian Consumer Law and Residential Tenancy Act 1987. The changes
also position the local property industry for the national harmonisation of licensing under the
National Occupational Licensing System, which is expected to begin on July 1, 2012.
From July 2011 the licensing authority of the Board was vested in the Commissioner for
Consumer Protection, and the Board’s financial responsibilities moved to the Director General
of the Department.

Australian Consumer Law
On 1 January 2011 a uniform Australian Consumer Law came into operation at the
Commonwealth level and in every State and Territory in Australia, meaning the basic consumer
laws are the same throughout Australia. The Australian Consumer Law is heavily based on
provisions in the Trade Practices Act 1974 and the Fair Trading Act 1987.
For transactions that took place before 1 January 2011 then the former law applies. For those
transactions the Fair Trading Act 1987, the Consumer Affairs Act 1971 or the Door to Door
Trading Act 1987 still apply. For transactions that took place after 1 January 2011 the Fair
Trading Act 2010 and/or the Australian Consumer Law apply.
The Fair Trading Act 2010 applies the Australian Consumer Law as set out on 1 January 2011
in Schedule 2 to the Commonwealth's Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (what used to be
called the Trade Practices Act 1974) as the Australian Consumer Law (WA). The ACCC
administer the Commonwealth's version of the Australian Consumer Law and WA will
administer the Australian Consumer Law (WA).
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National Occupational Licensing System
On 30 in April 2009 the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) signed an
Intergovernmental Agreement to establish a national occupational licensing system (NOLS) for
specified occupations.
The Occupational Licensing National Law Bill 2010 was passed on 17 September 2010. The
NOLS will enable current holders of state and territory licences to be deemed across to the new
licence system at its commencement and establish a publicly available national register of
licensees.
From January 2011 the National Occupational Licensing Authority became operational and from
1 July 2012 NOLS will commence for the ‘first wave’ of occupations which will include licensed
real estate and business agents and sales representatives.
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Disclosures and legal
compliance
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AUDITOR GENERAL’S OPINION
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Certification of financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011
The accompanying financial statements of the Board have been prepared in compliance with
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to
present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 and the
financial position as at 30 June 2011.
At the date of signing I am not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Reporting Officer
7 September 2011
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ADDITIONAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR INFORMATION
Certification of Key Performance Indicators
I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant
and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Board’s performance, and fairly represent the
performance of the Board for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.

Reporting Officer
7 September 2011
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Detailed information in support of Key Performance
Indicators
Effectiveness indicator
The extent to which real estate and business agents comply with the requirements of the Real
Estate and Business Agents Act 1978 in relation to the management of their trust accounts.
The Board’s aim was to positively influence the behaviour of industry participants through
effective compliance activities. The extent to which the people of Western Australia can be
confident that the real estate and business broking industry operates in accordance with
regulatory requirements was assessed by the level of compliance relating to the management of
trust accounts.
The Board’s experience was that the extent of compliance in respect to trust accounts was the
best single test providing a reliable indication of the extent to which agents are generally
complying with the requirements of the Act.
Breaches in relation to the management of trust accounts usually indicated other problems or
breaches that may be occurring within an agency.
An independent auditor conducted an examination of an agents trust account management and
provided an audit opinion to the Board in relation to the agents’ management of their trust
accounts. An unqualified opinion was issued when the auditor considered the agent’s trust
accounts were, during the period of the audit, kept in order. One aim of independent scrutiny
was to provide a level of confidence regarding the management of the trust accounts.
Therefore, the extent to which auditors submit unqualified audit opinions is an indication of the
degree of confidence that can be held in the industry.

Measure
The proportion of real estate and business agents that submit an unqualified audit report or a
statutory declaration

Unqualified audit reports
Qualified audit reports
Statutory Declarations
No Audit reports
Total number of agents
% of agents submitting an
unqualified audit or Statutory
Declaration

2006/07
773
313
1028
56
2170
83

2007/08
778
355
1147
38
2318
83

2008/09
800
307
1200
17
2324
86.06

2009/10
823
289
1159
14
2285
86.74

2010/11
845
302
1361
28
2536
86.99

Notes to the indicator
The Act requires licensed agents to manage monies received for or on behalf of their principals
(clients) through a trust account. If a licensed agent does not receive or hold any money on
behalf of a person in the reporting period then they must submit a statutory declaration
confirming this to be deemed compliant. A licensed agent (individual) may work for a company
and it is then the company’s trust accounts that are audited.

55
Final Report 2010-2011

The Board placed significant reliance on audit reports to ensure that agents maintained their
trust accounts in accordance with the statutory requirements.
Since 2001–02, the Board maintained a ‘no tolerance’ policy towards agents who failed to
comply with the trust account auditing provisions of the Act. Where appropriate, the Board
commenced proceedings before the SAT alleging that there is proper cause for disciplinary
action regarding an agent or auditor’s conduct. Where it was found that there was proper cause
for disciplinary action against the agent, then sanctions were imposed by SAT, which included a
reprimand, a fine, suspension, cancellation of the agent’s licence and triennial certificate, and
temporary or permanent disqualification.
This year the number of agents has increased by 251. There were 22 more unqualified audits
and 13 more qualified audits. The proportion of auditors delivering unqualified audit reports and
agents submitting statutory declarations has increased this year, from 86.74 to 86.99 per cent.
It was believed that the increase in the number of unqualified reports was due to agents better
understanding their responsibilities with regards to trust accounts. This increase in education
and awareness was due to improved systems for proactive compliance visits and the
Compulsory Professional Development program, as well as through articles in REBA News and
the promotion of the publication Real estate trust accounting – A reference manual.
Although the Board was concerned about the number of audits that were qualified, it believed
that to some extent this was a consequence of auditors becoming increasingly more aware of
the expectations of the Board regarding auditing agents trust accounts. This resulted in more
audits being qualified for matters that are technical breaches and not considered significant.
This increased awareness can be attributed to the education program and industry seminars
run by the Board and its independence of auditor policy.
Of the qualifications raised by the auditors most related to insignificant matters, such as clerical
or titling errors by banks so that the agent’s triennial certificate number or trading name have
not been included on the trust account, reconciliations completed but done a few days late or
not signed and dated, and trust accounts overdrawn by very small amounts from a few cents to
a few dollars.
Those of a significant nature related to month end reconciliation problems, particularly timing,
failure to reconcile the primary trust accounts, and reconciliation of bonds with the Bond
Administrator.
This year the number of auditors who failed to deliver an audit report or a statutory declaration
decreased. This was due to better follow up procedures being introduced in relation to late audit
reports and statutory declarations.

Efficiency indicator
The average cost per licensed agent, of regulating the real estate and business broking
industry.
The Board provided a range of services aimed to ensure that real estate agents complied with
the requirements of the Act. The following indicator measures the efficiency with which the
Board achieved this.
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Measure
The total cost of regulating the industry divided by the number of active licensed agents in
Western Australia.
Annual cost5
Active licensed agents
Cost per active licensed
agent

2006/07
$6,132,312
2,170
$2,913.39

2007/08
$7,350,544
2,318
$3,171.07

2008/09
$8,239,771
2,324
$3,545.51

2009/10
$9,630,012
2,210
$4,357.47

2010/11
$9,986,819
2,536
$3,938.02

Notes to the indicator
The efficiency indicator is based on the cost of delivering the service for each active licensed
agent. In the 2010—11 financial year a total of $9,986,819 was expended on regulating an
industry with 2,536 active licensed agents.
The average cost of regulating the real estate and business broking industry for each licensed
agent decreased from $4,357.47 in 2009—10 to $3,938.02 this year.

5

The annual cost of regulating the real estate and business broking industry has been calculated using the total annual expenditure
of the Board less Fidelity Guarantee Account payments and First Home Buyers Grants made in that financial year. Fidelity
Guarantee Account payments have been excluded as these payments relate to the reimbursement of losses that were incurred by
the defalcation of a licensed real estate agent in previous financial years and therefore do not reflect on the true annual cost of
regulating the real estate and business broking industry. First Home Buyers Grants have been excluded as they do not impact on
the cost of regulating the real estate and business broking industry.
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES
Pricing policies of services provided
The Board conducted its annual review of its licensing fees in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006. This review was in line with the State Government’s policy that any
increases in fees are to be on a cost recovery basis. The Board’s recommendation that the fees
be increased by the agreed Consumer Price Index of 3 per cent was approved by the Minister
for Commerce and was submitted for formal approval and amendments to the relevant
regulations.

Capital Works
No capital works were completed by the Board in 2010-11.

Employment and industrial relations
Employee category

2009-10

2010-11

Full-time permanent

8

7

Full-time contract

2

1

Part-time measured on a FTE basis

0

0

On secondment

0

0

Staffing policies
The Board conducted four training sessions for Real Estate Branch employees to ensure
provision of consistent, accurate and high quality advice and service was delivered to industry
members and the public on behalf of the Board.

Industrial relations
The Board was not involved in any industrial disputes.

Workers' compensation
The Board did not receive any workers’ compensation claims in this reporting period, as in the
previous year.
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GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES
Contracts with senior officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior
officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Board and
senior officers.

Freedom of Information requests
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 allows members of the public to lodge requests for copies
of documents relating to the Board and its operations. The Board endeavoured to make
available as much information as possible. In the year 2010–11, the Board received one request
for information under the Freedom of Information Act 1992.
The Department provided an administrative function to the Board in relation to Freedom of
Information matters. People who wished to lodge a Freedom of Information application or obtain
the department’s Freedom of Information Statement were advised to contact the Freedom of
Information Coordinator for the Consumer Protection Division on 9282 0923.
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
Advertising
Under section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Board was required to report on expenditure
incurred using the following types of bodies to promote or market its services:
•
•
•
•
•

advertising agencies;
market research organisations;
polling organisations;
direct mail organisations; and
media organisations.

The Board reports that it did not incur any such expenditure in the reporting period 2010-11.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
The Board is not a public authority for the purposes of Schedule 1 of the Disability Services
Regulations 2004; however, it acknowledges and supports the principles applicable to people
with disabilities stated in Schedule 1 of the Disability Services Act 1993. Its Disability Access
and Inclusion Plan 2007–2011 expressed the Board’s commitment to ensuring that services
were delivered effectively to its employees, customers and the wider community. A copy of this
plan was available on the Board’s internet site.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and
ethical codes
The Board was required to comply with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource
Management and the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics in its dealings with
employees. During 2010–11, the Board did not receive any applications for breaches of the
standards.
Board members and employees were required to comply with the Code of Conduct for Board
Members and Officers 2007 (updated April 2009). The Code of Conduct for Board Members
and Officers 2007 set standards concerning the Board’s operational requirements and expected
behaviour of its members and employees as they carried out their day-to-day work. It also
provided guidance and practical assistance on what to do when faced with an ethical issue. An
electronic version of this document was available on the Board’s internet site.
When the Board was in session, members were required to act in accordance with their own
independent views and experiences, in the light of the role and purpose of the Board. Members
did not perform their duties in a manner that represented or protected the interests of any
particular organisation with which they were associated.
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Recordkeeping plan
The Board was required to have a recordkeeping plan as a government organisation for the
purposes of Schedule 1 of the State Records Act 2000. Employees of the Department of
Commerce who provided services to the Board through a Service Delivery Agreement were
required to attend records and document management training as part of their induction.
Additional training and relevant training material was available to employees upon request.
The Department has record keeping policies and standards which include the management of
emails. New employees receive the booklet Corporate Information - Record keeping essentials
which is also available on the department’s intranet.
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GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS
Substantive equality
The Department provided the Board with a range of services through a Service Delivery
Agreement and was required to report on the progress achieved in implementing the Policy
Framework for Substantive Equality. Please refer to the section ‘Substantive equality’ in the
Department of Commerce Annual Report 2010–11 for further information.

Occupational safety, health and injury
management
In carrying out its statutory functions and in its role as an employer the Board was committed to
providing a safe working environment and complied with the injury management requirements
of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.
Under its Occupational Safety and Health Management Plan the Board committed to providing
safety checks and basic first aid and occupational safety and health awareness training to its
employees.
Board employees had the opportunity to elect an Occupational Safety and Health
Representative in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984.
The Board Director was responsible for ensuring that Board employees complied with
Occupational Safety and Health requirements. The Board Director and the Occupational Safety
and Health Representative conducted regular workplace safety checks and regularly monitored
developments in health and safety legislation and management systems.
Board employees had the opportunity to access the Employee Assistance Program in the form
of confidential counselling services, which are provided free of charge.
An external accredited assessment of occupational safety and health management systems
was conducted in April 2008 that included a summary of findings.

Report on annual OSH performance 2010-11
Indicator

Target 2010–11

Result 2010–11

Number of fatalities

None

None (0)

Lost time injury/disease
(LTI/D) incidence rate

None or 10 per cent reduction
on previous year

None (0)

Lost time injury severity rate

None or 10 per cent
improvement on previous year

None (0)

Percentage of injured workers
returned to work within 28
weeks

Actual percentage result to be
reported

None (0)

Percentage of managers
trained in occupational safety,
health and injury management
responsibilities

Greater than or equal to 50
per cent

33.33 per cent
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APPENDIX
The following table provided details and results of concluded State Administrative Tribunal
disciplinary matters during the period 1 July 2010 – 30 June 2011.
VR
42 of
2010

Respondents
Memet
Demiroski

128
of
2010

Richard
Masson Moody

138
of
2010

1st Respondent
KRACM Pty Ltd

Findings
On 2 December 2008 the
respondent was convicted on his
own confession of an offence that
between 1 March 2001 and 22 June
2007 he, with intent to defraud by
deceit or fraudulent means,
obtained the sum of $75,000 from
the buyer of a business.
While in the employment of a
licensed real estate agent the
respondent acted as and carried out
the functions of a real estate sales
representative when he was not the
holder of a current certificate of
registration or the holder of a current
triennial certificate contrary to
section 44(1) of the Real Estate and
Business Agents Act 1978 (the Act).
The 1st respondent breached
sections 103(2)(c)(ii)&(iii) of the Act,
when it:
a) received commission when it did
not have a current authority to
act in writing contrary to section
60(3) of the Act;
b) acted as and represented to be
the agent for a property
transaction without a current
written authority to do so in that it
negotiated the sale of the
property and drew up the Offer
and Acceptance contract
contrary to article 4(1) of the
Code of Conduct for Agents and
Sales Representatives (the Code
of Conduct) ; and
c) advertised the property for sale
and displayed a notice of sale
when it did not have a current
written authority to do so
contrary to article 4(3) of the
Code of Conduct.
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Penalty
Suspension of
certificate of
registration and is
disqualified from
being re-registered
until December
2010.

Costs
$1,000 costs in
clear funds to be
paid no later than
14 December
2010.

$1,500 fine to be
paid within 6
months of the date
of the order.

No order as to
costs.

$3,000 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

$500 costs to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

VR
138
of
2010

Respondents
2nd
Respondent
Padmapani
Abeywickrema

Findings
The 2nd respondent breached
section 103(4)(c)(iii) of the Act by
failing to exercise skill, care and
diligence when they:
a) acted as and represented to be
a sales representative on
behalf of the sellers, when he,
as an employee and Director of
the first respondent, knew the
first respondent did not have a
current written authority to do
so in that he negotiated the
sale and drew up the Offer and
Acceptance contract on behalf
of the Professionals and
caused the property to be
advertised with himself as the
contract person;
b) did not complete the property
details (namely the Lot, Plan,
Volume and Folio details) prior
to the parties signing the
contract and then completed
those details sometime after
signing;
c) amended the deposit amount
on the Contract after it had
been signed by the parties and
failed to have the parties initial
the amendment; and
d) signed as witness the Variation
to the Contract dated 6
February 2009, prior to the
sellers signing the Contract.
The 1st respondent breached
sections 60(3), 61(5) and 61(4) of
the Act.

153
of
2010

1st respondent
Morgan Realty
Pty Ltd

153
of
2010

2nd respondent
Phillip DaviesMorgan

The 2nd respondent breached
article 5 of the Code of Conduct.

153
of
2010

3rd respondent
Salvatore
Messina

The 3rd respondent failed to
properly supervise the business of
the 1st respondent and take steps to
prevent breaches of the Act and the
Code of Conduct.

Penalty
$1,500 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order

Costs
$500 costs to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order

$1,000 fine to be
paid within 21 days
of the date of the
order and
Real Estate licence
to be suspended
for 2 years from
the date of the
order.
Licence suspended
for 2 years from
date of the order.

No order as to
costs at 30 June
2011.

Agents licence and
Triennial certificate
is suspended for 2
years from the date
of the order.

No order as to
costs.

No order as to
costs to date.
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VR
234
of
2010

Respondents
1st respondent
Joel Winkley

234
of
2010

2nd respondent
AMG Real
Estate Pty Ltd

234
of
2010

3rd respondent
Ian Moffet

208
of
2010

Kevin Ian
Mahney

Findings
The 1st respondent carried out
functions of a sales representative
and received remuneration as an
employee of the 2nd respondent
when he did not hold a current
certificate of registration contrary to
section 44(1) of the Act.
Contrary to section 54(1) of the Act
the 2nd respondent employed the
1st respondent and provided
remuneration by way of wages for
carrying out the functions of a sales
representative whilst he was not
registered.
The respondent failed to act
according to article 6(2) of the Code
of Conduct in that they failed to
properly supervise the business of
the 2nd respondent, in that he failed
to ensure persons employed to
carry out the functions of a real
estate sales representative were
registered in accordance with the
Act.
The respondent:
a) contrary to section 68(4) of the
Act withdrew money from the
trust account of Blue Chip
Investments by Shoreline Pty
Ltd (in liquidation) when not
authorised to do so;
b) breached section 68(5) of the
Act and paid monies withdrawn
from the above account to
agency’s general account and
expended those monies;
c) breached section 68(6)(a) of
the Act in that he failed to keep
full records of monies received
and payments made by the
agency;
d) contrary to article 5(1) of the
Code of Conduct, did not act
fairly and honestly in causing
unauthorised withdrawals, and
use of monies, from above trust
account; and
e) contrary to article 6(2) of the
Code of Conduct, failed to
properly supervise the agency
and take steps to ensure it
complied with the Act.
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Penalty
$1,000 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

Costs
$250 costs to be
paid within 28 days
of the order.

$1,000 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

$250 costs to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

$1,000 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

$250 costs to be
paid within 28 days
of the date of the
order.

Agents licence and
Triennial certificate
is suspended for 5
years from the date
of the order.

$1,000.00 to be
paid within 90 days
of this order.

VR
78 of
2010

Respondents
1st respondent
Exclusive
Waterfront
Properties Pty
Ltd

78 of
2010

2nd respondent
Ronald George
Smith

Findings
The first respondent:
a) contrary to section 68(1) of the
Act failed to credit monies,
received from Seafarer Holding
Pty Ltd (Seafarer), in regards to
a transaction to their trust
account;
b) breached article 13(1) of the
Code of Conduct by failing to
supply information in order to
satisfy Seafarer that expenses
which could be validly claimed
were properly incurred and as
to the amount of the expenses;
and
c) breached article 15(2) of the
Code of Conduct by retaining
reimbursement for expenses
incurred in respect of
advertising which were not
agreed to by Seafarer.
The second respondent:
a) contrary to article 6(2) of the
Code of Conduct failed to
properly supervise the
business of the first respondent
in regards to the matter above.

Penalty
Total of $2,700 in
fines to be paid
within 28 days of
this order.

Costs
$3,500.00 to be
paid jointly with the
second respondent
within 28 days of
this order.

$1,300 fine to be
paid within 28 days
of this order.

$3,500.00 to be
paid jointly with the
first respondent
within 28 days of
this order.
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Government of Western Australia
Department of Commerce

SETTLEMENT AGENTS SUPERVISORY BOARD

Final Report
2010 > 2011

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
For year ended 30 June 2011

Hon Simon O’Brien MLC
Minister for Finance; Commerce; Small Business
In accordance with section 72 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your
information and presentation to Parliament, the Final Report of the Settlement Agents
Supervisory Board for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.
The Final Report has been prepared in accordance with section 112 of the Settlement Agents
Act 1981 which applies the relevant provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 and the
Auditor General Act 2006.

Reporting Officer
7 September 201

Contact details
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Locked Bag 14
Cloisters Square PO
PERTH WA 6850

Street
Level 6
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Electronic
Internet:
www.commerce.wa.gov.au
Email:
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Telephone: 1300 30 40 54
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Highlights for 2010-11
Board and other proceedings
During the reporting period 1 July 2010 – 30 June 2011 the Board:
 convened for 12 board meetings;
 convened for 3 licensing hearings;
 commenced 8 disciplinary proceedings against agents in the State Administrative Tribunal
(the SAT);

Achievements
During the reporting period 1 July 2010 – 30 June 2011 the Board:
 processed 37 applications for new licences;
 processed 180 applications for triennial certificate renewal;
 assessed and acknowledged 53 new general compliance investigations;
 completed 26 trust account investigations;
 completed 76 investigations into qualified audits;
 issued 61 educational and 11 breach non-compliance letters to industry from the Registrar;
 made 114 proactive compliance visits to settlement agencies across WA; and
 had 9 core and elective CPD seminars conducted on its behalf by West Coast Property
Training (WCPT) and 1 elective CPD seminars held by the Australian Institute of
Conveyancers (AICWA).

Reporting Officer
7 September 2011
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE
Enabling Legislation
The Settlement Agents Supervisory Board (the Board) was the independent statutory authority
established under the Settlement Agents Act 1981 (the Act) to regulate people who conduct
settlement transactions in Western Australia.
The Board administered the Act, the Settlement Agents Regulations 1982 (the Regulations),
and the Settlement Agents’ Code of Conduct 1982 (the Code of Conduct).

Responsible Minister
The Hon Simon O’Brien MLC took over responsibility as the Minister for Commerce on 14
December 2010. Throughout the reporting period until 13 December 2010 the responsible
minister was the Hon Bill Marmion BE MBA MLA.

Mission
The Board’s goal was to ensure that the people of Western Australia had confidence in the
settlement industry.
The core values and conduct that helped the Board achieve this desired outcome were:
Accountability: The Board served the needs of the public through the government in a
professional, responsible and accountable manner.
Integrity: The Board dealt with its members and staff, with the industry and the public on the
basis of trust, understanding and respect for differing views and interests. The Board performed
its functions in a fair and open manner.
Professionalism: The Board performed its services to the best of its ability with optimum use of
resources and with a focus on continuously improving quality, productivity, and professional
development.
Responsiveness: The Board endeavoured to provide high quality information and services to
the government, industry, and the public.
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Organisational structure
Board structure
The Board was fully funded by industry in the form of:
 licensing revenue;
 interest earned on money held in agents’ trust accounts; and
 interest earned on retained funds.
This money was used to finance the statutory functions of the Board to the settlement industry
and the community of Western Australia. The statutory functions were provided by means of the
following services:
Licensing: involved the quality control of people seeking to enter the settlement industry for the
first time and of those already licensed in that industry.
Compliance: ensured that licensed settlement agents complied with the relevant legislation and
financial reporting requirements, and those that undertook unlicensed activity were stopped
from doing so.
Education and Awareness: aimed to encourage awareness of ‘best practice’ throughout the
settlement industry through activities such as proactive visits, the Compulsory Professional
Development (CPD) program, seminars, publications and through the Board’s website.
Fidelity Guarantee Account: centred on the assessment of reimbursement claimed from
consumers who have suffered pecuniary loss or loss of property through the criminal or
fraudulent actions of a licensed settlement agent who holds a current triennial certificate, in the
course of the business of that agent. This also included the actions of such agent’s employees.
Service Delivery Agreement
The Board contracted the Department of Commerce (the Department) to provide services under
a Service Delivery Agreement (SDA). These services assisted the Board to carry out its
functions. The SDA set out the services and performance measures between the Board and the
Department, in accordance with government output based management requirements.
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Organisational chart

Parliament of Western Australia
Minister for Commerce
Settlement Agents
Supervisory Board

Department of Commerce

Director

Registrar

Board
Secretary

Policy &
Research
Officer

Business Services
Directorate

Board
Solicitor

Legal
Associate

Executive
Officer

Board
Support
Officer
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Consumer Protection
Division

Real Estate
Branch

Articled
Clerk

Proactive
Compliance
Section

General
Compliance
Section

Financial
Compliance
Section

Communication &
Education

Board
Services
Section

Trust &
Fidelity
Section

Members of the Board
The required composition of the Board was set out in section 6 of the Act. There were five
members of the Board appointed by the Governor of Western Australia:
 one was a person who was not a licensed agent who was also appointed Chair;
 one was a person who was a legal practitioner and not a licensed agent;
 one was person who was experienced in commercial practice and not a licensed agent; and
 two were to be licensed agents elected by licensed agents to the position.
Chair: Ms Mirina Muir
Ms Muir brought to the position extensive experience as a legal practitioner
with a background in education, mediation and arbitration. She is also a
chartered international arbitrator and accredited mediator. Ms Muir
previously held the position as the legal practitioner member for the
Settlement Agents Supervisory Board from 2001 until 2005. Ms Muir is
currently a General Manager for the DORIC Group.
Legal Practitioner Member: Mr Steven Phillips
Mr Phillips is a legal practitioner operating his own law firm. Mr Phillips has
been the legal member since September 2005. He was previously, since
March 2003, the deputy legal practitioner member.
Deputy Member: Ms Sabina Schlink

Commercial Member: Mr Rod Lane
Mr Lane is a Fellow of the Australian Society of Practising Accountants, a
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries Australia, and an Associate
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management. He has been a member
of the Board since October 2005. He operates his own private
management company.
Deputy Member: Mr Brian Darling
Elected Member: Ms Judith Pinczuk
Ms Pinczuk is one of two members elected for appointment by licensed
settlement agents. She has spent most of her life in the industry, been
licensed as a real estate settlement agent since 1988 and has operated
her own agency for over 12 years. Ms Pinczuk has been a member of the
Board since June 2003.
Deputy Member: Mr Dominic Loiacono
Elected Member: Mr Stephen Britten
Mr Britten has over 10 years experience in the settlement industry and
operates his own private settlement agency. Mr Britten has been with the
Board since 2008 and prior to his appointment as one of two elected
members, he was deputy to the elected member position.
Deputy Member: Vacant
Elected Member: Ms Valerie Haskins
Ms Haskins was one of two members elected for appointment by licensed
settlement agents. She is a licensed real estate settlement agent with
33 years’ experience in the industry, and has operated her own agency for
23 years. Ms Haskins was a member of the Board from July 1995 until she
stepped down as Board member on 8 December 2010.
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Board staff
The Board engaged nine staff. The Director, Board Solicitor, Legal Associate, Articled Clerk,
Board Executive Officer and Board Support Officer were employed in a joint-funding
arrangement with the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board. The Registrar,
Research and Policy Officer and Board Secretary were employed solely by the Board.

Role of senior staff
Director
The Director was the Chief Employee and Chief Financial Officer of the Board and provided
advice and assistance to the Board in its day-to-day operations. The Director was also
responsible for ensuring that the Board’s policies and strategies for regulating the settlement
industry were implemented and monitored.
The Director managed the Board’s financial and human resources, oversaw legal services,
assisted with planning and strategic issues and represented the Board in negotiating,
monitoring, and reporting on contracts with external providers, including the Service Delivery
Agreement with the Department of Commerce.
The Director also assisted the Board to comply with legislation relevant to its statutory
obligations.
Board Solicitor
The Board Solicitor managed legal and policy services for the Board. This included providing
advice to the Board, and its staff and inspectors on the interpretation and application of
legislation administered by the Board. The Board Solicitor also provided advice on other matters
relevant to the Board, such as the conduct of proceedings before the Board, the SAT and the
courts.
Registrar
The Registrar assisted in overseeing the operations of the Board and provided leadership and
guidance to Board and branch staff. The Registrar assisted the Director on policy, legislative
and operational issues that may impact on the Board’s viability or ability to meet legislative
requirements. It was the Registrar’s duty to contribute as a member of a number of staff and
Board sub-committees to assist in the management, development, implementation and
evaluation of Board objectives and policies and manage Board projects as directed.
The Registrar was also responsible for determining or advising how investigations were
conducted.
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Other key legislation impacting on the Board
In the performance of its functions, the Board complied with the following relevant written laws:
Auditor General Act 2006;
Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913;
Disabilities Services Act 1993;
Electoral Act 1907;
Equal Opportunity Act 1984;
Fair Trading Act 1987;
Financial Management Act 2006;
Freedom of Information Act 1992;
Legal Profession Act 2008;
Magistrates Court Act 2004;
Mutual Recognition (Western Australia) Act 2010;
Mutual Recognition Act 2010 (Cwlth);
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984;
Public Sector Management Act 1994;
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003;
State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004;
State Records Act 2000;
State Supply Commission Act 1991;
Strata Titles Act 1985
Supreme Court Act 1935; and
Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK
Outcome Based Management framework
The key service of the Board was to regulate the settlement industry. This was achieved
through the discharge of its statutory functions: licensing, compliance, education and
awareness, and the Fidelity Guarantee Account. The effective regulation of the industry enabled
the Board to achieve its desired outcome that people could have confidence in the industry.
This ultimately contributed to meeting the Government’s goal of achieving results for the benefit
of all Western Australians.
Government goal
Outcomes Based Service Delivery
Greater focus on achieving results
in key service delivery areas for the
benefit of all Western Australians.

Board’s desired outcome
The people of Western
Australia have confidence
in the settlement industry.

Service
Regulation of the settlement
industry through the
discharge of the Board’s
statutory functions.

Changes to Outcome Based Management framework
The Board’s Outcome Based Management framework did not change during 2010–11.

Shared responsibilities with other agencies
The Board did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2010–11.
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Agency performance
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS
Service one: Licensing
Strategic objectives
The Board’s 2010–11 reporting period objectives were to:
 administer the scheme of licensing in accordance with the Act;
 assess the fitness1 of people entering the industry; and
 audit the computer databases to ensure the information recorded was accurate.

Performance
In 2010–11 the Board was able to achieve the following outcomes:
 37 applications for new settlement agent licences processed;
 180 applications for triennial certificate renewal processed;
 97.14 per cent of new licence applicants advised of the outcome of their application within
eight days of a Board decision;
 More than 98.84 per cent of agents applying to renew their triennial certificate advised of
the outcome of their application within seven days of the Registrar’s decision; and

Overview
All settlement agents require a licence as well as a current triennial certificate in order to carry
on business in Western Australia. The licence issued by the Board was continuous, while the
triennial certificate was issued for a period of three years at a time.
The Board assesses licence applications to ensure that only suitably qualified people entered
the industry as settlement agents. To create high standards of practice and behaviour in the
industry, uniform minimum standards of competency apply.
In 2010–11, the Board received 37 applications for settlement agent licences. This figure
represents a decrease of 5.1 per cent below that reported for 2009–10. During the reporting
period the Board conducted 3 recorded licensing interviews.

Settlement agent licensing fees
The fees charged by the Board in accordance with the Settlement Agents Regulations 1982 for
real estate and business settlement agent licensing applications during the reporting period
were as follows:
New agent applications:
Individual
Firm or partnership / Body corporate

$818
$1,024

Agent renewal applications:
Individual / Firm / Body corporate

$580

Note: These fees were inclusive of a Fidelity Guarantee Account payment of $150.

1

Section 27(1)(b) of the Settlement Agents Act 1981, states that to be granted and hold a licence an applicant must be “a person
of good character and repute and a fit and proper person”. The Board considers this and a number of factors set out in s27 of the
Act when considering the suitability of an applicant.
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Holding fee
Agents who wish to continue to remain a licensee, but do not want to carry on business, be a
person in bona-fide in control, or hold a triennial certificate may do so by paying a holding fee of
$202. This places their licence on hold for a period of three years. At the end of the reporting
period, 53 real estate settlement agents and 0 business settlement agents had their licences on
hold.

Licensing kit
A licensing kit that provided information for new licence holders was available on the Board’s
website. The kit consisted of information on setting up a trust account, auditing processes,
settlement fee scales, and the CPD guide. The licensing kit also contained a fact sheet titled
Licensing of settlement agents that included information for agents in other states and territories
of Australia who may be seeking a Western Australian licence under the Mutual Recognition
(Western Australia) Act 2010 and the Mutual Recognition Act 2010 (Cwlth).
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Service two: Compliance
Strategic objectives
In 2010–11, the Board strived to meet the following objectives:
 that prompt, accurate advice was given to industry members and the public;
 that prompt action was taken against agents who failed to comply with the requirements of
the Settlement Agents Act 1981 (the Act), the Settlement Agents Regulations 1982 (the
Regulations) and the Settlement Agents’ Code of Conduct 1982 (the Code of Conduct);
 that complaints were investigated promptly and dealt with by the Board or Registrar in a
timely manner;
 that qualified audit reports were investigated; and
 that in appropriate cases the Board commenced proceedings before the State
Administrative Tribunal (the SAT) or directed the Registrar to bring prosecutions in the
Magistrates Court.

Performance
In 2010–11 the Board was able to achieve the following outcomes:
In general compliance
 55 investigations commenced;
 57 investigations completed;
 97.30 per cent of investigations acknowledged within seven calendar days; and
 More than 74.54 per cent of investigations commenced within 14 calendar days.
In financial compliance
 73 qualified audit investigations commenced;
 76 investigations into qualified audits completed;
 93.15 per cent of qualified audit investigations commenced within seven calendar days;
 23 trust account investigations commenced;
 26 trust account investigations completed; and
 91.3 per cent of trust account investigations commenced within 14 calendar days.

General compliance
This year saw an increase in the number of new investigations commenced into the conduct of
agents. In 2010–11 the Board commenced 55 investigations, compared to 42 in the previous
reporting period.
At 30 June 2011, 41 investigations were still outstanding and will now be the responsibility of
the Department of Commerce to finalise.
In 2010–11, the Registrar closed 176 investigations, and issued 11 breach non-compliance
letters and 61 advisory letters.
In this reporting period, the Board commenced 8 proceedings in the SAT, 6 of which were
completed. No matters were commenced in the Magistrates Court.
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Financial compliance
During 2010–11, the Board commenced 73 investigations into qualified audit reports compared
to 50 from the previous reporting period. It is believed this increase was due to a combination of
an influx of new auditors, an increased amount of minor issues being picked up by auditors and
an internal restructure within the Department which resulted in an overly cautious approach
when determining whether audits should be investigated. It should also be noted that a high
volume of the investigations were closed with no action taken.
There were also 26 trust account investigations commenced in 2010–11 compared to 27 from
the previous reporting period.
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Service three: Education and awareness
Strategic objectives
In 2010–11, the Board met the following education and awareness objectives:
 conducted proactive compliance visits to settlement agencies that have not received a visit
for three years;
 provided a counter information service to members of the public and industry;
 provided a telephone information service to members of the public and industry;
 developed educational material, including booklets and fact sheets, for distribution to
members of the public and industry;
 conducted training sessions for branch staff to ensure the provision of consistent, accurate
and high quality advice and service to members of the public and industry;
 published the quarterly newsletter, Settlement Agents News, for distribution to licensees,
auditors and members of the public who wish to receive a copy;
 published regular e-Bulletins as needed; and
 provided the most up-to-date information on the Board’s website.

Performance
In 2010–11 the Board achieved the following outcomes:
 114 proactive compliance visits of settlement agencies were completed across Western
Australia;
 Four issues of the Settlement Agents News were published and distributed to all licensees,
auditors and members of the public who requested a copy; and
 16 e-Bulletins were issued; including
 1 special edition of the Settlement Agent News concerning the transfer of responsibility from
the Board to the Department which was published and distributed in both electronic and
physical formats

Proactive compliance
During 2010-11, the Board conducted 114 proactive visits to agencies, a 4 per cent decrease
from the 119 agencies visited in 2009–10. Of those visits 23 were new agencies. Focus was on
new agents and those considered a higher risk (for example agents who have received a
qualified audit report). Proactive compliance visits were carried out in accordance with a
standard process, which included examining:
 whether correspondence and documents conform to the Act, the Regulations and the Code
of Conduct;
 whether agents were exercising control over the issue and signing of trust cheques;
 the correct timing of the drawing of the agent’s fees;
 whether the agency has up-to-date copies of legislative requirements; and
 whether bank reconciliations were completed in compliance with the Act.
Where non-compliance was identified, practical advice and guidance was given, within reason,
on how the agency may correct the problem, and comply with the requirements of the Act, the
Regulations and the Code of Conduct. If the non-compliance was serious the visit was stopped.
The majority of feedback received from agents who have participated in the program indicates
that the proactive compliance visits were helpful and informative.
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Information services
In 2010–11, people seeking information on settlement matters were able to call the Real Estate
and Settlement Advice Line for the cost of a local call statewide. 91.1 per cent of calls to this
line were answered within 40 seconds. All settlement-specific calls were transferred directly to
and dealt with by the Board’s settlement compliance staff via the dedicated Settlement Agents
Advice Line.
The main areas of enquiry related to difficult settlements, Compulsory Professional
Development and the Australia Post renewal process.

Compulsory Professional Development
The Board’s Compulsory Professional Development (CPD) initiative continued in the second
half of 2010 for all individual licensed settlement agents, and the strong compliance rates
showed that the settlement industry continued to embrace the program. The positive feedback
received indicated that the topics presented in 2010 were of great benefit and use to attendees,
and the Board ensured there were ample opportunities for agents to attend courses. In these six
months, a total of nine core and elective CPD sessions were conducted on behalf of the Board
by West Coast Property Training (WCPT).
Improved reporting facilities and procedures within the Real Estate Branch resulted in tighter
monitoring of CPD compliance across the industry and this resulted in increased rates of
compliance. Throughout the financial year, the Board continued to assess CPD elective activity
applications from training providers and approve those which it felt would add real value to the
program. The Board resolved to extend the contract awarded to WCPT to write and deliver the
core and prescribed CPD activities to the settlement industry in 2011.
In the first six months of 2011, a total of 8 core and elective sessions were held by WCPT and
the Board continued to stress the importance of maintaining compliance through its varied
publications. Crucially, it also expressed the need to continue meeting the CPD requirements
after the Board’s abolition on 30 June 2011 and that adherence with the program will be
checked at the time of renewal. Three and a half years after the CPD program was introduced,
the Board remains assured that its principal aims of increasing consumer protection and the
knowledge, skills and professionalism of those working in the settlement industry are being met.

Education funding
The Board provided financial support to promote its education objectives. The Board used a
prescribed proportion of the interest earned from settlement agents' trust accounts for this
purpose.

Settlement Agents News
The Settlement Agents News was mailed to all licensees and their auditors on a quarterly basis
to provide information on industry practice issues, legislative amendments and updates on
requirements such as the CPD program. All recent and archived editions could be downloaded
from the Board’s website, and are now available on the Consumer Protection website.
A special edition of the Settlement Agents News concerning the transfer of responsibility from
the Board to the Department was published and distributed in both electronic and physical
formats. The newsletter was issued to approximately 1200 recipients each quarter and was also
available to the public free of charge.
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SASB e-Bulletin
The SASB e-Bulletins proved to be a convenient way for the industry to receive updates on
issues relevant to the conveyancing industry in Western Australia. Distributed monthly, or more
frequently if required, the communiqué was sent from the Board to industry members who opted
to be on its mailing list. Its popularity grew to nearly 500 recipients who were alerted to the latest
settlement updates from the Board, Landgate, the Office of State Revenue and CPD training
providers. Hyperlinks throughout the e-Bulletins gave readers instant electronic access to
relevant email contacts, websites and corresponding articles.

Website
The Board’s website was an essential tool in the provision of advice to industry participants and
the public. The website featured important information regarding licensing and renewal
requirements, compliance and the CPD program. Industry participants could view past editions
of the Settlement Agents News and the SASB e-Bulletin. They could also view the Board’s
policies and relevant legislation.
The website similarly served to educate members of the public who could access electronic
versions of consumer publications, a register of settlement agent licence holders and
information about the Fidelity Guarantee Account and how to lodge a complaint.
The online settlement calculator allowed home buyers and sellers to calculate maximum
settlement fees particular to their situation. Home buyers and sellers could also access
information about the offer and acceptance and settlement processes.
The majority of relevant content on the website will continue to be reviewed and updated,
however it will be transferred to the Consumer Protection website in order to ensure that the
information available remains as organised and accurate as possible.

Publications
The Board produced eight publications, which provided important information to both industry
and members of the public on topical issues relevant to real estate and business settlement
transactions. These publications were:
 A guide to auditing settlement agents’ trust accounts;
 A guide to investigations and disciplinary proceedings;
 A guide to the Compulsory Professional Development program for settlement agents
operating in Western Australia;
 Choosing a settlement agent;
 Information for complainants - settlement industry;
 Licensing of settlement agents;
 Property settlement; and
 SASB Trust account handbook
The Board also produced, in conjunction with the Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory
Board, a joint publication titled Complaint handling guidelines for the settlement and real estate
industries.
In 2010–11, the Board completed full reviews of all of the above publications except for
Information for complainants – settlement industry, and A guide to investigations and
disciplinary proceedings (as both booklets will be incorporated into a Consumer Protection
publication), and Choosing a settlement agent and Licensing of settlement agents (which were
reviewed in full in the previous reporting period). All publications were available on the Board’s
website and most could be delivered on request in hard copy format.
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Service four: Fidelity Guarantee Account
Strategic objectives
The purpose of the Fidelity Guarantee Account (the FGA) is to provide financial reimbursement
to people who suffer pecuniary loss or loss of property through the criminal or fraudulent actions
of a licensee who holds a current triennial certificate, in the course of the business of that
licensee. This also includes the actions of such licensee’s employees.

Performance
In 2010–11 the Board was able to achieve the following outcomes:
 22 claims lodged against the FGA;
 17 claims finalised;

Overview
The FGA is financed through contributions from agents, interest on agents' trust accounts, and
interest generated on the FGA. The FGA is kept at Treasury, forming part of the trust fund
constituted under section 16 of the Financial Management Act 2006. Money standing to the
credit of the FGA is invested with Treasury, and income derived from this is credited to the FGA.
The criteria for making a claim are:
 the applicant has suffered financial loss or loss of property;
 the loss was due to the defalcation (which includes criminal or fraudulent conduct) of a
licensee or their employee;
 the licensee holds a current triennial certificate; and
 the loss occurred in the course of the business of the licensee.

Fidelity Guarantee Account claims lodged
Financial year

2006–07

2007–08

2008-09

2009–10

2010–11

Number of claims

9

1

0

0

22

The Board published an information bulletin designed to assist claimants in completing the form.
This is now available on Consumer Protection’s website and contains information about the
FGA, including eligibility criteria and an overview of the claim process.
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ACTUAL RESULTS VERSUS BUDGET
TARGETS
Financial targets
2010–11 Target

1

2010–11 Actual

Variation

Total cost of services
(expense limit)

$3,185,408

$2,990,162

($192,246)

Net cost of services

$4,069,813

$3,852,972

($216,841)

Approved full time
equivalent (FTE) staff
level

4.2

3.9

(0.3)

Summary of Key Performance Indicators
2010–11 Target
3

2010–11 Actual

Variation

2

Board’s desired outcome:
The people of Western Australia
have confidence in the
settlement industry.
Key effectiveness indicator:
The extent to which settlement
agents and others comply with
the requirements of the
Settlement Agents Act 1981, the
Settlement Agents Regulations
1982 and the Settlement Agents’
Code of Conduct 1982 in relation
to the management of their trust
accounts.

88 per cent

82.30 per cent

(5.7) per cent

Service:
Regulation of the settlement
industry through the
discharge of the Board’s
statutory functions.
Key efficiency indicator:
The average cost per licensed
agent, of regulating the
settlement industry.

$6,604.89

$6,132.15

($472.74)

1

As specified in the budget statements for the year in question.
Explanations for the variations between target and actual results were presented in the ‘Notes to the indicator’ in the section
‘Detailed information in support of Key Performance Indicators’.
3
Figure rounded down to nearest whole number from preceding year’s actual percentage.
2
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Significant issues
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CURRENT AND EMERGING ISSUES AND
TRENDS
Consumer Protection replaces the Board
On 25 November 2010, legislation was passed by the Western Australian State Parliament to
transfer responsibility for regulation of the conveyancing industry from the Settlement Agents
Supervisory Board (the Board) to the Department of Commerce (the Department) and the
Commissioner for Consumer Protection. The operations of the Board wound up on 30 June
2011 with transfer of its responsibilities occurring from 1 July 2011.
This change was part of the State Government’s commitment to reducing the number of
statutory Boards and committees in WA. Abolition of the Board, along with three other statutory
licensing Boards, will result in a more streamlined operating structure with a single regulator
across a number of property-related occupational areas and better integration with generalist
laws such as the Australian Consumer Law. The changes also position the local conveyancing
industry for the national harmonisation of licensing under the National Occupational Licensing
System, which is expected to begin on July 1, 2013.
From July 2011 the licensing authority of the Board has been vested in the Commissioner for
Consumer Protection, and the Board’s financial responsibilities moved to the Director General
of the Department.

Australian Consumer Law
On 1 January 2011 a uniform Australian Consumer Law came into operation at the
Commonwealth level and in every State and Territory in Australia, meaning the basic consumer
laws are the same throughout Australia. The Australian Consumer Law is heavily based on
provisions in the Trade Practices Act 1974 and the Fair Trading Act 1987.
For transactions that took place before 1 January 2011 then the former law applies. For those
transactions Fair Trading Act 1987, the Consumer Affairs Act 1971 or the Door to Door Trading
Act 1987 still apply. For transactions that take place after 1 January 2011 the Fair Trading Act
2010 and/or the Australian Consumer Law apply.
The Fair Trading Act 2010 applies the Australian Consumer Law as set out on 1 January 2011
in Schedule 2 to the Commonwealth's Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (what used to be
called the Trade Practices Act 1974) as the Australian Consumer Law (WA). The ACCC will
administer the Commonwealth's version of the Australian Consumer Law and the Department of
Commerce will administer the Australian Consumer Law (WA).
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CHANGES IN WRITTEN LAW
Duties Act Amendments and Revenue Online
The Office of State Revenue introduced amendments to the Duties Act 2008 in respect of the
lodgement and payment arrangements to all dutiable transactions in early March 2011. These
amendments required all transactions to be lodged with the Office of State Revenue within two
months from the date of execution, regardless of whether the transaction is unconditional or not.
In connection with these legislative changes, the Office of State Revenue (OSR) enhanced its
Revenue Online system known as ROL. ROL allows users to self-assess approved
transactions and pay the assessed duty at settlement, providing a Special Tax Return
Arrangement was agreed between a Responsible Party (usually a conveyancer, lawyer or other
party) and the Commissioner of State Revenue.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
National Occupational Licensing System
The National Occupational Licensing System (NOLS) is scheduled to commence for settlement
agents from 1 July 2013. The Board was mindful of ensuring that the settlement industry
remained informed of any developments as it will impact heavily on the way settlement agents
practice in Western Australia.

Review of the Settlement Agents Code of
Conduct 1982
The Settlements Agents Code of Conduct 1982 (‘The Code’) was put up for review by the Board
in the latter half of 2010. The Board’s legal counsel was engaged to offer any input, and make
any suggestions for changes. The review is currently being undertaken by the Legislation and
Policy Branch of the Consumer Protection Division of the Department of Commerce.

National Electronic Conveyancing System
As part of the development of the National Electronic Conveyancing System (NECS), January
2010 saw the establishment of National E-Conveyancing Development Ltd (NECDL). The role
of NECDL is to progress the work previously being guided by the National Steering Committee.
The Department will ensure it remains up to date with information regarding the move towards
electronic conveyancing and the development of NECS, as it will significantly affect the
settlement industry in Western Australia.

Deregulation of fees
A major review of the fees of the Settlement Agents Supervisory Board was completed by the
Paxon Group (formerly Stamfords) in 2009-2010. In July/August 2010 the Board, after
considering the findings and recommendations of the Paxon review, developed some proposals
regarding the re-structuring of the fees prescribed within the Settlement Agents Remuneration
Notice 2008. These were submitted to the then Minister for Commerce the Hon Bill Marmion
MLA, and are still under consideration by the current Minister, the Hon Simon O’Brien MLC.
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Disclosures and legal
compliance
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AUDITOR GENERAL’S OPINION
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Certification of financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011
The accompanying financial statements of the Board have been prepared in compliance with
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to
present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 and the
financial position as at 30 June 2011.
At the date of signing I am not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Reporting Officer
7 September 2011
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ADDITIONAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR INFORMATION
Certification of Key Performance Indicators
I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant
and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Board’s performance, and fairly represent the
performance of the Board for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.

Reporting Officer
7 September 2011
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Detailed information in support of Key Performance
Indicators
Statutory role of the Board
The Board acted in the public interest as the regulatory authority for the settlement industry in
Western Australia. A statutory function required of the Board was to supervise persons who
carried on the business of, or hold themselves out to be, settlement agents.

Outcome
At the highest level, the desired outcome of the Board was that the people of Western Australia,
both the industry and the public, had confidence in the settlement industry.

Effectiveness indicator
The extent to which settlement agents and others comply with the requirements of the
Settlement Agents Act 1981, the Settlement Agents Regulations 1982 and the Settlement
Agents’ Code of Conduct 1982 in relation to the management of their trust accounts.
The Board aimed to positively influence the behaviour of industry participants through effective
compliance activities. The extent to which the people of Western Australia could be confident
that the settlement industry operates in accordance with regulatory requirements was assessed
by the level of compliance relating to the management of trust accounts.
The Board’s experience was that the extent of compliance in respect to trust accounts was the
best single test providing a reliable indication of the extent to which agents were generally
complying with the requirements of the Act. Breaches in relation to the management of trust
accounts usually indicate other problems or breaches that may be occurring within an agency.
An independent auditor, who has conducted an examination of an agent’s trust account
management, provided the Board with an audit opinion. An unqualified opinion was issued
when the auditor considered the agent’s trust accounts are, and have been during the period of
the audit, kept in order. One aim of independent scrutiny was to provide a level of confidence
regarding the management of the trust accounts. Therefore, the extent to which auditors submit
unqualified audit opinions in relation to agents’ trust accounts was an indication of the degree of
confidence that could be held in the industry.
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Measure
The percentage of agents submitting an unqualified audit or statutory declaration
2006—07

2007—08

2008—09

2009—10

2010—11

Unqualified audit reports

242

230

243

275

227

Qualified audit reports

54

60

56

49

76

Statutory declarations

111

124

122

124

145

0

0

1

2

4

407

414

422

450

452

86.73

85.51

86.49

88.67

82.30

No audit reports
Total agents
Percentage of agents
submitting an unqualified
audit or statutory
declaration

Notes to the indicator
The Act requires agents to manage monies received for or on behalf of their principals (clients)
through a trust account. If a licensed agent does not receive or hold any money on behalf of a
person in the reporting period then they must submit a statutory declaration confirming this to be
deemed compliant. For example, where an individual licensee works for a company it was the
company’s trust accounts that were audited. Those agents who have a current triennial
certificate and were not trading and were not in bona fide control or a branch manager must
submit a statutory declaration.
The Board placed significant reliance on audit reports to ensure that agents maintained their
trust accounts in accordance with the statutory requirements. Since 2001–02 the Board
maintained a 'no tolerance' policy towards agents and auditors who failed to comply with the
trust account auditing provisions of the Act. The Board commenced proceedings appropriate for
such breaches or non-compliance with the Act. If this involved the State Administrative Tribunal,
which on application found that there was proper cause for disciplinary action against the agent,
sanctions may have included a reprimand or caution, a fine, a suspension or cancellation of the
agent’s licence or triennial certificate, and a temporary or permanent disqualification from
holding a licence or triennial certificate.
This year there were two more active agents conducting settlement transactions than last year,
with 48 less unqualified audits and 27 more qualified audits. The proportion of settlement agents
submitting unqualified audits or statutory declarations has decreased from 88.67 per cent last
year to 82.30 per cent this year.
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Key service
The key service provided by the Board was regulation of the settlement industry through the
discharge of the Board's statutory functions.
The Board undertook a range of activities to ensure both agents and the public were aware of
their rights and responsibilities, licenses settlement agents, took action to ensure compliance
with the Act, the Regulations and the Code of Conduct, and administered the Fidelity Guarantee
Account.

Efficiency indicator
The average cost per licensed agent, of regulating the settlement industry.
The Board provided a range of services aimed to ensure that settlement agents comply with the
requirements of the Act. This indicator measures the efficiency with which this was achieved.

Measure
Total cost of regulating the industry divided by the number of active licensed agents in Western
Australia.
2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

$2,060,772

$2,232,614

$2,315,788

$2,692,823

$2,771,733

Active
Licensed
Agents

407

414

422

450

452

Cost per
Active
Licensed
Agent

$5,063.32

$5,392.79

$5,487.65

$5,984.05

$6,132.15

Annual
Cost*

*The annual cost of regulating the settlement industry has been calculated using the total annual expenditure of the Board less
Fidelity Guarantee Account payments made in that financial year. Fidelity Guarantee Account payments have been excluded as
these payments relate to the reimbursement of losses that were incurred by the defalcation of a licensed settlement agent in
previous financial years and therefore do not reflect on the true annual cost of regulating the settlement industry.
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Cost per licensed agent of regulating the settlement industry
$7,000.00
$6,000.00
$5,000.00
$4,000.00

Cost per
licensed
agent

$3,000.00
$2,000.00
$1,000.00
$0.00
2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11

Notes to the indicator
The efficiency indicator was based on the cost of delivering the service per each active licensed
settlement agent. In the 2010-11 financial year a total of $2,771,733 was expended on
regulating an industry with active licensed agents.
This year saw the average cost of regulating the settlement industry for each licensed agent
increase from $5,984.05 in 2009-10 to $$6,132.15 in this financial year. This was mainly due to
an in crease in Service Delivery costs in addition to costs associated with annual inflation.
During 2010-11 the Board remained committed to ensuring the community of Western Australia
had confidence in the settlement industry, and allocated sufficient resources to meet the
expectations and demands of the community.
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES
Pricing policies of services provided
The Board conducted its annual review of its licensing fees in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 2006. This review was in line with the State Government’s policy that any
increases in fees were to be on a cost recovery basis. The Board’s recommendation that the
fees be increased by the agreed Consumer Price Index of 3 per cent was approved by the
Minister for Commerce and was submitted for formal approval and amendments to the relevant
regulations. The fee increase was formally approved and will be effective from 1 July 2011.

Capital Works
Capital projects completed
No capital works were completed by the Board in 2010-11.

Employment and industrial relations
Employee category

2009–10

2010–11

Full-time permanent

4.2

3.9

Full-time contract

0

0

Part-time measured on a FTE basis

0

0

On secondment

0

0

Staffing policies
The Board conducted 4 training sessions for Real Estate Branch staff to ensure provision of
consistent, accurate and high quality advice and service was delivered to industry members and
the public on behalf of the Board.

Industrial relations
The Board was not involved in any industrial disputes.

Workers' compensation
The Board did not receive any workers’ compensation claims in this reporting period, as in the
previous year.
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GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES
Contracts with senior officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior
officers, or firms of which senior officers were members, or entities in which senior officers have
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Board and
senior officers.

Freedom of Information requests
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 is an Act to provide for public access to documents, and
to enable the public to ensure that personal information in documents is accurate, complete, up
to date and not misleading, and for related purposes. The objectives of this Act are achieved by
creating a general right to apply for access to documents relating to the Board and its
operations. The Board endeavoured to make available as much information as possible outside
the Freedom of Information process. In the year 2010–11, the Board received two requests for
information under the Freedom of Information Act 1992.
In accordance with section 96, an agency must publish an information statement providing
details of its Freedom of Information policy. The Board adopted the information statement of the
Consumer Protection Division of the Department. This information statement is available from
its website at www.commerce.wa.gov.au.
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
Advertising
Under section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Board is required to report on expenditure
incurred using the following types of bodies to promote or market its services:
• advertising agencies;
• market research organisations;
• polling organisations;
• direct mail organisations; and
• media organisations.
The Board reports that it did not incur any such expenditure in the reporting period 2010-11.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
The Board was not a public authority for the purposes of Schedule 1 of the Disability Services
Regulations 2004; however, it acknowledged and supported the principles applicable to people
with disabilities stated in Schedule 1 of the Disability Services Act 1993. Its Disability Access
and Inclusion Plan 2007-2011 expressed the Board’s commitment to ensuring that services
were delivered effectively to its employees, customers and the wider community. A copy of this
plan was available on the Board’s website.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and
ethical codes
The Board was required to comply with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource
Management and the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics in its dealings with staff.
During 2010–11, the Board did not receive any applications for breaches of the standards.
Board members and staff were required to comply with the Code of Conduct for Board
Members and Officers 2007 (updated January 2008). The Code of Conduct for Board Members
and Officers 2007 set standards concerning the Board’s operational requirements and expected
behaviour of its members and staff as they carried out their day-to-day work. It also provided
guidance and practical assistance on what to do when faced with an ethical issue. An electronic
version of this document was available on the Board’s website.
When the Board was in session, members were required to act in accordance with their own
independent views and experiences, in the light of the role and purpose of the Board
Members were not to perform their duties in a manner that represented or protected the
interests of any particular organisation with which they were associated.

Recordkeeping plan
The Board was required to have a recordkeeping plan as a government organisation for the
purposes of Schedule 1 of the State Records Act 2000. As the Department provided the Board
with a range of services through a Service Delivery Agreement, the Board relies on the
department’s plan, in principle, for document storage and records management. Please refer to
the section ‘Recordkeeping plan’ in the Department of Commerce Annual Report 2010–11 for
further information.
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GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS
Substantive equality
The Department of Commerce provided the Board with a range of services through a Service
Delivery Agreement and was required to report on the progress achieved in implementing the
Policy Framework for Substantive Equality. Please refer to the section ‘Substantive equality’ in
the Department of Commerce Annual Report 2010–11 for further information.

Occupational safety, health and injury
management
In carrying out its statutory functions and in its role as an employer the Board was committed to
providing a safe working environment and complies with the injury management requirements of
the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.
Under its Occupational Safety and Health Management Plan the Board committed to providing
ongoing safety checks and basic first aid and occupational safety and health awareness training
to its employees. The Board also consulted with staff on Occupational Safety and Health
matters at each of its monthly meetings.
Board employees had the opportunity to elect an Occupational Safety and Health
Representative in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984. The Board
Director was responsible for ensuring that Board employees complied with Occupational Safety
and Health requirements. The Board Director and the Occupational Safety and Health
Representative conducted regular workplace safety checks and regularly monitor developments
in health and safety legislation and management systems.
The Board also complied with the Department injury management system which ensured that
injury management intervention occurred quickly and properly, so that injured employees could
remain at work or return to work at the earliest appropriate time. The Department’s occupational
safety and health system and injury management system were available to employees on the
Department’s intranet site and communicated as part of occupational safety and health training.
Board employees had the opportunity to access the Employee Assistance Program in the form
of confidential counselling services, which were provided free of charge. An external accredited
assessment of occupational safety and health management systems was conducted in April
2008 that included a summary of findings. Report on annual OSH performance 2010–11:
Indicator
Number of fatalities
Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D)
incidence rate
Lost time injury severity rate
Percentage of injured workers
returned to work within 28
weeks
Percentage of managers
trained in occupational safety,
health and injury management
responsibilities

60
Settlement Agents Supervisory Board

Target 2010–11
None
None or 10 per cent reduction on
previous year
None or 10 per cent improvement on
previous year
Actual percentage result to be
reported
Greater than or equal to 50 per cent

Result 2010–11
None
None
None
None

33.33%

APPENDIX
The following table provided details and results of concluded State Administrative Tribunal
disciplinary matters during the period 1 July 2010 – 30 June 2011.
Respondents

Findings

Penalty

Costs

1st Respondent
Bellmac
Settlements Pty
Ltd

Pursuant to sections 84(2)(c)(ii) and (iii), the 1st
respondent:
a) received remuneration for its services when it
did not hold a valid authority to act contrary to
section 43(1) of the Act;
b) did not hold a valid authority to act, in that it
failed to sign a copy of the authority to act and
provide a copy to the seller contrary to rule
6A(2)(b) of the Settlements Agents Code of
Conduct (the Code);
c) failed to advise their client, who had solicitors
engaged on an on-going basis in relation to the
deceased estate of which the property was a part,
to seek legal advice from those or other solicitors
on the process of removal of the Registrar's
caveats and the potential contractual implications
if the Registrar refused to remove the caveats
contrary to rule 11 of the Code; and
d) failed to ascertain and communicate to the
seller, the pertinent fact that the Registrars' caveat
would only be removed if the Registrar was
satisfied of certain facts, which pertinent fact could
have been obtained from Landgate reference
documents, contrary to rule 16 of the Code.
The 2nd respondent failed to carry out the
services of a settlement agency efficiently by
failing to ensure that Bellmac Settlements of
which she was the person in bona fide control,
complied with its obligations under the Act and
Code in completing the transaction contrary to
rule 15 of the Code.
The respondent Kylie Alice Gook:
a) failed to prepare, certify and provide her auditor
a statement setting out the details of monies held
as at 30 June 2008 in the trust account
maintained by her and negotiable or bearer
securities or deposit receipts in her name which
represent monies drawn from her trust and held
by her on that day, contrary to section 61(1) of the
Act;
b) failed to furnish her auditor with all such
information and particulars, including but not
limited to bank reconciliations, as required to
conduct the audit for the period ending 30 June
2008, despite numerous requests from the auditor
for such information, contrary to section 58(1) of
the Act;

$1,000 fine to
be paid within
28 days of the
date of this
order.

$500 costs to
be paid within
28 days of the
date of the
order.

$750 fine to be
paid within 28
days of the
date of the
order.

$500 costs to
be paid within
28 days of the
date of the
order.

$3,000 fine to
be paid within
90 days of the
date of the
order.

$1000 costs to
be paid within
90 days of the
date of the
order.

2nd Respondent
Johanna Bell

Kylie Alice Gook
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Respondents

Peter David
Wearne

st

1 Respondent
Dawn Lorraine
Watson
nd

Findings
c) failed to furnish her auditor with all such
information and particulars, including but not
limited to bank reconciliations, as required to
conduct a termination audit, despite numerous
requests from the auditor for such information,
contrary to section 58(1) of the Act; and
d) failed to arrange to have a termination audit of
her trust account within 3 months of her triennial
certificate ceasing to have effect, contrary to
section 51(8)(b) of the Act.
The respondent Peter David Wearne:
a) contrary to r 10(1) of the Settlement Agents
Code of Conduct 1982 (the Code) did not conduct
any searches and inquiries regarding the Licence
to Take Water with the Water and Rivers
Commission, which were necessary in regard to
the transaction;
b) contrary to rule 15 of the Code, failed to carry
out the services of a settlement agent efficiently
and did not ensure that the sellers had complied
with the special condition to the contract in
relation to the transfer of the water licence; and
c) contrary to rule 16 of the Code, did not obtain
all facts prior to, and post settlement, concerning
the water supply and water Licence to avoid error
and misrepresentation.
Alleged breach of rule 5 of the Code of Conduct
Application dismissed

2 Respondent
Suzanne Jane
Ackley

The respondent Suzanne Jane Ackley:
a) failed to carry out all service efficiently contrary
to rule 15 of the Code of Conduct for Settlement
Agents 1982 in relation to the settlement of the
sale of a lot in a real estate transaction consisting
of two lots

3rd Respondent
Romaine Pty Ltd

The respondent Romaine Pty Ltd:
a) contrary to rule 11 of the Code of Conduct for
Settlement Agents 1982 failed to recommend to
its client that it seek the advice of a solicitor in
respect of an aspect of the transaction or any
aspect thereof
b) contrary to rule 16 of the Code, did not
ascertain and communicate to his client (when
requested by the client or when it is necessary or
prudent to do so), all available pertinent facts
concerning any service or transaction he
undertakes as a settlement agent so that in
providing the service and handling the transaction
he will avoid error, deception or
misrepresentation.
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Penalty

Costs

$3,000 fine to
be paid within
28 days of the
date of the
order, failing
which his
Licence will be
suspended
until payment
is made.

$750 costs to
be paid within
28 days of the
date of the
order, failing
which his
Licence will be
suspended
until payment
is made.

Nil

Nil

$1,500 fine to
be paid within
28 days of the
date of the
order; failing
which her
Licence will be
suspended
until payment
is made
$1,000 fine to
be paid within
28 days of the
date of
this order

$500 costs to
be paid within
28 days of the
date of this
order failing
which her
Licence will be
suspended
until payment
is made
$500 costs to
be paid within
28 days of the
date of this
order.

Government of Western Australia
Department of Commerce

LAND VALUERS LICENSING BOARD

Annual Report
2010 > 2011

Land Valuers Licensing Board
GOVERNMENT OF
WESTERN AUSTRALIA

THE HON. SIMON O’BRIEN MLC
Minister for Finance; Commerce; Small Business
In accordance with Section 31 of the Land Valuers Licensing Act 1978, the Land Valuers
Licensing Board is pleased to submit for your information and for presentation to Parliament the
Annual Report for the period 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011.

Bryan Gardiner
CHAIRMAN
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STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIRMAN
I’m pleased to present the Land Valuers Licensing Board’s annual report for the past financial
year. Legislative amendments to the Land Valuers Licensing Act 1978 have been completed
and as a result the Land Valuers Licensing Board will terminate on 30 June 2011 and its
functions transferred to the Commissioner for Consumer Protection.
The Council of Australian Governments has affirmed their commitment to a national licensing
system over a range of occupational areas, including land valuers, over the next few years.
However, land valuers will not come into national licensing until a date to be fixed after 1 July
2013 and work on the regulations relevant to land valuers will be undertaken by the National
Occupational Licensing Authority.
Throughout the year the Board continued to provide an effective service to both consumers and
the industry, amidst a period of economic and prospective regulatory change.
The Board continued a high level of activity during the year, taking an increasingly proactive
approach to its regulatory role. Most significantly, the Board actively pursued opportunities to
improve the legislative framework within which land valuers operate, seeking to clarify legislative
ambiguities and to improve the effectiveness of licensing and investigations carried out under
the Act.
As in previous years, there had been a relatively small number of complaints over the course of
the year. While no systemic issues were identified from the complaints received, the Board
noted that in a number of valuation reports that came to its attention, the licensed valuer failed
to annex the clients’ instructions in accordance with the Licensed Valuers Code of Conduct.
The Board continued to utilise e-bulletins as an effective means of encouraging awareness of
current issues facing licensees and the industry. The six monthly newsletters were also
successful in keeping licensees informed of issues that arose from the complaints and policy
developments throughout the year.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all Board members for their determined commitment
to the work of the Board and to express my sincere appreciation for the support provided by
them and their deputies who have committed a great deal of time and effort to Board matters.
Each person brought to the Board their own special expertise, which collectively, contributed
significantly to the Board’s achievements.
On behalf of the Board and myself, I wish to acknowledge the support provided by the Ministry
and those officers in the Department of Commerce who assisted the Board in carrying out its
statutory functions.
Finally, I wish the Commissioner for Consumer Protection, Ms Anne Driscoll, every success in the
ongoing regulation of the industry.

Bryan Gardiner
CHAIRMAN
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THE LAND VALUERS LICENSING BOARD
ROLE AND FUNCTIONS OF THE LAND VALUERS LICENSING BOARD
The Land Valuers Licensing Board (the Board) was a licensing and supervisory authority,
established under the Land Valuers Licensing Act 1978 (the Act), for people who conduct
valuations of land. The Board was responsible to the Minister for Commerce.
The Act and the Land Valuers Licensing Regulations 1979 (the Regulations) set out the
licensing requirements for land valuers. The Act also invested the Board with the authority to
inquire into whether a licensed valuer had complied with the Act and make allegations to the
State Administrative Tribunal (SAT) that there was proper cause for disciplinary action against a
licensed land valuer.
The Licensed Valuers Code of Conduct (the Code) established by the Board pursuant to the
Act, with the approval of the Minister, provides for enforceable standards of conduct for land
valuers and fixed maximum amounts of remuneration for the various services rendered by
licensed valuers. The Board contributed to the public policy agenda by making
recommendations on legislative matters to the Minister.
COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
The Act required that the Board be comprised of members with a range of legal and valuation
expertise. The composition of the Board and the qualifications relevant to each position are
prescribed in Section 6 of the Act as follows:
(a) a Chairman who is a legal practitioner or a barrister or solicitor of the Supreme Court of
another State or Territory of not less than seven years’ standing who is nominated by the
Minister from a panel of names submitted by the Law Society of Western Australia [section
6(1)(a)];
(b) one member who is nominated by the Minister [section 6(1)(b)];
(c) two members who are experienced in the valuation of land, are members of the Australian
Property Institute, and are nominated by the Minister from a panel of names submitted by
the Western Australian Division of that Institute [section 6(1)(c)];
(d) one member who is experienced in the valuation of land, is a member of the Australian
Property Institute, and is nominated by the Minister from a panel of names submitted by the
Real Estate Institute of Western Australia [section 6(1)(d)].

Each member could be appointed for a period of not more than four years and was eligible for
re-appointment. The Governor may appoint a person as the deputy of a member.
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BOARD PROFILE

Mr Bryan Gardiner (Chairman)
Mr Gardiner was appointed, pursuant to section 6(1)(a) of the Act, as Chairman of the Board on
26 November 2002.
Mr Gardiner is a qualified legal practitioner operating as a consultant to a firm which, amongst
other matters, handles issues relating to property transactions.
Mr John McNamara (Member and Deputy Chairman)
Mr McNamara was first appointed, pursuant to Section 6(1)(c) of the Act, as a Member of the
Board on 18 January 1994
Mr McNamara has extensive experience as a land valuer. He is a past National President and a
Life Fellow of the Australian Property Institute.
Deputy: Mr John Martin
Ms Patria Jafferies (Member)
Ms Patria Jafferies was appointed, pursuant to section 6(1)(b) of the Act, on 25 June 2008.
Ms Jafferies has extensive experience in a wide range of business types including banking,
charitable organisations and small business development, and in 2000 she was named the
National Telstra Australian Business Woman of the Year. Ms Jafferies is currently the Executive
Director of His Majesty’s Foundation and an adjunct professor for a tertiary institution.
Deputy: Ms Hazel Butorac
Mrs Erica Walker (Member)
Mrs Walker was first appointed pursuant to Section 6(1)(c) of the Act as a Member of the Board
on 26 October 2005.
Mrs Walker has a Master of Commerce (Property) and has lectured in valuation and property
studies units at a tertiary institution. She has been a licensed valuer since 1995, is an Associate
Member of the Australian Property Institute and is currently a director of a property development
company.
Deputy: Mr Tony Gorman
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Mr Kingsley Lewis (Member)
Mr Lewis was appointed pursuant to Section 6(1)(d) of the Act. He was first appointed as a
member on 22 October 1999.
Mr Lewis has extensive experience as a land valuer, is a Fellow of the Australian Property
Institute and a member of the Real Estate Institute of Western Australia, as well as a former
Director of a commercial real estate company.
Deputy: Mr John Sheridan

REMUNERATION OF BOARD MEMBERS
Under the Act, Board members are remunerated pursuant to rates fixed by the Governor. The
following rates applied during the course of the year:
Chairman
For meetings of four hours or less

$330

For meetings of more than four hours duration

$510

Members
For meetings of four hours or less

$220

For meetings of more than four hours duration

$340
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BOARD ADMINISTRATION

BOARD MEETINGS
The Board held 12 meetings during the financial year. The Board generally met every month
and considered matters such as applications for land valuers licences, policy and legislation
issues, industry education issues, compliance matters and, where required, applications for
disciplinary proceedings against licensed valuers.
BOARD SERVICES
The Department of Commerce (the Department), through its State Government budget
allocation, funded the provision of services to the Board.
Administrative and support services were supplied to the Board by the Finance and Valuation
Industries Branch of the Department.
CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS FOR BOARD MEMBERS AND OFFICERS
As a state statutory body, the Board was required to adhere to the Western Australian Public
Sector Code of Ethics. The Code of Ethics sets out the values and behaviour expected of
members of state statutory bodies.
The Board also adhered to a Code of Conduct developed for Board members and officers of the
Board to complement the Code of Ethics. The Code defined appropriate conduct for Board
members and provided guidance for ethical decision making by the Board.
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Parliament

Minister for Commerce
Hon Simon O’Brien MLC

Department of Commerce:
Director General:
Mr Brian Bradley

Land Valuers Licensing
Board
Chairman:
Mr Bryan Gardiner

Land Valuers Licensing Board
Principal Board Services
Coordinator:

Registrar
Mr Greg Arnold

Mr Greg Arnold
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LICENSING
LICENCE REQUIREMENTS
The Board could grant a land valuers licence to an individual who met the requirements of the
Act and the educational requirements prescribed in the Regulations.
Applicants for a land valuers licence must apply under one of three categories:
(a) As a member of the Australian Property Institute [s. 19(b) of the Act]; or
(b) As the holder of a prescribed degree, diploma, certificate or other award who has also
had:
(i)

two years’ satisfactory practical experience in the valuation of land for the
period of 2 years immediately preceding the date of application; and

(ii)

a total of not less than four years’ satisfactory practical experience in the
valuation of land within the ten-year period immediately preceding the date of
application [s. 19(c) of the Act]; or

(c) As a person who has previously held a licence under the Act within the period of five
years immediately preceding the date of application [s. 19(d) of the Act].
The following degrees are prescribed under s. 19(c) of the Act:
•

Degree of Bachelor of Commerce (Property) awarded by the Curtin University of
Technology;

•

Degree in Bachelor of Business (Valuation and Land Administration) awarded by the
Western Australian Institute of Technology;

•

Degree in Bachelor of Business (Valuation and Land Economy) awarded by the Western
Australian Institute of Technology; and

•

Degree in Bachelor of Business (Valuation and Land Economy) awarded by the Curtin
University of Technology.

In Western Australia, the only degree currently offered is the Bachelor of Commerce (Property),
awarded by the Curtin University of Technology.
Alternatively, the following categories of membership of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS) are also prescribed qualifications under s. 19(c) of the Act:
•

Membership as a Chartered General Practice Surveyor (obtained before 1 January
2000);

•

Membership as a Chartered Valuation Surveyor; and

•

Membership as a Chartered Commercial Property Surveyor.
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The Board also granted licences pursuant to the Mutual Recognition (Western Australia) Act
2001 where a person had an equivalent licence or registration in another jurisdiction. Presently
Queensland, New South Wales, South Australia and Tasmania are the only Australian States or
Territories that register land valuers, while mutual recognition also applies to New Zealand.
NUMBER OF LAND VALUERS
At 30 June 2011 there were 770 land valuers licensed in Western Australia.

NEW APPLICATIONS
Licences are granted on a triennial basis (i.e. for a three year period). During the year, 42
applications for new licences were granted, of which 5 were granted pursuant to the Mutual
Recognition (Western Australia) Act 2001. No applications were declined.
The graph below shows the number of new applications for a land valuers licence in the past
nine years.

Number of Approvals

New Licence Approvals
100
80
60
40
20
0
2002- 2003- 2004- 2005- 2006- 2007- 2008- 2009- 20102003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Financial Year

OBJECTIONS
In accordance with the provisions of the Act, any person may lodge an objection to the grant of
a licence. The Board had jurisdiction for receiving and considering objections to the grant of a
licence. However, no objections were lodged during the year.
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LICENCE RENEWALS AND EXPIRIES
Land valuers have up to 28 days after the expiration of their licence to make an application for
renewal for a further three-year period. A late fee applies to land valuers lodging their renewal
applications within this 28-day period.
During the year there were 170 licence renewals and 22 land valuers’ licences were either
expired or surrendered during the period.
MUTUAL RECOGNITION
As noted above, land valuers licensed in other Australian jurisdictions may obtain a Western
Australian licence under the provisions of the Mutual Recognition (Western Australia) Act 2001.
The Board had raised with the other State authorities, as well as the Department, its concern
that licensing requirements should be consistent across jurisdictions to ensure that professional
standards and consumer protection are maintained.
In July 2008, the Council of Australian Governments (COAG) agreed to establish a national
trade licensing system. This system will be applied across a range of economically important
vocations, including property agents. Land valuers will fall within this category. Under this
system mutual recognition of licensed land valuers will not be necessary as licensed valuers
would be permitted to practise within any Australian jurisdiction.
The Board was concerned that unless properly implemented, this system would reduce the
standards of practice in valuation work in Western Australia to the lowest common denominator,
presently existing in Victoria, South Australia and Tasmania where anyone can practise as a
valuer without qualifications. The Board firmly believed the interests of the public and the
valuers who serve them in this State will be preserved by maintaining the standards of practice
and education currently in place in Western Australia.
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INVESTIGATIONS
The Board relied on the Department to conduct investigations into complaints received against
licensed land valuers. The departmental staff conducting those investigations did so under the
authority of the Act.
Investigations generally focus on the valuer’s application of proper practices and principles of
valuation rather than the actual valuation figure. Due to the subjective nature of valuation and
the fact that it is a professional opinion, the valuer’s client may not agree with the actual value
provided. Neither the Land Valuers Licensing Board nor the Department has the power to
resolve a question about the validity of the amount of value or the consequences of a person’s
reliance upon the valuation. Neither the Board nor the Government can deal with claims relating
to financial losses. These must be made through the courts.
Where a complainant is able to provide reasonable evidence of alleged breaches of the Act,
Regulations or Code of Conduct a complaint could be lodged with the Board, but now with the
Department.
The Board received compliance reports outlining the nature and status of all ongoing
investigations for discussion at its meetings. Since departmental investigators are not qualified
land valuers, as part of the investigation process, the Board Members applied their valuation
expertise to assess complaints and provided technical directions to the investigators. The
Chairperson was often called upon to provide legal guidance where appropriate.
In the lead up to the transition of the regulatory functions of the Board to the Department the
Board oversaw the creation of a Pool of Valuers from which independent land valuers may be
engaged to audit or provide a critique of a valuation, which is the subject of a complaint. The
Board has in place a forensic procedure which provides guidance to the investigators and
instructions to those independent valuers.
COMPLAINTS AGAINST LAND VALUERS
During the year, 10 complaints were received which is generally in line with the number of
complaints received in recent years. No serious systemic industry problems were identified in
these complaints.
The Board feels that its effective use of e-bulletins brings risk management and other important
issues to the attention of valuers, and that may be a significant contributing factor to the low
complaint numbers.
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Complaints against land valuers

Number of
Complaints

2005/2006

2006/2007

2007/2008

2008/2009

2009/2010

2010/2011

11

10

12

8

6

10

Investigation Summary
Issues
concerning
valuation
practices

Issues
relating to
fees and
charges

Licensing
issues

Ongoing investigations
as at 1 July 2010

2

0

0

2

Investigations
commenced

9

1

0

10

Investigations
concluded

7

0

0

7

Ongoing investigations
as at 30 June 2011

4

1

0

5

Total

Outcome of Investigations Concluded
Outcomes

Number

No action taken

7

Prosecutions commenced

0

STATE ADMINISTRATIVE TRIBUNAL DISCIPLINARY INQUIRIES
Where a complaint indicated a breach of the Act, Regulations, or Code of Conduct, and the
investigation and legal advice supports further action, the case would be brought to the Board
with a recommendation that may include an application to the State Administrative Tribunal
(SAT) for a disciplinary inquiry.
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If the SAT is satisfied after conducting an inquiry that proper cause exists for a licensed land
valuer to be disciplined, it can:
(a)

reprimand or caution the licensed valuer;

(b)

impose a fine not exceeding $10,000 on the valuer;

(c)

suspend or cancel the valuer’s licence and, in addition, disqualify the valuer either
temporarily or permanently, or until the fulfilment of any condition which may be
imposed by SAT, from holding a licence.

While SAT has the statutory authority to discipline licensed valuers where proper cause exists, it
does not have the statutory authority to award compensation to persons who may have suffered
civil damages. Persons seeking compensation from land valuers for alleged civil damages must
do so by undertaking independent legal action.
Persons who consider they have suffered a loss as a result of a licensed land valuer’s alleged
negligent or incompetent actions are nevertheless encouraged to notify the Board of any
concerns they may have regarding the conduct of licensed valuers, so that those concerns may
be investigated and, where appropriate, disciplinary action taken.
Disciplinary Inquiries Ongoing During 2010/2011
Number Respondent(s)

N/A

N/A

Alleged
Basis
Disciplinary Action
N/A

for

Current Status

N/A

Information concerning matters referred to SAT can be accessed at www.sat.justice.wa.gov.au.
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LEGISLATION

PROPOSED LEGISLATIVE AMENDMENTS
For several years, the Board maintained a record of suggested legislative changes. In part,
these arose from various matters presented to the Board, investigation of complaints against
valuers and comparisons with legislation in other jurisdictions and with other occupational
licensing regimes.
The suggested legislative changes will be passed to the Department upon the termination of the
Board on 30 June 2011.

LAND VALUERS CODE OF CONDUCT
The Board, with the approval of the Minister, prescribed a Code of Conduct under section 26 of
the Act. The Code is an important method of regulating the operations of licensed land valuers
and is legally binding. The Code was last reviewed and published in the Government Gazette in
February 2007.

MAXIMUM REMUNERATION FOR LAND VALUERS
The Act provided that the Board, with the approval of the Minister, by notice published in the
Government Gazette fix the maximum amounts of remuneration for the various services
rendered by licensed land valuers. The remuneration notice was last amended and published in
the Government Gazette in September 2010 following a review by the Board based on
submissions provided in a public consultation.
While the notice sets the maximum fee that can be levied by a licensed land valuer, it is
important to note that market forces are such that many valuers may charge fees less than
those allowed under the notice.
It is also worth noting that some of these fees are established on an hourly rate. The Board
believed that it is prudent business practice for valuers to provide an estimate of, or cap, the
costs where appropriate. Such an arrangement minimises the risk of a fee-related dispute
arising with the client.
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PRESCRIBED FEES
The State Government prescribes the fees that apply to licensing and other services provided
by the Board. The following prescribed fees are proposed to apply from
1 July 2011.

LICENCES

TO 30 JUNE 2011

FROM 1 JULY 2011

Application fee and grant of a
licence for a 3 year period

$702

$723

Renewal fee for a 3 year period

$702

$723

Fee for duplicate licence

$30.75

$31.75

Inspection of register of licensed
valuers

$10.20

$10.50

Certificate of individual registration
(each subsequent page)

$10.20

$10.50

$2

$2

Certificate of all registrations in
the register

$125

$129

OTHER
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EDUCATION AND AWARENESS
INTERNET WEBSITE
The Land Valuers Licensing Board website, www.commerce.wa.gov.au/landvaluers, was a point
of interest and an ideal form of communication in respect to the activities of the Board and
general information for the industry and public. During the past 12 months 8398 page hits were
recorded.
The website provided information on a range of issues including:
•

The Board and its functions;

•

Legislation;

•

Inquiries;

•

Licence application forms;

•

Register of licensed land valuers;

•

Helpful hints for persons using the services of a land valuer; and

•

Links to other related sites.

NEWSLETTER
The Board published its first Newsletter in December 2006. This continued to be produced twice
a year, with the current newsletter sent in June 2011. The newsletter was distributed to all
licensed land valuers and other interested parties and was also available on the website.
The Newsletter provided licensed valuers with information including licensing matters, relevant
case studies arising from completed investigations and emerging trends or policy issues.
E-BULLETINS
The Board commenced the issue of e-bulletins in May 2007 to licensed valuers who had
provided the Board with details of their email address, and provided information on important
issues by this means. These e-bulletins served as a supplement to the Newsletter and also
enabled the Board to provide timely updates on emerging issues affecting the industry.
PUBLICATIONS
Copies of the information leaflet entitled Land Valuers for persons using the services of a land
valuer are available from the Department. This publication was last reviewed and updated over
the course of the 2007/2008 financial year.
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TELEPHONE AND COUNTER SERVICE
The Department provided both a counter and telephone advice service to the public, on behalf
of the Board. Both services will continue to be available during business hours for advice about
the licensing and regulation of land valuers.
STAFF TRAINING INITIATIVES
The Department provides training for staff in respect to their specific tasks and also for general
customer services and process improvement.
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PROPOSALS FOR THE WORKLOAD IN THE COMING YEAR
As noted above, with the introduction of national occupational licensing the Department will now
provide all administrative services through the Consumer Protection Division of the Department
and the regulatory function of the Board will devolve to the Commissioner for Consumer
Protection from 1 July 2011.
The Council of Australian Governments (COAG) has agreed that all responsibility for licensing
of land valuers will be transferred to the Commonwealth Government. However, land valuers
will not come into national licensing until a date to be fixed after 1 July 2013 and work on the
regulations relevant to land valuers will be undertaken by the National Occupational Licensing
Authority.
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REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE
The Board was not a statutory authority for the purposes of the Financial Administration and
Audit Act 1985.
All licensing fees paid by licensed valuers are collected and brought to account by the
Department and credited to the consolidated fund at State Treasury. The costs of maintaining
the operations of the Board are met from funds appropriated by Parliament for the purposes of
the Department. Amounts of income and expenditure are incorporated in the accounts of the
Department and are published in the Department’s Annual Report.
Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 requires public agencies to report details of
expenditure to organisations providing services in relation to advertising, market research,
polling, direct mail and media advertising. The Board did not incur expenditure of this nature.
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THE HONOURABLE SIMON O’BRIEN MLC
MINISTER FOR FINANCE; COMMERCE; SMALL BUSINESS

In accordance with Section 64(1) of the Motor Vehicle Dealers Act 1973 I submit for your
information and presentation to Parliament the final Annual Report of the Motor Vehicle Industry
Board for the year ending 30 June 2011.

Miriam Sauley
Chairman
15 September 2011
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1.

Compliance with reporting standards

The Motor Vehicle Industry Board (the Board) submits this Annual Report pursuant to the
provisions of section 64(1) of the Motor Vehicle Dealers Act 1973.
The Board was a body corporate established under an Act of the Parliament of Western
Australia.
The Board was not empowered to raise revenue and was not directly funded by the State of
Western Australia but with resources provided by the Department of Commerce.
The Board did not have reporting obligations under the Public Sector Management Act 1994 or
the Financial Management Act 2006.
This Annual Report includes details of:
a)
the number, nature and outcomes of:
i.
investigations and inquiries undertaken by, or at the direction of, the Board; and
ii.
matters that have been brought before the State Administrative Tribunal by the
Board;
b)
the number and nature of matters that are outstanding [from (a)]; and
c)
any trends or special problems that have emerged.
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2.

Executive summary

The Motor Vehicle Industry Board’s mission was to administer licensing, registration and other
functions in respect of businesses operating, and persons working, in motor vehicle dealing and
motor vehicle repair industries.
A focus of the Board in this reporting year was the continuing implementation of the licensing
system for motor vehicle repair businesses, under the Motor Vehicle Repairers Act 2003 and in
particular the implementation of compliance programs to follow up repair businesses which
have failed to apply for a licence.
The Board was again disappointed with the poor response of industry to the new licensing
system. As at 30 June 2011 the Board received 4,053 repair business licence applications but
expected the final figure to exceed 4,500. The Board was pleased to note the strong
commitment of individual tradespersons to the system having received 9,875 of an originally
anticipated 10,000 individual certification applications.
The Board continued to work with the Department of Commerce towards the implementation of
the new licensing regime under which, on 1 July 2011, the Board ceased to exist and the
Commissioner for Consumer Protection assumed responsibility for all motor vehicle dealing and
repair industry occupational licensing.
The Board acknowledged the efforts of the staff of the Motor Vehicles Branch whose hard work
and professionalism has ensured the Board operated both efficiently and effectively.
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3.

About the Board

3.1

Legislative charter
The Board was established under the MotorVehicle Dealers Act 1973. The Board’s
functions, powers and duties were conferred on it by both the Motor Vehicle Dealers
Act 1973 and the Motor Vehicle Repairers Act 2003.

3.2

Mission
The Board defined its mission as:
•
To administer licensing, registration and other functions in respect of businesses
operating in, and persons working in, motor vehicle dealing, selling, and the motor
vehicle repair industries; and
•
To regulate dealing in new and second hand motor vehicles.

3.3

Functions of the Board
Motor Vehicle Dealing Industry
The Board’s key functions were to:
•
licence appropriate entities to carry on business in the motor vehicle dealing
industry;
•
licence yard managers and salespersons to work in the motor vehicle dealing
industry;
•
deny unfit entities and persons access to the motor vehicle dealing industry;
•
investigate the conduct of licensed entities and individuals within the motor vehicle
dealing industry to determine if that conduct should be reviewed by the State
Administrative Tribunal;
•
investigate the conduct of unlicensed entities and individuals and, if necessary,
recommend prosecution action;
•
ensure the registration and maintenance of appropriate facilities by licensed
entities;
•
approve training courses for persons seeking entry to the motor vehicle dealing
industry; and
•
approve persons who provide those training courses.
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Motor Vehicle Repair Industry
The Board’s functions were to:
•
licence appropriate entities to carry on business in the motor vehicle repair
industry;
•
certify persons to work in the motor vehicle repair industry;
•
deny unfit entities and persons access to the motor vehicle repair industry;
•
investigate the conduct of licensed entities and individuals within the motor vehicle
repair industry to determine if that conduct should be the subject of inquiry by the
Board;
•
investigate the conduct of unlicensed entities and individuals and, where
necessary, recommend prosecution action;
•
ensure the registration and maintenance of appropriate facilities by licensed
entities;
•
make recommendations to the Director General of the Department of Commerce
regarding claims against the Motor Vehicle Repair Industry Compensation
Account;
•
make recommendations to the Director General of the Department of Commerce
regarding application of the Motor Vehicle Repair Industry Education and Research
Account;
•
approve training courses for persons seeking entry to the motor vehicle repair
industry; and
•
approve persons who provide those training courses.

3.4

Membership of the Board
The Board comprised members and deputy members appointed by the Governor in
accordance with Section 8 of the Motor Vehicle Dealers Act 1973. The Governor made
all appointments to the Board based on nominations made by the Minister for
Commerce. In keeping with the State Government policy on gender equity, nominations
were sought from industry and consumer bodies and wherever possible, included the
nomination of female representatives.
The Motor Vehicle Industry Board comprised the following persons:
A person appointed as Chairperson:
Name:
Occupation:
Position:
Appointment period:
Deputy to Chairperson
Length of service:

Ms Virginia SEYMOUR
Lawyer
Chairperson
4 November 2008 to 3 November 2011
Ms Miriam SAULEY
5.5 years
First appointed as a member of the Motor Vehicle Industry Board
22 December 2004.
Resigned as chairperson on 26 October 2010.

Name:
Occupation:
Position:
Appointment period:

Ms Miriam SAULEY
Lawyer
Chairperson
9 March 2011 to 30 June 2011
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Two persons nominated by the Minister who have knowledge and experience in
the motor vehicle dealing industry:
Name:
Occupation:
Position:
Appointment period:
Deputy to member:
Length of service:

Name:
Occupation:
Position:
Appointment period:
Deputy to member:
Length of service:

Mr Robert PEARCE
Company Director and licensed motor vehicle dealer
Member
4 November 2008 to 3 November 2011
Mr Colin ROCKMAN
5.5 years
First appointed as a member of the Motor Vehicle Industry Board
22 December 2004.
Mr Lance Douglas KERR
Company Director and licensed motor vehicle dealer.
Member
1 September 2007 to 31 August 2010
Mr Robert FOWLER
5.5 years
First appointed as a member of the Motor Vehicle Industry Board
22 December 2004.

Two persons nominated by the Minister who have knowledge and experience in
the motor vehicle repair industry:
Name:
Occupation:
Position:
Appointment period:
Deputy to member:
Length of service:

Mr Patrick BROWNE
Company Director and certified repairer
Member
4 November 2008 to 3 November 2011
Mr Matt NEGUS from 4 November 2008
5.5 years
First appointed as a member of the Motor Vehicle Industry Board
22 December 2004.

Name:
Occupation:
Position:
Appointment period:
Deputy to member:
Length of service:

Mr Wayne PHIPPS
Company Director and certified repairer
Member
1 September 2007 to 31 August 2010
Mr Ray REICHARD
5.5 years
First appointed as a member of the Motor Vehicle Industry Board
22 December 2004.

Three persons nominated by the Minister who represent the interests of
purchasers of motor vehicles or customers of licensed motor vehicle repairers.
Name:
Occupation:
Position:
Appointment period:
Deputy to member:
Length of service:
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Ms Helen TAPLIN
Member Financial Counsellors Resource Project
Member
4 November 2008 to 3 November 2011
Ms Diane HAYES (resigned 6 June 2010)
5.5 years
First appointed as a member of the Motor Vehicle Industry Board
22 December 2004.


Name:
Occupation:
Position:
Appointment period:
Deputy to member:
Length of service:

Ms Miriam SAULEY
Lawyer, Department of Planning
Member
4 November 2008 to 3 November 2011
Ms Jo GHIRARDI
5.5 years
First appointed as a member of the Motor Vehicle Industry Board
22 December 2004.

Name:
Occupation:

Dr Allan BARTON
Member Policy Advisory Group, Australian Consumers
Association; Emeritus Professor in Chemistry at Murdoch
University
Member
1 September 2007 to 31 August 2010
Ms Rhonda ALGABA
5.5 years
First appointed as a member of the Motor Vehicle Industry Board
22 December 2004.

Position:
Appointment period:
Deputy to member:
Length of service:

A nominee of the Royal Automobile Club of WA (Inc.):
Name:
Occupation:
Position:
Appointment period:
Deputy to member:
Length of service:

3.5

Mr Adrian FIRTH
Corporate Communications Manager
Member
11 August 2009 to 11 August 2012
Mr Matthew BROWN
1.5 years
First appointed as a deputy member of the Motor Vehicle Industry
Board 1 November 2008.

Meetings
During this period under review the Board met on 20 occasions. At those meetings the
Board considered new licence applications, renewal applications, and policy issues.
The Board conducted 20 hearings into the fitness of licence applicants.
Deputy members normally attend meetings in a member’s absence. However, a deputy
member may sit on a Board licensing hearing on the same day that a licensing and
policy meeting is held and attended by the member. Members and deputy members are
unable to sit in deliberation on a matter at the same meeting.

3.6

Administrative support – Motor Vehicles Branch
The Department of Commerce, through the Motor Vehicles Branch, provided the Motor
Vehicle Industry Board with administrative support and supported the Board’s primary
function of licensing motor vehicle dealers, yard managers, salespersons and repairers
In addition the Branch provided a secretariat to the Board comprising the Manager of the
Branch who also undertook the role of Board Secretary, a Policy Officer, a Licensing
Coordinator and a Board Minute Secretary to ensure that Board business was
conducted in a planned and efficient manner.
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3.7

Abolition of the Board
In January 2010 the Board was advised by the Minister for Commerce that the Board
would be abolished and the licensing and regulatory functions would be vested in the
Commissioner for Consumer Protection, with other responsibilities vesting in the Director
General of the Department of Commerce. The Minister further advised that a Motor
Vehicle Advisory Committee would be established, and the new structure would take
effect from 1 July 2011.
As a consequence this is the final annual report of the Board.

4.

Significant issues and trends

4.1

Focussing on the motor vehicle dealing industry
4.1.1

Dealer Trust Account Audit Program
Motor vehicle dealers who undertake consignment sales are required to hold the
proceeds from the sale of those vehicles in consignment trust accounts and are
required to have their trust accounts audited annually by an auditor approved by
the Board. This audit report must be lodged with the Board within three months
of the end of the audit period. If no transactions have been made in the trust
account during the period a statutory declaration to this effect is to be submitted
to the Board.
As a result of legal advice the Board resolved that the audit period of a relevant
dealer should be changed to reflect the date on which the dealer opened its
consignment trust account. This new approach was implemented during the
financial year and resulted in fewer audit reports for the year. Full audit results
will reflect the changes in the coming year.
Trust account audit results


Statutory Declarations
(used where there have not been any transactions through the consignment
trust account for the period)

10

Unqualified audits

16

Qualified audits

4

Total Audits

20



Note:

Qualified audits refer to audit reports received which identify serious issues (e.g.
misappropriation of trust monies). Audits that identified minor technical issues were not
classified as qualified audits.

Of the four qualified audits three of the matters were rectified by the dealers
concerned. The fourth matter is still under investigation with a view to disciplinary
action.
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4.1.2

Dealer inspection program
The Dealer Inspection Program is now in its fourth year of operation. In keeping
with the priorities determined by the Board, the program has focused on visiting
all new dealerships within the first three months of operation in order to provide
introductory advice and assistance. In addition, the program has also focused on
vehicle safety inspection at yards selling older, cheaper vehicles. These vehicles
are not protected by the warranty provisions of the Motor Vehicle Dealers
Act 1973 and are therefore considered to be a higher risk to the purchaser in
terms of vehicle roadworthiness.
Where an inspection of a vehicle reveals it to be unsafe or unroadworthy, officers
issue an ‘Order to Remedy Defects’ and attach an ‘Unfit for Sale’ notice,
commonly known as the ‘green sticker’. These vehicles are subsequently
subject to re-inspection at a Department of Transport licensing centre to have the
notice removed.
If a defect is considered not to be of a serious nature, the officers may issue an
administrative ‘Minor Defect Advice Notice’.
The auditing of ‘expired or surrendered’ dealer’s licences continues to form part
of the program, with officers attending at the premises of dealers whose licenses
had either expired or been surrendered. This verifies if the dealerships had in
fact ceased trading. This has resulted in the identification of a number of dealers
engaging unlicensed salespersons resulting in prosecution action, which is
detailed below.
In the 12 months to 30 June 2011, a total of 631 dealers have been visited, with
officers inspecting a total of 8,907 vehicles, issuing 115 Work Orders and
103 Minor Defect Notices.

4.1.3

Regional compliance activities
As part of the service delivery agreement with the Motor Vehicles Branch of the
Department of Commerce, the Board requires that all licensed motor vehicle
dealers throughout Western Australia be visited as part of the Dealer Inspection
Program.
During 2010/2011 officers continued to visit licensed dealers in regional
locations. Visits were made to Kununurra, Broome, Port Hedland, Karratha,
Carnarvon, Geraldton, Dongara, Bunbury, Cunderdin, Northam, Merredin,
Beverley, Toodyay and Kalgoorlie.
In total 158 regional dealers have been visited, with officers inspecting in excess
of 1200 vehicles, issuing 19 Work Orders and 16 Minor Defect Notices.
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4.1.4

Investigations and Proceedings
The Board was pleased to note the increased effectiveness of the investigation
program, particularly in prosecuting unlicensed back yard dealers and licensed
dealers who employ unlicensed sales staff.
Prosecution for unlicensed activities
Proceedings which had been commenced in the 2009/2010 financial year against
alleged unlicensed dealing and which were brought to conclusion in 2010/11 are
summarised as follows.
•

Janetto Holdings Pty Ltd t/as Subaru Osborne Park
It was alleged a salesperson employed by Subaru Osborne Park to sell
vehicles was not the holder of a current Motor Vehicle Dealers Licence. The
company was convicted and fined $2,000 plus $386 costs.

•

Prashant Ghumaria
Prashant Ghumaria was employed by Subaru Osborne Park to sell vehicles
without being the holder of a current valid salesperson licence. Ghumaria
was convicted and fined $700 plus $386 costs

•

Wildfox Holdings Pty Ltd t/as Toyotaways
Information received identified a person who had been working as an
unlicensed salesperson for Toyotaways since February 2004. The company
was convicted and fined $2,000 plus $775 costs

•

Bruce Symes
It was alleged that Bruce Symes had continued to engage in unlicensed
dealing. Symes was the subject of a previous unlicensed dealing
investigation which resulted in a warning being issued to him in September
2006. A three day trial in May 2011 resulted in a conviction and fine of
$3,000 plus $2,500 costs.

Proceedings which have been commenced in the 2010/2011 financial year
against alleged unlicensed dealing and which were brought to conclusion are
detailed below:
•

Chad Andrew Miller
Chad Miller was alleged to have been working as an unlicensed salesperson
since 31 May 2008. Miller was convicted and fined $1,500 plus $352 costs

•

Ross Ozanne
Ross Ozanne had been employed or engaged as a salesperson while
unlicensed between March and August 2009. Ozanne was convicted and
fined $850 plus $353 costs.

•

Melville Motors (2006) Pty Ltd
Chad Miller appeared to have been working as an unlicensed salesperson
since 31 May 2008 and that Ross Ozanne had been employed or engaged
(unlicensed) between March and August 2009. The company was convicted
and fined $750 plus $352 costs.
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•

National Fleet Services Pty Ltd
Chad Miller appeared to have been working as an unlicensed salesperson
since 31 May 2008 and that Ross Ozanne had been employed or engaged
(unlicensed) between March and August 2009. The company was convicted
and fined $500 plus $350 costs.

•

Pearl Court Investments Pty Ltd t/as Action Hire Cars
Action Hire cars was trading without a hire car exemption. The company was
convicted and fined $15,000 plus $638 costs.

•

Dameeka Riley
It was alleged that Dameeka Riley was selling vehicles from a premises in
Ellenbrook without the appropriate licence. Riley was charged with
unlicensed dealing and convicted and fined $1,000 plus $352 costs.

•

Allen Jones
It was alleged that Allen Jones was engaged in unlicensed dealing in motor
vehicles. Jones was convicted and fined $4,000 plus $110 costs.

•

Jayde Grundy
It was alleged that Grundy engaged in unlicensed dealing in motor vehicles.
Grundy was convicted and fined $5,000 plus $417 costs

•

Nevin Inni
It was alleged that Nevin Inni was buying damaged cars at auction
dismantling them and selling vehicle parts. Inni held a Yard Manager’s
licence but not a licence to engage in vehicle wrecking. He was convicted
and fined $7,500 plus $535 costs.

•

Nicholas Johnson
Nicholas Johnson had been acting as a Yard Manager and selling vehicles
since 2006 without being the holder of a current valid licence. Johnson was
convicted and fined $500 plus $290 costs.

•

Goldy Motors Pty Ltd t/as Goldy Holden
Goldy Holden had employed Nicholas Johnson as a Yard Manager since
2006 while he was not the holder of a valid licence. Goldy Holden was
convicted and fined $2,000 plus $252 costs

•

Min Gao & Xiaoxia Cui
A complaint was received that there were a number of vehicles being
repaired at a residential address in Beckenham and subsequently offered for
sale. Both parties were involved in a business. Min Gao was convicted of
unlicensed dealing and fined $3,500 plus $227 costs and Xiaoxia Cui was
convicted of unlicensed dealing and fined $7,500 plus $227 costs.

•

Bin Huang
A complaint was received that there were a number of vehicles being
repaired at a residential address in Beckenham. Subsequent enquiries
revealed evidence of unlicensed vehicle dealing. Huang was convicted of
unlicensed dealing and fined $5,000 plus $418 costs.
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Other proceedings regarding allegations of unlicensed dealing, commenced
during the 2010/2011 financial year but which are still before the Courts are:
•

Ghazy Fahd Majib Al Defeary
It is alleged the person of interest (POI) is acquiring and disposing vehicles
as an unlicensed dealer. Enquiries reveal 23 vehicles registered in the name
of the POI during the relevant period. 35 vehicles appear to have been
purchased from auctions (incl. damaged vehicles). Trial allocation date is set
for 19 July 2011.

•

Yasir Saddiq
Prosecution Notices were issued for unlicensed vehicle sales activity in
Wilson.

General Breaches
The Motor Vehicles Branch also investigated a number of allegations relating to
various breaches of other provisions of the Motor Vehicle Dealers Act 1973 and
associated Regulations. These include:
•

Countdown Autos (David Bradley)
It was alleged the dealership had falsely represented vehicles through
internet advertising. Charges were brought under the Fair Trading Act 1987.
David Bradley was convicted and fined $2,250 plus costs of $1,150. He was
also ordered to pay $6,060 compensation to a consumer.

•

Scott Rupell
It was alleged Countdown Autos had falsely represented vehicles through
internet advertising. Rupell was convicted and fined $4,500 plus $1,150
costs. He was also ordered to pay $6,060 compensation to a consumer.
Rupell was the Yard Manager of Countdown Autos.

•

Aldo Gentile t/as Morley Mechanics
As a result of the Motor Vehicles Repairers compliance program it was
identified that both the business and individual were not licensed or certified.
Gentile was convicted and fined $2,500 plus $346 costs.

The Board was pleased to note that the Motor Vehicles Branch had initiated four
other prosecution matters that are yet to be filed in Court.
1. A licensed vehicle repairer is alleged to have breached the Fair Trading Act
by misrepresenting that a vehicle required repairs.
2. A licensed motor vehicle dealer is alleged to have breached the Fair Trading
Act by misrepresenting the past history of a vehicle.
3. A previously licensed motor vehicle dealer is alleged to have breached the
Fair Trading Act by making false representations in relation to the sale of
customers’ vehicles on consignment.
4. An unlicensed person is alleged to have repaired and sold motor vehicles
from private premises in Beckenham.
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In addition the Board commenced the following disciplinary proceedings before
be the State Administrative Tribunal.
•

Pasquale Minniti
Pasquale Minniti has been convicted of corruption and certain other offences
and served time in prison. The Board considered that this conduct rendered
him unfit to be the holder of a Motor Vehicle Dealers Licence and disciplinary
proceedings were commenced in the State Administrative Tribunal which
found Minniti unfit and disqualified from being the holder of a motor vehicle
dealers licence. Mr Minniti has appealed the decision to the Supreme Court.



4.2

Focussing on the motor vehicle repair industry
4.2.1

Motor vehicle repairer compliance program
The Board remained concerned about the level of “take-up” of business licences
in the repair industry. During the year the number of repair business licensees
increased by almost 1000 and the number of individual tradespersons certified
reached 9875.
However, the Board noted that the number of repair businesses which had made
application but had not provided all the prerequisite licensing information grew to
390 by June 2011.
In addition the Board received complaints about 45 unlicensed businesses during
the course of the year.
As a result the Board was reliant on the effectiveness of the compliance program
implemented to encourage the take up of licences.
The Board noted the extraordinary workload of the branch which visited in excess
of 730 businesses to determine if a licence was required and to provide licensing
advice and where necessary warnings about the need to become licensed.
Towards the end of the financial year the focus of the program shifted from an
assistance role to a full compliance role under which evidence is being collected
for prosecution and infringement actions against unlicensed entities.

4.3

Regulating for results – policy development
The Board maintained an extensive database of policy statements that provide
transparency in the application of statute-based regulatory systems. These policies
ensure the regulation of the industry is undertaken in a transparent and consistent
manner and provides certainty and clarity for the staff charged with compliance
obligations.
The key policies which have been developed or reviewed throughout the year are
summarised in this section.
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4.3.1

Motor vehicle repairer policies
Recognition of industry pre-apprenticeship training
The formal qualification for a Repairer’s Certificate in the class of repair ‘Light
Vehicle Servicing’ (LVS) is the Certificate III in Automotive [Mechanical-Vehicle
Servicing].
In response to requests from industry the Board resolved to recognise the
Certificate II in Automotive [Pre-Apprenticeship (Mechanical-Vehicle ServicingLight)] as progress towards qualification. However, the Board resolved that it
would consider this qualification only in conjunction with the applicant having
gained a minimum 12 months actual workshop experience as evidenced by a
detailed statement of service from the applicant’s employer.
A number of Registered Training Organisations offer a six month Pre-Apprentice
training course, which is an abridged version of the standard twelve months PreApprentice Certificate II training course. Upon successful completion of the
twelve month course, which includes workshop placement, students are issued
with a ‘Certificate II in Automotive Vehicle Servicing’. This qualification would
automatically qualify a person to be certified in the category of LVS under the
provisions of the Motor Vehicle Repairers Act 2003 (MVRA).
However, the Engineering and Automotive Trading Council [Inc.] is concerned
that students undertaking the six month course have insufficient workshop
experience, with little or no on the job training, to work in a workshop
unsupervised.
However, under the MVRA, any person who holds a prescribed qualification for a
class of repair is entitled to be granted a repairer’s certificate for that class of
repair work.

4.3.2

Motor vehicle dealer policies
Responding to a conflict of interest between categories of licence
For some time the Motor Vehicle Industry Board has been concerned about a
potential conflict between the roles of dealers who hold multiple categories of
licence including Category E – “Dealer Agent”.
A dealer, in their commonly understood role, is a person who buys and sells
vehicles from other persons. A dealer agent is a person who facilitates the
buying or selling of a vehicle on behalf of another person (member of the public).
In one context the dealer acts legitimately in his own best interest; in the other
the dealer should be acting in the best interest of the principal for whom he is
buying or selling a vehicle. However, a dealer who is not an agent can sell a
vehicle on behalf of another person in another manner, through a consignment
arrangement.
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The Board has recognised that confusion could arise with members of the public
when working with dealers, as opposed to dealer agents, to dispose of their
vehicle.
Further, the lack of clear definition between the role of dealer and dealer agent
provides some difficulties ensuring dealer compliance when they hold both
categories of licence.
To ensure that a dealer with multiple licence categories who holds either
Category A, B or C together with Category E is not conflicted, the Board
proposed to change these circumstances. A circular to industry was issued on
29 June 2010, pursuant to powers under Section 18A of the Motor Vehicle
Dealers Act 1973 to place the following conditions on the licences of affected
dealers, to be effective from 1 August 2011.
1. Dealers who hold either category A, B or C, together with Category E, must
not engage in consignment selling.
2. Dealers who hold licences in any category at the same time as holding a
category E licence, that the dealer must operate a separate Register for the
category E licence.
When the Board proposes to impose a condition on the licence, under section
18A, it must give an affected dealer notice of the proposed condition and
reasonable opportunity to make submissions. As the period for this response
overlapped the transfer of the licensing power to the Commissioner for
Consumer Protection, the decision as to whether this condition is imposed will
rest with the Commissioner.
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5.

Board statistical data

5.1

Formal hearings conducted by the Board
The Board conducted 21 hearings into the fitness of applicants or licensees to obtain or
hold a licence under the Motor Vehicle Dealers Act 1973 or Motor Vehicle Repairers
Act 2003.


Hearing decisions

5.2

Type of Application

Approved

Refused

Dealer

-

-

Exemption

-

-

Yard Manager

4

-

Salesperson

4

1

Repair Certificate

7

1

Repair Business

3

1

Total

18

3

Licensing statistics
Licensing data for the financial year is shown in the table below.
Current as at
30 June 2008

Current as at
30 June 2009

Current as at
30 June 2010

Current as at
30 June 2011

791

805

827

774

2

2

2

2

Yard Managers

1073

1065

1088

1105

Salespersons

2073

1953

1980

1930

Exemption from
holding a dealer’s
licence for
Auctioneers

7

2

3

4

Exemption from
holding a dealer’s
licence for Financiers

33

12

19

14

Exemption from
holding a dealer’s
licence for Hire Car
Operators

56

52

70

91

2755

5125

8219

9877

n/a

669

2668

3663

Licence Type
Dealers
Car Market
Operators

Certified Motor
Vehicle Repairers
Licensed Motor
Vehicle Repair
Businesses
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6.

Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes

The Motor Vehicle Industry Board operated in accordance with a Code of Conduct.
The Code of Conduct is based on the ‘Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics’, which
is applicable to most public sector bodies and their employees, including all boards and
committees established for a public purpose under Western Australian legislation. Accordingly
the Motor Vehicle Industry Board, must comply with the ‘Western Australian Public Sector Code
of Ethics’.
The most significant fiduciary obligation of Board members is broadly known as a duty to act in
good faith. This means that Board members cannot use their position to their own advantage.
The obligations to prevent a conflict of interest and to prevent the misuse of information
obtained in confidence, are some of the most important fiduciary duties for Board members.
Board members were provided with the Board’s ‘Code of Conduct’, the Public Sector
Commission guide, and a publication entitled ‘Good Governance for Western Australian Public
Sector Boards and Committees’.
The Board held induction programs for new Board members and Deputy members, where
conflict of interest and confidentiality issues were highlighted as particularly important to the role
of Board members.
The Board also ensured consideration and declaration of potential conflicts of interest by means
of a standing agenda item at the commencement of every meeting and conducted a conflict of
interest check prior to every hearing.
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7.

Public Interest Disclosure

The Board has complied with its obligations under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003,
section 23 (1)(f).
The Motor Vehicle Industry Board appointed the person holding the position of Chairperson of
the Board as its Public Interest Disclosure Officer.
The Board has also published the Motor Vehicle Industry Board Public Interest Disclosure
Act 2003 Guidelines on Internal Procedures.
The Board did not receive any public interest disclosures for the period 1 July 2010 to
30 June 2011.
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Consumer Protection

Labour Relations

Forrest Centre
219 St Georges Terrace
Perth Western Australia 6000
Advice line (cost of a
local call statewide) .................1300 304 054
Administration ...................... (08) 9282 0777
Facsimile ................................08) 9282 0850
Business names ......................1300 304 014
REVS .......................................1300 304 024
FuelWatch prices .....................1300 550 808
FuelWatch information .............1300 554 545
Email........ consumer@commerce.wa.gov.au

Forrest Centre
Level 12, 221 St Georges Terrace
Perth Western Australia 6000
Wageline ..................................1300 655 266
Telephone ...............................08) 9222 7700
Facsimile ................................08) 9222 7777
Email..labourrelations@commerce.wa.gov.au

Building Commission
The Macmahon Building
Level 1, 31 Troode Street
West Perth Western Australia 6005
Administration ..........................1300 489 099
Facsimile ............................. (08) 9476 1333
Email ....info@buildingcommission.wa.gov.au

EnergySafety
303 Sevenoaks Street
Cannington Western Australia 6107
Telephone ...............................08) 9422 5200
Facsimile ................................08) 9422 5244
Electrical and gas licensing ....08) 9422 5282
Email.....energysafety@commerce.wa.gov.au

WorkSafe
WestCentre
Level 5, 1260 Hay Street
West Perth Western Australia 6005
Customer help centre ..............1300 307 877
Administration .........................08) 9327 8777
Facsimile ................................08) 9321 8973
Email................safety@commerce.wa.gov.au

Regional of¿ces
Gold¿elds/Esperance .............08) 9026 3250
Great Southern .......................08) 9842 8366
Kimberley.................................08) 9191 8400
Mid-West ................................08) 9920 9800
North-West .............................08) 9185 0900
South-West .............................08) 9722 2888
National Relay Service: 13 36 77
Mail address: Locked Bag 14
Cloisters Square Western Australia 6850

Industry, Science and Innovation
Level 6, 1 Adelaide Terrace
East Perth Western Australia 6004
Telephone ................................1300 136 237
Facsimile ............................. (08) 9263 8100
Email......................isi@commerce.wa.gov.au
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